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International Company for Water and Power Projects (ACWA Power)

A Saudi Closed Joint Stock Company with Commercial Registration No. 1010253392 dated
10/7/1429H (corresponding to 13/7/2008G) and Ministerial Resolution No. 215/Q dated 2/7/1429H

(corresponding to 5/7/2008G)

Offering of (81,199,299) eighty-one million one hundred and ninety-nine thousand two hundred and
ninety-nine Shares representing 11.1% of the share capital of International Company for Water and
Power Projects after the Offering (and representing 12.6% of the Company's share capital before the
Offering) through an Initial Public Offering at an Offer Price of SAR (56) per Share

Offering Period: 3 days

starting from 22-Safar-1443 H
(corresponding to 29-September-2021G)
to 24-Safar-1443 H

(corresponding to 1- October -2021G)
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International Company for Water and Power Projects ("ACWA Pow-
er" or the "Company") is a Saudi closed joint stock company estab-
lished under Ministerial Resolution No. 215/Q dated 2/7/1429H (cor-
responding to 5/7/2008G), registered under Commercial Registration
No. 1010253392 dated 10/7/1429H (corresponding to 13/7/2008G)
in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia. The Company's headquarters and registered
office is at 2nd Floor, Building 5, The Business Gate, King Khaled Inter-
national Airport Road, P.O. Box 22616, Riyadh 11416, Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia. The Company's share capital amounts to SAR 6,457,628,780 (six
billion four hundred and fifty seven million six hundred and twenty
eight thousand seven hundred and eighty) consisting of 645,762,878
(six hundred and forty five million seven hundred and sixty two thou-
sand eight hundred and seventy eight) ordinary cash Shares with a fully
paid-up nominal value of SAR 10 per Share.

The Company was established as a Saudi closed joint stock company
with an initial share capital of SAR 2,920,895,000 (two billion nine hun-
dred and twenty million eight hundred and ninety five thousand) con-
sisting of 292,089,500 (two hundred and ninety two million eighty nine
thousand and five hundred) ordinary cash shares with a fully paid up
nominal value of SAR 10 per share (each a "Share"). On 1/12/1429H (cor-
responding to 29/11/2008G), it was resolved to increase the share cap-
ital of the Company to SAR 3,360,005,000 (three billion three hundred
and sixty million and five thousand) consisting of 336,000,500 (three
hundred and thirty six million and five hundred) Shares through sub-
scription of new Shares by Mohammad & Abdullah Ibrahim Al Subaeaei
Company, Al Fozan Holding, Omar Kassem Alesayi & Partners Market-
ing, Al Mutlagq Group Company and Al Mojel Trading & Contracting. On
2/7/1431H (corresponding to 14/6/2010G), it was resolved to increase
the share capital of the Company to SAR 3,710,215,605 (three billion
seven hundred and ten million two hundred and fifteen thousand six
hundred and five) consisting of 371,021,560 (three hundred and sev-
enty one million twenty one thousand five hundred and sixty) Shares
through subscription of new Shares by the Company's shareholders. On
30/2/1434H (corresponding to 12/1/2013G), it was resolved to increase
the share capital of the Company to SAR 4,604,952,440 (four billion six
hundred and four million nine hundred and fifty two thousand four
hundred and forty) consisting of 460,495,244 (four hundred and sixty
million four hundred and ninety five thousand two hundred and forty
four) Shares in relation to the subscription for new Shares by the Pub-
lic Pension Agency and Saudi Arabian Investment Company (Sanabil
Investments) as new shareholders. On 23/7/1434H (corresponding to
2/6/2013G), the share capital of the Company was increased through
capitalisation of shareholder loans by resolution of the Shareholders
(pursuant to Article 138 of the Companies Law) to SAR 5,335,952,440
(five billion three hundred and thirty five million nine hundred and fifty
two thousand four hundred and forty) consisting of 533,595,244 (five
hundred and thirty three million five hundred and ninety five thousand
two hundred and forty four) Shares. On 26/11/1434H (corresponding
to 2/10/2013G), it was resolved to reduce the share capital of the Com-
pany by SAR 137,693,000 (one hundred and thirty seven million six
hundred and ninety three thousand) to SAR 5,198,259,440 (five billion
one hundred and ninety eight million two hundred and fifty nine thou-
sand four hundred and forty) consisting of 519,825,944 (five hundred
and nineteen million eight hundred and twenty five nine hundred and
forty four) Shares as a result of the cancellation of the Company's trea-
sury buy-back shares. On 14/1/1435H (corresponding to 17/11/2013G),
the share capital of the Company was increased by resolution of the
Shareholders to SAR 5,476,037,210 (five billion four hundred and
seventy six million and thirty seven thousand two hundred and ten)
consisting of 547,603,721 (five hundred and forty seven million six
hundred and three thousand seven hundred and twenty one) Shares in
relation to the subscription for new Shares by IFC as a new shareholder.
On 14/10/1439H (corresponding to 26/06/2018G), the share capital of
the Company was increased by resolution of the Shareholders to SAR
6,457,628,780 (six billion four hundred and fifty seven million six hun-
dred and twenty eight thousand seven hundred and eighty) consisting
of 645,762,878 (six hundred and forty five million seven hundred and
sixty two thousand eight hundred and seventy eight) Shares in relation
to the subscription for new shares by the PIF as a new shareholder. (for
further details, please refer to Section (4-11) ("Founding and Share Cap-
ital Evolution of the Company ")).

On 03/11/1442H (corresponding to 13/06/2021G), the Company's Ex-
traordinary General Assembly approved the increase of the Company's
share capital from SAR 6,457,628,780 (six billion four hundred and fifty
seven million six hundred and twenty eight thousand seven hundred
and eighty) consisting of 645,762,878 (six hundred and forty five mil-
lion seven hundred and sixty two thousand eight hundred and seventy
eight) ordinary cash Shares with a fully paid nominal value of SAR 10
per Share to SAR 7,310,997,290 (seven billion three hundred and ten
million nine hundred ninety-seven thousand two hundred and nine-
ty) consisting of SAR 731,099,729 (seven hundred thirty-one million
ninety-nine thousand seven hundred and twenty-nine) ordinary cash
Shares with a nominal value of SAR 10 per Share and issuing eighty-five
million three hundred thirty-six thousand eight hundred and fifty-one
(85,336,851) of new ordinary shares (which represent 11.67% of the
of the Company's share capital after the increase) and offering there-
from (81,199,299) eighty-one million one hundred and ninety-nine
thousand two hundred and ninety-nine shares (representing 11.1% of
the Company's share capital after the increase) for public subscription
and the remaining new shares (4,137,552) four million one hundred
thirty-seven thousand five hundred and fifty-two shares (representing
0.57% of the Company’s share capital after the increase) are allocated
to some of the employees of the Company and its subsidiaries and
granted to those employees under the employee IPO grant plan (for

further details about the employee IPO grant plan, please Refer to Sec-
tion (5-11) (Employee Share Programmes)).

The Initial Public Offering of the Company's Shares (the "Offering")
will consist of (81,199,299) eighty-one million one hundred and nine-
ty-nine thousand two hundred and ninety-nine ordinary Shares with
an Offer Price of SAR (56) each for a fully paid nominal value of (10)
Saudi Riyals (the "Offer Shares"). The Offer Shares represent 11.1% of
the share capital of the Company following subscription which will be
offered in accordance with the abovementioned Extraordinary General
Assembly resolution.

Subscription to Offer Shares shall be limited to two tranches of inves-
tors (the "Investors")

Tranche (A): Participating Parties: This tranche is comprised of the
parties entitled to participate in the book-building process as spec-
ified under the Capital Market Authority (the "CMA") Instructions on
Book-Building and Allocation of Shares in IPOs (the "Book-Building
Instructions") (collectively referred to as the "Participating Parties"
and each a "Participating Party") (for further details, please refer to
Section (1) ("Definiti: and A i ")). The number of Offer
Shares to be initially allocated to Participating Parties is (81,199,299)
eighty-one million one hundred and ninety-nine thousand two hun-
dred and ninety-nine Shares representing 100% of the total Offer
Shares. In the event there is sufficient demand by Individual Investors
for the Offer Shares, the Lead Manager and the Bookrunners have the
right to reduce the number of Offer Shares allocated to Participating
Parties to a minimum of (73,079,370) seventy three million seventy
nine thousand three hundred and seventy Offer Shares, representing
90% of the total Offer Shares. The Joint Financial Advisors in coordi-
nation with the Company (each as defined in Section (1) ("Definitions
and Abbreviations")), shall determine the number and percentage of
Offer Shares to be allocated to Participating Parties, using the discre-
tionary allocation mechanism.

Tranche (B): Individual Investors: This tranche comprises Saudi natu-
ral persons including any Saudi female divorcee or widow with minor
children from a marriage to a non-Saudi person who can subscribe for
her own benefit or in the names of her minor children, on the condition
that she proves that she is a divorcee or widow and the mother of her
minor children, any non-Saudi natural person who is resident in the
Kingdom and GCC persons, in each case who has a bank account with
one of the Receiving Agents, and is entitled to open an investment ac-
count with them (collectively referred to as the "Individual Investors"
and each an "Individual Investor" as and, together, with the Partici-
pating Parties, the "Investors" or the "Subscribers"). Subscription of
a person in the name of his divorcee shall be deemed invalid, and if a
transaction of this nature is proved to have occurred, the law shall be
enforced against the applicant. If a duplicate subscription is made, the
second subscription will be considered void and only the first subscrip-
tion will be accepted. A maximum of (8,119,929) eight million one hun-
dred and nineteen thousand nine hundred and twenty-nine Shares,
representing 10% of the Offer Shares, shall be allocated to Individual
Investors. In the event that the Individual Investors do not subscribe in
full for the Offer Shares allocated to them, the Joint Financial Advisors,
Joint Global Co-ordinators, Local Co-ordinator and Bookrunners may
reduce the number of Offer Shares allocated to Individual Investors in
proportion to the number of Offer Shares subscribed for by them.

The names and ownership percentages of the Substantial Shareholders
(i.e. those who own 5% or more of the Company's share capital prior to
the Offering subscriptions) are listed on page (xiv) of this Prospectus.
Upon completion of the Offering, the Substantial Shareholders will, in
aggregate, own 78.11% of the Shares and will consequently retain a
controlling interest in the Company. The Company will use its Offer-
ing proceeds to further strengthen its balance sheet and fund future
projects in the energy and water desalination sectors during the next
five years after the date of this Prospectus, through the proceeds from
the Offering after deducting the Offering expenses (for further details,
please refer to Section (8) ("Use of Proceeds")). The Offering is fully
underwritten by the Underwriters (for further details, please refer to
Section (13) (Underwriting)). The Substantial Shareholders will be sub-
ject to a restriction during which they will be prohibited from selling
their Shares for a period of six (6) months from the date trading starts
on the Saudi Exchange (the "Exchange" or "Tadawul") (the "Lock-up
Period") as indicated on page (xvii). Following the Lock-up Period, the
Substantial Shareholders will be free to dispose of their Shares. The
Substantial Shareholders are the Public Investment Fund, Vision Inter-
national Investment Company and Al Rajhi Holding Group Co. Details
of their ownership percentages pre and post Offering are set out in the
(Overview) section in the Summary of Key Information at page (xxii).

The Shares will be offered to certain qualified foreign financial institu-
tions who are based outside the United States through SWAP agree-
ments (SWAPs). This category will be subscribed outside the US territo-
ry in accordance with the Regulation S issued under the US Securities
Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"). The Shares have not
been, and will not be, registered under the Securities Act or under any
U.S. state securities laws. The Shares being offered through this Pro-
spectus may not be offered or sold within the United States and may
be offered and sold only in transactions that are exempt from, or not
subject to, registration under the Securities Act and the securities laws
of any other jurisdiction other than the Kingdom. The Offering does not
constitute an offer to sell, or solicitation of an offer to buy, securities in
any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation would be unlawful.

The Offering will commence on 22-Safar-1443 H (corresponding to

29-September-2021G) and will remain open for a period of 3 days up
to and including 24-Safar-1443 H (corresponding to 1- October -2021G)
(the "Offering Period") for Individual Investors. Subscription to the Of-
fer Shares by Individual Investors can be made through the branches of
the receiving agents (the "Receiving Agents") listed on pages (xii) and
(XI) during the Offering Period or through electronic channels offered
by the Receiving Agents to their clients (for further details, please refer
to Section ("How to Apply") on page (xxi).

The minimum application amount for Individual Investors is (10)
Shares with any additional application to be made in increments of
(10) Shares, noting that the maximum number of Offer Shares to be
allocated to Individual Investors is (250,000) two hundred fifty thou-
sand Shares. The minimum allocation amount is (10) Shares and the
remaining Shares (if any) will be allocated pro rata based on the num-
ber of Offer Shares requested by each Individual Investor and the total
number of the Offer Shares. In the event that the number of Individual
Investors exceeds eight hundred and eleven thousand nine hundred
and ninety two (811,992 subscribers, the Company will not guarantee
any allocation of Offer Shares to each Individual Investor, and the Offer
Shares will be allocated at the discretion of the Company and the Joint
Financial Advisors. Any excess of the subscription monies (if any) will
be refunded by the Receiving Agents to the investors without any com-
missions or deductions. Notification of the final allocation and refund
of subscription monies (if any) will be made no later than 28-Safar-1443
H (corresponding to 5-October -2021G) (for further details, please refer
the "Key Dates and Subscription Procedures" section on page (xx)
of this Prospectus and Section (16) ("Subscription Terms and Condi-
tions"). Participating Parties can subscribe in the Offer Shares through
the Bookrunners during the book-building process that takes place
prior to offering the Shares to the Individual Investors.

The Company has one class of ordinary shares. Each Share entitles the
holder to one vote, and each shareholder (a "Shareholder") has the
right to attend and vote at a General Assembly meeting (the "Gener-
al Assembly"). No Shareholder benefits from any preferential voting
rights. The Offer Shares shall entitle holders to receive dividends de-
clared by the Company from the date of this Prospectus and for sub-
sequent financial years (for further details, please refer to Section (7)
("Dividend Policy")).

Prior to the Offering, there has been no public market for the listing or
trading Shares in the Kingdom or elsewhere. The Company has submit-
ted an application for registration and offer of the Shares to the CMA,
and an application for listing of the Shares on the Exchange, together
with all required documents. All relevant regulatory and corporate ap-
provals required to conduct the Offering have been granted, including
the requirements to list the Company in the Exchange and approvals
pertaining to the publication of this Prospectus, and all supporting
documents have been submitted to the CMA. It is expected that trad-
ing in the Shares will commence on the Exchange after the final allo-
cation of the Offer Shares and satisfaction of necessary conditions and
procedures (for further details, please refer to the "Key Dates and Sub-
scription Procedures" section. After the registration and listing of the
Shares on the Exchange, Saudi Arabian nationals, non-Saudi Arabian
nationals holding valid residency permits in the Kingdom, and com-
panies, banks, and investment funds established in the Kingdom or in
other countries of the GCC, as well as GCC nationals, will be permitted
to trade in the Shares after trading starts on the Exchange. Moreover,
Qualified Foreign Investors will be permitted to trade in the Shares in
accordance with the QFI Rules and Foreign Strategic Investors will be
permitted to trade the Shares in accordance with the FSI Instructions
(all as defined herein). Furthermore, non-GCC nationals who are not
residents in the Kingdom and non-GCC institutions incorporated out-
side the Kingdom ("Foreign Investors") will be permitted to indirectly
invest to acquire an economic benefit in the Shares, by entering into
swap agreements with Capital Market Institutions licensed to purchase
shares listed on the Exchange by the CMA to acquire, hold and trade
shares on the Exchange on behalf of a Foreign Investor (the "Capital
Market Institution"). Under such swap agreements, the Capital Market
Institution will be the registered legal owner of such Shares.

Investment in Offer Shares involves certain risks and uncertainties.
For a discussion of certain factors to be carefully considered before
determining whether to subscribe for the Offer Shares, the ("Import-
ant Notice") section on page (i) and Section (2) ("Risk Factors") of this
Prospectus should be carefully considered prior to making a decision
to invest in the Offer Shares.

This Prospectus includes information provided as part of the application for regis-
tration and offer of securities in compliance with the Rules on the Offer of Securities
and Continuing Obligations of the Capital Market Authority of the Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia and the application for listing of securities in compliance with the Listing
Rules of the Saudi Stock Exchange. The Directors, whose names appear on page
(iv) , collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the
information contained in this Prospectus and confirm, having made all reasonable
enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge and belief, there are no other facts the
omission of which would make any statement herein misleading. The Authority and
the Exchange do not take any responsibility for the contents of this Prospectus, do
not make any representation as to its accuracy or completeness, and expressly dis-
claim any liability whatsoever for any loss arising from, or incurred in reliance upon,
any part of this Prospectus.

This Prospectus is dated 20-Dhu al-Qidah-1442 (corresponding to 30-June-2021).
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Important Notice

This Prospectus contains detailed information relating to the Company and the Offer Shares. When applying for the
Offer Shares, investors will be treated as applying solely on the basis of the information contained in this Prospectus
which can be obtained from the Company or Lead Manager or Receiving Agents or copies of which are available
by visiting the websites of the Company (www.acwapower.com), the CMA (www.cma.org.sa) or the Joint Financial
Advisors (www.citigroup.com/citi/about/countries-and-jurisdictions/saudi-arabia.html), (www.jpmorgansaudiarabia.
com), (www.riyadcapital.com) and (https://emea.cib.natixis.com/saudi-arabia/en).

With respect to the Offering, Riyad Capital, Citigroup Saudi Arabia (“Citi"), J.P. Morgan Saudi Arabia Company (“J.P. Morgan”) and
Natixis Saudi Arabia Investment Company (“Natixis”) have been appointed by the Company to act as joint financial advisors
(the “Joint Financial Advisors”) and Underwriters. Riyad Capital has been appointed by the Company as local co-ordinator,
bookrunner and lead manager in respect of the Offering (the “Local Co-ordinator” or “Lead Manager”). Citi, J.P. Morgan and
Natixis have been appointed by the Company to act as joint global co-ordinators and Bookrunners (jointly referred to as“Joint
Global Co-ordinators”).

This Prospectus includes information that has been presented in compliance with the Rules of Offering Securities and
Continuing Obligations issued by the CMA (as defined in Section (1) (“Definitions and Abbreviations”)). The Directors, whose
names appear on page (iv) collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained
in this Prospectus and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge and belief, there are
no other facts the omission of which would make any statement herein misleading.

While the Company has made all reasonable enquiries as to the accuracy of the information contained in this Prospectus as
at the date hereof, a substantial portion of the information in this Prospectus which is relevant to the market and industry in
which the Company operates is derived from external sources. While neither the Joint Financial Advisors, the Company nor any
of the Company’s other advisors, whose names appear on pages (vi) to (xii) of this Prospectus (together, the “Advisors”), has
any reason to believe that any of the market and industry information is materially inaccurate, neither the Company nor any of
the Advisors has independently verified such information. Accordingly, no representation, assurance or guarantee is made with
respect to the accuracy or completeness of any of this information.

The information contained in this Prospectus as at the date hereof is subject to change. In particular, the actual financial
condition of the Company and the value of the Offer Shares may be adversely affected by future developments, such as
inflation, interest rates, taxation or other economic, political and any other factors over which the Company has no control
(for further details, please refer to Section (2) (“Risk Factors”)). Neither the delivery of this Prospectus nor any oral or written
information in relation to the Offer Shares is intended to be, nor should be construed as or relied upon in any way as, a promise,
affirmation or representation as to future earnings, results or events.

This Prospectus is not to be regarded as a recommendation on the part of the Company, the Directors, the Substantial
Shareholders or Receiving Agents or the Advisors to participate in the Offering. Moreover, information provided in this
Prospectus is of a general nature and has been prepared without taking into account individual investment objectives, financial
situation or particular investment needs of the persons who intend to invest in the Offer Shares. Prior to making an investment
decision, each recipient of this Prospectus is responsible for obtaining independent professional advice from a CMA licensed
financial advisor in relation to the Offering and the appropriateness of both the investment opportunity and the information
herein with regard to the recipient’s individual objectives, financial situation and investment needs, including the merits and
risks involved in investing in the Offer Shares. An investment in the Offer Shares may be appropriate for some investors but not
others, and prospective investors should not rely on another party’s decision whether or not to invest as a basis for their own
examination of the investment opportunity and such investor’s individual circumstances.

Subscribing for the Offer Shares shall be limited to two tranches of investors as follows:

Tranche (A): Participating Parties: participating parties comprise the parties eligible to participate in the book-building
process as specified under the Book-Building Instructions and the other terms and conditions set forth in this Prospectus
(for further details, please refer to Section (1) (“Definitions and Abbreviations”) and Section (16) (“Subscription Terms and
Conditions”)); and

Tranche (B): Individual Investors: individual investors comprise Saudi Arabian nationals, including any Saudi female divorcee
or widow with minor children from a marriage to a non-Saudi person who can subscribe for her own benefit or in the names
of her minor children, on the condition that she proves that she is a divorcee or widow and the mother of her minor children,
any non-Saudi national person who is resident in the Kingdom and any GCC national, in each case who has a bank account,
and is entitled to open an investment account, with one of the Receiving Agents. Subscription of a person in the name of his
divorcee shall be deemed invalid, and if a transaction of this nature has been proved to have occurred, then the law shall be
enforced against such person. If a duplicate subscription is made, the second subscription will be considered void and only the
first subscription will be accepted.
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This Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell, or a solicitation of an offer to buy, any Offer Shares offered by any person in
any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such an offer or solicitation. The Offer Shares offered hereby are
being offered outside the United States in offshore transactions in compliance with applicable securities laws.

It is expressly prohibited to distribute this Prospectus or to sell the Offer Shares to any person outside the Kingdom of
Saudi Arabia, other than to GCC investors, Qualified Foreign Investors, Foreign Strategic Investors and certain other
Foreign Investors pursuant to swap agreements, in each case subject to applicable rules and regulations. The Company
and the Joint Financial Advisors require recipients of this Prospectus to inform themselves of any legal or regulatory
restrictions relevant to the Offering and the sale of the Offer Shares and to observe all such restrictions. Each eligible
Individual Investor and Participating Parties should read the entire Prospectus and seek advice and rely on their own
counsel, financial advisors and other professional advisors for advice concerning the various legal, tax, regulatory
and economic considerations relating to their investment in the Offer Shares and will be responsible for the fees of
their own counsel, accountants and other advisors as to all matters concerning an investment in the Offer Shares. No
assurance can be made that profits will be achieved.

Market and Industry Data

Unless the source is otherwise stated, the market, economic and industry data in this Prospectus constitute the Group’s
estimates, using underlying data from independent third parties. Statistics, data and other information relating to markets,
market sizes, market shares, market positions and other industry data pertaining to the Company’s business and markets in
this Prospectus are based on published and publicly available data obtained from multiple independent third-party sources.

In particular, unless otherwise specifically stated, the information in Section (3) (“Overview of the Industry and the Market")
is based on the report which has been prepared by FTI France SAS, trading as Compass Lexecon (“Compass Lexecon”), for
the benefit of the Company in relation to the markets in which the Company operates (“Market Report”). The Market Report
was prepared on 1 April 2021G and as such addresses statements matters stated therein at that time or at the times otherwise
specified therein and does not take account of any changes or developments which may have occurred since.

FTI France SAS is the cooperation of energy experts from FTI Consulting and its wholly-owned subsidiary Compass Lexecon,
within a framework that brings together highly experienced economists, accountants and practitioners. FTI experts support
their clients on a wide range of tasks including, but not limited to, policy and market design, investment decision support,
energy market modelling, financial evaluation of assets, business modelling, corporate strategy, and economic expertise in
commercial litigation.

It should be noted that FTI France SAS does not, nor do any of its subsidiaries, sister companies, partners, shareholders, directors,
managers or their relatives own any Shares or any interest of any kind in the Company or its Subsidiaries. As at the date of this
Prospectus, Compass Lexecon has given and not withdrawn its written consent for the use of its name, logo, statements, and
market research and data supplied by it to the Company in the manner and format set out in this Prospectus.

FTI France SAS has solely relied on publicly sourced information for this report. The report contains information obtained or
derived from a variety of public sources believed to be reliable, but that the accuracy and completeness of such information
is not guaranteed. Taking into consideration the “Forecasts and Forward-Looking Statements” section, whilst the members of
the Board of Directors believe that the information and data on the market study in this Prospectus obtained from third party
sources, including the information obtained from the market study advisor, are information and data that may be relied upon,
this information has not been independently verified by the Company, nor the Board of Directors, advisors, or its shareholders.
Therefore none of the aforementioned parties shall bear any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of any of this
information.
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Financial Information

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the financial years ended 31 December 2018G,
2019G and 2020G, and the notes thereto have been prepared in accordance with (i) International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRS") as endorsed in the Kingdom and other standards and pronouncements issued by the Saudi Organization for Chartered
and Professional Accountants (“SOCPA”); and (i) IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and
have been audited by Ernst & Young & Co. - Certified Public Accountants (“Auditors”) as independent auditors, as stated in
their reports appearing herein. Such statements are contained in Section (19) (“Auditors’ Report”). The Company prepares its
financial statements in Saudi Riyals.

The financial and statistical information contained in this Prospectus is subject to rounding. Accordingly, where numbers have
been rounded up or down, there may be minor differences between the figures set out in this Prospectus and the audited
financial statements.

Forecasts and Forward-Looking Statements

Theforecasts and forward-looking statements set forth in this Prospectus have been prepared on the basis of certain assumptions
based on the Company’s information according to its market experience, as well as on publicly available market information.
Future operating conditions may differ from the assumptions used and consequently no affirmation, representation or warranty
is made with respect to the accuracy or completeness of any of these forecasts. The Company stresses that, to the best of its
knowledge, every professional care has been taken in preparing the statements contained in this Prospectus.

Certain statements in this Prospectus are, or may be deemed to be, “forward-looking statements”. Such statements can generally
be identified by their use of forward-looking words such as “plans’, “estimates’, “believes’, “expects’, “targets’, “anticipates’, “may",
“will", “should’, “expected”, “would be’, or the negative thereof or other variations of such terms or comparable terminology.
These forward-looking statements reflect the current views of the Company and its management with respect to future events
but are not a guarantee of future performance. Many factors could cause the actual results, performance or achievements
of the Company to be significantly different from any future results, performance or achievements that may be expressed
or implied by such forward-looking statements. Some of the risks and factors that could have such an effect are described in
more detail in other sections of this Prospectus (for further details, please refer to Section (2) (“Risk Factors”) and Section (4)
(“The Company”)). Should any one or more of the risks or uncertainties materialize or any underlying assumptions prove to
be inaccurate or incorrect, the Company’s actual results may vary materially from those described, explained, estimated or
planned in this Prospectus.

Subject to the requirements of the Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligations, the Company must submit a
supplementary Prospectus to the CMA if, at any time after this Prospectus has been published and before the listing of the
Offer Shares on Tadawul, the Company becomes aware that (i) there has been a significant change in any material information
contained in this Prospectus or in any document required by the Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligations, or
(i) the occurrence of additional significant matters, which would have been required to be included in this Prospectus. Except
in the aforementioned circumstances, the Company does not intend to update or otherwise revise any industry or market
information in this Prospectus, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. As a result of the foregoing
risks, assumptions and other uncertainties, the forward-looking events and circumstances discussed in this Prospectus might
not occur in the way the Company expects, or at all. Prospective investors should consider all forward-looking statements in
light of these explanations and should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements.
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Definitions and Abbreviations

For an explanation of certain defined terms, abbreviations, technical terms, project names and entity names used in this
Prospectus, (for further details, please refer to Section (1) ("Definitions and Abbreviations")).

Corporate Directory
Table (1-1): Board of Directors

Direct Direct Indirect Indirect
Status and Raprasert Share Share Share Share Date of
Nationality indepen- tation ownership | ownership | ownership | ownership | Appoint-
dence before the after the before the after the ment
Offering Offering Offering Offering

Mohammad Ab- Non-execu- Vision In- 05 Jul
dullah Rashid Chairman Saudi 59  tive/Non-in- 4.13% 3.65% 1.26405%* 1,116 y
vestment 2019G
Abunayyan dependent
Thamer Saud Vice ‘ Non-execu- ) paihi 30 July
Ismael Al-Shar- . Saudi 59  tive/Non-in- ; - - - -
Chairman Holding 2020G
han dependent
Sulaiman AK. Non-execu- Vision In- 05 Jul
Abdulmohseen Member Saudi 66  tive/Non-in- vestment - - 3.4776%** 3,071% 201 9Gy
Al-Muhaidib dependent
Rasheed Abdul- Non-execu- Vision In- 05 Jul
rahman Nasser Member Saudi 55  tive/Non-in- vestment - - - - 201 gGy
Al-Rasheed dependent
H.E. Mohammed Non-execu- D088 nott .
) . . represen ) ) ) } uly
Talal Moham- Member Saudi 58 tl(\j/: /el\rl:()jr;rl]r: any specif- 2019G
med Al-Nahas p ic entity
Omar Mo- Non-execu-
hammedNabil Member Saudi M tive / Non-in- Vision In- ) ) . } 05 July
Mohammed vestment 2019G
B dependent
Almidani
Dr Mohsen Non-execu- rltjeo?:sr::t 05 Jul
Ahmad Hassan Member American 68 tive / Inde- P . - - - - Y
. any specif- 2019G
Khalil pendent . -
ic entity
. Non-execu-
Raid Abdul!ah Member Saudi 48  tive/Non-in- PIF - - - - 05July
Ismail Ismail 2019G
dependent
Esmail Mo- Non-execu- .
hammed Saleh Member Saudi 39  tive/Non-in- Al Ra.JhI - - - - 05 July
Holding 2019G
Alsallom dependent
Abdullah Abdul- Non-execu- rzof:sr;?]tt 05 Jul
rahman Sa’nin Member Saudi 55 tive / Non-in- P . - - - - y
; any specif- 2019G
Al-Rowais dependent . -
ic entity
Philippe Vincent Non-execu- 05 De-
Jacques Leonde  Member French 67  tive/Non-in- PIF - - - - cember
Rivaz dependent 2019G

Source: Company

* Mohammad Abdullah Rashid Abunayyan owns a total indirect interest in the Company’s shares constituting 1.26405% of the share capital
(before the Offering) through his 7.95% ownership in Abdullah Abunayyan Trading Company, which directly owns 3.02% of the share
capital of the Company, and indirectly owns 12.88% of the share capital of the Company through its 50% ownership in the share capital of
Vision Investment, which owns 25.76% of the share capital of the Company. Furthermore, Mohammad Abdullah Rashid Abunayyan owns
a direct shareholding of 4.13% in the Company before the Offering.

** Sulaiman A.K. Abdulmohseen Al-Muhaidib indirectly owns 3.4776% of the share capital of the Company (before the Offering), through his
27% ownership of the share capital in Amwal Al Ajial Holding Company, which in turn owns 100% of the share capital of Abdulkadir AIMuhaidib
and Sons Company, which owns 50% of the share capital in Vision Investment, which owns 25.76% of the share capital of the Company.
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The Company’s Address, Representatives And Board
Of Directors’ Secretary:

Registered Office

International Company for Water and Power Projects
(ACWA Power)

2nd Floor, Building 5

The Business Gate

King Khaled International Airport Road

P.O.Box 22616,

Riyadh 11416 CWA POWER[‘
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia Jg l Ig

Tel: +966 (11) 2835555

Fax: +966 (11) 2835500

Website: www.acwapower.com

Email: ir@acwapower.com

Company Representatives

Mohammed Abdullah R. Abunayyan Suntharesan Padmanathan
Chairman Chief Executive Officer

2nd Floor, Building A 2nd Floor, Building A

The Business Gate The Business Gate

King Khaled International Airport Road King Khaled International Airport Road
PO Box 22616, Riyadh 11416 PO Box 22616, Riyadh 11416

Tel: +966 (11) 2506300 (Ext: 1501) Tel: +966 (11) 2835522 (direct line)

Fax: +966 (11) 283 5555 Fax: +966 (11) 283 5555
Website:www.acwapower.com Website:www.acwapower.com

Email: mabunayyan@acwapower.com Email: padmanathan@acwapower.com

Board of Directors’ Secretary
Hager Al-Twegieri
2nd Floor, Building A
The Business Gate
King Khaled International Airport Road
PO Box 22616, Riyadh 11416
Tel: +966 (11) 283 5586
Fax: +966 (11) 283 5500
Website:www.acwapower.com
Email: haltwegieri@acwapower.com

Share Registrar
The Saudi Exchange (Tadawul)
Abraj Attuwenya, North Tower
6897 King Fahad Road - Al Olaya

Unit Number 15 B~ | dglN
Riyadh 12211-3388 - d99*u] e
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia audl cxchange

Tel: +966 920001919

Fax: +966 (11) 218 9133
Website: www.saudiexchange.sa
Email: csc@saudiexchange.sa
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Advisors

Joint Financial Advisors

Citigroup Saudi Arabia
20th Floor, Kingdom Tower
P.O.Box 301700

Riyadh 11372 Y o
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Tel: +966 (11) 2246140 C I I
Fax: +966 (11) 2110020

Website: https://www.citigroup.com/citi/about/coun-
tries-and-jurisdictions/citigroup-saudi-arabia.html

Email: projecteclipse@citi.com

J.P. Morgan Saudi Arabia

Al Faisaliyah Center

King Fahd Road

P.O. Box 51907, Riyadh 11553

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia J. P Morgan
Tel: +966 (11) 2993800

Fax: +966 (11) 2993840

Website: www.jpmorgansaudiarabia.com

Email: Eclipse_JPM_Core@jpmorgan.com

Riyad Capital
Granada Business Park 2414 - Al Shohda Dist, Unit No. 69,

Riyadh 13241 - 7279, Saudi Arabia cullall \_bLlle
L J Lo d

Tel: +966 (11) 4865649

Fax: +966 (11) 4865908 r ||-|ad CCIle:CIL

Website: www.riyadcapital.com
Email: projecteclipse@riyadcapital.com

Natixis Saudi Arabia Investment Company

Servcorp - Al Faisaliah Center

Level 18, Al Faisaliah Tower, King Fahad Highway

Riyadh

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia V N ATI X I S
Tel: +966 (11) 490 3946

Fax: 4966 (11) 490 3938

Website: emea.cib.natixis.com/saudi-arabia/en

Email: project.eclipse@natixis.com

Local Co-ordinator, Bookrunner and Lead Manager

Riyad Capital
Granada Business Park 2414 - Al Shohda Dist, Unit No. 69,

Riyadh 13241 - 7279, Saudi Arabia “:' L " “ l ° L'J_“

Tel: +966 (11) 4865649

Fax: +966 (11) 4865908 ryad CapltaL

Website: www.riyadcapital.com

Email: projecteclipse@riyadcapital.com
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Joint Global Co-ordinators and Bookrunners

Citigroup Saudi Arabia
20th Floor, Kingdom Tower
P.O. Box 301700

Riyadh 11372 7
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Tel: +966 (11) 2246140 C I I
Fax: +966 (11) 2110020

Website: www.citigroup.com/citi/about/countries-and-juris-
dictions/saudi-arabia.html

Email: projecteclipse@citi.com

J.P. Morgan Saudi Arabia

Al Faisaliyah Center

King Fahd Road

P.O. Box 51907, Riyadh 11553

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia J. P Morgan
Tel: +966 (11) 2993800

Fax: +966 (11) 2993840

Website: www.jpmorgansaudiarabia.com

Email: Eclipse_JPM_All@jpmorgan.com

Natixis Saudi Arabia Investment Company

Servcorp - Al Faisaliah Center

Level 18, Al Faisaliah Tower, King Fahad Highway

Riyadh

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia ¥ NATIXIS
Tel: +966 (11) 490 3946

Fax :+966 (11) 490 3938

Website: emea.cib.natixis.com/saudi-arabia/en Email: proj-
ect.eclipse@natixis.com

Market Consultant

Compass Lexecon
22 Place De La Madeleine, 4th Floor Paris 75008

'T';T'n:§3153053633 :“. COMPASS
' °ee LEXECON

Fax:+33 153053616
Website: www.compasslexecon.com

Email: froques@compasslexecon.com

Saudi Legal Advisor to the Company

Abuhimed Alsheikh Alhagbani Law Firm

Building 15

The Business Gate

King Khaled International Airport Road

P.O. Box 90239 As &H
Riyadh 11613

i i i wiliaallg apirll Jig aauagyi in co-operation with
Klngdom Of Saudi Arabia ABUHIMED ALSHEIKH ALHAGBANI CLIFFORD CHANCE

Tel: +966 (11) 481 9780
Fax: +966 (11) 481 9701
Website: www.ashlawksa.com

Email: Info.ASH@ashlawksa.com
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Legal advisor for the Offering outside the Kingdom

Clifford Chance LLP
Level 15, Burj Daman
Dubai International Financial Centre

P.O. Box 9380 Dubai
United Arab Emirates CLI FFORD

Tel: +971 4 503 2600 CHANUCE
Fax: +971 4 503 2800

Website: https://www.cliffordchance.com/people_and_plac-
es/offices/dubai.html

Email: info.acwapoweripo@cliffordchance.co

Legal advisor to financial advisors, bookrunners, lead manager and underwriters

Abdul Aziz AlAjlan & Co., Attorneys and Legal Advisors
Olayan Building, Tower 2, Floor 3
Al-Ahsa Street, Al-Malaz

P.O Box 69103, Riyadh 11547 Leg al
Saudi Arabi Ad =
P:l:)nle: :a%lz (11) 265 8900 VISO rs =

Abdulaziz Alajlan &Partners
Fax: +966 (11) 265 8999 in association with Baker & McKenzie Limited

Website www.legal-advisors.com
Email: RIY-ProjectEclipse@legal-advisors.com

Legal advisor to financial advisors, bookrunners, lead manager and underwriters outside

the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Baker & McKenzie LLP
100 New Bridge Street
London EC4V 6JA

United Kingdom Bq ker

Phone: +44 20 7919 1000 M K H

Fax: +44 20 7919 1999 C enZIe-
Website www.bakermckenzie.com

Email: RIY-ProjectEclipse@legal-advisors.com

Ernst & Young & Co. (Certified Public Accountants)

P.O.Box 2732

Al Faisaliah Office Tower - Level 6

King Fahad Road, Olaya

Riyadh 11461, Saudi Arabia

Tel: +966 (11) 215 9898 Building a better
Fax: +966 (11) 273 4730 working world
Website: www.ey.com

Email: ey.ksa@sa.ey.com

Professional Financial Diligence Advisor
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PricewaterhouseCoopers Certified Public Accountants
Kingdom Tower
PO Box 8282

Riyadh 11482
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Tel: +966 (11) 211 0400

Fax: +966 (11) 211 0401

Website: www.pwc.com

Email: mer_project_eclipse@pwc.com

_

pwc

Bookrunners

EFG Hermes KSA

Third Floor, North Tower

Sky Tower, King Fahd Road

Olaya, Riyadh

Saudi Arabia

Tel: +966 (11) 293 8048

Fax: +966 (11) 293 8032

Website: www.efghermes.com

Email: efg_hermes_IPO@efg-hermes.com

= EFGHERMES

yuopm & lolld cgoaall

Emirates NBD Capital KSA

Granada Business Oasis 2414 - Al Shuhada District, Unit No.
69

7279 Riyadh 13241

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Tel: +966 (11) 299 3900

Fax: +966 (11) 299 3955

Website: www.emiratesnbdcapital.com.sa
Email: project.eclipse@emiratesnbd.com

[(a Emirates NBD

FAB Capital

Cayan Group Building, 7756-King Fahd Road,
Al Malga District, Al Malqa,

Riyadh 4181-13524,

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Tel: +966 (11) 283 4372

Website: www.bankfab.com/ar-sa

Email: ECM@bankfab.com

FABT

First Abu Dhabi Bank

Citigroup Saudi Arabia
20th Floor, Kingdom Tower
P.O. Box 301700

Riyadh 11372

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
Tel: +966 (11) 2246140

Fax: +966 (11) 2110020

Website: www.citigroup.com/citi/about/countries-and-juris-
dictions/saudi-arabia.html

Email: projecteclipse@citi.com

P n

CItl
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JP Morgan Saudi Arabia

Al Faisaliyah Center

King Fahd Road

P.O.Box 51907, Riyadh 11553

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia J. P Morgan
Tel: +966 (11) 2993800

Fax: +966 (11) 2993840

Email: www.jpmorgansaudiarabia.com

Website: Eclipse_JPM_Core@jpmorgan.com

Riyad Capital
Granada Business Park 2414 - Al Shohda Dist, Unit No. 69,

Riyadh 13241 - 7279, Saudi Arabia E' L " " I ° l_')_“

Tel: +966 (11) 4865649
Fax: +966 (11) 4865908 ryad CapltaL

Website: www.riyadcapital.com
Email: projecteclipse@riyadcapital.com

Natixis Saudi Arabia Investment Company

Servcorp - Al Faisaliah Center

Level 18, Al Faisaliah Tower, King Fahad Highway

Riyadh

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia V’ N ATI X I S
Tel: +966 (11) 490 3946

Fax: +966 (11) 490 3938

Website: emea.cib.natixis.com/saudi-arabia/en

Email: project.eclipse@natixis.com

EFG Hermes KSA

Third Floor, North Tower

Sky Tower, King Fahd Road
Olaya, Riyadh

Saudi Arabia

Tel: +966 (11) 293 8048

Fax: +966 (11) 293 8032
Website: www.efghermes.com

EFGHERMES

oo & lolld cgnaoll

Email: efg_hermes_IPO@efg-hermes.com

Emirates NBD Capital KSA

Granada Business Oasis 2414 - Al Shuhada District, Unit No.
69

7279 Riyadh 13241

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (a Emirates NBD
Tel: +966 (11) 299 3900

Fax: +966 (11) 299 3955

Website: www.emiratesnbdcapital.com.sa

Email: project.eclipse@emiratesnbd.com




CWA POWER \

Xi

FAB Capital

Cayan Group Building, 7756-King Fahd Road,
Al Malqga District, Al Malga,

Riyadh 4181-13524,

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Tel: +966 (11) 283 4372

Website: www.bankfab.com/ar-sa

Email: ECM@bankfab.com

FABT

First Abu Dhabi Bank

Alistithmar Capital

King Fahd Road, Al-Aqiq District
PO Box 442 Jeddah 21411

Saudi Arabia

Tel: +966 (11) 254 7666

Fax: +966 (11) 489 2653
Website: www.icab.com.sa
Email: info@icap.com.sa

JLLL"S S oo JI A

Alistithmar Capital

SNB Capital

King Saud Road, SNB Regional Building. P. O. Box 2216,

Riyadh 11495 - Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
Tel: +966 (11) 874 7106

Fax: +966 (11) 406 0052

Website: www.alahlicapital.com

Email: snbc.cm@alahlicapital.com

SNB Jliuls

Albilad Capital

King Fahd Road

P.O. Box 140, Riyadh 11411

Saudi Arabia

Tel: +966 (11) 920 003 636

Fax: +966 (11) 290 6299

Website: www.albilad-capital.com

Email: clientservices@albilad-capital.com

L)
Albilad Capiial -

Aljazira Capital

King Fahd Road

P.O. Box 20428, Riyadh 11455

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Tel: +966 (11) 22560000

Fax: +966(11) 2256811

Website: www.aljaziracapital.com.sa
Email: contactus@aljaziracapital.com.sa

JUilS Sl vy

ALJAZIRA CAPITAL dullall §lguuill 5yl

Note: The above advisors have given and, as at the date of this Prospectus, have not withdrawn their written consent to the publication of
their names, addresses, logos and the statements attributed to each of them in the context in which they appear in this Prospectus. None
of these entities, their employees (forming part of the team responsible for offering services to the Company), or their relatives own any
shares or interest of any kind in the Company or its subsidiaries as the date of this Prospectus such that would impair their independence.
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Receiving Agents

Name: Riyad Bank

Address: Shuhada District

P.O. Box 22622

Riyadh 11416

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Tel: +966 (11) 4013030

Fax: +966 (11) 4865909

Website: www.riyadbank.com

Email: customercare@riyadbank.com

T el
rlqadJJbanI-i

Name: Saudi National Bank
Address: Kind Abdulaziz Road
P.O. Box 3555

Jeddah 21481

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Tel: +966 (12) 649 3333

Fax: +966 (12) 643 7426
Website: www.alahli.com
Email: contactus@alahli.com

SNB

Al Rajhi Bank

King Fahd Road, AlMurooj District, Al Rajhi Bank Tower
Riyadh 11411

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Tel: +966 (11) 828 2515

Fax: +966 (11) 279 8190

Website: www.alrajhibank.com.sa

Email: contactcenter1@alrajhibank.com.sa

Al Rajhi Bank ¢nanlyl wdpan

Name: Bank Aljazira
Address: Kind Abdulaziz Road
P.O.Box 6277

Jeddah 21442

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Tel: +966 (12) 609 8888

Fax: +966 (12) 609 1888
Website: www.baj.com.sa
Email: shakwa@baj.com.sa

ol Sl
BANK ALJAZIRA

Source: The Company
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Offering Summary

This Offering Summary is intended to provide a brief overview of the information contained in this Prospectus. As such, it does
not contain all of the information that may be important to prospective investors. Accordingly, this summary must be read as
an introduction to this Prospectus, and prospective investors should read the entire Prospectus in full. Any decision to invest in
the Offer Shares by prospective investors should be based on a consideration of this Prospectus as a whole.

In particular, it is important to carefully consider the “Important Notice” Section and Section (2) (“Risk Factors”), respectively,
prior to making any investment decision in the Offer Shares.

International Company for Water and Power Projects, a Saudi Joint Stock Company established under Com-
mercial Registration No. 1010253392 dated 10/7/1429H (corresponding to 13/7/2008G) and Ministerial Reso-

The Company lution No. 215/Q dated 2/7/1429H (corresponding to 5/7/2008G). The Company'’s head office is located at 2nd
Floor, Building 5, The Business Gate, King Khaled International Airport Road, P.O. Box 22616, Riyadh 11416,
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

The Company was established as a Saudi closed joint stock company with an initial share capital of SAR
2,920,895,000 (two billion nine hundred and twenty million eight hundred and ninety five thousand) consist-
ing of 292,089,500 (two hundred and ninety two million eighty nine thousand and five hundred) shares with
a nominal value of SAR 10 per share (each a“Share”). On 1/12/1429H (corresponding to 29/11/2008G), it was
resolved to increase the share capital of the Company to SAR 3,360,005,000 (three billion three hundred and
sixty million and five thousand) consisting of 336,000,500 (three hundred and thirty six million and five hun-
dred) Shares through subscription of new Shares by Mohammad & Abdullah Ibrahim Al Subaeaei Company,
Al Fozan Holding, Omar Kassem Alesayi & Partners Marketing, Al Mutlagq Group Company and Al Mojel Trad-
ing & Contracting. On 2/7/1431H (corresponding to 14/6/2010G), it was resolved to increase the share capital
of the Company to SAR 3,710,215,605 (three billion seven hundred and ten million two hundred and fifteen
thousand six hundred and five) consisting of 371,021,560 (three hundred and seventy one million twenty one
thousand five hundred and sixty) Shares through subscription of new Shares by the Company’s shareholders.
On 30/2/1434H (corresponding to 12/1/2013G), it was resolved to increase the share capital of the Company
to SAR 4,604,952,440 (four billion six hundred and four million nine hundred and fifty two thousand four hun-
dred and forty) consisting of 460,495,244 (four hundred and sixty million four hundred and ninety five thou-
sand two hundred and forty four) Shares in relation to the subscription for new Shares by the Public Pension
Agency and Saudi Arabian Investment Company (Sanabil Investments) as new shareholders. On 23/7/1434H
(corresponding to 2/6/2013G), the share capital of the Company was increased through capitalisation of
shareholder loans by resolution of the Shareholders (pursuant to Article 138 of the Companies Law) to SAR
5,335,952,440 (five billion three hundred and thirty five million nine hundred and fifty two thousand four
hundred and forty) consisting of 533,595,244 (five hundred and thirty three million five hundred and ninety
five thousand two hundred and forty four) Shares. On 26/11/1434H (corresponding to 2/10/2013G), it was re-
solved to reduce the share capital of the Company by SAR 137,693,000 (one hundred and thirty seven million
six hundred and ninety three thousand) to SAR 5,198,259,440 (five billion one hundred and ninety eight mil-
lion two hundred and fifty nine thousand four hundred and forty) consisting of 519,825,944 (five hundred and
nineteen million eight hundred and twenty five nine hundred and forty four) Shares as a result of the cancel-
lation of the Company’s treasury buy-back shares. On 14/1/1435H (corresponding to 17/11/2013G), the share
capital of the Company was increased by resolution of the Shareholders to SAR 5,476,037,210 (five billion four
hundred and seventy six million and thirty seven thousand two hundred and ten) consisting of 547,603,721
(five hundred and forty seven million six hundred and three thousand seven hundred and twenty one) Shares
in relation to the subscription for new Shares by IFC as a new shareholder. On 14/10/1439H (corresponding
to 26/06/2018G), the share capital of the Company was increased by resolution of the Shareholders to SAR
6,457,628,780 (six billion four hundred and fifty seven million six hundred and twenty eight thousand seven
hundred and eighty) consisting of 645,762,878 (six hundred and forty five million seven hundred and sixty
two thousand eight hundred and seventy eight) Shares in relation to the subscription for new shares by the
Public Investment Fund as a new shareholder. (for further details, please refer to Section (4-11) (“Founding
and Share Capital Evolution of the Company”)).
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Activities of the
Company

The Company’s main business (as set out in its Bylaws) is as follows:

Electric power generation;

Distribution and wholesale of electrical energy;

Water desalination;

Establishment of electric power plants and transformers;

Repair and maintenance of electrical power plants and transformers; and

[

Wholesale of desalinated water.
The Company participates in projects whose activities include the:

1. development, establishment, ownership and rental of electric power generation plants, water
desalination and steam plants, including related and ancillary activities;

2. generation and sale of electric power and desalination water, including related and ancillary activi-
ties;

3. operation and maintenance of electricity, water desalination and steam conversion plants;

4. purchase of electric power generation plants and desalination plants; and

5. purchase of real estate and movable assets necessary for the execution of the Company’s objec-
tives.

Substantial
Shareholders

Table (1-2): The following table sets out the names and shareholding interests of the
Company’s Substantial Shareholders before and after the Offering:

Pre-Offering Post-Offering

Sharehold ; .
arenolder No. of Shares | Par Value (SAR) Dlrect. No. of Shares | Par Value (SAR) Dlrect'
Ownership Ownership

Public
Investment 322,881,439  3,228,814,390 50.00% 322,881,439 3,228,814,390 44.16%
Fund

Vision 166,320,184  1,663,201,840 25.76% 166,320,184  1,663,201,840 22.75%
Investment
Al Rajhi

. 81,918,658 819,186,580 12.69% 81,918,658 819,186,580 11.20%
Holding
Total 571,120,281 5,711,202,810 88.45% 571,120,281 5,711,202,810 78.11%

Company'’s
Share Capital
Before and after
the Offering

The Company’s Share Capital prior to the Offering is SAR (6,457,628,780) six billion four hundred and fifty
seven million six hundred and twenty eight thousand seven hundred and eighty.

The Company’s Share Capital after the offering will be SAR (7,310,997,290) seven billion three hundred ten
million nine hundred ninety-seven thousand two hundred and ninety.

Total number of

The number of shares in the Company prior to the Offering is 645,762,878 (six hundred and forty five million

tsl;‘e Cor:p:ny’s seven hundred and sixty two thousand eight hundred and seventy eight).

ares before

T The number of shares in the Company after the Offering will be 731,099,729 (seven hundred and thirty-one

Offering million ninety-nine thousand seven hundred and twenty-nine ordinary shares).

bl LI SAR 10 per share.

per Share
Initial public offering of (81,199,299) eighty-one million and one hundred ninety-nine thousand two hundred
and ninety-nine ordinary shares of the total Company’s Capital with a fully-paid nominal value of SAR10 per
share, at an Offer Price of SAR (56) per share, by way of an increase of the share capital increase of the is-
suer from SAR (6,457,628,780) six billion four hundred and fifty-seven million six hundred and twenty-eight

Offering thousand seven hundred and eighty to SAR (7,310,997,290) seven billion three hundred and ten million nine
hundred and ninety-seven thousand two hundred and ninety, whereas (4,137,552) four million one hundred
and thirty-seven thousand five hundred and fifty-two shares of the issued Shares will be allocated to some em-
ployees of the Company and its Subsidiaries and granted to those employees under the employee stock grant
plan (for more details about the IPO grant plan, please refer to Section (5-11) ("Employee Share Programmes”)).

Number of Offer (81,199,299) eighty-one million one hundred and ninety-nine thousand two hundred and ninety-nine fully

Shares paid ordinary shares.

Percentage of

Offer Shares of  The Offer Shares represent 11.1% of the Company’s Share Capital (after the Capital increase), which represents

the Company’s  12.6% of the Company’s capital prior to the Capital increase.

Share Capital
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Offer Price

SAR (56) per Share

Total Value of
the Offering

SAR4,547,160,744

Use of Proceeds

The total gross proceeds of the Offering are estimated to be SAR 4,387,160,744 million, of which approximate-
ly SAR 160 million will be applied to settle all the fees and expenses related to the Offering, which include the
fees of each of the Joint Financial Advisors, the Lead Manager, Bookrunners, Joint Global Co-ordinators, Local
Co-ordinator, Receiving Agents, Legal Advisor, Financial Due Diligence advisor and other advisors, marketing,
printing and distribution expenses, in addition to underwriting expenses and other related expenses.

The Company will bear all the fees, expenses and costs related to the Offering.

The Net Offering Proceeds are expected to be SAR 4,347,160,744 million which will be retained by the Com-
pany. The Company intends to use 70% of the net proceeds of the offering to finance its equity contribution
in upcoming projects and the remaining 30% for general corporate purposes.

For further details, please refer to Section (8) (“Use of Proceeds”).

Number of Offer
Shares to be
Underwritten

(81,199,299 eighty-one million one hundred and ninety-nine thousand two hundred and ninety-nine shares.

Total Offering
Amount to be
Underwritten

SAR[¢]

Categories of
Targeted Inves-
tors

(A) Participating Parties: comprising the parties eligible to participate in the book-building process as spec-
ified under the Book-Building Instructions and the other terms and conditions set forth in this Prospectus (for
further details, please refer to Section (1) (“Definitions and Abbreviations”) and Section (16) (“Subscription
Terms and Conditions”) of this Prospectus); and

(B) Individual Investors: comprising Saudi Arabian natural persons including any Saudi female divorcee or
widow with minor children from a marriage to a non-Saudi person who can subscribe for her own benefit or
in the names of her minor children, on the condition that she proves that she is a divorcee or widow and the
mother of her minor children, any non-Saudi national person who is resident in the Kingdom and any GCC na-
tional, in each case who has a bank account with one of the Receiving Agents. Subscription of a person in the
name of his divorcee shall be deemed invalid, and if a transaction of this nature is proved to have occurred,
the law shall be enforced against the applicant. If a duplicate subscription is made, the second subscription
will be considered void and only the first subscription will be accepted.

Total Offer Shares available for each targeted Investor category in the Offering

Number of Offer
Shares available
to Participating
Parties

(81,199,299) eighty-one million one hundred and ninety-nine thousand two hundred and ninety-nine shares
representing 100% of the total number of Offer Shares. If there is sufficient demand by Individual Investors,
and the Participating Parties subscribe to all the Offer Shares allocated to them, the Lead Manager and the
Bookrunners shall have the right to reduce the Offer Shares allocated to Participating Parties to (73,079,370)
seventy three million seventy-nine thousand three hundred and seventy Offer Shares, representing 90% of
the total number of Offer Shares.

Number of Offer
Shares available
to Individual
Investors

A maximum of (8,119,929) eight million one hundred nineteen thousand nine hundred and twenty-nine
shares, representing 10% of the total number of Offer Shares.

Subscription Method for each targeted Investor category

Subscription
Method for Par-
ticipating Par-
ties registered
in the Kingdom

Participating Parties registered in the Kingdom may submit Institutional Subscription Application Forms or
Bid/Subscription Orders during the Book-Building Period to be made available by the Bookrunners in accor-
dance with the instructions described in Section (16) ("Subscription Terms and Conditions") of this Prospec-
tus. After the initial allocation, the Participating Parties shall complete Institutional Subscription Application
Forms based on the number of Offer Shares allocated to them.

Subscription
Method for
Participating
Parties not
registered in the
Kingdom

Participating Parties not registered in the Kingdom may submit a Bid/Subscription Order to be part of the
book-building process with the Bookrunners telephonically or electronically, without the need to complete
and sign a Bid Form, in accordance with the instructions described in Section (16) ("Subscription Terms and
Conditions") of this Prospectus. Participating Parties not registered in the Kingdom must complete the In-
stitutional Subscription Application Form after the allocation of Offer Shares based on the number of Offer
Shares initially allocated to them.
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Retail Subscription Application Forms will be available during the Offering Period for Individual Investors by
the Lead Manager and Receiving Agents. Retail Subscription Application Forms shall be completed in ac-
cordance with the instructions mentioned in Section (16) ("Subscription Terms and Conditions") of this
Prospectus. Individual Investors who have recently participated in a previous initial public offering can also
subscribe through electronic channels offered by the Receiving Agents or branches thereof that offer any
or all such services to its customers, provided that the following requirements are satisfied: (i) the Individual
Investor has an account with a Receiving Agent that offers such services, (i) there have been no changes in
the personal information or data of the Individual Investor since such person’s subscription in the last initial
public offering, and (iii) Individual Investors who are not Saudi or GCC nationals must have an account at one
of the Capital Market Institutions which offer such services.

Minimum number of Offer Shares that can be subscribed for by each targeted Investor category

Minimum
number of Offer
Shares that can
be subscribed
for by Partici-
pating Parties

Subscription
Method for Indi-
vidual Investors

100,000 (one hundred thousand) shares.

Minimum
number of Offer
Shares that can
be subscribed
for by Individual
Investors

10 (ten) shares.

Minimum subscription amount for each targeted Investor category

Minimum

subscription

amount for SAR 5,600,000
Participating

Parties

Minimum
subscription
amount for Indi-
vidual Investors

Maximum number of Offer Shares that can be applied for by each targeted Investor category

Maximum

number of Offer

Shares thatcan 36,544,986 (thirty six million five hundred forty-four thousand nine hundred eighty-six) shares subject to the
be applied for restrictions set out in the Book-Building Instructions.

by Participating

Parties

SAR 560

Maximum
number of Offer
Shares that can
be applied for
by Individual
Investors

250,000 (two hundred fifty thousand) shares.

Amount of Maximum subscription amount for each targeted Investor category

Maximum

subscription

amount for SAR 2,046,519,216
Participating

Parties

Maximum
subscription
amount for Indi-
vidual Investors

SAR 250,000
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Method of allocation and refund of excess subscription amount for each targeted Investor category

Allocation of
Offer Shares to
Participating
Parties

The number of Offer Shares to be initially allocated to the Participating Parties will be (81,199,299) eighty-
one million one hundred and ninety-nine thousand two hundred and ninety-nine shares, representing one
hundred per cent. In the event that the Individual Investors subscribe for the Offer Shares allocated thereto,
the Lead Manager and the Bookrunners shall have the right to reduce the number of Offer Shares allocated
to the Participating Parties to (73,079,370) seventy three million seventy-nine thousand three hundred and
seventy shares, representing ninety per cent. (90%) of the Offer Shares after completion of the Individual
Investor subscription process.

Allocation of
Offer Shares
to Individual
Investors

Allocation of the Offer Shares to Individual Investors is expected to be completed no later than 27-Safar-1443
H (corresponding to 4-October -2021G). The minimum number of Offer Shares that can be subscribed for is
10 (ten) shares, which the maximum number is 250,000 (two hundred fifty thousand) shares. The remaining
Offer Shares, if any, will be allocated as proposed by the Company and the Joint Financial Advisors. In the
event that the number of Individual Investors exceeds 811,992 (eight hundred eleven thousand nine hundred
ninety-two) Investors, the Company will not guarantee the minimum allocation of 10 (ten) Offer Shares per In-
dividual Investor and the allocation of Offer Shares to Individual Investors will be determined at the discretion
of the Company and the Joint Financial Advisors.

Refund of
Excess Subscrip-
tion Monies

Excess subscription monies, if any, will be refunded to Subscribers without any charge or commission being
withheld by the Lead Manager or Receiving Agents. Announcement of the final allotment on 27-Safar-1443 H
(corresponding to 4-October -2021G). and Refund of Excess Subscription Monies on 28-Safar-1443 H (corre-
sponding to 5-October -2021G). (for further details, please refer to Section (16-5) (“Allocation of Shares and
Refund of Excess Subscription Monies”) and Section (16) ("Subscription Terms and Conditions")).

Offering Period

The Offering will commence on 22-Safar-1443 H (corresponding to 29-September-2021G) and will remain
open for a period of 3 days up to and including 24-Safar-1443 H (corresponding to 1- October -2021G). (for
further details, please refer to the “Key Dates and Subscription Procedures” section on page (xx) of this
Prospectus).

Dividend Distri-
butions

The Offer Shares will be entitled to their portion of any dividends declared by the Company as of the date of
this Prospectus and for subsequent financial years (for further details, please refer to Section (7) (“Dividend
Policy”)).

Voting Rights

The Company has one class of ordinary Shares. None of the Shares carry any preferential voting rights. Each
Share entitles its holder to one vote and each Shareholder has the right to attend and vote at the meetings
of the General Assembly. (for further details, please refer to Sub-sections (“Summary of Company’s Bylaws")
and (“Description of Shares - Voting Rights”) Section (12) (“Legal Information”) of this Prospectus.)

Lock-up Period/
Restrictions on
Shares

The Substantial Shareholders mentioned in page (xiv) of the Prospectus shall be subject to a lock-up period of
six (6) months from the date on which trading of the Company Shares commences on the Exchange. During
such period, the Substantial Shareholders may not dispose of any of their Shares. After the end of the Lock-up
Period, they may dispose of their Shares without prior written approval from CMA.

Listing of Shares

Prior to the Initial Public Offering, the Company’s Shares have not been listed or traded in the Kingdom or
elsewhere. An application has been made to the CMA for the registration and offering of the shares in accor-
dance with the OSCOs, and the Company has made an application to the Saudi Stock Exchange (Tadawul) to
list its Shares in accordance with the Listing Rules. All the relevant approvals required to conduct the Offering
have been granted. Trading is expected to commence on the Exchange after the final allocation of the Shares
(for further details, please refer to the “Key Dates and Subscription Procedures” section on page (xx) of this
Prospectus).

Risk Factors

There are certain risks related to investment in the Offer Shares. These risks can be categorized into: (1) Risks
related to the Group’s Operations, (2) Risks related to the Group Projects, (3) Risks related to the Group’s Fi-
nancing, (4) Risks Relating to the Market, Industry and Legal and Regulatory Environment and (5) Risks related
to the Offer Shares. These risks are described in Section (2) (“Risk Factors”) of this Prospectus and should be
considered carefully prior to making an investment decision in relation to the Offer Shares.

Offering Ex-
penses

The Offering expenses and costs are estimated at around SAR 160 million, including the fees of the Joint Fi-
nancial Advisors, Joint Global Co-ordinators, Local Co-ordinators, Bookrunners, Lead Manager, Underwriters,
Receiving Agents, Legal Advisor, Financial Due Diligence Advisor, and Market Consultant, legal advisors to the
Underwriters, Auditor, reporting accountants, in addition to marketing arrangement, printing and distribu-
tion and other expenses related to the Offering. These expenses will be borne by the Company.
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Citigroup Saudi Arabia

20th Floor, Kingdom Tower

P.O.Box 90239

Riyadh 11613

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Tel: +966 (11) 2246140

Fax: +966 (11) 2110020

Website: https://www.citigroup.com/citi/about/countries-and-jurisdictions/citigroup-saudi-arabia.html
Email: projecteclipse@citi.com

J.P. Morgan Saudi Arabia
Al Faisaliyah Center
King Fahd Road
P.O. Box 51907, Riyadh 11553
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
Tel: +966 (11) 2993800
Fax: +966 (11) 2993840
Website: www.jpmorgansaudiarabia.com
Email: Eclipse_JPM_Core@jpmorgan.com Riyad Capital
Granada Business Park 2414 - Al Shohda Dist, Unit No. 69,
Riyadh 13241 - 7279, Saudi Arabia
Underwriters  Tel:+966 (11) 4865649
Fax: +966 (11) 4865908
Website: www.riyadcapital.com
Email: projecteclipse@riyadcapital.com

Natixis Saudi Arabia Investment Company
Servcorp - Al Faisaliah Center

Level 18, Al Faisaliah Tower, King Fahad Highway
Riyadh

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Tel: +966 (11) 490 3946

Fax: +966 (11)490 3938

Website: emea.cib.natixis.com/saudi-arabia/en
Email: project.eclipse@natixis.com

EFG Hermes KSA

Third Floor, North Tower

Sky Tower, King Fahd Road

Olaya, Riyadh

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Tel: +966 (11) 293 8048

Fax: +966 (11) 293 8032

Website: www.efghermes.com

E-mail: efg_hermes_IPO@efg-hermes.com
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Emirates NBD Capital KSA

Signature Center - Hittin Neighborhood
P.O.Box 341777 Riyadh 11333

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Tel: +966 (11) 299 3900

Fax: +966 (11) 299 3955

Website: www.emiratesnbdcapital.com.sa
E-mail: info@emiratesNBDCapital.com.sa
FAB Capital

Cayan Group Building, 7756-King Fahd Road,
Al Malga District, Al Malqa,

Riyadh 4181-13524,

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Tel: +966 (11) 283 4372

Website: www.bankfab.com/ar-sa
Email: ECM@bankfab.com

Alistithmar for Financial Securities and Brokerage Company (Alistithmar Capital)
King Fahd Road, Al-Aqjiq District

P.O.Box 442, Jeddah 21411

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Tel: +966 (11) 254 7666

Fax: +966 (11) 489 2653

Website: www.icab.com.sa

Underwriters - )
E-mail: info@icap.com.sa

SNB Capital

King Saud Road, SNB Regional Building. P. O. Box 2216, Riyadh 11495 - Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
Tel: +966 (11) 874 7106

Fax: +966 (11) 406 0052

Website: www.alahlicapital.com

Email: snbc.cm@alahlicapital.com
Albilad Capital

King Fahd Road

P.O. Box 140, Riyadh 11411
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Tel: +966 (11) 920 003 636

Fax: +966 (11) 290 6299

Website: www.albilad-capital.com

E-mail: clientservices@albilad-capital.com

Aljazira Capital

King Fahd Road

P.O. Box 20428, Riyadh 11455

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Tel: +966 (11) 22560000

Fax: +966(11)2256811

Website: www.aljaziracapital.com.sa
E-mail: contactus@aljaziracapital.com.sa

Note: The “Importance Notice” on page (i) and Section (2) (“Risk Factors”) should be read thoroughly prior to making a
decision to invest in the Offer Shares offered in this Prospectus.
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Key Dates and Subscription Procedures

Table (1-3): Expected Offering Timetable

Bidding and book-building period for the Participating
Parties

A period of (13) thirteen days starting from 8-Safar-1443
H (corresponding to 15-September-2021G), until the end
of the Offering on 20-Safar-1443 H (corresponding to
27-September-2021G)

Offering Period for Individuals

A period of three (3 days starting from 22-Safar-1443 H

(corresponding to 29-September-2021G), until the end

of the Offering on 24-Safar-1443 H (corresponding to 1-
October -2021G).

Deadline for submission of Subscription Application
Forms based on the provisionally allocated Offer Shares
for Participating Parties

23-Safar-1443 H (corresponding to 30-September-2021G)

Deadline for submission of Subscription Application
Forms and payment of the subscription monies for Indi-
vidual Investors

24-Safar-1443 H (corresponding to 1-October -2021G)

Deadline for payment of the subscription monies for
Participating Parties based on their provisionally allocated
Offer Shares

23-Safar-1443 H (corresponding to 30-September-2021G)

Announcement of final Offer Shares allotment

27-Safar-1443 H (corresponding to 4-October -2021G).

Refund of excess subscription monies (if any)

28-Safar-1443 H (corresponding to 5-October -2021G)

Expected date of commencement of trading in the Ex-
change

The Shares trading commencement is expected to start
after fulfilling all relevant statutory requirements. An-
nouncement of the Shares trading commencement will be
made through Tadawul’s website (www.saudiexchange.
com.sa).

The above timetable and dates therein are indicative and may change. Actual dates will be communicated through
announcements appearing on the Tadawul’s website (www.saudiexchange.com.sa), the Joint Financial Advisors’
websites (www.citigroup.com/citi/about/countries-and-jurisdictions/saudi-arabia.html), (www.jpmorgansaudiarabia.
com), (www.riyadcapital.com), (emea.cib.natixis.com/saudi-arabia/en).
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How to Apply

Subscription to the Offer Shares is directed at and may only be accepted by:

Tranche (A): Participating Parties

This tranche comprises the parties eligible to participate in the book-building process as specified under the Book-Building
Instructions and the other terms and conditions set forth in this Prospectus (for further details, please refer to Sections 1
(“Definitions and Abbreviations”) and Section (16) (“Subscription Terms and Conditions”)). These Participating Parties
may apply in accordance with the conditions set out in this Prospectus. Subscription Application Forms can be obtained
from the Bookrunners.

Tranche (B): Individual Investors

This tranche comprises Saudi Arabian nationals, including and Saudi female divorcee or widow with minor children from
a marriage to a non-Saudi person who can subscribe for her own benefit or in the name of her minor children, on the
condition that she proves that she is a divorcee or widow and the mother of her minor children, any non-Saudi national
person who is resident in the Kingdom and any GCC person, in each case who has a bank account, and is entitled to open
an investment account, with one of the Receiving Agents, Subscription of a person in the name of his divorcee shall be
deemed invalid, and if a transaction of this nature has been proved to have occurred, then the regulations shall be enforced
against such person. If a duplicate subscription is made, the second subscription will be considered void and only the first
subscription will be accepted.

Participating Parties

Participating Parties can obtain Bid Forms from the Bookrunners during the book-building process period, and the
Subscription Application Forms from the Bookrunners after provisional allocation. The Bookrunners shall, after the approval
of the CMA, offer the Offer Shares to the Participating Parties only during the book-building period. Subscription by the
Participating Parties shall commence during the Offering Period, which also includes the Individual Investors, in accordance
with the terms and conditions detailed in the Subscription Application Forms. A signed Subscription Application Form
must be submitted to the Bookrunners, which represents a legally binding agreement between the Company and the
Participating Parties submitting the application.

Individual Investors

Subscription Application Forms for Individual Investors will be available during the Offering Period at the branches of the
Receiving Agents. Individual Investors can also subscribe through electronic channels offered by the Receiving Agents that
provide any or all of these services to Individual Investors who have recently participated in previous IPOs, provided that
the following requirements are satisfied:

*  TheIndividual Investors must have a bank account at the Receiving Agent which offers such services; and

e There should have been no changes in the personal information or data of the Individual Investor (by way of
disposal or addition of any member of his family) since he/she last participated in a recent IPO; and

* Individual Investors who are not Saudi or GCC persons must have an account at one of the Capital Market
Institutions which offers such services.

Subscription Application Forms must be completedinaccordance with theinstructions setoutin Section (16) (“Subscription
Terms and Conditions”) of this Prospectus. An applicant must complete all relevant items of the Subscription Form. The
Company reserves the right to reject any Subscription Application Form, in part or in whole, if any of the subscription terms
and conditions are not met. The Subscription Application Form may not be amended or withdrawn after being submitted.
The Subscription Application Form shall be deemed to be a binding agreement between the relevant investors and the
Company (for further details, please refer to Section (16) (“Subscription Terms and Conditions”)) of this Prospectus.

Excess subscription monies, if any, will be refunded to the main account of the Investor held with the Receiving Agent from
which the subscription amount has been debited in the first place, without any commissions or withholding by the Lead
Manager or Receiving Agents. Subscription monies shall not be refunded in cash or third-party accounts.

For further details regarding the subscription by Individual Investors and the Participating Parties, please refer to Section
(16) (“Subscription Terms and Conditions”)) of this Prospectus.
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Summary of Key Information

This summary of key information is intended to provide a brief overview of the information contained in this Prospectus. As
such, it does not contain all of the information that may be important to prospective investors. Recipients of this Prospectus
are advised to read the entire Prospectus in full and any decision to invest in the Offer Shares.

In particular, it is important to carefully consider the “Important Notice” on page (i) and Section (2) (“Risk Factors”), prior to
making any investment decision in the Offer Shares.

The Company

Founding and Share Capital Evolution of the Company

The International Company for Water and Power Projects (“ACWA Power” or the “Company”) (together with its subsidiaries,
the “Group”) was founded as a closed joint stock company in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia pursuant to ministerial resolution
number 215/Q dated 2/7/1429H (corresponding to 5 July 2008G) with commercial registration number 1010253392 dated
10/7/1429H (corresponding to 13 July 2008G) and with an initial share capital of SAR 2,920,895,000 (two billion nine hundred
and twenty million eight hundred and ninety five thousand) consisting of 292,089,500 (two hundred and ninety two million
eighty nine thousand and five hundred) ordinary shares with a nominal value of SAR 10 per share (each a“Share”). For further
information on the evolution of the Company’s share capital, see Section (4-11) (“Founding and Share Capital Evolution of
the Company”). The Company’s head office is located at 2nd Floor, Building 5, The Business Gate, King Khaled International
Airport Road, P.O. Box 22616, Riyadh 11416, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The Company’s main activities are the development and
operation of power and water desalination plants in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and internationally.

*  On1/12/1429H (corresponding to 29 November 2008G), it was resolved to increase the share capital of the Company
to SAR 3,360,005,000 (three billion three hundred and sixty million and five thousand) consisting of 336,000,500
(three hundred and thirty six million and five hundred) Shares through subscription of new Shares by Mohammad
& Abdullah Ibrahim Al Subaeaei Company, Al Fozan Holding, Omar Kassem Alesayi & Partners Marketing, Al Mutlaq
Group Company and Al Mojel Trading & Contracting.

e On 2/7/1431H (corresponding to 14 June 2010G), it was resolved to increase the share capital of the Company to
SAR 3,710,215,605 (three billion seven hundred and ten million two hundred and fifteen thousand six hundred and
five) consisting of 371,021,560 (three hundred and seventy one million twenty one thousand five hundred and sixty)
Shares through subscription of new Shares by the Company’s shareholders.

*  0On30/2/1434H (corresponding to 12 January 2013G), it was resolved to increase the share capital of the Company to
SAR 4,604,952,440 (four billion six hundred and four million nine hundred and fifty two thousand four hundred and
forty) consisting of 460,495,244 (four hundred and sixty million four hundred and ninety five thousand two hundred
and forty four) Shares in relation to the subscription for new Shares by the Public Pension Agency and Saudi Arabian
Investment Company (Sanabil Investments) as new shareholders.

e On 23/7/1434H (corresponding to 2 June 2013G), the share capital of the Company was increased through
capitalisation of shareholder loans by resolution of the Shareholders (pursuant to Article 138 of the Companies Law)
to SAR 5,335,952,440 (five billion three hundred and thirty five million nine hundred and fifty two thousand four
hundred and forty) consisting of 533,595,244 (five hundred and thirty three million five hundred and ninety five
thousand two hundred and forty four) Shares.

*  On26/11/1434H (corresponding to 2 October 2013G), it was resolved to reduce the share capital of the Company by
SAR 137,693,000 (one hundred and thirty seven million six hundred and ninety three thousand) to SAR 5,198,259,440
(five billion one hundred and ninety eight million two hundred and fifty nine thousand four hundred and forty)
consisting of 519,825,944 (five hundred and nineteen million eight hundred and twenty five nine hundred and forty
four) Shares as a result of the cancellation of the Company’s treasury buy-back shares.

*  On14/1/1435H (corresponding to 17 November 2013G), the share capital of the Company was increased by resolution
of the Shareholders to SAR 5,476,037,210 (five billion four hundred and seventy six million and thirty seven thousand
two hundred and ten) consisting of 547,603,721 (five hundred and forty seven million six hundred and three thousand
seven hundred and twenty one) Shares in relation to the subscription for new Shares by IFC as a new shareholder.

*  On 14/10/1439H (corresponding to 26 June 2018G), the share capital of the Company was increased by resolution of
the Shareholders to SAR 6,457,628,780 (six billion four hundred and fifty seven million six hundred and twenty eight
thousand seven hundred and eighty) consisting of 645,762,878 (six hundred and forty five million seven hundred and
sixty two thousand eight hundred and seventy eight) Shares in relation to the subscription for new shares by the PIF
as a new shareholder.

As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company’s share capital amounts to SAR 6,457,628,780 (six billion four hundred and fifty
seven million six hundred and twenty eight thousand seven hundred and eighty) consisting of 645,762,878 (six hundred and
forty five million seven hundred and sixty two thousand eight hundred and seventy eight) ordinary cash Shares with a fully
paid-up nominal value of SAR 10 per Share.
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Overview

The International Company for Water and Power Projects (“ACWA Power” or the “Company”) (together with its subsidiaries,
the “Group”) was founded as a closed joint stock company in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia pursuant to ministerial resolution
number 215/Q dated 2/7/1429H (corresponding to 5 July 2008G) with commercial registration number 1010253392 dated
10/7/1429H (corresponding to 13 July 2008G) and with an initial share capital of SAR 2,920,895,000 (two billion nine hundred
and twenty million eight hundred and ninety five thousand) consisting of 292,089,500 (two hundred and ninety two million
eighty nine thousand and five hundred) ordinary shares with a nominal value of SAR 10 per share (each a“Share”). For further
information on the evolution of the Company’s share capital, please refer to Section (4-11) (“Founding and Share Capital
Evolution of the Company”). The Company’s head office is located at 2nd Floor, Building 5, The Business Gate, King Khaled
International Airport Road, P.O. Box 22616, Riyadh 11416, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The Company’s main activities are the
development and operation of power and water desalination plants in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and internationally.

The Group is a leading private developer, investor and operator of 64 power generation and water desalination projects
(such projects of the Group, the “Projects”) in operation, construction and advance development as of 1 June 2021G—with
a portfolio both within the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and internationally in the GCC, Egypt, Ethiopia, Morocco, South Africa,
Turkey, Uzbekistan, Azerbaijan and Vietnam. The Group is a leading power and water provider, both in fossil fuel and renewable
technologies, in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and a significant participant in the power generation and water desalination
industries in the countries in which it operates as measured by MWs of contracted electricity generation capacity and millions
of cubic meters (m3) of desalinated water capacity. As of 15 May 2021G, the Group had estimated market shares in Saudi Arabia,
Oman, the UAE, Bahrain, Jordan and Uzbekistan of 24%, 43%, 14%, 29% ,22% and 23%, respectively, based on contracted power
capacity, and 49%, 21%, 18% and 25%, respectively, of the production capacity of desalinated water in Saudi Arabia, the UAE,
Oman and Bahrain. As of 1 June 2021G, the Group had a portfolio with a total estimated project cost of over SAR 248 billion,
comprising 64 power and/or desalinated water Projects, in 13 countries, with a mix of renewable energy and conventional fuel
Projects. Of these Projects:

*  (39)arein operation representing a total estimated project cost of SAR 100.3 billion;

e (12)are under construction representing a total estimated incurred and future project cost of SAR 55.5 billion; and

e (13)arein astate of advanced development (either where the Group has been awarded a preferred bidder status, has
signed the long-term Offtake Agreement, or for some negotiated deals has committed significant financial resources,
and is working on achieving financial close) representing a total estimated incurred and future project cost of SAR
91.6 billion.

Table (1-4): The Group’s operational capacity of the portfolio is highlighted in the table below:

Operational Capacity (# of projects)

Operational Capacity (GW) 16.9 20.5 20.3

Operational Capacity (million m3/day) 24 2.7 27

*Reduction in 2020G is due to removal of Bowarege and one plant at CEGCO and Karad was sold in 2020G.

As of 1 June 2021G, approximately 33% of the gross power capacity of the Group’s power-generation Projects (including
operating, under construction and in advanced development Projects) utilize renewable technologies (solar and wind),
and another 44% use natural gas, so that approximately 77% of the gross power capacity of the Group’s power-generating
Projects utilizes either renewable or low carbon sources. Approximately 23% of the gross power capacity of the Group’s
power-generation Projects utilize coal and oil. However, with the decision of the Company in 2020G which was subsequently
formalized by the Board of Directors to no longer pursue any new coal- or oil-fired project, the Group is committed to gradually
reducing its green house gas (GHG) emission intensity and ultimately achieving net zero-emissions by 2050G.

The Group focuses on large assets operated with high standards in line with industry best practices. Approximately 71% of
the Group's gross power generation capacity is from plants that have an individual capacity of greater than 1 GW. The Group’s
Offtake Agreements (including those for advanced development assets) have a weighted average (weighted by project cost)
remaining life of 22 years. Between 31 December 2006G and 31 December 2020G, the Group's gross power capacity and water
capacity (including under construction and advanced development Projects) have grown at CAGRs of 28.4% (from 1.3 GW to
41.7 GW) and 13.3% (from 1.0 million m3 to 5.8 million m3 per day), respectively.

The Group aims to become one of the largest power generation, water desalination players in the countries where it chooses
to operate as well as a major Green Hydrogen player (i.e., establishment of plants to extract hydrogen used as fuel and as a
means to store energy by separating hydrogen and oxygen from water through electrolysis using electricity generated from
renewable energy sources), without compromising its commitment to reliably and responsibly deliver power and desalinated
water at low cost. To this effect, the Group seeks to sustainably grow its power and desalinated water contracted capacities by
focusing largely on sovereign offtake markets in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (where the counterparties to the relevant Offtake
Agreement are state-owned entities), GCC and other high-growth economies through the expansion of its existing facilities,
the development of greenfield Projects and the acquisition of ownership interests in companies operating existing plants. The



XXiV AT:WA POWER!!\

ol |

Group is also positioning itself to lead in the Energy Transition and be a key player in the market for Green Hydrogen, with one
utility-scale project already announced in Saudi Arabia and additional projects being actively explored both inside and outside
the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The Group aims to be a key developer, investor and operator of critical power, water desalination
and Green Hydrogen assets.

The Group aims to be a strategic lead developer by targeting critical assets in strong growth markets, i.e. key assets for the
economy and society such as water and energy plants. At the forefront of the Energy Transition, the Group focuses predominantly
on renewables and transitional low CO2 projects and seeks to employ innovative technical, commercial and financial bidding
strategies while focusing on cost leadership by providing turnkey solutions with leading original equipment manufacturers
("OEMs") and EPC Contractors. In these Projects, the relevant special purpose company incorporated in the host jurisdiction
of the relevant Project which it is tasked to implement and which holds the relevant Project assets (the “Project Company”)
typically enters into a long-term offtake contract with creditworthy offtakers (which are usually government-related and/or
predominantly investment grade). Long-term offtake contracts are contracts to sell the Project’s electricity generation capacity
and/or desalinated water production capacity at a pre-agreed tariff or to sell actual electricity generated and/or desalinated
water produced at the relevant Project. The offtakers include investment-grade sovereign and quasi-sovereign entities, as well
as predominantly investment grade resource/commaodity-based industrial companies that require significant quantities of
utility services and are usually capable of supplying their own fuel resources to the Projects (for example, captive power plants
for oil and gas companies).

The Group co-invests in all of its Projects with a view to maintaining technical and operational control over the performance
of these Projects. The Group aims to invest in Projects efficiently by bringing in equity partners in most of its Projects, by using
non-recourse or limited recourse project finance debt and by targeting to raise funding using equity bridge loans. Equity
bridge loans are frequently used as a structuring technique in I(W)PP projects because the cost of equity for such projects
is almost always greater than the cost of debt. By bridging its equity injection during the construction period with an equity
bridge loan, the Group is able to pass on part of the savings in cost of funds as a tariff reduction to the offtaker. Additionally,
the Group seeks continuous capital optimization through re-financing of equity bridge loans with the objective of generating
incremental return on its investments.

The Group’s business is capital intensive in nature and the Group utilizes diverse sources of financing including a combination
of equity and debt financing from a variety of sources including institutional investors, international development banks and
international and national (Saudi) commercial banks. Financing and funding facilities of the Group comprise recourse and non-
recourse facilities.

Recourse facilities are (i) direct borrowings at parent level for liquidity support and other general corporate purposes; (ii)
facilities of the Project Companies, including equity commitments that are normally in the form of Equity Bridge Loans (EBLs),
guaranteed by the Company (see Section (6-3-9-3) Contingencies and Commitments); and (iii) other liabilities in relation to
APREH's convertible loan and PIF’s non-interest bearing converted loan (for further analysis on the net recourse debt of the
Company, please refer to Section (9) (Capitalization and indebtedness).

Non-recourse facilities are borrowings by either the Project Companies or the Holding Companies, which are ring-fenced with
no recourse to the Company. They comprise (i) non-recourse facilities that are secured by the Project Company with its own
assets, cash flows and contractual rights over certain proceeds; and (ii) non-recourse facilities that are secured by the Holding
Company with its investments and cash flows through the Project Company with no recourse to the Company, including
the existing ACWA39 Bond issued by the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary APMI One with no recourse to the Company
and secured against the cash flows from a select portfolio of Projects in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (refer to Section (9)
Capitalisation and indebtedness).

The Group targets significant, long-term shareholding interests in most of its projects and seeks to play the role of the lead
investor with de facto control over the investment (e.g. by obtaining and maintaining the ability to appoint senior managers
(for example the CEO and the CFO) and operational management through NOMAG, its wholly owned subsidiary, acting as the
operation and maintenance contractor on an arms-length basis). The Group focuses on building scalable investment platforms
and on building and maintaining a portfolio with a diversified asset base. Furthermore, the Group seeks to maximise differential
returns through the use of development fees (which are fees typically paid to the developers or sponsors upon financial close
or COD as compensation for the risks taken and efforts made while developing the Project), project management and advisory
fees (which are fees typically paid to the Group for managing the construction of the Project) and technical services fees (which
are fees typically paid to the Group for providing technical advisory services for the Project during its operation), and O&M
fees (which are the fees paid by the project company to the entity, usually a Group company, which provides operational and
maintenance services to its plant following its commissioning) for all its Projects.
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Normally, the Group does not operate third-party assets or own assets operated by third parties. Instead, the Group generally
holds a significant equity interest in the assets it operates and largely a majority interest in the entities operating its assets.
For the operation and maintenance of its own Projects, the Group generally leverages its wholly owned subsidiary, NOMAC,
and NOMAC's subsidiaries or joint ventures, which operate the majority of the Group’s Projects to its standardized operating
model with what management considers to be high standards of health, safety, security and environmental protection in line
with global standards. In this manner, the Group aims to create value through a standardised operational model that seeks to
ensure superior control and understanding of operating assets through the life cycle, provide stable long-term income and
super senior cash flows, incentivize adoption of consistent high operational standards and a culture of safety, enhance the
use of digitalization to improve asset performance, capture the benefits from economies of scale, create operational synergies
from replicable and transferable learnings, enhance risk mitigation and deliver systematically optimized costs across the supply
chain.

Additionally, the Group seeks to continuously implement financial and operational initiatives to further optimize the returns
from the portfolio. It systematically targets to recycle its capital through sell-downs of minority stakes in its Projects (while
retaining its operational and de facto control), extending contracts beyond the original P(W)PA, and portfolio level capital
structure optimization through (i) re-financing of equity bridge loans (by extending tenors for individual EBLs or re-financing
the portfolio EBLs with long-term permanent capital) and/or (ii) bringing in strategic equity partner(s) on a portfolio of assets
across multiple jurisdictions, both with the objective of generating incremental return on its investments.

The Group believes that its develop, invest, operate and optimize business cycle model allows it to generate total returns
substantially in excess of its cost of capital or hurdle rate across the technologies and portfolio.

As of 1 June 2021G, the Group’s portfolio of Projects in operation, under construction or in advanced development represented
approximately 42 GW of gross electricity generation capacity and 6.4 million m3 per day of desalinated water production
capacity. The Group'’s proportionate share of this gross capacity based on its equity share in each of the assets is 18.4 GW of
electricity generation capacity and 2.8 million m3 per day of desalinated water production capacity. The Group’s Projects in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia accounted for approximately 55% of the Group’s gross power capacity overall as of 1 June 2021G, with
the next largest markets being Oman, UAE and Uzbekistan, accounting for approximately 12%, 11% and 10% of the contracted
power capacity from the Group's Projects, respectively. The Group’s Projects in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia also represented
approximately 67% of the Group’s contracted desalinated water production capacity overall as of 1 June 2021G, with UAE,
Oman and Bahrain accounting for the remaining 25%, 5% and 4% respectively.

Ownership in the Company
The following tables summarise the shareholding structure of the Company before and after the Offering:

Table (1-5): Substantial Shareholders

Pre-Offering Post-Offering

Shareholder . .
No. of Shares | Par Value (SAR) AT . No. of Shares | Par Value (SAR) Direct .
Ownership Ownership

Public
Investment 322,881,439 3,228,814,390 50.00% 322,881,439 3,228,814,390 44.16%
Fund
Vision

166,320,184 1,663,201,840 25.76% 166,320,184 1,663,201,840 22.75%
Investment
Al Rajhi Holding 81,918,658 819,186,580 12.69% 81,918,658 819,186,580 11.20%
Total 571,120,281 5,711,202,810 88.45% 571,120,281 5,711,202,810 78.11%

Source: Company
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The following chart sets out the ownership structure of the Company prior to the Offering:

Figure (1): Pre-IPO Shareholdoing Structure

Vision Muhammad
International Abdullah Rashid Al Mutlaq
Invetsment Group Co.
Abunayyan
Company
25.76% 4.13% 3.25%
Public " . Abdullah Badad International
Al Rahji Holding . X
Investment Company Ltd Abunayyan Trading Co. for Trading &
Fund pany Ltd. Company Contracting
50% 12.69% 3.02% 0.46%

AJDA Industrial and
Technical Services
Co.

0.46%

Al Toukhi
Commercial Group
Company Itd.

0.24%

International Company for Water & Power Projects

(ACWA Power)

The following chart sets out the ownership structure of the Company after the Offering:

Figure (2): Post-IPO Shareholdoing Structure

Vision International Muhammad Al Mutlag Group Co.
Investment Abdullah Rashid
Abunayyan

22.75% 3.65% 2.87%

Public Investment Al Rahji Holding Abdullah Badad International
Fund Company Ltd. Abunayyan Trading Co. for Trading &
Company Contracting
44.16% 11.20% 2.67% 0.40%

AJDA Industrial and
Technical Services
Co.

0.40%

Al Toukhi
Commercial Group
Company Itd.

0.21%

Company and its

0.57%

New shareholders

11.1%

subsidiaries
employees

International Company for Water & Power Projects

(ACWA Power)

Post-IPO

*Through a fund established to administer a plan to grants shares to employees in connection with the Offering
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Mission and Strategy

Vision, mission and values

The Group aims to become one of the largest IWPP players in the GCC, Asia and Africa without compromising its commitment
to reliably and responsibly deliver power and desalinated water at low cost, as well as an innovative player in the Green
Hydrogen and industrial gases landscape, and has accordingly set out the following mission and central values. The Group’s
mission is to reliably and responsibly deliver electricity and desalinated water at an optimized cost that is as low as possible
to ensure uninterrupted and complete contracted cash flow throughout the term of the contract yet remains high enough to
recover all costs and for the investment to create shareholder value. This contributes toward the Group's wider vision to ensure
the ingenuity and entrepreneurship of the private sector and make available electricity and desalinated water in a reliable
and responsible manner to support the social development and economic growth of nations in which the Group operates.
The Group also aims to play a major role in the process of energy transition from the use of conventional power to the use of
renewable power and Green Hydrogen.

The Group has as its central values: Safety, People, and Performance.

e Safety: The Group seeks to prioritize safety and is committed to protecting the well-being of its employees,
partners, plants and communities in which they operate, while also finding sustainable solutions for its business in
considerations of long-term environmental sustainability for the future generations.

*  People: The Group seeks to foster a healthy, inclusive and productive working environment for its employees
and partners, rooted in respect and professionalism. The Group seeks to work collaboratively, where people can
contribute, innovate and excel through support to achieve client, personal and the Group’s goals. Accordingly,
the Group embraces strong ethical and professional standards, emphasizing values of integrity, transparency and
collaboration.

¢ Performance: The Group commits itself to excellence in its business and operations. It seeks to achieve ambitious
targets by expanding its capacities on an ongoing basis. Towards this end, the Group values speed, adaptability and
accountability in approaching new challenges and contexts.

Strategy

The Group’s overall strategy is to be at the forefront of the Energy Transition by delivering reliable and responsible power,
desalinated water and Green Hydrogen at low cost in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, the wider GCC and attractive high-growth
markets based on a de-risked and contracted business model.

The key tenets of the Group's strategy are:

1. Leadership in KSA and selected high-growth markets

2. Focus on driving the Energy Transition and wider environmental, social, and corporate governance (ESG) agenda in
all targeted markets

De-risked business model underpinned by diversified long-term contracts

4.  Utilise centralised expertise to optimise portfolio operations and economics via the Group’s wholly-owned O&M
company, NOMAC

5. Apply atotal return concept focused on extracting economics across the value chain to offer optimal “win-win” tariffs

The Company’s Key Strengths and Competitive Advantages

The Group’s competitive strengths include its Project development mastery underpinned by the ACWA Power Total Solution,
high quality contracted portfolio with diversified cashflows, business model configured to extract returns across lifecycles,
seasoned management with strong in-house multi-disciplinary team of experts, critical mass in high-growth markets with
visible growth pipeline and long-term buy-in from strategic shareholders.

Project development mastery underpinned by the cost-focused “ACWA Power Total Solution”
Established critical mass and leadership across markets

High quality, long-term contracted portfolio, diversified across geographies and technologies
Business model configured to extract value throughout the asset life cycle

A seasoned management team with decades of industry experience

SN T o

Critical mass and leadership in high-growth markets immediate visible growth pipeline and long-term
development opportunities
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7.  Long-term existence of the shareholders in the Company
8.  Strong future outlook
9.  FeeIncome from new projects, which includes development fees, project management and advisory fees

Market Overview

ACWA Power operates across 13 countries, including its domestic market—the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia,—wider Gulf
Cooperation Council (GCC) countries, as well as several high-growth economies. The company also considers numerous
international markets for expansion. Its main activity includes wholesale electricity generation from conventional and
renewable plants, operation of water desalination plants and provision of operations and maintenance (O&M) services through
its fully owned-subsidiary NOMAC. After announcing the agreement to construct the Green Hydrogen plant in NEOM, ACWA
is set to become a seminal player on the market of green hydrogen. All ACWA Power’s target geographies are undergoing a
historic energy transition, driven by increasing electricity demand and accelerated deployment of renewable energy.

This section provides an overview of general trends in water and power sector development, costs and investments across the
target geography of ACWA Power, revealing the following key factors:

*  Markets across the wider GCC and high-growth economies of Southeast Asia and Africa are at the forefront of
electricity consumption rise with increasing needs to meet power demand.

*  The regions are abundant with renewables energy potential and are increasingly considering solar and wind
technologies to ensure sustainable, secure and accessible electricity supply.

e Solar PV and onshore wind technologies have become competitive against conventional technologies on the
global scale and especially in the GCC states that witnessed multiple records of the lowest costs for solar PV
technologies over the last years.

*  Global energy investments have shifted towards emerging economies and power segment, mostly large-scale
grid-connected market, as ESG (“Environmental, Social, Governance”) strategies are becoming mainstream.

e Electricity generation markets where ACWA Power operates or plans expansion provide opportunities of
investments with contracted revenues and visibility of the cash flows thanks to the regulated contractual business
models.

*  With newer wind and solar technologies replacing maturing projects, O&M services are set to experience
accelerating growth led by affiliated service providers.

*  Demand for water desalination (mostly, in the GCC states) is to be largely met with cost-efficient renewables-
powered procurement through secure build-own-operate-transfer schemes.

Electricity demand and renewable power capacity are set to grow in target markets

The leading drivers of global electricity demand growth are industrial activity, space cooling, water heating, appliances and
non-petroleum cars, but these vary substantially by geography (source: IEAWEO 2019, p.253). In addition, due to demographic
and economic factors over the last two decades, the countries of wider GCC and high-growth economies of Southeast Asia and
Africa have been among the global leaders in terms of electricity generation growth, exceeding OECD and South American
economies (see the table below). According to IEA, while in advanced economies the growth in digitalisation and electrification
is offset by improvements in energy efficiencies, in developing economies electricity generation will continue to grow thanks
to higher population growth rates, rising incomes, expanding industrial output, increased electrification in previously under-
served markets:

*  The economies of GCC have been witnessing substantial increase in electricity consumption per capita and
electricity intensity of GDP driven by housing and commercial projects that will be boosted further by growing
adoption of electric vehicles and penetration of smart and driverless transport (source: IRENA 2019a, p.45, 119,
124).

*  In South-eastern Asia, where less than 20% households are equipped with air conditioning and 45mn people still
do not have access to electricity, rising incomes and high temperature control needs are propelling the ownership
of appliances and cooling demand which is becoming the fastest-growing use of electricity (source: IEA 2019b,
p.14-15).

e Sub-Saharan Africa is home to the largest unelectrified population in the world, with about 600mn people still
lacking connection, so demand is to be added by achieving universal access to electricity. Another driver is
urbanisation: the share of the population living in cities is now 40%, up from 32% in 2000 (sources: IRENA 2015,
p.56; IEA 2019, p.83).
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The target geographies of ACWA Power have high potential for renewable generation

Renewable technologies are dominating the global market for new power generation capacity. According to IEA, these will
provide globally over half of additional power generation by 2040, underpinned by policy support in nearly 170 countries and
the improving competitiveness of the technologies. The transformation of electricity supply is underway around the world,
but the extent of change varies widely. Regional outlooks depend critically on four factors: policy environment, technology
preferences, available resources and the relative economics of different power generation technologies (source: IEAWEO 2019,
p.264, 268).

Globally, IEA estimates additional installed capacity of 3,000 GW by the end of 2030G, and almost 2,900 GW for the following
decade. Over 80% of additional capacity will be ensured by renewable generation, which will achieve half of the power mix in
10 years'time (source: [EW WEO, p.680). In the countries where ACWA Power currently operates or to where it is expanding - in
the wider GCC and ASEAN regions (as well as Pakistan and South Africa), governments have announced plans to deploy around
385 GW of power capacity, including more than 230 GW of renewables (see Part 1B).

GCC and ASEAN countries have considerable renewable energy potential, making them suitable for solar photovoltaic (PV)
and wind generation (to a lesser extent). All countries in wider GCC, South-eastern Asia and Africa signed the Paris Agreement
and, through their Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs), they committed to contribute to the global effort to mitigate
greenhouse emissions. To limit the global temperature rise to well below 2 °C and towards 1.5 °C as per the Paris Agreement
targets, annual energy-related CO2 emissions would need to fall more than 70% from now until 2050G. A large-scale shift
to renewable energy and electrification measures could deliver three-quarters of the needed reductions. (sources: IMF WEO,
p.341; IRENA 2020c, p.64). There are also region-specific trends supporting the need for additional renewable capacity.

First, these region-specific trends depend on social and economic level of development and the resulting specific power sector
challenges as well as policy priorities. In GCC, the surge in domestic energy consumption, including in the power sector, has
challenged policy makers to meet demand economically, without compromising current and future hydrocarbon export
revenues, while also managing their countries’ carbon footprint. Several governments have set targets for the deployment
of renewable energy, as part of broader initiatives aimed at achieving greater economic and energy sustainability to gain
benefits that include fossil-fuel savings, emissions reductions and new jobs. Synergies between renewable energy integration
and energy efficiency also exist in the water sector, for instance with production of chilled water via renewable energy - see the
end of Part 1A for more details (source: IRENA 20193, p.38, 51, 101, 130, 136).

Second, these region-specific trends are shaped by local power and water system specificities, such as for instance synergies
with water desalination technologies in the GCC region, increasing interconnection across ASEAN and integration with
agricultural needs in Sub-Saharan Africa. In South-eastern Asia, one of the key challenges is how to supply the growing
demand for energy while at the same time enhancing energy security. Increasing flexibility of power systems is necessary
to accommodate variable renewable sources of generation. In this context, further regional power system integration can
support the growth of renewable sources of generation, in particular from wind and solar PV, as it provides such flexibility.
In recent years, ASEAN members have reinvigorated their push to implement the power grid concept in full, including the
establishment of multilateral power trading (sources: IRENA 2016, p.31, 35, 40; IRENA 2019a, p.139, 143).

Africa’s solar power generation potential exceeds future demand by orders of magnitude. Unreliable power supply has been
one of the obstacles in accelerating the economic growth for most African countries. The countries in the continent face the
challenge of timely investment to meet the growing demand and support economic growth. In the longer term, the aim is
also to ensure modern energy access to the entire population. Large-scale deployment of renewable energy now offers Africa
a cost-effective path to sustainable and equitable growth. The vast majority of rural households in Africa rely on agriculture,
and integrating agricultural energy needs such as irrigation, agroprocessing and storage into the design of electricity access
business models and technologies can have a positive impact (source: IRENA 2015, p.14, 36, 38).

Global energy investments shift towards emerging economies

For the fourth year in a row, on the global level, the power sector exceeded oil and gas sectors as the largest investment
segment and the focus is shifting towards emerging & developing economies. The power sector represents 50% of total
energy supply investment worldwide and includes spending on new power plants, transmission and distribution lines, as
well as refurbishments and upgrades. Renewables account for about USD 360bn per year, most of it for solar PV and wind
power. Globally, the increasing cost-competitiveness of renewable energy technologies has been most apparent in the
large-scale grid-connected market (source: IEA WEO, p.272).

Spending on renewables is shaped by the ESG (“Environmental, Social, Governance”) strategies which are becoming
mainstream by seeking positive, long-term returns from sustainable, ethical and socially responsible investments. Countries
stand to gain significantly from renewable energy installations through fossil-fuel savings, emission reductions and job
creation (IRENA 2019a, p.17).
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During 2015 - 2018 the wider GCC region and Southeast Asia were among the main areas where the investment in the
renewables has been growing: in total, by almost USD 3bn in the former and USD 0.5bn in the latter. The growth rates differ
starkly - in the past five years, power sector investment across Arab Gulf countries has risen by nearly 40%, while in Southeast
Asia it has remained around the same level, in part due to risks related to grid development and financial performance of
incumbent utilities (sources: IEA WEI 2019, p.57, 60).

A considerable share of investment in the GCC region is driven by large stand-alone projects. In addition to the projects
themselves, the GCC countries are also investing in the value chain including project developers, manufacturing companies,
and research and development initiatives. Since 2015, auctions have been used to award more than 3,500 MW of renewable
energy projects in the region. Other helpful factors include investor confidence, the strategic benefits of entering a promising
market, low taxes, and minimal land and grid-connection costs (source: IRENA 20193, p.15).

In Sub-Saharan Africa, power investment grew 8% in 2018, though has grown over 80% since 2010. This growth has all come
from generation, over 65% of which was in renewables (sources: IEA WEI 2019, p.60).

Power sector reforms have kicked off in a number of countries in Central Asian and the Caucasus including a move to PPP
schemes. An old and inefficient power generation portfolio is rapidly being replaced and expanded, both with conventional
and renewable power plants, in some countries that are opening up to foreign investments and are liberalising their markets.

Business models underpinned by contracted revenues support investment

Investment in the power sector typically relies on a range of mechanisms, with contracted or state-backed mechanisms
securing the revenues representing the majority of projects. There is a wide range of market and regulatory arrangements
across the different countries, which result in different degrees of risk exposure for investors.

In countries which have introduced liberalised electricity markets, a merchant plant is one that is not owned by a utility or
end-use customer and does not have a long-term bilateral contract for the power sale, but earns its revenues entirely from
the wholesale electricity markets. To date, the most popular transaction type for dealing with long-term merchant risk has
been the corporate power purchase agreements (PPAs).

Many countries still feature either regulated monopolies or have introduced some degree of liberalisation with third party
Independent Power Producers (IPPs). In such countries investment in power production is typically either regulated or
supported by long term power purchase agreements which provide long term guaranteed revenues. ACWA Power’s projects
prioritise long-term PPAs with largely Government-backed offtakers (source: ACWA Power).

Cash flow certainty is critical for generation projects to manage risks and facilitate financing. Nearly all utility-scale
investments to date benefit from long-term pricing under policy schemes - e.g. auctions for contracts and feed-in tariffs (FiTs)
—and physical power purchase agreements with utilities subject to purchase obligations. Looking ahead, most renewable
investments benefit from such policies (source: [EAWEO 2019, p.137).

According to IEA, most of renewables investment is carried out on the balance sheets of developers: but project finance
transactions have grown, especially for utility-scale solar PV and wind, to over USD 50bn in 2019. Renewables investment
largely depends on policies and contracts that help manage price risks and there continues to be a global movement
towards long-term contracts awarded via competitive auctions, but developers and financiers are increasingly required
to have strategies for solar PV and wind projects to manage revenue risks. Corporate PPAs were the largest commercial
arrangement for renewables with associated investments over USD 18bn in 2019, mainly in the US and Europe: over 10% of
utility-scale solar PV and wind investment is now based on corporate PPAs (IEA WEI 2020, p.152-153).

Renewable technologies become competitive against conventional technologies

Reliance on renewables technologies has been increasingly offering power producers greater abilities to compete on price
as the electricity production costs have become competitive vis-a-vis conventional sources in recent years.

Levelised Cost of Energy (LCOE) Analysis is a cost metric methodology allowing to compare different electricity production
technologies. The calculation of LCOE values is based on project-specific total installed costs and capacity factors, as well
as the O&M costs. The LCOE of renewable energy technologies varies by technology, country and project, based on the
renewable energy resource, capital and operating costs, and the efficiency/performance of the technology (source: IRENA
2020a, p.136).

Fuel prices materially affect the LCOE of conventional generation technologies, but direct comparisons to “competing”
renewable energy generation technologies must take into account issues such as dispatch characteristics (e.g., baseload
and/or dispatchable intermediate capacity vs. those of peaking or intermittent technologies) and most of all the differential
of input wind and solar resource available in the different locations and countries.
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Renewable technologies (PV and wind) are approaching the LCOE of conventional generation, and trends are expected to
continue in the future, as shown in table below.

Cost trends in the GCC have been consistent with international trends. Solar PV is emerging as the cheapest source of
electricity generation for new projects in the GCC, beating natural gas, liquefied natural gas, oil, coal and nuclear. Meanwhile,
CSP costs less than what some utilities such as the Dubai Electricity and Water Authority pay for gas-based options. Well-
designed auctions have been essential for lowering costs. Since 2015, they have been used to award more than 3,500 MW of
renewable energy projects in the region.

*  Large-scale solar PV projects in Dubai have featured record-low bids in 2014 (USD 59.8 per MWh for a 200 MW
project) and again a few years later (USD 29.9 per MWh for an 800 MW venture). And yet, these bids now look
high compared to the winning USD 23.4 per MWh bid by ACWA Power for the 300 MW Sakaka project in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, and USD 24 per MWh for another, 250 MW, solar park in Dubai in late 2018. Earlier this
year, the 900 MW fifth phase of 5 GW Mohammed bin Rashid Al Maktoum Solar park was awarded a 25-year power
purchase agreement with a bid of USD 16.953 per MWh. In Dubai, Abu Dhabi got the world’s record low solar
power price offer of USD 13.5 per MWh on a LCOE basis by a consortium which offered to build a 1.5 GW PV plant.

e (CSP with storage can provide a dispatchable source of renewable generation that may be considered firm
capacity by utilities. Blended solar technology features the low price of PV and the storage of CSP to provide a
comprehensive alternative to gas-based generation. This is shown by the record low of USD 73 per MWh for the
700 MW Phase IV of Dubai’s solar park.

*  Governments are also capitalising on the availability of strong wind resources, thus increasing the competitiveness
of onshore wind in the region. Thanks to performance improvements, the LCOE estimate reached USD 60 per
MWh in 2018. In the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, among the schemes that have already been tendered are the
400-MW Dumat Al Jandal onshore wind project and the 300-MW Sakaka solar photovoltaic (PV) project. In July,
Dumat Al Jandal marked a new global record low levelised cost of energy (LCOE) by closing at USD 19.9 per MWh
(sources: IRENA 2019a, p.15-16, 87, 99; IRENA 2020b, p.52, PV 2020b, PV 2020c).

The low cost of Solar in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia in particular is evidenced by the bids shortlisted for the Solar PV
capacity as part of the National Renewable Energy Programme (NREP). In 2018, as part of the 1st round of procurement
programme organised by REPDO the contract for Sakaka (capacity of 300 MW) was awarded to ACWA Power at SR 8.79 per
kWh (or USD 23.6 per MWh). The second round initially drew 250 bidders, as it includes four solar PV plants totalling 1.4 GW.
Shortlisted prospective developers offered the bids in the range of USD 15.9 - 17.8 per MWh. Same trend of tariffs reduction
has been observed for land-based wind technology, when under NREP the above-mentioned 400 MW Dumat Al Jandal
onshore wind project was tendered and marked a new global record low LCOE by closing at USD 19.9 per MWh. (sources: PV
2020a, Renewables Now).

The need for O&M services will support the development of the value chain

With increasing demand for capacity and aging of the existing technologies, there is a large and growing market for servicing
of the power plants, including those that use conventional technologies as well as those relying on renewables.

Gas-fired power generation is known for having relatively low operation and maintenance (O&M) costs, but with their ability
to quickly ramp output up or down as needed, the growing requirement of intermittent renewable supply will likely drive
gas-fired O&M costs. A major driver for O&M costs at coal-fired plants is monitoring and servicing the many moving parts
involved in the generation process, including turbines and generating sets, coal yard conveyors and handling systems. As coal
power stations are often baseload plants, these components are expected to operate continuously while being subjected to
heavy loads and high temperatures, as well as varying levels of dust, dirt and moisture (source: Power Technology).

When expressed on a USD per MWh basis, O&M spending for the fossil-fuel plants tends to increase with age. This is primarily
aresult of declines in plant capacity factors over time. The decline in capacity factor, in turn, could be a result of less efficient
heat rates, increased component failures, and increased outage rates over time. A major contributor to this decline in
performance is often a result of increased cycling operation which leads to higher O&M spending over time (source: EIA
2019).

According to Wood and Mackenzie, the annual spend on non-residential solar PV O&M will grow to USD 9bn by 2025. The
main driver behind the demand for O&M services for the solar power systems is that the growing number of them will be
nearing their end of life (source: Wood Mackenzie 2020). The global offshore wind O&M market is expected to grow by
17% annually. Turbine O&M costs constitute the biggest portion of offshore wind OPEX spend. Uncertainty caused by key
component failures is further pushing the costs upwards (source: Wood Mackenzie 2019).
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The O&M opportunity is attractive for market players as renewable sources generation plays a key role in the energy
transition. For all ageing renewable technologies, project owners must assess the economics of repowering, refurbishing
or decommissioning. The uptake of renewable energy could lead to the establishment of a regional market of equipment
and services, offering promising opportunities to countries with well-developed relevant industries and service sectors.
Countries with relatively nascent industries can also contribute to this market by adopting industrial policies to help build or
strengthen their domestic capabilities (IRENA 20193, p.112).

Desalination capacity is growing globally whilst costs of technologies are declining

As water scarcity grows and with advances in desalination technology and reductions in cost, policy makers around the world
are rightly asking whether desalination should play a part in closing the gap between supply and demand in future years.
In 2018, 18,426 desalination plants were reported to be in operation in over 150 countries, producing 87mn cubic meters
of clean water each day and supplying over 300mn people (including non-utility-scale production). 44% of this capacity
is concentrated in the countries of the Arabian Gulf (source: Wold Bank, p.8). Certain countries bordering the Caspian Sea
in Central Asia and the Caucasus as well as a selection of African counties start to look into water desalination options as a
solution as their shrinking availability of drinking water (see Part 1B).

There are two main desalination methods, thermal and membrane, and both can be combined as a hybrid:

e Thermal desalination: condensing the vapor resulting from evaporating salt water. MED (“multiple effect
distillation”) uses nozzle spray, MSF (“multistage flash distillation”) evaporates water with a flashing mechanism.

*  Membrane methods adapt the natural process of osmosis (i.e., equalising solute pressure of two liquids under
pressure). Seawater reverse osmosis (SWRO) plants usually build in pre-treatment facilities not used in thermal
systems to pre-treat the source seawater.

In 2014, SWRO technology represented about 63% of the global desalination capacity, followed by MSF (23%), MED (8%) and
hybrid technologies (6%). Thermal is, however, still a leading technology in the GCC countries, where, as of 2015, 53% plants
used thermal technology and 47% SWRO (source: World Bank, p.17).

The cost of desalination has decreased over the years, and it is becoming an increasingly feasible option. Until now, MSF has
been the more competitive thermal technology for larger projects and MED for smaller ones, but MED is becoming more
competitive at all scales. In terms of average cost, SWRO records the lowest, but production costs of hybrid projects have
often proved lower than the costs of single-technology production. Despite considerable cost reductions in recent years for
all technologies energy remains by far the largest single item of recurrent cost. Thermal plants need mainly thermal energy,
whereas SWRO uses more electricity (source: World Bank, p.43).

One area for future focus will be a shift away from fossil-based energy supply for desalination to renewable energy (RE).
Large-scale RE-based desalination projects are largely confined to wind, although the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia is pioneering
solar PV-based desalination. Costs of solar powered desalination are currently high, but technological advances will make
CSP and other RE technologies cost competitive. Currently, PV-based SWRO solar desalination is the leading solar energy
choice and is the main focus of further research: the regions of the world with freshwater scarcity are also the ones with good
solar power potential. They also typically have large desert or waste lands that can be used for solar farms. The key challenges
of RE (solar and wind in particular) are the intermittence of supply, storage requirements, and space for installation of the
RE equipment. To reach maturity and cost-effectiveness, desalination generation using RE will continue to need strategic
support: elimination of fossil-fuel subsidies, creation of an enabling environment for long-term power-purchase agreements
and feed-in tariffs, and support for initial investments and research and development related to RE (source: World Bank,
p.56-59).

The use of BOOT (“build-own-operate-transfer”) schemes for procuring desalination infrastructure and services is gaining
popularity, as they allow the project to be financed off the balance sheet of the awarding authority. 47% percent of
desalination capital investments made in 2016 (USD 2.9bn) were financed using BOOT schemes. This share is expected to
increase to 50 percent by 2020 (source: World Bank, p.66).
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Green Hydrogen will have an important role in decarbonisation

ACWA Power is developing a number of green hydrogen strategic opportunities in its core markets. With these initiatives,
ACWA Power wants to position itself as one of the key suppliers of state-of-the-art renewable solutions strongly integrated
with green hydrogen production (In July 2020G, ACWA Power, in partnership with Air Products and NEOM, announced the
signing of an agreement to build one of the world’s largest green ammonia production facility based on hydrogen, worth
SAR 18.75 billion, and operates on renewable energy only.)

Hydrogen is an energy carrier and is one of the few options for storing electricity from days to months. The combustion
of one kilo of hydrogen produces three times more power than one kilo of gasoline and only water is produced. Another
way to store energy is the use of fuel cells, which can produce electricity continuously as long as hydrogen and oxygen
are supplied (Source: Water and Electricity Company 2019a, p. 2.8) Hydrogen can help decarbonize a range of sectors,
including transportation long distances, chemicals, iron and steel, which have proven difficult to reduce emissions, although
it is currently used primarily in the refining and chemicals sectors (source: IEA).Hydrogen can be produced from all energy
sources approximately, and can be as follows:

*  Grey hydrogen: produced from fossil fuels like natural gas, oil or coal, which emit CO2 into the air during
Hydrogen production;

e Blue hydrogen: produced from natural gas, but with CO2 emissions during Hydrogen production sequestered
via carbon capture technologies allowing CO2 to be safely stored or utilised in industrial processes; and

*  Green hydrogen: produced from renewable sources Currently, 96% of hydrogen is produced from fossil fuels via
the carbon-intensive processes steam methane reforming or coal gasification (source: WEC 2019a, p.8).

The two main low-carbon production routes for hydrogen involve: coupling conventional technologies with CCUS and
generating hydrogen through water electrolysis.

According to the Hydrogen Council, hydrogen can provide economically viable and socially beneficial solutions to the
energy transition needed to limit global warming by 2°C. According to the council’s vision, by 2050G, hydrogen will enable
the deployment of renewable energy sources by converting and storing more than 500 TWh of electricity that would
otherwise be reduced. In addition to its environmental benefits, the hydrogen economy can create opportunities for
sustainable economic growth. The council forecasts a market for hydrogen and its technologies with revenues of more than
SAR 9.375 trillion annually, and jobs for more than 30 million people globally by 2050G (Source: Hydrogen Council 2017).
Current demand for pure Hydrogen is around 70 Mt per year (of which refining accounts for 38.2 Mt and the ammonia sector
consumes 31.5 Mt). Almost all of it is produced from fossil fuels. In the future, however, there will be significant growth for
green Hydrogen for the uses previously mentioned, primarily driven by demand in East Asia, Europe which will become the
main potential export market for the main producers (source: IEA 2019, p.18).

Demand for low-carbon could significantly increase as a result of the global trends for injecting hydrogen into the gas grid
and replacing “grey” hydrogen with “green”in industrial applications as well as using hydrogen for heavy transportation, steel
production and eventually in perspective for shipping and aviation (source: IEA, 2020).

In Europe alone, there is potential for approximately 2,250 TWh of hydrogen demand in 2050, representing roughly a quarter
of the EU’s total energy demand. In the “water-electrolysis-dominant scenario’, new hydrogen demand is met to a large
degree from electrolysis. Import of hydrogen also plays a significant role in the EU’s 2020 hydrogen strategy planning for 40
GW of electrolyser capacities outside of Europe by 2030 to meet European hydrogen demand - together with additional 40
GW located within the EU (source: EU COM 2020).
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Summary of Financial Information

The selected financial information set out below should be read together with the Group’s audited consolidated financial
statements as of and for the financial years ended 31 December 2018G, 2019G and 2020G, including, in each case, the notes
thereto, each of which are included in Section (19) (“Auditor’s Report”).

Table (1-6): The following table presents the Group’s consolidated statement of profit and loss and oth-
er comprehensive income for the financial years ended 31 December 2018G, 2019G and 2020G

Consolidated Statement
of profit or loss and Financial year ended 31 December Increase / (Decrease)
comprehensive income

o CAGR

Continuing operations

Revenue 3,227,833 4,114,999 4,829,111 27.5% 17.4% 22.3%
Operating costs (1,965,965) (2,028,804) (2,301,362) 3.2% 13.4% 8.2%
Gross profit 1,261,868 2,086,195 2,527,749 65.3% 21.2% 41.5%
Development cost, provision 16,368 (50,790) (142,856)  -4103%  181.3% -
and write offs, net of reversals
General and administration

(562,930) (617,747) (818,882) 9.7% 32.6% 20.6%
expenses
Share in net results of equity 942,716 283,794 231,107 69.9%  -18.6% 150.5%
accounted investees, net of tax
Other operating income 160,325 140,645 151,872 -12.3% 8.0% -2.7%
OPERATING INCOME BEFORE
IMPAIRMENT LOSSAND OTH- 1,818,347 1,842,097 1,948,990 1.3% 5.8% 3.5%
ER EXPENSES
Impairment loss and other (623,748)  (880,203)  (181,051)  41.1% -79.4% -46.1%
expenses, net
OPERATING INCOME AFTER
IMPAIRMENT LOSSAND OTH- 1,194,599 961,894 1,767,939 -19.5% 83.8% 21.7%
ER EXPENSES
Other income 64,948 336,820 155,608 418.6% -53.8% 54.8%
Exchange loss, net (8,576) (29,106) (23,460) 239.4% -19.4% 65.4%
Financial charges (570,655) (869,862) (1,068,448) 52.4% 22.8% 36.8%
A0SO ELEREIT 680,316 399,746 831,639  -412%  108.0% 10.6%
income tax
Zakat and tax credit / (charge) (39,942) (74,008) 50,950 85.3% -168.8% -
pE R HENE AR 640,374 325,738 882,589 -49.1% 171.0% 17.4%

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Profit / (loss) from

discontinued operation

including gain / (loss) (1,539,288) 554,345 19,798 -136.0% -96.4% -
recognized on loss of control

in a subsidiary, net of tax

PROFIT / (LOSS) FOR THE
YEAR

Profit / (loss) attributable to:

(898,914) 880,083 902,387 -197.9% 2.5% =

Equity holders of the parent (773,842) 1,173,865 882,568 -251.7% -24.8% -

Non-controlling interests (125,072) (293,782) 19,819 134.9% -106.7% -
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Consolidated Statement
of profit or loss and
comprehensive income

Financial year ended 31 December

Increase / (Decrease)

CAGR

(898,914)

880,083

902,387

-197.9%

2.5%

Basic and diluted earnings /
(loss) per share (SAR)

(1.30)

1.82

1.37

-240.0%

-24.7%

Basic and diluted earnings
per share for continuing
operations (SAR)

1.27

0.98

1.34

-22.8%

36.7%

2.7%

PROFIT / (LOSS) FOR THE
YEAR

(898,914)

880,083

902,387

-197.9%

2.5%

Other comprehensive (loss) /
income (OCI)

Items that are or may be
reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss

Foreign operations - foreign
currency translation
differences

(198,257)

268,481

23,585

-235.4%

-91.2%

Equity accounted investees —
share of OCI

315,667

(729,442)

(1,191,366)

-331.1%

63.3%

Net change in fair value of
cash flow hedge reserve

111,014

(294,596)

(400,330)

-365.4%

35.9%

Items that will not be reclas-
sified to profit or loss

Re-measurement of defined
benefit liability

12,960

(18,244)

11,506

-240.8%

-163.1%

-5.8%

Total other comprehensive
(loss) / income

241,384

(773,801)

(1,556,605)

-420.6%

101.2%

Total comprehensive (loss) /
income

(657,530)

106,282

(654,218)

-116.2%

-715.5%

-0.3%

Total comprehensive (loss) /
income attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent

(557,650)

530,529

(554,615)

-195.1%

-204.5%

-0.3%

Non-controlling interests

(99,880)

(424,247)

(99,603)

324.8%

-76.5%

-0.1%

(657,530)

106,282

(654,218)

-116.2%

-715.5%

-0.3%

Source: Audited consolidated financial statements
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Table (1-7): The following table presents the Group’s key performance indicators for the financial years
ended 31 December 2018G, 2019G and 2020G

As at / for the financial year ended

31 December Increase / (Decrease)

SARin 000’s
CAGR
2018G-2020G

Operating income before impairment
loss and other expenses

1,818,347 1,842,097 1,948,990 1.30% 5.80% 3.50%

Profit/(Loss) attributable to equity
holders of the parent

Adjusted net profit attributable to
equity holders of the parent

-773,842 1,173,865 882,568 -251.70% -24.80% -

1,026,313 1,693,864 1,264,481 65.00% -25.30%  11.00%

Period end cash balance 4,627,777 2,021,226 206,096 -56.30% -89.70% -78.80%

Parent net leverage ratio (leverage/

net tangible equity) 0.1 0.5 0.96 NA NA NA

Table (1-8): The following table presents a summary of the Group's consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2018G, 2019G and 2020G).

Statement of financial posmon As at 31 December Increase / (Decrease)

CAGR

ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 8,713,473 11,982,377 12,732,340 37.5% 6.3% 20.9%
Intangible assets 2,052,931 2,059,205 2,058,678 0.3% 0.0% 0.1%
Equity accounted investees 6,576,574 5,293,867 5,062,848 -19.5% -4.4% -12.3%

Non-current portion of net invest-

ment in finance lease 9,114,728 10,364,334 10,605,337 13.7% 2.3% 7.9%
Due from related parties 71,984 111,258 86,658 54.6% -22.1% 9.7%
Deferred tax asset 34,029 23,460 135,498 -31.1% 477.6%  99.5%
Fair value of derivatives 13,273 - - -100.0% - -100.0%
Strategic fuel inventories 77,631 70,771 70,760 -8.8% 0.0% -4.5%
Other assets 205,778 206,110 197,510 0.2% -4.2% -2.0%
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 26,860,401 30,111,382 30,949,629 12.1% 2.8% 7.3%
CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 302,409 438,324 450,835 44.9% 2.9% 22.1%
Current portion of netinvestment ¢ g, 209902 323,571 -3.2% 542%  22.1%
in finance lease
Due from related parties 756,516 734,156 745,661 -3.0% 1.6% -0.7%
gr:;ocmt;‘rrreeccj;aaﬂzsprepayme”ts 2532680 2,953,802 3020235  166%  22% 9.2%
Cash and cash equivalents 5,498,265 2,798,315 832,668 -49.1% -70.2% -61.1%
9,306,761 7,134,499 5,372,970 -23.3% -24.7% -24.0%

Assets held for sale - 475,402 - - -100.0% -
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Statement of financial position As at 31 December Increase / (Decrease)
SAR in 000's 201§Q-ngzoe

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 9,306,761 7,609,901 5,372,970 -18.2% -29.4%  -24.0%
TOTAL ASSETS 36,167,162 37,721,283 36,322,599 4.3% -3.7% 0.2%
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

EQUITY
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 6,429,344 6,429,344 6,429,344 - - -
Share premium 1,177,031 1,177,031 1,410,398 - 19.8% 9.5%
Statutory reserve 437,239 554,626 642,883 26.8% 15.9% 21.3%
Retained earnings 2,363,259 3,102,108 1,184,908 31.3% -61.8% -29.2%
Equity attributable to owners
of the Company before other 10,406,873 11,263,109 9,667,533 8.2% -14.2% -3.6%
reserves
Other reserves (717,900) (1,361,236)  (2,798,419)  89.6% 105.6% 97.4%
fﬂ:nggggﬁ;‘tab'e toownersof g ce8073 9901873 6869114  22% 306%  -15.8%
Non-controlling interests 1,385,184 703,504 531,041 -49.2% -24.5% -38.1%
TOTAL EQUITY 11,074,157 10,605,377 7,400,155 -4.2% -30.2% -18.3%
LIABILITIES *
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
F:c?l?t'iteirm financingandfunding 17 734 687 17,480,944 17,286,744  -1.4% 1% -1.3%
Due to related parties 81,176 860,202 1,577,839 959.7% 83.4% 340.9%
Equity accounted investees 60,546 516,982 1,244,571 753.9% 140.7% 353.4%
Fair value of derivatives 132,598 286,442 650,789 116.0% 127.2% 121.5%
Deferred tax liability 245,776 250,552 125,711 1.9% -49.8% -28.5%
Deferred revenue 67,108 129,827 63,304 93.5% -51.2% -2.9%
Other financial liabilities 924,195 395,724 290,990 -57.2% -26.5% -43.9%
ﬁ;‘?oﬁ’l'i‘:iﬁe end of service benefits” 55 ;g 159,508 178964  296%  121%  20.6%
Other liabilities 201,532 252,117 309,422 25.1% 22.7% 23.9%
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 19,570,761 20,332,388 21,728,334 3.9% 6.9% 5.4%
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accruals 3,760,288 3,439,786 4,116,726 -8.5% 19.7% 4.6%
Short-term financing facilities 618,942 444,218 364,847 -28.2% -17.9% -23.2%
Current portion of long-term 1018637  2271,229  1,178360  1230%  -48.1%  7.6%

financing and funding facilities
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Statement of financial position As at 31 December Increase / (Decrease)
SAR in 000's 201:é-ng20G
Due to related parties - 19,964 43,280 - 116.8% -
Fair value of derivatives 10,613 51,883 59,584 388.9% 14.8% 136.9%
Zakat and taxation 113,764 183,411 276,517 61.2% 50.8% 55.9%
5,522,244 6,410,491 6,039,314 16.1% -5.8% 4.6%

Cooreng nd fnang s S e - -
tEIZi:j;ire:aa;Zsociated with assets ) 373,027 ) ) 1000% -
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 5,522,244 6,783,518 7,194,110 22.8% 6.1% 14.1%
TOTAL LIABILITIES 25,093,005 27,115,906 28,922,444 8.1% 6.7% 7.4%
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 36,167,162 37,721,283 36,322,599 4.3% -3.7% 0.2%

Source: Audited consolidated financial statements

Table (1-9): The following table summarizes the Group’s cash flow statement during 2018G, 2019G and

2020G:

Cash flow statement Financial year ended 31 December Increase / (Decrease)
. , CAGR

Net cash generated from

: 1,877,934 1595616 1910323  -15.0% 19.7% 0.9%
operating activities
Net cash used in investing (3,483,487) (2,867,275) (1,384,488)  -17.7%  -51.7% -37.0%
activities
S TN T AL 3,864,580 (1,428,291) (2,491,482) -137.0%  74.4% -
flnancmg activities
Netincrease/decreaseincash 00030 (5699950)  (1,965647) -219.5%  -27.2% -
and cash equivalents
Beginning cash and cash 3239229 5498265 2798315  69.7%  -49.1% 7.1%
equivalents balance
Ending cash and cash equiva-

5,498,265 2,798,315 832,668  -49.1%  -70.2% -61.1%

lents balance

Source: Audited consolidated financial statement
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Summary of Risk Factors

Before deciding to subscribe for the Offer Shares, prospective investors are advised to carefully consider all of the information
contained in this Prospectus, particularly the risks described below, which are addressed in detail in Section (2) (“Risk Factors”)
of this Prospectus.

Risks related to the Group’s Projects

*  Risks related to the expected levels of available capacity to generate electricity and/or produce desalinated water,
or the expected levels of electricity actually generated or water actually produced, at the Project Companies may
not be achieved or maintained

e Risks related to the Group’s delays in the development of Projects and/or in achieving the financial close

*  Risks related to the delays, cost overruns and quality of workmanship issues in the construction of the Group’s
Projects when such delays, overruns and quality issues are not covered under its EPC contracts

*  Risks related to the Group's growth strategies
e Risks related to competition and pricing

*  Risks related to financial difficulties that Offtakers under Offtake Agreements or similar agreements with the
Project Companies may experience

*  Risks related to the Offtakers’ right to terminate the Project Companies’ Offtake Agreements for certain defaults
by the Project Company

*  Risks related to the extent to which profits of the Group and the operation and maintenance of the Group’s
Projects depend on the costs of operation and the performance by the operation and maintenance contractors
of their contractual obligations

*  Risks related to RAWEC not complying with stringent operational requirements and being subject to bespoke,
operation-specific termination grounds

*  Risks related to the extension and non-extension of the Offtake Agreements of the Group’s build, own, operate
(“BOQ”") projects

*  Risks related to global and regional macroeconomic factors
e Risks related to co-investors and joint venture partners
e Risks related to potential impairment of the Group’s goodwill or long-term assets

*  Risks related to currency movements, including if currency pegs to the U.S. dollar were to be removed or adjusted
or if the euro appreciates against the U.S. dollar and the Saudi riyal, and the changes in existing and new exchange
rate controls and/or restrictions on transfer to foreign investors of proceeds from their investment

e Risks related to the negative net assets of certain of the Group’s Moroccan projects

*  Risks related to the Group being subject to certain legal and contractual requirements to maintain certain levels
of localization with respect to personnel, supplies and materials

¢ Risks relating to the Strategic Framework Agreement executed between the Company and the PIF
*  Risks related to the Red Sea Project

Risks related to the Group’s Operations
*  Risks related to critical equipment failure, unplanned power or desalinated water outages beyond what is
contractually permitted, reduced output and unanticipated capital expenditures

*  Risks related to the dependency of electricity generation from renewable energy sources on suitable
meteorological conditions

*  Risks related to the significant increase in the price or the interruption in the provision of fuel
*  Risksrelated to the Group’s reliance on its IT infrastructure, which may fail or be adversely affected by cyber crimes
*  Riskrelated to the Group's inability to maintain the quality of operations and reputation

*  Risks related to the force majeure events such as health crises (including the COVID-19 pandemic), fire, floods,
earthquakes, tsunami, sandstorms, explosions, acts of terrorism or sabotage or other events outside of the Group’s
control

*  Risksrelated to the Group’s power generation and/or water desalination or steam plants, fuel suppliers, contractors
and certain of the Group’s development Projects being subject to varying degrees of unionisation, which may
disrupt operations or delay completion of construction projects
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Risks related to obtaining sufficient insurance coverage for the risks associated with the Group’s respective
operations

Risk related to the credit default exposure of ACWA Reinsurance
Risks related to senior management’s experience in managing a publicly listed company

Risks related to the Company’s reliance on the performance of, and dividend distributions and other revenue
flows from, its numerous subsidiaries and equity accounted investees

Risk related to the limitation on the Group’s ability to exit investments pursuant to the terms of its agreements
Risks related to the seasonality of revenue and profitability levels of conventional projects

Risks related to the Group’s Financing

Risks related to the repayment of the Group’s debt, availability of financing or equity funding or the requirement
to make additional equity investments

Risks related to existing and future leverage
Risk related to events of default under the financing arrangements
Risks related to the Group’s bonds

Risks related to the restrictions under financing arrangements on the ability of most Project Companies to pay
dividends (or equivalent distributions)

Risks related to the Group's interest rate volatility and volatile securities

Risks related to the Group becoming an unsecured creditor of an offtaker in the event of the early termination of
certain Offtake Agreements

Risks related to the Group’s working capital
Risk related to APREH convertible loan

Risks related to the Group’s agreements containing change of control provisions, which could have adverse
consequences for the Group

Risks related to the Company’s Sukuk

Risks Relating to the Market, Industry and Legal and Regulatory Environment

Risks related to the COVID-19 pandemic

Risks related to the Group being exposed to political risks in the countries and regions where it operates
Risks related to the environmental regulations in the jurisdictions where the Group operates

Risks related to violations by Project Companies of health, safety and security standards

Risks related to the Group’s licensing and permits and corporate registration requirements

Risks related to the change, adverse interpretations or inconsistent enforcement of the tax laws and regulations in
countries in which the Group’s projects operate

Risks related to the change, adverse interpretations or inconsistent enforcement of the Zakat laws and regulations
in countries in which the Group's projects operate

Risks related to antitrust laws, including the Competition Law in Saudi Arabia, and similar legislation and legislation
relating to unfair competitive practices and similar behaviour in the jurisdictions where the Group operates

Risks related to the Group not being in compliance with applicable labour laws and regulations and/or if not
being able to retain existing key senior management personnel or other key skilled employees or continue to
attract and employ key personnel with the suitable skills and experience

Risks related to the enforcement of foreign court judgments and arbitral awards in the countries in which the
Group operates

Risks related to the Group conducting a significant amount of its business in countries, including developing
countries, which present significant risks that could adversely impact the Group’s business, results of operations,
and financial condition and reputation

Risks related to the Group not being able to detect money laundering, bribery and other illegal or improper
activities fully or on a timely basis, which could expose it to liability and harm its business or reputation

Risks related to the Group and its companies entering into transactions with Related Parties

Risk related to the Group not owning all of the lands on which the Group’s assets are located

Risks related to material disputes and possible litigation
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*  Risks related to the future changes in IFRS
*  Risks related to certain provisions in shareholder agreements entered into by the Group

*  Risksrelated to the Group’s Environmental, Social and Corporate Governance (ESG) targets not being fully, partially
or timely met

*  Risks related to the Group’s compliance with the CMA’s Corporate Governance requirements

Risks related to the Offer Shares

e Risks related to the control by Substantial Shareholders

*  Risks related to absence of a prior market for the Shares

*  Risks related to fluctuation in the market price of the Shares
*  Risks related to future sales of substantial number of Shares
*  Risks related to the Company’s ability to distribute dividends

*  Risks related to issuance of new shares in the market after the Offering
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1- Definitions and Abbreviations

The following sets out certain definitions and abbreviations used in this Prospectus.

Admission of the Shares to Listing and the admission of the Offer Shares to trading on the

ATl Tadawul in accordance with the OSCOs and the Listing Rules.
. The Company'’s advisors in relation to the Offering whose names appear on pages (vi) to (xii)
Advisors -
of this Prospectus.
AED The lawful currency of the United Arab Emirates.
A person who Controls another person or is Controlled by that other person, or who is under
Affiliates common Control with that person by a third person. In any of the foregoing, Control could
be direct or indirect.
Auditor Ernst & Young & Co. (Certified Public Accountants).
Authority or CMA The Capital Market Authority of the KSA.

Bid/Subscription
Orders for investors
outside the Kingdom
of Saudi Arabia

Bid or subscription orders submitted telephonically or electronically to the Bookrunners
without the need to complete and sign it in accordance with the instructions set out in
Section (16) (“Subscription Terms and Conditions”) of this Prospectus.

Bid Form

The bid form to be used by Participating Parties registered in the Kingdom to bid for the Offer
Shares during the Book-Building Period. This term (as applicable) includes orders received
telephonically and electronically and the supplementary application form for adjustment of
the price range.

Board or Board of
Directors

The board of directors of the Company.

Book-Building Instruc-
tions

The Instructions for the Book Building Process and Allocation Method in Initial Public
Offerings issued by the Board of the CMA pursuant to resolution number 2-94-2016 dated
15/10/1437H (corresponding to 20/07/2016G) as amended by the CMA’s board resolution
number 3-102-2019 dated 18/01/1441H (corresponding to 17/09/2019G).

Bookrunners

Citi, J.P. Morgan, Natixis and Riyad Capital, EFG Hermes KSA, Emirates NBD Capital KSA, and
FAB Capital

Business Day

Any day (with the exception of Fridays, Saturdays and official holidays) on which the Receiving
Agents are open for business in Saudi Arabia.

Bylaws

The bylaws of the Company, which are summarised in Section (12-14) (“Summary of
Company By-laws”).

Capital Market Law

The Capital Market Law issued under Royal Decree M/30 dated 2/6/1424H (corresponding to
31 July 2003G), as amended.

CEO The Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
CFO The Chief Financial Officer of the Company.
Chairman The chairman of the Board.

cio The Chief Investment Officer of the Company.

Companies Law

The Companies Law issued under Saudi Royal Decree No. M3 dated 28/1/1437H
(corresponding to 10 November 2015G), as amended.

Company or ACWA
Power

International Company for Water and Power Projects.

CMA Glossary of De-
fined Terms

List of definitions used in the CMA’s regulations and laws pursuant to the CMA’s Board
Decision No. 4-11-2004 dated 20/8/1425H (corresponding to 4/10/2004G), as amended
pursuant to the CMA's Board Decision No. 2-22-2021 and dated 12/7/1442H corresponding
to (24/2/2021G).

Company'’s Corporate
Governance Manual

The Company’s Corporate Governance Manual prepared on 25/8/1442H (corresponding to
07/04/2021G), as stated under section (5) “Ownership and Organisational Structure of the
Company” of this Prospectus.
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Competition Law

The Competition Law issued under Royal Decree No. M/75 dated 29/06/1440H (corresponding
to 6 March 2019G).

Control

As defined in CMA Glossary of Defined Terms used in the CMA’s Regulations, the ability
to, directly or indirectly, influence the acts or decisions of another person, individually or
collectively with a Relative or Affiliate, through any of the following: (A) holding 30% or more
of the voting rights in a company; or (b) having the right to appoint 30% or more of the
members of the administrative staff; and the word “controlling party” shall be construed
accordingly.

Corporate Governance
Regulations

The Corporate Governance Regulations issued by the CMA’s Board pursuant to Resolution
No. 8-16-2017 dated 16/05/1438H (corresponding to 13 February 2017G) (pursuant to the
Companies Law), as amended by Resolution No 31-7-2021 dated 1/06/1442H (corresponding
to 14 January 2021G)

Depository Centre

Securities Depository Centre Company, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Tadawul.

Directors or members
of the Board

The members of the Board of Directors.

Equity Accounted

Those companies in which the Company has significant direct or indirect influence, but
does not Control. In the case of joint ventures, the companies in which the Company has

Investees shared control over the financial and operating policies of such companies. This includes the
Material Equity Accounted Investments.
EUR The lawful currency several members of the European Union.

Exchange or Tadawul

The Saudi Stock Exchange (Tadawul), the sole entity authorised in the Kingdom to act as a
securities exchange.

Extraordinary General
Assembly

An extraordinary general assembly of the Shareholders convened in accordance with the
Bylaws.

Financial Institutions

Banks and financial services companies.

FMV

Fair market value.

Foreign Investors

Eligible foreign investors and foreign strategic investors.

Foreign Strategic
Investors

A foreign legal entity aiming to acquire a strategic interest in listed companies in accordance
with the FSI Instructions. “Strategic interest” means the direct ownership percentage in the
listed company’s shares, through which the owner aims to contribute to enhancing the
financial or operating performance of the listed company.

FSI Instructions

Instructions for foreign strategic investors to acquire strategic stakes in listed companies
issued by the Board of the CMA pursuant to Resolution No. 3-65-2019 dated 14/10/1440H
(corresponding to 17 June 2019G), as amended.

FY

Financial year.

GCC

Gulf Cooperation Council.

GCC Corporate Investor

Any company in which the majority of its share capital is owned by nationals of GCC countries
or governments having the nationality of a GCC country in accordance with the definition
contained in the Resolution of the Supreme Council of the Gulf Cooperation Council issued
at its fifteenth session and approved by Council of Ministers Resolution No. (16) dated
20/01/1418H, as well as GCC funds established in one of the GCC countries whose units are
offered in a public offering to investors from those countries in which the majority of the
fund'’s capital is owned by citizens of the GCC countries or their governments.

GDP

Gross Domestic Product.

General Assemblies

An Extraordinary General Assembly and/or an Ordinary General Assembly of the Company,
and “General Assembly” shall mean any general assembly of the Company.

GOSI General Organisation of Social Insurance in Saudi Arabia.
Government Government of the KSA.
Green Hydrogen The creation of hydrogen via the separation of hydrogen and oxygen from water via

electrolysis using electricity generated from renewable energy sources.
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Group The Company and its Subsidiaries and the Company’s Equity Accounted Investees.
IASB International Accounting Standards Board.
IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting

Standards Board (the “IASB”) (“IFRS as issued by the IASB").

IFRS as endorsed in
KSA

International Financial Reporting Standards as endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and
other standards and pronouncements issued by the Saudi Organization for Chartered and
Professional Accountants ("SOCPA")

Individual Investors

This tranche comprises Saudi natural persons including any Saudi female divorcee or widow
with minor children from a marriage to a non-Saudi person who can subscribe for her own
benefit or in the name of her minor children, on the condition that she proves that she is a
divorcee or widow and the mother of her minor children, any non-Saudi national person who
is resident in the Kingdom and any GCC person, in each case who has a bank account, and is
entitled to open an investment account, with one of the Receiving Entities.

Institutional Subscrip-
tion Application Form

The subscription application form to be used by Participating Parties to subscribe to the
Offer Shares.

Investment Funds
Regulations

The Investment Funds Regulations issued by the Board of the CMA pursuant to resolution
number 1-219-2006 dated 3/12/1427H (corresponding to 24/12/2006G), as amended by
CMA resolution number 2-22-2021 dated 12/7/1442H (corresponding 24/2/2021G).

Joint Financial Advi-
sors

Citi, J.P. Morgan, Natixis and Riyad Capital.

Joint Global Co-ordi-
nators

Citi, J.P. Morgan and Natixis.

KSA or Kingdom or . . .
Saudi Arabia The Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

The Saudi Arabian Labour Law under Saudi Royal Decree No. (M/51) dated 23/08/1426H
Labour Law

(corresponding to 27/09/2005G), as amended.

Law on Supervision
of Finance Companies
and its Implementing
Regulations

The Law on Supervision of Finance Companies promulgated by Royal Decree M/51 dated
13/08/1433H, and its Implementing Regulations issued by SAMA Governor Resolution No. 2/
MST dated 14/04/1434H.

Lead Manager

Riyad Capital.

Legal Advisor

Abuhimed Alsheikh Alhagbani Law Firm.

Listing Listing of securities in the Exchange in accordance with the Listing Rules.
The Listing Rules of Tadawul issued by the board of the CMA pursuant to resolution No.
Listing Rules 3-123-2017 dated 09/04/1439H (corresponding to 27/12/2017G) as amended pursuant to
CMA's Board Resolution No. 1-22-2021 dated 12/7/1442H (corresponding to 24/2/2021G).
LLC Limited liability company.

Local Co-ordinator

Riyad Capital.

Lock-Up Period

The period during which the Substantial Shareholders may not dispose of any Shares, which
will end after six months from the date of Admission.

Market Consultant

FTI-Compass Lexecon

Material Subsidiaries

The Subsidiaries listed in in Section (1-4) (“List of Material Subsidiaries”) of this Prospectus.

MD

The Managing Director of the Company.

NBV

Net book value. The term is an accounting term, referring to the value of an asset according
to the balance of its balance sheet account. The value is based on the original cost of the
asset minus any depreciation costs, or impairment costs that occur against the asset.

Net Offering Proceeds

The proceeds of the Offering, after deducting all related Offering Expenses.

Offering

The initial public offering of the Company Shares on the terms set out in this Prospectus.
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Offering Period for
Individual Investors

The Period which will commence on 22-Safar-1443 H (corresponding to 29-September-
2021G) and will remain open for a period of 3 days up to and including the subscription
closing date to end at the end of 24-Safar-1443 H (corresponding to 1- October -2021G).

Offer Price

SAR (56) per Offer Share.

Offer Shares

eighty-one million one hundred and ninety-nine thousand two hundred and ninety-nine
Shares representing 11.1% of the share capital of International Company for Water and
Power Projects after the Offering.

Ordinary General
Assembly

An ordinary general assembly of the Shareholders convened in accordance with the Bylaws.

0SCOs

The Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligations issued by the board of
the CMA pursuant to its resolution number 3-123-2017 dated 9/4/1439H (corresponding
to 27/12/2017G) based on the Capital Market Law amended by Resolution of the Board
of the Capital Market Authority Number 1-7-2021 dated 01/06/1442H (corresponding to
14/01/2021G).

Participating Parties

This tranche comprises the parties that are entitled to participate in the book-building
process under the Book-Building Instructions, namely:

a- public and private funds that invest in securities listed on the Exchange as permitted by
the fund’s terms and conditions and in accordance with the provisions and limitations
stipulated in the Investment Funds Regulations and the Book-Building Instructions;

b- Capital Market Institutions who are licensed to deal in securities as a principal, in accor-
dance with the CMA's prudential rules when submitting the Subscription Application
Forms;

c- clients of a person authorized by the CMA to conduct managing activities with the
provisions and restrictions set forth in the Book-Building Instructions;

d- any legal persons allowed to open an investment account in the Kingdom, and an ac-
count with the Depository Centre except for non-resident foreign investors - other than
Qualified Foreign Investors pursuant to the QFI Rules;

e- Government entities, any supranational authorities recognized by the CMA, the Ex-
change or any other stock exchange recognized by the CMA, or the Depositary Centre;

f- Government owned companies, whether investing directly or through a portfolio
manager; and

g- GCC companies, and GCC funds if permissible according to the terms and conditions of
such funds.

P-Notes

Participatory notes issued to Foreign Investors pursuant to arrangements under swap
agreements.

Project Company

A special purpose company incorporated in the host jurisdiction of the relevant Project
which it is tasked to implement and which holds the relevant Project assets. (and collectively
as“Project Companies”).

Projects

The projects of the Group (and individually, a “Project”).

Prospectus

This document, prepared by the Company in relation to the Offering in accordance with the
OSCOs.

Qualified Foreign
Investors

A qualified foreign investor authorized, in accordance with the QFI Rules, to invest in listed
securities. Qualification applications are submitted to a licensed person for evaluation and
acceptance in accordance with the QFI Rules.

QFI Rules

The Rules for Qualified Foreign Financial Institutions Investment in Listed Securities issued by
the CMA's Board pursuant to Resolution No. 1-42-2015 dated 15/07/1436H (corresponding to
04/05/2015G) pursuant to the Capital Market Law, as amended by the CMA’s board resolution
No. 3-65-2019 dated 14/10/1440H (corresponding to 17/06/2019G).

Receiving Agents

Riyad Bank, Saudi National Bank, Bank Aljazira and AlRajhi Bank.

Regulatory Rules for
Listed Companies

The Regulatory Rules and Procedures, issued by the CMA's Board pursuant to Resolution
No. 8-127-2016 dated 16/1/1483H (corresponding to 17 October 2016) pursuant to the
Companies Law relating to listed joint stock companies, amended by resolution of CMA’s
Board No. 4-122-2020 dated 03/04/1442H (corresponding to 18/11/2020G).
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Related Party/ Parties

In this Prospectus any reference to a “related party” shall be reference to a related party as
such term is defined under the CMA Glossary of Defined Terms, which includes any of the
following:

a- Affiliates of the Company;

b- Substantial Shareholders of the Company;

c¢- members of the Board or Senior Executives of the Company;

d- members of the Board or Senior Executives of an Affiliate of the Company;

e- members of the Board or Senior Executives of a Substantial Shareholder of the Compa-
ny;

f- any Relatives of the persons described in (a) to (e) above; and

g- any company Controlled by any person described in (a) to (f) above.

For the purposes of the Corporate Governance Regulations, such term includes the follow-

ing:

a- Substantial Shareholders of the Company.

b- Board members of the Company or any of its Affiliates and their Relatives.

c- Senior Executives of the Company or any of its Affiliates and their Relatives.

d- Board members and Senior Executives of Substantial Shareholders of the Company.

e- Entities, other than companies, owned by a Board member or any Senior Executive or
their Relatives.

f-  Companies in which a Board member or a Senior Executive or any of their Relatives is a
partner.

g- Companies in which a Board member or a Senior Executive or any of their Relatives is a
member of its board of directors or is one of its Senior Executives.

h- Joint stock companies in which a member of the Board or a Senior Executive or any
of their Relatives owns (5%) or more, subject to the provisions of paragraph (d) of this
definition.

i- Companies in which a Board member or a Senior Executive or any of their Relatives has
influence on their decisions even if only by giving advice or guidance.

j- Any person whose advice or guidance influence the decisions of the Company, the
Board and the Senior Executives.

k- Holding companies or Affiliates.

Advice or guidance that is provided on a professional basis by a person licensed to provide
such advice shall be excluded from the provisions of paragraphs (i) and (j) of this definition.

Relatives

The husband, wife and minor children. For the purposes of the Corporate Governance
Regulations, includes:

» fathers, mothers, grandfathers and grandmothers (and their ancestors);
e children, grandchildren and their descendants;
* siblings, maternal and paternal half-siblings; and

e husbands and wives.

Retail Subscription
Application Form

The retail subscription application form to be completed by Individual Investors in order to
subscribe for the Offer Shares during the Offering Period for Individual Investors.

SAR or Saudi Riyals

The lawful currency of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

Saudi Central Bank

Saudi Central Bank (previously, the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency).

Secretary

The secretary of the Board.

Securities Act

U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Senior Executives

The senior executives listed in Section (5-2-5) (“Ownership and Organisational Structure
of the Company - Senior Executives”).

Shareholder

Registered holder of Shares.

Shares

Ordinary shares with a nominal value of SAR 10 each in the capital of the Company.
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SOCPA

Saudi Organisation for Chartered and Professional Accountants.

Subscribers or Inves-
tors

Individual Investors and Participating Parties.

Subscription Applica-
tion Form

The Institutional Subscription Application Form or Retail Subscription Application Form, as
the context requires.

Subsidiary

For the purposes of Section (6) (“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations”) Subsidiaries are as defined in accordance with the
IFRS.

For the purposes of all other sections of this Prospectus, Subsidiaries are entities that are
directly or indirectly Controlled by the Company. This includes the Subsidiaries listed in
Section (1-3) (“List of Subsidiaries”) of this Prospectus.

Substantial Share-
holder

A person holding five percent (5%) or more of the Shares of the Company.

Tadawul System

The automated Saudi securities trading system.

Underwriters

Citi, J.P. Morgan, Riyad Capital and Natixis, EFG Hermes KSA, Emirates NBD Capital KSA, FAB
Capital, Alistithmar for Financial Securities and Brokerage Company (Alistithmar Capital), SNB
Capital, Albilad Capital, and Aljazira Capital.

Underwriting Agree-
ment

The underwriting agreement to be entered into between the Company and the Underwriters
in connection with the Offering on the terms described in Section (13) (“Underwriting”) of
this Prospectus.

usb The lawful currency of the United States of America.
ZAR The lawful currency of South Africa.

ZATCA The General Authority of Zakat and Tax.
1-1 Glossary of Technical and Other Terms

The following sets out the meaning of certain technical terms used in this Prospectus

ACWA Power Total
Solution

The approach adopted by the Group to deliver winning tariffs by addressing five core ele-
ments, namely: development, EPC and equipment, technology, financing and O&M.

Hydrogen Council

The “Hydrogen Council” was formed of 13 company heads and executives from the
energy, transport and industry sectors, and set its ambitious goal of contributing to
reducing global warming to two degrees Celsius, in accordance with the target set by the
Paris Climate Agreement in 2015. It includes the founding international companies of the
Council: “Air Liquide”, “Alstom’, “Anglo American”,“BMW Group’, “Daimler’, “Engie”, “Honda",
“Hyundai Motor”, “Kawasaki’, Royal Dutch Shell, The Lindh Group, Total, and Toyota. The
council is chaired by two co-chairs from different regions and sectors, namely, “Air Liquide”
and “Toyota".

Abandonment

means, subject to the provisions of the relevant agreement, a voluntarily cessation by the
Project Company of the construction or operation of the facility and either (i) the Project
Company expressly declares in writing that construction or operation of the facility will not
be resumed; or (i) that cessation continues for certain specified consecutive days given in
the contract.

Advanced Develop-
ment Phase

Phase of a project beginning from the awarding of preferred bidder status or where a sig-
nificant project agreement (such as the shareholders agreement, implementation agree-
ment, joint development agreement etc) is signed by the Company for the project until the
Financial Close of the project

Arabian Heavy Crude
oil

A highly viscous, high sulfur, crude oil that cannot easily flow to production wells under
normal reservoir conditions produced in Saudi Arabia.

Arabian Light Crude

A medium-gravity, high sulphur crude oil produced in Saudi Arabia.

Availability or Plant
Availability

The state in which a Power Unit or a Desalination Unit is capable of providing service,
whether or not it is actually delivering electrical energy or desalinated water.
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Availability Rate

During any contract year (or such applicable shorter period under consideration), the per-
centage of the actual net dispatch capacity (of the Power Unit or Desalination Unit) made
Available divided by the maximum net dispatch capacity of such Power or Desalination
Unit for the relevant period under consideration.

Base-Load Convention-
al Plants

A power plant which burns fossil fuel such as coal, natural gas or petroleum to produce
electricity on a continuous full time basis.

Multi-Stage Flash Dis-
tillation

In this method, sea water passes after being heated to successive chambers of low pres-
sure, which turns the water into water vapor, which is condensed on cold surfaces and is
collected and treated in quantities suitable for drinking.

Black-Starts

The process of restoring an electric power station to operation without relying on the ex-
ternal transmission network, using electricity generated from the plant’s own generators.

Brownfield Project

Sites on which projects are constructed which previously had some extent of development
on them.

Build, Own, Operate or
BOO

Power or water plants which are built, owned and operated by the project company,
without an obligation to transfer ownership of the plant to the Offtaker at the end of the
concession term.

Build, own, operate,
transfer or BOOT

Power or water plants which are built, owned and operated by the project company, with
an obligation to transfer ownership of the plant to the Offtaker at the end of the conces-
sion for nominal or no value.

CAGR

The compound annual growth rate which measures the growth rate of investments over
time (an indication of the rate of return on investment).

Capacity Payments

Payments made by the Offtaker for the available capacity of the plant.

Captive Plant

A power plant which is dedicated to providing a localised source of power to an energy
user. It primarily supplies one specific power user rather than connecting to the national/
wider energy grid which supplies many different power users.

coD

The commercial operation date of a plant.

Co-Generation License

A license issued by the Water and Electricity Regulatory Authority under the Electricity Law
issued by Royal Decree No. M / 56 dated 20/10/1426H to a person authorized to practice
the simultaneous production of electricity, desalinated water or steam used in other pro-
duction processes, or both.

Combined-Cycle Power
Plant

A power plant which uses both gas and a steam turbine to produce more electricity from
the same fuel electricity by routing waste heat from the gas turbine to power the steam
turbine.

Concentrating Solar
Power Plant or CSP

A power plant which generates electricity using mirrors to concentrate a large area of
sunlight onto a small area, thereby concentrating heat from the sun, which in turn powers a
steam turbine to generate electricity.

Conventional Fuel

Any fossil fuel such as coal, natural gas or petroleum.

Decarbonized Power
Technologies

Power technologies including solar, wind as well as gas, but excluding oil and coal.

DOE Department of Energy of South Africa.

DSA Debt service account.
Measurement of the cash flow available to pay off current debt obligations. This ratio refers

DSCR to the net operation income as “a multiple of the debt owed liabilities within one year,”
mainly including interest payments, reserve fund and rental payments.

DSRA Debt service reserve account.

EBL Equity bridge loan.

ECA Equity contribution agreement.

Economic Life

The period of time during which an item is expected by its designers to work within its
specified parameters, or the life expectancy of the item.

ECRA

Water & Electricity Regulatory Authority of Saudi Arabia.
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Revenue from electricity generated and sold during the testing and commissioning phase
EGR
before COD.
EIA Electricity interconnection agreement.
EMRA The Republic of Turkey Energy Market Regulatory Authority (T.C. Enerji Piyasasi Diizenleme

Kurumu).

Energy Transition

The transition from the conventional methods of energy generation (e.g. using gas, coal
and oil fired plants) to renewable and green/environmentally sustainable energy genera-
tion sources (e.g. solar, wind and green hydrogen).

EOD An event of default (usually under a financing agreement).
EPC Engineering, procurement and construction.
EPC Contractor The contractor responsible for the engineering, design, procurement, construction and

commissioning of a plant.

ESP (Electrostatic Pre-
cipitator)

A device which removes suspended dust particles from a gas by applying high-voltage
electrostatic charge and collecting the particles on charged plates.

ESRA

Equity subscription and retention agreement.

Feed-In Tariffs

A payment made to entities generating their own electricity through the use of methods
that do not contribute to the depletion of natural resources, proportional to the amount of
power generated.

FGD (Fuel Gas Desul-
phurisation)

A set of technologies used to remove sulphur dioxide from power plants and other sulphur
oxide-emitting processes.

Eurasia

Eurasia is a land mass of 54,000,000 km? and is made up of the continents of Europe and
Asia. Eurasia was formed about 350 million years ago after the merging of the continents:
Siberia, Kazakhstan, and the Baltics. Eurasia is located in the north of the globe. The name
of the block is a composite of the words “Europe” and “Asia”. Wikipedia

Financial Close

Achieving fully committed funding of a project.

Any unscheduled component failure or other condition that requires: (a i) a Power Unit

Forced Outage or a Desalination Unit to be removed from service; or (ii) the capacity of a Power Unit or a
Desalination Unit to be reduced.
During any contract year (or such applicable shorter period under consideration), the
Faner B R percentage of the actual net dispatch capacity (of the Power Unit or Desalination Unit) that

was out of service due to Forced Outage over the maximum net dispatch capacity of such
Power or Desalination Unit, each for the relevant period under consideration.

Gas Fired GE Turbines

A combustion engine that can convert natural gas or other liquid fuels to mechanical
energy.

GHG Emissions

any gas in the atmosphere that is capable of absorbing infrared radiation, thereby trapping
heat in the atmosphere.

GoJ

The Government of the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan.

Greenfield Project

A project which lacks constraints imposed by prior work or previous developments on the
same site.

A technical specification (usually issued by the regulatory authority in charge of managing
the national or regional electricity grid) which defines the parameters a facility connected

Grid Code to the public electricity network has to meet to ensure safe, secure and economic function-
ing of the electric system.
GW A unit of electric power equal to one billion watts of energy.
A unit of energy representing one billion watt hours and is equivalent to one million kilo-
GWh watt hours. Gigawatt hours are often used as a measure of the output of large electricity
power stations.
A measure of the efficiency of a generator or power plant that converts a fuel into heat and
Heat Rate into electricity. The heat rate is the amount of energy used by an electrical generator or

power plant to generate one kilowatt-hour (kWh) of electricity.

Heavy Fuel Oil or HFO

A fraction obtained from petroleum distillation, either as a distillate or a residue.
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High-Speed Diesel

A complex mixture of hydrocarbons normally used as a fuel in medium and high speed
compression ignition engines.

1A

Implementation agreement.

Initial Net Dependable
Capacity Test

A test conducted on a power or water plant to determine the total net capacity the plant is
capable of achieving.

Intermediate Holding
Company

Company through which the Group owns shares in the Project Company.

Interim Operational
Period

The period following the construction completion of a phase of a plant and usually ending
prior to the achievement of full project completion.

IPP Independent power project.

ISO International Organisation for Standardisation.
IT Information technology.

WP Independent water production project.

IWPP or I[(W)PP

Independent water and power production project.

IWSPP Independent water, steam and power production project.
JAFZA Jebel Ali Free Zone Authority.
JoD The lawful currency of the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan.

Jordanian Companies
Law

The Jordanian Companies Law No. 22 of 1997G, as amended.

LCOE

A measure of the present value of the cost of electricity generation over a plant’s lifetime.

Levelized Tariff

A measure of the present value of the cost of electricity generation or water desalination, as
applicable, over a plant’s lifetime.

LLCR Loan life cover ratio.
LNTPs Limited notice to proceed with construction.
LRA Liabilities reserve account.

Lump Sum Turnkey
Basis

A combination of the business-contract concepts of lump sum and turnkey. Lump sum
means complete payment consisting of a single sum of money, while turnkey means a
product or service will be ready to use upon delivery.

MAD The lawful currency of the Kingdom of Morocco.
Million British thermal unit, occasionally used as a standard unit of measurement for natu-
MBTU ral gas and provides a convenient basis for comparing the energy content of various grades
of natural gas and other fuels.
MEMR The Ministry of Energy and Mineral Resources in the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan.

Merchant Commercial
Tail

The period during which water or energy is sold directly to the market rather than to the
(usually government owned) offtaker after the term of the concession.

Ministry of Defence

The Ministry of Defence of Saudi Arabia.

Merchant Environment

An environment where there is an opportunity to sell water or power to the market rather
than to the (usually government owned) offtaker.

Ministry of Energy and
Natural Resources

The Republic of Turkey Ministry of Energy and Natural Resources (T.C. Enerji ve Tabii Kay-
naklar Bakanligr).

Ministry of Environ-
ment and Urban Devel-
opment

The Ministry of Environment and Urban Development of Turkey (T.C. Cevre ve Sehircilik
Bakanligr).

Ministry of Interior

The Ministry of Interior of Saudi Arabia.
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Ministry of Municipal
and Rural Affairs and
Housing

The Ministry of Municipal Rural Affairs and Housing of Saudi Arabia.

MISA

Ministry of Investment of Saudi Arabia.

Mobilisation Phase

The period post-construction where the plant is mobilised and commissioned.

MOC The Ministry of Commerce of Saudi Arabia.

MOEM Ministry of Energy and Minerals of the Government of the Sultanate of Oman (formerly
known as “Ministry of Oil and Gas (MOG) or (MOGO)".

MOHRSD The Ministry of Human Resources and Social Development of Saudi Arabia.

Multi-Effect Distillation
Technology

A distillation process often used for sea water desalination, consisting of multiple stages
or “effects” in which the feed water is heated by steam in tubes, usually by spraying saline
water onto them.

Multi-Stage Flash De-
salination Process

A water desalination process that distils sea water by flashing a portion of the water into
steam in multiple stages of what are essentially counter current heat exchangers.

MwW

A measurement of electricity equal to 1 million watt.

Net Dispatch Depend-
able Capacity

The net generation/desalination capacity available for dispatch as established for each
contract year, and demonstrated through initial and periodic tests conducted (with appro-
priate corrections applied for factors like degradation, applicable site conditions etc.) in
accordance with the terms of the PPA / PWPA / WPA.

NGSA Natural Gas Sales Agreement.

o&M Operation and maintenance.

Offtake Agreements PPAs, WPAs and/or PWPA.

Offtaker The buyer of the product produced or service rendered.

OMR The lawful currency of Oman.
The Organisation of the Petroleum Exporting Countries is a permanent, intergovernmental

OPEC Organisation, created at the Baghdad Conference on September 10-14, 1960, by Iran, Iraq,
Kuwait, Saudi Arabia and Venezuela.

Output Payments Payments made by the Offtaker for the power, water, or steam generated or produced by
the plant.

P50 Capacity Factor An indication of the probability of a plant achieving 50% of its capacity 50% of the time.

Parabolic Trough Con-
centrating solar Power
Technologies

A technology whereby sunlight is concentrated by a type of solar thermal collector that is
straight in one dimension and curved as a parabola in the other two, lined with a polished
metal mirror.

Photovoltaic Plant

A power plant which uses photovoltaic solar panels to collect sunlight and convert it into
electricity.

Planned Outage

Any scheduled removal of a Power Unit or a Desalination Unit from service for maintenance
that is scheduled to be undertaken in accordance with the terms of the PPA / PWPA / WPA,
and has a predetermined start date and duration.

Potabilisation Facility

A facility which turns undrinkable water into potable water.

Power Load Factor

The load factor that corresponds to the ratios between actual energy consumption (kWh)
and the capacity for that period of time. Load Factor equals: (consumption during the peri-
od (kWh) / {Capacity x Number of hours in that period} x 100.

Power Purchase Agree- The agreement that regulates the production and purchase of power between the buyer
ment or PPA (offtaker) and the seller.
PPGTA Power purchase and gas tolling agreement.

Pre-Shared Facility
Transfer Period

The period during which more than one project, developer or company shares infrastruc-
ture, machinery or facilities.
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Power and water purchase agreement, being the agreement that regulates the production

PWPA and purchase of power and water between the buyer (offtaker) and the seller.
The Renewable Energy Projects Development Office, established in the Kingdom of Saudi

REPDO Arabia under the Ministry of Energy in 2017G for the purposes of achieving the objectives
of the national renewable energy program in line with the Kingdom’s Vision 2030.

SFA Shared facilities agreement.

SHA Shareholders’ agreement.

SLA Sublease agreement.

SWRO Sea Water Reverse Osmosis operation.

Turnkey Engineering,
Procurement and Con-
struction Contract

A construction contract in terms of which the contractor is responsible for constructing
the entire plant and all elements of the project and handing over to the project company a
fully operational, functioning plant.

TW

A measure of electricity equal to 1 trillion watt.

TWh

Refers to getting power at a capacity of 1 terawatt (10A12 watts) for one hour.

Water Load Factor

The load factor that corresponds to the ratios between actual water export (million m3)
and the installed capacity for that period of time. Load Factor equals: (Export during the
period (million m3) / {Capacity x Number of hours in that period} x 100.

Water and Power Pur-
chase Agreement

The agreement governing the production and purchase of potable water and energy be-
tween the buyer (Offtaker) and the seller.

Water Purchase Agree-

The agreement that regulates the production and purchase of potable water between the

ment or WPA buyer (Offtaker) and the seller.
WECA Water and energy conversion agreement.
Bridgellcans Temporary loan that provides temporary financing when the borrower needs additional

time to obtain permanent financing.

Non-Recourse of Limit-
ed Recourse Loans

Loans that are secured by a pledge as collateral - usually an asset - however the borrower is
not responsible in it in the event of default, the lender can then seize the pledge and sell it.

IEA

International Energy Agency, an international organization working in the research, devel-
opment and marketing of energy technology and its uses.

1-2

Glossary of Project and Entity Names

The following sets out definitions and abbreviations relating to Projects and entities used in this Prospectus.

ACWA Bokpoort Holdings

ACWA Power Bokpoort Holdings (Pty) Limited Company, established in South Africa.

ACWA Elektrik

Acwa Elektrik isletme ve Yénetim Sanayi ve Ticaret Limited Sirketi, established in Tur-
key.

Acwa Power Africa Holdings

Limited

ACWA Power Africa Holdings Limited, established in Africa.

ACWA Power Bahrain

ACWA Power Bahrain Holdings W.L.L, established in Bahrain.

ACWA Power Development

Arabian Power Company for Water and Power Development Limited, established in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

ACWA Power Enerji

ACWA Power Enerji Anonim Sirketi, established in Turkey.

Acwa Power Oasis Three

ACWA Power Oasis Three, established in United Arab Emirates.

ACWA Power Projects

Arabian Company for Water and Power Projects Ltd (APP), established in the Kingdom
of Saudi Arabia.

Acwa Power Renewable
Energy Holding

ACWA Power Renewable Energy Holding, established in the United Arab Emirates.

ACWA Reinsurance or
ACWA Re

ACWA Power Reinsurance Co. Limited, established in the United Arab Emirates.
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Al Askar PV IPP

Al Askar PV independent power project, located in Bahrain.

Al Dur 2 or Al Dur Phase 2

Al Dur 2 independent water and power project, located in Oman.

Al Rajhi Holding

Al Rajhi Holding Group Co, established in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

APBEC ACWA Power Barka Electric Co. LLC, established in Oman.

APBP ACWA Power Barka Project LLC, established in Oman.

APBS 1 AWCA Power Barka Services 1 (Mauritius) Limited, established in the Republic or Mau-
ritius.

APBS 2 AWCA Power Barka Services 2 (Mauritius) Limited, established in the Republic of Mau-
ritius.

APGS ACWA Power Global Services Ltd, established in the United Arab Emirates.

APM ACWA Power Maroc S.A.R.L, established in Kingdom of Morocco.

APO ACWA Power Ouarzazate, established in the Kingdom of Morocco.

APO I ACWA Power Ouarzazate ll, established in the Kingdom of Morocco.

APOIII ACWA Power Ouarzazate lll, established in the Kingdom of Morocco.

APO IV ACWA Power Ouarzazate IV (Company), establish in the Kingdom of Morocco.

Aqaba IPP The Agaba independent power project, located in Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan.

ACWA Marafiq Water and

Electricity Company

ACWA Marafiq Water and Electricity Company, Limited established in the BVI.

Barka

ACWA Power Barka SAOG, established in Oman.

Barka 1 IWPP

The Barka 1 independent water and power project, located in Oman.

Barka 1 Phase | Expansion
WP

The Barka 1 Phase | Expansion independent water project, established in Oman.

Barka 1 Phase Il Expansion
Iwp

The Barka 1 Phase Il Expansion independent water project, established in Oman.

Barka Project

The Barka 1 IWPP, Barka 1 Phase | Expansion IWP and Barka 1 Phase Il Expansion IWP.

Bash Wind Project

Bash Wind independent power project, in Uzbekistan.

ACWA Power Bash Wind IPP

ACWA Power Bash Wind Ltd., established in Uzbekistan.

Ben Ban

ACWA Benban One for Energy, established in the Arab Republic of Egypt.

Ben Ban PV IPP

The Ben Ban PV independent power project, located in the Arab Republic of Egypt.

Bokpoort

ACWA Power Solafrica Bokpoort CSP Power Plant (Pty) Limited, established in South
Africa.

Bokpoort CSP IPP

The Bokpoort CSP independent power project, located in South Africa.

Boujdour

ACWA Power Boujdour, established in the Kingdom of Morocco.

Bowarege

International Bowarege Company for Water Desalination Limited, established in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

Bowarege IWP

The Bowarege independent water project, established in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

Central Electricity Generating Company, established in the Hashemite Kingdom of

CESC Jordan.

The Aqgaba IPP, Rehab IPP, Rehab Hofa Wind, Rehab Ibrahimya Wind, Risha IPP, each
CEGCO Assets located in the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan.
Dairut IPP Dairut independent water and power project, located in the Arab Republic of Egypt.
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DDC Dhofar Desalination Company SAOC, established in Oman.

DEWA The Dubai Electricity and Water Authority, established in the United Arab Emirates.
DEWA CSP IPP 'IIE'Pr;eithEQVZA independent water and power project, established in the United Arab
DEWA Holdco Hassyan Energy 1 Holdings Limited, established in the United Arab Emirates.

DEWAV PV ;l:aebDEErz\?gYez.V is a photovoltaic independent power project, established in the United
DGC Dhofar Generating Company SAOC, established in Oman.

Dhofar Energy Dhofar International Energy Services LLC, established in Oman.

Dhofar O&M Dhofar O&M Company LLC, established in Oman.

Dhofar Real Estate

Dhofar International Real Estate Services LLC, established in Oman.

DIDIC

Dhofar International Development Investment Holding Company SAOG, established in
Oman.

ACWA Power Dzhankeldy
Wind

ACWA Power Dzhankeldy Wind Ltd., established in in Uzbekistan.

Dzhankeldy Wind Project Dzhankeldy Wind independent power project, in Uzbekistan.

EBRD European Bank for Reconstruction and Development.

ECRA Water & Electricity Regulatory Authority of Saudi Arabia(formerly known as the Elec-
tricity & Co-Generation Regulatory Authority).

Enara Enara Energy Investments PSC, established in Oman.

ENBD Emirates NBD Bank PJSC, established in the United Arab Emirates.

Eskom Eskom Holdings SOC Limited, established in South Africa.

FEWA Federal Electricity and Water Authority, established in United Arab Emirates.

Floating Ships for Water
Projects Company Limited

Floating Ships for Water Projects Company Limited, established in the Kingdom of
Saudi Arabia.

Harbin ACWA Power Harbin Holdings Limited, established in the United Arab Emirates.
Hassyan Hassyan Energy Phase 1 P.S.C, established in the United Arab Emirates.
Hassyan IPP The Hassyan independent power project, located in in the United Arab Emirates.

Haya Power & Desalination
Company

Haya Power & Desalination Company B.S.C, established in Kingdom of Bahrain.

HEPCO Hajr Electricity Production Company, established in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.
Ibri or AGC Ad-Dhahirah Generating Company SAOC, established in Oman.
Ibri 2 PV IPP Ibri 2 PV PV independent power project, located in Oman.
Ibri IPP The lbri independent power project, established in Oman.
IFC International Finance Corporation.
Jazan Integrated Gasification and Power Co, established in the Kingdom of Saudi
JIGPC .
Arabia.
Jizan complex which consists of an integrated gasification, combined cycle power
Jizan IGCC plant, air separation unit and associated utilities, located in the Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia.
JOMEL Jubail O&M Company Ltd, established in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.
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Jordan Biogas

Jordan Biogas Company, established in Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan.

JPRC

The Jordan Petroleum Refinery Company, established in Hashemite Kingdom of Jor-
dan.

Jubail 3A IWP

Jubail 3A independent water project, located in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

Jubail Operations Holding
Company

Jubail Operations Holding Company, established in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

JWAP Jubail Water and Power Company, established in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.
Kahromaa Kahromaa Company, established in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.
Karad ACWA Power CF Karad PV Park EAD, located in Bulgaria.

Karadzhalovo PV IPP

The Karadzhalovo PV independent power project, located in Bulgaria.

Kingdom Electricity Company for Energy Invests PSC Accession, established in Hash-

KEC emite Kingdom of Jordan.

KEIC Korean Export Insurance Corporation.

KEPCO Korea Electricity Power Corporation, established in South Korea.
Khalladi ACWA Power Khalladi, established in the Kingdom of Morocco.

Khalladi Wind IPP

The Khalladi Wind Farm, located in the Kingdom of Morocco.

Khanyisa IPP

The Khanyisa independent power project, located in South Africa.

Kirikkale CCGT IPP

The Kirikkale CCGT independent power project owned by ACWA Giig, located in the
Turkish Republic.

Kirikkale Holdings

Kirikkale Holdings Ltd. (Bahrain) WLL, established in the Kingdom of Bahrain.

Kirikkale or ACWA Gii¢

ACWA Giig Elektrik isletme ve Ynetim Sanayi ve Ticaret Anonim Sirketi established in
the Turkish Republic.

Kom Ombo PV IPP

Kom Ombo PV independent power project, located in Arab Republic of Egypt.

Laayoune ACWA Power Laayoune, established in the Kingdom of Morocco.

MADA Group for Industrial & Commercial Investment, established in the Kingdom of
MADA . -

Saudi Arabia.
Mafraq Sunrise Solar Energy PSC, established in Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan.

Mafraq PV IPP

The Mafraq PV independent power project, located in the Hashemite Kingdom of
Jordan.

Power and Water Utility Company for Jubail and Yanbu (MARAFIQ), established in the

Maraty Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

Marafiq IWPP The Maraflq independent water and power project, located in the Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia.

Marsh Marsh Management Services (Dubai) Limited, established in the United Arab Emirates.

Masen Moroccan Agency for Solar Energy.

MCH Map Coastal Holding Company Limited, established in the United Arab Emirates.
Al-Mourjan for Electricity Production Company, established in the Kingdom of Saudi

MEPCO .
Arabia.

MIH MAP Inland Holdings Company Limited, established in the United Arab Emirates.

MODPF Ministry of Defence Pension Fund of Oman.

Mourjan IPP The Mourjan independent power project, located in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.
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Monitoring and Prediction Center of NOMAC, established in the Kingdom of Saudi

MPC Arabia.

MPH MAP Power Holding Company Limited, established in the United Arab Emirates.

Nam Dinh Nam Dinh First Power Company Limited, established in Vietnam.

Nam Dinh I IPP The Nam Dinh | independent power project, established in Vietnam.

NEK National Electricity Company, established in Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan.

NEPCO National Electric Power Company in the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan.

NMES NOMA; Maintenange Energy Services company, a one person company established in
the United Arab Emirates

NOMAC First National Company for Operation and Maintenance CJSC, located in Saudi Arabia.

NOMAC Enerji IF\zleOpMugﬁcngeTr{jir[i;?im Isletme Ve Bakin Hizmetleri Limited Sirketi, established in the

NOMAC Gulf NOMAC Gulf Coal Energy LLC, established in the United Arab Emirates.

NOMAC Maroc NOMAC Maroc S.A.R.L A.U, established in the Kingdom of Morocco.

NOMAC Oman First National Company for Operation and Maintenance LLC, established in Oman.

NOMAC South Africa NOMAC IAE Bokpoort (Pty) Ltd, established in South Africa.

Noor Boujdour IPP

Boujdour PV independent power project, located in the Kingdom of Morocco.

Noor Energy 1 Noor Energy 1 PSC, established the Kingdom of Morocco.

Noor I CSP IPP The Noor | CSP independent power project, located in the Kingdom of Morocco.
Noor Il CSP IPP The Noor Il CSP independent power project, located in the Kingdom of Morocco.
Noor Il CSP IPP The Noor Il CSP independent power project, located in the Kingdom of Morocco.
Noor Laayoune The Laayoune PV independent power project, located in the Kingdom of Morocco.

Noor Ouarzazate IV

The Noor IV CSP independent power project, located in the Kingdom of Morocco.

the Noor Ouarzazate IV, Noor Laayoune and Noor Boujdour, located in the Kingdom of

Noor PV1 IPP Morocco.

NPC National Petroleum Company, established in the Republic of Egypt.

NTP National Transformation Program in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

ONEE I'Office National de L'Electricité et de L'Eau Potable, located in the Kingdom of Morocco.
OPWP Oman Power and Water Procurement Company SAOC, established in Oman.

PAEW The Public Authority for Electricity and Water in Oman.

Petro-Rabigh

Rabigh Refining and Petrochemical Company, established in the Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia.

Petro-Rabigh (Phase 1)
IWSPP

The Petro-Rabigh (Phase 1) independent water, steam and power project, located in
the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

Petro-Rabigh (Phase 2)
IWSPP

The Petro-Rabigh (Phase 2) independent water, steam and power project, located in
the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

Petro-Rabigh IWSPP

The Petro-Rabigh (Phase 1) IWSPP and Petro-Rabigh (Phase 2) IWSPP.

PIF

Saudi Public Investment Fund.

Power China

The Power Construction Corporation of China.

QIC

Qurayyah Investment Company LLC, established in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.
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Qurayyah Project Company
(QPC)

Qurayyah Project Company LLC, established in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

Qurayyah IPP

The Qurayyah independent power project owned by HEPCO, located in the Kingdom
of Saudi Arabia.

RABEC Rabigh Electricity Company, established in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

Rabigh 2 IPP Rabigh 2 independent power project, located in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.
Rabigh 3 Rabigh Three Company, established in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

Rabigh 3 IWP Rabigh 3 independent water project, located in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.
Rabigh IPP The Rabigh independent power project, located in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.
Rabigh Power Rabigh Power Company LLC, established in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

RAKAA Rakaa Saudia for Power & Water Co. Ltd, established in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.
RAWEC Rabigh Arabian Water and Electricity Company, established in the Kingdom of Saudi

Arabia.

Redsea Development
Company

Marafiq Redsea for Energy Company, established in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

Redstone

ACWA Power Solar reserve Redstone Solar Thermal Power Plant (Pty) Ltd, located in
South Africa.

Redstone CSP IPP

The Redstone CSP independent power project, located in South Africa.

Rehab Hofa Wind

The Rehab Hofa wind independent power project, located in the Hashemite Kingdom
of Jordan.

Rehab Ibrahimya Wind

The Rehab Ibrahimya wind independent power project, located in the Hashemite
Kingdom of Jordan.

Rehab IPP The Rehab independent power project, located in the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan.
RIC The Rabigh Investment Company Ltd, established in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.
Risha Risha for Solar Power Projects PSC, established in the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan.
Risha PV IPP 'dl'zi.Risha PV independent power project, located in the Hashemite Kingdom of Jor-
ROMCO Rabigh O&M Company, established in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

RPC Rabigh Project Company Limited, established in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

RSE Red Sea Energy PSC, established in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

Sakaka Sakaka Solar Energy Company, established in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

Sakaka PV IPP

The Sakaka PV independent power project, located in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

Salalah 2 IPP

The Salalah 2 IPP — Existing and Salalah 2 IPP — Greenfield.

Salalah 2 IPP - Existing

The Salalah 2 IPP - Existing, located in Oman.

Salalah 2 IPP - Greenfield

The Salalah 2 IPP - Greenfield, located in Oman.

Salalah IWP The Salalah PV independent water project, located in Oman.

SAMAWEC Saud! Malay5|a Water and Electricity Company Limited, established in the Kingdom of
Saudi Arabia.

Samsung C&T Samsung C&T Corporation, established in South Korea.

Samsung SA Samsung C&T Corporation Saudi Arabia, established in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

Sanabil Investment

Saudi Arabian Investment Company (Sanabil Investments), established in the Kingdom
of Saudi Arabia.
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SEC The Saudi Electricity Company, established in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.
SEHCO Shuaibah Expansion Holding Company, established in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.
SEPCO Shuaibah Expansion Project Company, established in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.
SGA or SGA Marafiq SGA Marafig Holdings W.L.L, established in the Kingdom of Bahrain.

Shuaibah Two Water Development Project Company, established in the Kingdom of
STPC . .

Saudi Arabia.

SEPCO Il Electric Power Construction Corporation, established in the Kingdom of Saudi
SEPCO III .

Arabia.
Shuaa Energy 1 Shuaa Energy 1 PS.C, established in the United Arab Emirates.
Shuaa Energy 3 Shuaa Energy 3 PS.C, established in the United Arab Emirates.

Shuaa Energy PV IPP The Shuaa Energy PV independent power project, located in United Arab Emirates.

Shuaibah Expansion | IWP  The Shuaibah Expansion | IWP, located in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

Shuaibah Expansion Il IWP  The Shuaibah Expansion Il IWP, located in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

Shuaibah IWPP

The Shuaibah independent water and power project, located in the Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia.

The Shuqaiq independent water and power project, located in the Kingdom of Saudi

Shuqaiq IWPP Arabia.
Sirdarya IPP Sirdarya independent power project, located in Uzbekistan.
Shuqaiq International Water and Electricity Company, established in the Kingdom of
SIWEC . .
Saudi Arabia.
SAMAOMCO Saudi M.alay5|.a Operation & Maintenance Services Co. Ltd, established in the Kingdom
of Saudi Arabia.
SNC Shoaibah National Company for Water and Power, established in the Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia.
SGC Shinas Generating Company SAOC, established in Oman.
Sohar IPP The Sohar independent power project, located in Oman.
Sohar Il IPP The Sohar lll independent power project, located in Oman.
SPPC Saudi Power Procurement Company, established in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.
SqWEC Shuqaiq Water and Electricity Company, established in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.
SSC Social Security Corporation of Jordan.
Sues NOMAC SUEZ NOMAC O&M Holding Company W.L.L, established in the Kingdom of Bahrain.
swcc Saline Water Conversion Corporation, established in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.
SWEC Shuaibah Water and Electricity Company, established in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.
SWPC Saudi Water Partnership Company (formerly known as“The Water and Electricity Com-
pany (WEC)"), established in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.
Taweelah IWP Taweelah independent water project, located in United Arab Emirates.
Taweelah Reverse Osmosis Desalination Company, established in the United Arab
Taweelah .
Emirate.
Tawreed Maraflq Water and Power Supply Company, established in the Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia.
Tie Jun Tie Jun International (HK) Limited, established in Hong Kong.
TSK TSK Electrénica y Electricidad S.A., established in Spain.
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UPC Morocco UPC Morocco Wind Partners B.V., established in the Kingdom of Morocco.

Vinh Hao 6 Power Joint

Vinh Hao 6 Power Joint Stock, established in Vietnam.
Stock

Vision International Investment Company (formerly known as “Arabian Company for
Vision Investment Water and Power Development” or "ACWA Holding"), established in the Kingdom of
Saudi Arabia.

An American company working in the field of industrial gases, which was established

Air Products Company in 1940G

Water and Electricity Holding Company CJSC, established in the Kingdom of Saudi

RRELEC Arabia.

The Water & Electricity Company in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia was established
pursuant to Resolution No. (235) of 5/6/2002G corresponding to 3/23/1423H, issued
by the Supreme Economic Council and aims to create an independent body with legal
personality to buy water and electricity from companies that will own projects for the

Water & Electricity Compa-  production of both (water and electricity). The aforementioned entity will then sell the

ny (WEC) water to the Saline Water Conversion Corporation and electricity to the Saudi Electric-
ity Company. A partnership contract was reached with the Saline Water Conversion
Corporation to establish the aforementioned water and electricity company, which will
be a limited liability company with a capital of (30) million Saudi Riyals, to be paid in
two equal instalments from both parties.

Mahatat Al Zarqa Le Tawleed Al Takah Al Kahrabaieyah PSC, established in the Hashem-

Zaas ite Kingdom of Jordan.
The Zarga independent power project, located in the Zarga Governorate in the Hash-
Zarqa IPP e
emite Kingdom of Jordan.
1-3 List of Subsidiaries

As of 1 June, 2021G:

Country of Incorpo- | Direct Interest | Indirect Interest
ration (%) (%)

List of Group Companies

ACWA Power Renewable Energy Holding

1. L United Arab Emirates 51% 0%
Limited

2 ACWA Power Reinsurance Co. Ltd. United Arab Emirates 100% 0%

3 ACWA Industrialization Company Saudi Arabia 100% 0%

4. Multiple Shares Company Saudi Arabia 95% 5%

5 Dii GmbH Germany 33.33% 0%

6. ACWA Power Saudi Electricity and Water Devel- Saudi Arabia 100% 0%
opment Co.

7. ACWA Power Projects Saudi Arabia 0% 100%

8 ACWA Power Project Management & Acquisi- Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
tion Co.

9. ACWA Power Global Services Ltd. United Arab Emirates 100% 0%

10.  ACWA Power Global Holdings Ltd. United Arab Emirates 0% 100%

M ACWA Power Management and Investment United Arab Emirates 100% 0%
One Ltd.

12.  ACWA Power Capital Management Ltd United Arab Emirates 0% 100%

13.  KAHROMAA Co. Saudi Arabia 99.97% 0.03%

14, ACWA Power Bahrain Holdings Bahrain 99.73% 0.27%

15.  Projects Acquisition Company Saudi Arabia 0% 100%

1 This column shows the Company’s actual ownership percentage in its subsidiaries, which are through intermediate holding companies.
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Country of Incorpo- | Direct Interest | Indirect Interest

List of Group Companies e (%) (%)

Shugaiq Arabian Water and Electricity Compa-

16. ny Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
17.  SIWEC Saudi Arabia 0% 53.34%
18.  SqWEC Saudi Arabia 0% 32%
19, iz\l.:/e:r)ah National Company for Water and Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
20. SAMAWEC Saudi Arabia 0% 50%
21.  SWEC Saudi Arabia 0% 30%
22.  SEHCO Saudi Arabia 0% 30%
23.  SEPCO Saudi Arabia 0% 30%
24,  RPC Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
25.  RABEC Saudi Arabia 0% 40%
26.  Saudi Malaysia O&M Services Co. Ltd. Saudi Arabia 0% 50%
27.  Allmtiaz O&M Co. Ltd. Saudi Arabia 0% 50%
28.  Qurayyah Project Company Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
29. QIC Saudi Arabia 0% 44.98%
30. JCVC\)/;AP SPV (Aqua Marafiq Water and Electricity British Virgin Islands 0% 100%
31.  SGA Marafig Holding WLL Bahrain Bahrain 0% 33.33%
32 Oasis Power One Conventional Energy and Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
Water Company LLC
33. RAWEC Saudi Arabia 0% 99%
34.  Bowarege Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
35, i;dalr One Renewable Energy Project Compa- Saudi Arabia 0% 350
36.  Sudair One Holding Company Saudi Arabia 0% 34.34%
37.  KAF Holding Co. Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
38.  KAF Energy JSC Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
39. Al Faisaliah Project Company JSC Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
40. a-aéls Power Two Renewable Energy Company saudi Arabia 0% 100%
4. QarasolarEnergy Company (single sharehold- ¢\ 4 A b 0% 69.69%
er limited liability company)
42.  Sakaka Saudi Arabia 0% 69.99%
43.  Rabigh Expansion Company Limited Saudi Arabia 1% 99%
44,  RIC Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
45. MEPCO Saudi Arabia 0% 50%
46. ROMCO Saudi Arabia 0% 60%
47, jShoualba Expansion Il Water Desalination Hold- Saudi Arabia 1% 99%
ing Company LLC
48.  STPC Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
49.  AlWaha Project Company Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
50.  Aliah Water Saudi Arabia 0% 69.7%




20 A'CWA POWER \
P

ol |

Country of Incorpo- | Direct Interest | Indirect Interest

List of Group Companies

ration (%) (%)’
51.  Rabigh Three Company Saudi Arabia 0% 70%
52.  ACWA Power Jordan Holdings Jordan 0% 51%
53.  Risha Jordan 0% 51%
54.  The Local Company for Water and Solar Projects Jordan 0% 51%
55.  ACWA Power Africa Holdings Pty. Ltd. South Africa 0% 51%
56.  ACWA Bokpoort Holdings South Africa 0% 51%
57.  ACWA Power Morocco Ltd. Morocco 0% 51%
58.  ACWA Power Jordan Holdings (JAFZA) United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
59.  ACWA Power Solar Limited United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
60.  ACWA Power Oasis 2 Ltd. (JAFZA) United Arab Emirates 0% 51%
61.  ACWA Power Oasis Three FZ-LLC United Arab Emirates 0% 36.5%
62.  ACWA Power Egypt for Energy Egypt 0% 100%
63.  ACWA Shams for Energy S.A.E. Egypt 0% 64.34%
64.  ALCOM Energy Egypt 0% 32.81%
65. BenBan Egypt 0% 32.81%
66.  ACWA Harbin Holdings Limited United Arab Emirates 0% 55%
67.  ACWA Power Investment Mauritius Mauritius 0% 100%
68.  ACWA Gharib One for Energy Egypt 0% 100%
69.  ACWA Gharib Two for Energy Egypt 0% 100%
70.  NOVA SGA Marafiq Holdings Ltd. United Arab Emirates 0% 33.33%
71.  ACWA Power General Holdings 1 Ltd United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
72.  ACWA Power Energy Holdings Ltd United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
73.  MPH United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
74.  ACWA Power Asia Holdings Pte. Ltd. Singapore 0% 100%
75.  ACWA Power Energy Africa South Africa 0% 100%
76.  ACWA Power Vietnam Pte. Ltd. Singapore 0% 100%
77.  Nam Dinh First Power Holdings Singapore 0% 50%
78.  ACWA Power Vietnam Renewables Pte. Ltd. Singapore 0% 100%
79.  Vinh Hao 6 Power Joint Stock Company Vietnam 0% 60%
80.  ACWA Power Khanyisa Holdings Pty. Ltd. South Africa 0% 100%
81 ,st(;\./\ll-Atdeower Khanysia Thermal Power Station South Africa 0% 100%
82.  Dhofar O&M Co. Oman 0% 35%
83.  ACWA Power Solar CSP Holding Limited United Arab Emirates 0% 51%
84.  ACWA Power Oasis 1 Ltd (JAFZA) United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
85.  ACWA Power Conventional Energy Ltd United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
86.  ACWA Power Salalah2 IPP Project Holding Co United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
87.  ACWA Power Uzbekistan Project Holding Co United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
88.  ACWA Power FEWA Project Holding Co Ltd United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
89.  ACWA Power Luxor Project Holding Co Ltd United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
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List of Group Companies

Country of Incorpo-

ration

Direct Interest

(%)

Indirect Interest

(%)’

90.  ACWA Power Taweelah Project Holding Co Ltd ~ United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
91.  ACWA Power Salalah Project Holding Co Ltd United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
92.  Dhofar Desalination Co. SAOC Oman 0% 50.1%
93.  ACWA Power Al Dur Il Holding Co WLL Bahrain 0% 100%
94.  ACWA Power Treasury Holding Co. United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
95, ?,f:\e/ﬁ Power Indigo Jeotermal Enerji Anonim Turkey 0% 65%
96.  ACWA Power Coastal Holdings Ltd (JAFZA) United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
97.  MCH United Arab Emirates 0% 47.26%
98. SGC Oman 0% 44.9%
99.  Naga'a Desalination Plant LLC United Arab Emirates 0% 40%
100. ACWA Power Dairut for Energy Egypt 0% 100%
101.  Taweelah RO Desalination Company United Arab Emirates 0% 40%
102. Zarga Jordan 0% 60%
103. Haya Power & Desalination Company B.S.C. Bahrain 0% 60%
104. RSE Jordan 0% 100%
105.  South Tafila Energy Holdings Jordan 0% 100%
106. Al Raeda Energy Jordan 0% 89.17%
107. Enara Jordan 0% 80.25%
108. ENARA 2 for Energy Investments Jordan 0% 80.25%
109. CEGCO Jordan 0% 40.93%
110.  ACWA Power Inland Holdings Limited United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
11.  MH United Arab Emirates 0% 47.263%
112, lbri Oman 0% 44.90%
113.  ACWA Power International Holdings United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
114.  ACWA Power Oman LLC Oman 0% 100%
115.  ACWA Power Barka Projects LLC Oman 0% 72.25%
116.  ACWA Power Barka SAOG Oman 0% 41.9%
117.  ACWA Power Barka Project TSA Company Mauritius 0% 100%
118.  ACWA Power Barka Services (1) Mauritius Ltd Mauritius 0% 86.19%
119. ACWA Power Barka Services (2) Mauritius Ltd Mauritius 0% 86.19%
120. NOMAC ASKAR Solar Power Services CO.W.LL  Bahrain 0% 100%
121.  Moatize Holdings Ltd United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
122.  ACWA Power Dzhankeldy Wind Uzbekistan 0% 100%
123.  ACWA Power Bash Wind Uzbekistan 0% 100%
124.  ACWA Power Azerbaijan Renewable Energy LLC  Azerbaijan 100% 0%
125.  ACWA Power Sirdarya Uzbekistan 0% 100%
126.  ACWA Power International LLC United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
127.  ACWA Power lbri Project Holding Co. Ltd. United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
128.  Shams Ad-dhahira Generating Company SAOV ~ Oman 0% 50%
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129.  ACWA Power Green Energy Africa Pty Ltd South Africa 0% 100%
130. ACWA Power Redstone Holdings South Africa 0% 100%
131, g(;\llVFﬁ)\ljvzvr\/ElraSnotlg;;els_i;ve Redstone Solar Ther- South Africa 0% 60%
132.  Ehyaa Renewable Company B.S.C. Bahrain 0% 100%
133.  ACWA Power Plovidiv Holdings United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
134.  ACF Renewable Energy Ltd. Malta 0% 42%
135.  ACWA Power Ethiopia Project Holding Co. United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
136.  ACWA Power Dicheto Solar PV Share Company  Ethiopia 0% 99.99%
137. ACWA Power Azerbaijan Project Holding Co United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
138. égnvrs;‘;"ﬁ; Kom Ombo Project Holding United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
139.  ACWA Power Kom Ombo for Energy Egypt 0% 100%
140.  SolarV Holding Co Ltd United Arab Emirates 0% 60%
141.  ACWA Power Gad Solar PV Share Company Ethiopia 0% 99.99%
142, ACWA Power Uzbekistan Wind Project Holding United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
CoLtd

143. APOIV Morocco 0% 75%
144. Laayoune Morocco 0% 75%
145.  Boujdour Morocco 0% 75%
146. APO Morocco 0% 73.13%
147.  APOII Morocco 0% 75%
148. APOIIl Morocco 0% 75%
149.  ACWA Power Enerji Turkey 0% 99.01%
150.  ACWA Power Kirikkale Holdings WLL Bahrain 0% 99%
151.  ACWA Gii¢ Turkey 0% 69.6%%
152. :\\Ar:iaitaezgﬁg(jgéy Company for Operation and Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
153.  First National Holding Company Saudi Arabia 100% 0%
154. Diaa Sakaka O&M Co LLC Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
155.  NOMAC Saudia O&M Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
156.  Rabigh Power Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
157.  NOMAC Ltd United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
158. Nagaa O&M for Water Desalination LLC Saudi Arabia 0% 55%
159.  NOMAC Atlantic SARLAU Morocco 0% 100%
160. NOMAC Sahara SARLAU Morocco 0% 100%
161.  Suez Nomac O&M Co. Saudi Arabia 0% 40%
162.  Jubail Operations Holdings WLL Bahrain 0% 40%
163.  NOMAC Maroc SARLAU Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
164. NOMAC Ouarzazate Il SA Morocco 0% 75%
165. NOMAC Ouarzazate Il SA Morocco 0% 75%
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List of Group Companies

ration (%) (%)’
166. Renewable Energy for Morocco Morocco 0% 49%
167. NOMAC Ouarzazate IV Morocco 0% 36.75%
168. NOMAC Laayoune IV SA Morocco 0% 36.75%
169. NOMAC Boujdour SA Morocco 0% 36.75%
170.  Seqayah O&M Co LLC Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
171.  Water Desalination Company Limited Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
172.  First National O&M Co. (NOMAC) Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
173.  Rabigh Water Production Services Co Ltd Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
174.  NOMAC Solar Ltd Malta 0% 100%
175.  NOMAC Bulgaria EAD Bulgaria 0% 100%
176. ’l;leorls\f)ﬁcctﬂrz:g;i;aﬂ_? Energy Services One United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
177.  NOMAC Gulf CSP Tower Energy LLC United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
178.  NOMAC Africa Holding South Africa 0% 100%
179.  NOMAC IAE Bokpoort Pty Ltd South Africa 0% 70%
180. NOMAC IAE Redstone Pty Ltd South Africa 0% 100%
181. NOMAC Africa Solar Services Pty Ltd South Africa 0% 100%
182.  NOMAC Vietnam Co Ltd United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
183.  East Africa Business Venture FZ LLC United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
184.  NOMAC Gulf Solar Energy LLC United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
185.  NOMAC Gulf Coal Energy LLC United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
186. NOMAC Gulf O&M LLC United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
187. NOMAC Nile Energy Egypt 0% 100%
188. NOMAC Egypt Energy Egypt 0% 100%
189. NOMAC Benban Egypt for Solar Energy Egypt 0% 100%
190. NOMAC AL Dur Power & Water Services WLL Bahrain 0% 100%
191.  NOMAC Gulf Trading Co (JAFZA) United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
192, H-CéMAC Taweelah Water Desalination Services United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
193.  NOMAC Water Desalination Services LLC United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
194.  NOMAC Solis Pty Ltd South Africa 0% 85%
195. NOMAC Khanysia Pty Ltd South Africa 0% 80%
196. L\llg:\/ll_?g;rr\fgtleUretlm Islemte Ve Bakim Hizmer- Turkey 0% 100%
197.  Asia Power Trading FZCO (JAFZA) United Arab Emirates 0% 51%
198.  Veolia First National Water Services Co. Oman 0% 35%
199. Jazlah Water Desal Co. Saudi Arabia 0% 40%
200. ggtal:)ational Co for O&M Services LLC (NOMAC Oman 0% 100%
201.  APM Power Holding Company (JAFZA) United Arab Emirates 0% 100%

202. Water Consortium Holding Saudi Arabia 0% 40%
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203. Marafiq Redsea for Energy Company Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
204.  Nam Dinh First Power Company Limited Vietnam 0% 50%
205 E_%MAC Saudia for Operation and Maintenance Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
206  ACWA Power Moatize Termoelectrica SA Mozambique 0% 70%
207  ACWA Power Water and Power Projects United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
208  ACWA Power Water Projects Ltd United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
NOMAC Maintenance Energy Services One . . o o
209 Person Company LLC - Abu Dhabi Branch United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
210  Sudair 2 Holding Company Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
211 ACWA Power for Jizan Energy Co. Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
212 gcl:lf Electrical Equipment Testing Laboratories Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
213 Amwaj International Co. Ltd Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
214 Al-Qiddiya Utilities Holding Company Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
215 NOMACPV Phase V LLC United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
216 NOMAC Power Services LLC United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
217 NOMAC Jubail O&M Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
218 NOMAC Sirdarya O&M Services LLC Uzbekistan 0% 100%
219  Marafiq Tweeq Power Company Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
220  ACWA Power for Energy Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
221 Hajr Management and Investments Limited United Arab Emirates 0% 100%
222 PT ACWA POWER INDONESIA Indonesia 0% 100%
Source: Company
1-4 List of Material Subsidiaries

As of 1 June 2021G:

Countr of Incorpo- | DirectInterest | Indirect Interest

First National O&M Co. (NOMAC) Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
2. RAWEC Saudi Arabia 0% 99%
3. ACWA Power Barka SAOG Oman 0% 41.9%
4. CEGCO Jordan 0% 40.93%
5. Zarga Jordan 0% 60%
6. APOI Morocco 0% 73.13%
7. APO I Morocco 0% 75%
8. APOIlI Morocco 0% 75%

Source: Company.
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1-5 List of Key Group Companies
As of 1 June 2021G:

Key Group Companies

Country of Incorpo-

Direct Interest

Indirect Interest

ration (%) (%)

1. First National O&M Co. (NOMAC) Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
2. RAWEC Saudi Arabia 0% 99%
3. SWEC Saudi Arabia 0% 30%
4, SqQWEC Saudi Arabia 0% 32%
5. MEPCO Saudi Arabia 0% 50%
6. STPC Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
7. z‘c’)‘::gaa;’%zz’;?"é’jt’é‘; Energy Project Saudi Arabia 0% 35%
8. Rabigh Power Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
9. Marafiq Redsea for Energy Company Saudi Arabia 0% 100%
10. APOI Morocco 0% 73.13%
1. APOII Morocco 0% 75%
12. APOIlI Morocco 0% 75%
13. ACWA Power Barka SAOG Oman 0% 41.9%
14. Ibri Oman 0% 100%
15. SGC Oman 0% 44.9%
16. Taweelah RO Desalination Company United Arab Emirates 0% 40%
17. :—éalzzelzlc;wer & Desalination Company B.S.C. Bahrain 0% 60%
18. Zarqa Jordan 0% 60%
19. ACWA Gli¢ Turkey 0% 69.60%
20. ACWA Power Sirdarya Uzbekistan 0% 100%
21. Jubail Water and Power Company Saudi Arabia 0% 20%
22. Hajr Electricity Production Company Saudi Arabia 0% 22.49%
23. Hassyan United Arab Emirates 0% 26.95%
24. Noor Enegry 1 CJSC United Arab Emirates 0% 24.9%
25. Jazan IGCC Saudi Arabia 0% 25%
26. ACWA Power Bash Wind Uzbekistan 0% 100%
27. ACWA Power Dzhankeldy Wind Uzbekistan 0% 100%
28. RABEC Saudi Arabia 0% 40%
29. First National Holding Company Saudi Arabia 100% 0%

Source: Company
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2- Risk Factors

Prospective investors should carefully consider all the information contained in this Prospectus, particularly the risks described
below, prior to deciding to subscribe for or purchase any Offer Shares. However, the risks outlined below may not include all the
risks which the Group may face. The Group may face further risks which are currently unknown to the Group, or which currently
are considered immaterial, and which may affect its operations. When evaluating the risks described below, a prospective
investor should also consider, amongst other information set out in this Prospectus, the information on the Group, the Project
Companies and the relevant agreements described in Section (4) (“The Company”) and Section (12) (“Legal Information”)
respectively. The Board members affirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, there are no other material risks besides
those mentioned in this section, the non-disclosure of which would affect investors’ decisions to invest in any Offer Shares as
at the date of this Prospectus.

The Group could have a material adverse effect to its business, financial position and results of operations if any of the following
risks, which the Board members currently consider to be material, occur or if any other risks currently unknown to the Board
members occur or become material. As a result, risks or other factors that may affect the Company, as well as the forward-
looking events and circumstances discussed in this Prospectus may not occur in the way the Company or the Board members
expect, or at all.

An investment in the Offer Shares is only appropriate for those investors who are able to evaluate the risk and the benefits of
the investment and those who have sufficient resources to sustain any loss resulting from such investment. Any prospective
investor who is doubtful about any aspect of investing in the Offer Shares must seek advice from a financial advisor licensed
by the CMA in relation to such investment.

The occurrence of any of the risk factors specified below, or the occurrence of any other risks which the Board members have
not identified or those which they do not consider to be material as at the date of this Prospectus, may result in the reduction
of the price of the Shares in the market and an investor could lose all or some of the value of his investment in the Offer Shares.

The risks described below are presented in an order intended to assist investor understanding but which does not necessarily
reflect their importance, or anticipated occurrence or effect on the Group. Additional unknown risks and uncertainties or those
deemed immaterial now by the Company may have the impact or consequences described in this Prospectus. The risks set
out in this Section (2) (“Risk Factors”) do not purport to be: (a) a complete or composite list of all risks which may affect the
Company or in any case its operations, activities, assets or markets in which it operates; or (b) an explanation of all the risks
involved in investing in the Offer Shares.

2-1 Risks related to the Group’s Projects

2-1-1 Risks related to the expected levels of available capacity to generate
electricity and/or produce desalinated water, or the expected levels of
electricity actually generated or water actually produced, at the Proj-
ect Companies may not be achieved or maintained

All Project Companies (save for ACWA Gli¢ and Bowarege) have entered into power purchase agreements (“PPAs”), water
purchase agreements (“WPAs"), power and water purchase agreements (“PWPAs") or water and energy conversion agreements
(“WECAs" and, together with the PPAs, WPAs and PWPAs the “Offtake Agreements”). Through these Offtake Agreements, the
Group sells the Project’s electricity generation capacity and/or desalinated water or steam production capacity at a pre-agreed
tariff or sells electricity generated and/or desalinated water produced at the relevant Project to offtakers. Such offtakers include
investment-grade sovereign and quasi-sovereign entities, as well as investment grade resource/commodity-based industrial
companies that require significant quantities of utility services and are usually capable of supplying their own fuel resources
to the Projects (for example, captive power plants for oil and gas companies). Pursuant to these Offtake Agreements, revenues
of the Project Companies are principally determined by (i) (with respect to base-load conventional plants, which are those
that generate enough power and/or desalinated water according to the load requirements of a given electrical grid from the
relevant project) the available capacity of the relevant plant to generate power and/or to produce desalinated water and/
or steam as required by the relevant offtaker, and (ii) (with respect to renewables) the electricity delivered (or deemed to be
delivered) to the offtaker. For further information on the payments made with respect to the Group’s Offtake Agreements,
please see Section (4) (“The Company”) and Section (12-7) (“Legal Information—Summary of Material Contracts”). The
Group's current contracts have a weighted average remaining contract term of approximately 22 years as of 31 December
2020G, weighted based on total project cost, while the Group's contracts for its renewable assets (projects using or producing
renewable energy) have a weighted average remaining contract term of approximately 27 years as of 31 December 2020G.

For base-load conventional plants, Capacity Payments by the offtaker for the plant’s available capacity represent a majority of
the overall revenue of each Project (save in the case of the Kirikkale CCGT IPP in Turkey, which was deconsolidated in 2018G).
Such Capacity Payments are separate from payments from offtakers for electricity actually generated or desalinated water
actually produced at such base-load conventional plants. If a plant is unable to generate electricity and/or produce desalinated
water at the levels required under the relevant Offtake Agreement for any reason, including, for example, as a result of critical
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equipment failure and unplanned shutdowns, the availability-based Capacity Payment made by the offtaker will be reduced.
Furthermore, a failure by an operation and maintenance contractor or subcontractor to operate and maintain the relevant plant
in a manner that ensures that it has the required levels of available capacity to generate electricity and/or produce desalinated
water could result in a reduction in a Project Company'’s revenue, liquidated damages being paid by the Project Company to
the offtaker, and in the event of a prolonged failure, could impact the Group’s reputation. For example, the failure by the O&M
contractor to generate/produce the required levels of electricity/water may result in an event of default under (i) the O&M
Contract, (i) the relevant offtake agreement (if the failure to generate leads to an amount that is less than a pre-agreed level) or
(iii) the underlying finance agreements, this would consequently result in loss of revenues of the Project Companies, liquidated
damages paid to Project Companies by the relevant O&M contractor and could potentially result in termination of the O&M
contract. The Project Companies’ back-to-back arrangements with their respective operation and maintenance contractors in
relation to the required levels of plant performance may not fully compensate the relevant Project Company for the reduction
in revenue resulting from decreases in availability as liquidated damages payable by operation and maintenance contractors
are limited to a portion of the reduction in revenue of the Project Company and in some cases are also subject to annual
caps. Similarly, where the operation and maintenance contractor is NOMAC (or a NOMAC subsidiary), the Group’s financial
position will be adversely impacted (depending on its ownership percentage in the operation and maintenance contractor)
regardless of whether the Project Company manages to rely on the back-to-back arrangements. For further information on the
Group’s operation and maintenance arrangements, see 2-1-8"“ Risks related to the extent to which profits of the Group and
the operation and maintenance of the Group’s Projects depend on the costs of operation and the performance by the
operation and maintenance contractors of their contractual obligations”. Should any of these events materialize it could
adversely affect the Group’s business, financial position and results of operations.

Material forced shutdowns in 2019G (where the outages were in excess of 5% of the annual plant capacity (per plant)) occurred at
Rabigh IPP and Shugaiq IWPP due to equipment failure and a national grid blackout, respectively, and have resulted in unplanned
plant outages, with a full loss of power generation capacity in the former for approximately three months and a one-third loss of
capacity in the latter during a period of approximately five months. The total resulting loss in revenue for these events amounted
to SAR 379.8 million (of which SAR 284.6 million related to Rabigh IPP and SAR 95.2 million related to Shugaiq IPP), for which
SAR 172 million has been approved and collected pursuant to the Group’s business interruption insurance, as compared to
total revenues for Rabigh IPP of SAR 674.7 million and Shuqaiq IWPP of SAR 697 million for the year ended 31 December 2019G
compared to the total revenues for Rabigh IPP of SAR 923.5 million and Shugaiq IWPP of SAR 798.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2018G. The overall Group plant availability for power and water remained above contractual threshold limits at 90
and 94 percent, respectively, during such Forced Outages, which contributed to increases to the Group's insurance premiums
and deductibles related to the affected Projects. In addition, where the operation and maintenance contractor or subcontractor
is a Group company, its revenue will be adversely affected to the extent of the liquidated damages paid by it.

Forced Outage Rate for all Project Companies for the year ended 31 December 2018G, year ended 31 December 2019G and the
year ended 31 December 2020G amounted to 6.9% 8.6% and 2.6% for power, respectively and 3.2%, 4.0% and 3.2% for water,
respectively. The contribution of Subsidiaries’ Forced Outages to the Group consolidated results for year ended 31 December
2018G, year ended 31 December 2019G and the year ended 31 December 2020G was 3.1%, 1% and 0.2% for conventional
power, respectively, 13.3%, 21.7% and 16.5% for renewables,respectively, and 6.1%, 2.3% and 0.7% for water, respectively.

In 2020G, material unplanned outages where Forced Outages were in excess of 5% of annual plant capacity (per plant) occurred
at Noor Il IPP, Noor Il CSP IPP, Bokpoort CSP IPP, Shuaibah IWPP, Al Mourjan IPP and Shugaiq IWPP (For further information, see
4-9 (“Significant Disruptions to the Business”)):

e Noor Ill CSP IPP in Morocco had a significant unplanned shut down as a result of a molten salt leak within its solar
tower, which has now been resolved; as well as a plant outage as a result of mechanical failure in the evaporator
and ESV blockage which resulted in a Forced Outage in 2020.These have resulted in an estimated financial loss for
ACWA Power share of SAR 77M.

e Noor Il CSP IPP in Morocco experienced a partial outage in January 2020G related to the turbine outage and
again for 18 days across June and July 2020G as a result of leakage in its steam generator system, with further
inspections and repairs of the steam generator system in November 2020G resulting in a Forced Outage in 2020G.
These have resulted in an estimated financial loss for ACWA Power share of SAR 53M.

e Bokpoort CSP IPP in South Africa had a 8% Forced Outage Rate in 2020G which was mainly due to Communication
Failure between the DCS and the Solar Field during March, High Pressure Turbine - Emergency Stop Valve (HPT
ESV) failure in July, tripping of a steam turbine as a result of High Condenser Pressure during February and
performance losses. These have resulted in an estimated financial loss of SAR 19 million.

e Shuaibah IWPP in Saudi Arabia had a Forced Outage Rate of 7.9% and 7.2% for power and water respectively.
The outage on the power side was mainly due to leaks in the water tube boiler that led to a shutdown of units to
rectify these leaks. On the water side, the Forced Outage was mainly due to steam production limitations due to
the water tube boiler load restriction or due to tube leak rectification work. These have resulted in an estimated
financial loss of SAR 13 million.

e Al Mourjan IPP in Saudi Arabia had a 6.9% Forced Outage Rate in 2020G mainly due to repairs and maintenance
required for a steam turbine and shutdown of gas turbines for ASL (Arabian Super Light Crude) commissioning
which has resulted in an estimated financial loss of SAR 14 million.
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*  Shuqaiq IWPP in Saudi Arabia had a 5.4% Forced Outage Rate on the power side, mainly, in order to rectify
generator bearing and rotor damage on one of the units which has resulted in an estimated financial loss of SAR
22 million.

For renewables projects, the relevant Project Companies receive a single energy payment for the electricity delivered (or
deemed to be delivered under the relevant offtake agreements for example, in the event the Project Company is unable
to deliver the required level of energy generation due to the failure of the Offtaker, then the energy will be deemed to be
delivered and the Offtaker is obliged to pay the energy payments) to the relevant offtaker. Given that there are no Capacity
Payments under these Projects to compensate the Project Company for its availability to deliver power, the offtaker is generally
required to dispatch and take all of the power that the Project Company is actually capable of delivering failing which, the
Project Company is generally compensated by the offtaker for the power it would have delivered but for the offtaker’s failure to
take the relevant plant. Conversely, should the Project Company of a renewable project fail to deliver the agreed upon energy
to the offtaker, including due to renewable resource-based estimations with actual resource availability falling short of the
expected generation and technical flaws or malfunctions affecting the actual energy production, the expected payment to
the Group may be withheld by the offtaker and may not be recoverable from another party (e.g. a defaulting EPC contractor).
For example, Noor | CSP IPP was impacted from August to November 2019G by the severe malfunction of a rotor which
necessitated its replacement. The shutdown started on the 22nd of August and lasted until the 6th of November. The total
loss compared to the planned generation is 96 GWh in the delivered energy and total loss of revenues amounted to SAR 45
million for ACWA Power compared to the project’s total revenues of SAR 158.6 million fin 2019G. Because the warranty had
expired prior to the malfunction, the Group has initiated a claim amounting to SAR 71.3 million under its property damages
and business interruption insurance policy in order to recoup to costs of the replacement and the withheld payments resulting
from shortfall in delivered energy caused by the disruption. As of the date of this Prospectus, the Group has received an interim
compensation payment of SAR 13.1 million pursuant to this claim, with the remainder (SAR 58.2 million) pending. In addition,
operations at Noor Il CSP IPP were impacted due to a crack in the foundation of the salt tank during the period from March to
December 2019G, which has resulted in a total loss of 77 GWh in the delivered energy compared to the planned generation
and total loss of revenues amounted to SAR 30 million for ACWA Power compared to the project’s total revenues of SAR 235.6
million in 2019G. Malfunctioning of the evaporator and faulty construction of the downcomer at Noor IIl CSP IPP also led to a
complete stoppage of operations from May 2019G to February 2020G, which has resulted in a total loss of 355 GWh compared
to plant generation and total loss of revenues amounted to SAR 126 million for ACWA Power compared to the project’s total
revenues of SAR 45.8 million in 2019G and SAR 9.7 million in 2020G. See also, 2-1-3” Risks related to the delays, cost overruns
and quality of workmanship issues in the construction of the Group’s Projects when such delays, overruns and quality
issues are not covered under its EPC contracts” Subsequent performance issues of Noor lll CSP IPP’s heat exchanger in June
2020G and November 2020G have led to the temporary derating of the plant to T00MWh from 150MWh applicable during
short periods (i.e. two weeks) and a reduction of receiver flux when water levels exceed certain limits such as during the days
following storm, which have resulted in a total loss of 96 GWh in the delivered energy compared to planned generation and
a total loss of revenues amounting to SAR 38.3 million for ACWA Power compared to the project’s total revenues of SAR 9.7
million in 2020G.

If any of the above risks were to materialise, the Group's business, financial position and results of operations would be
materially adversely affected.

2-1-2 Risks related to the Group’s delays in the development of Projects
and/or in achieving the financial close

As of 18 May 2021G, the Group has 13 Projects in advanced development (see Section (4-6-2-4) (“The Company - Projects”)).
During the advanced development phase of a project, which is a phase beginning from the awarding of preferred bidder
status or where a significant project agreement (such as the shareholders agreement, implementation agreement etc.) is
signed by the Company for the project until the Financial Close of the project (referred to as the “Advanced Development
Phase”), there is an inherent risk of material delays in achieving, or achieving at all, the Financial Close of a project. This could
be due to a variety of reasons, including delays in obtaining all necessary development and construction permits and licenses,
including applicable land, electricity and environmental permits. The Group is still in the process of obtaining all necessary
permits and licenses for most of its Projects in Advanced Development Phase which are required at that stage and for the
Project Companies to be able to achieve Financial Close. For example, the Dzhankeldy Wind IPP and Bash Wind IPP, have not
yet obtained the required licences to operate industrial hazardous facilities. Failure to obtain the requisite licenses in a timely
manner, could impact achieving Financial Close for the relevant Project.

In the event the Group is unable to take a project to Financial Close, it may lose its bid bond, which is issued by the Project
Company in favour of the relevant offtaker and is valid for a period from awarding the project to the Project Company and until
achieving the Financial Close to secure a binding offer by the Project Company, and any initial development costs, costs for
early works executed by the EPC Contractor pursuant to a Limited Notice to Proceed (“LNTP”) under the applicable construction
contracts, and any pre-financial close hedging undertaken by the Group for subsequent novation of such hedging to the
Project and would not receive the anticipated revenues from such project. The inability to achieve financial closing of a given
project could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial position and results of operations.
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In addition, delays in the development of a project may also, in turn, delay the receipt by the Group of development fees
(which are upfront fees typically paid to the developers or sponsors as compensation for the risks taken and efforts made while
developing the project). As a result, the delay in obtaining such fees could result in a material adverse impact to the Group’s
cash flows and earnings during the period of delay.

If any of the above risks were to materialise, this could materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, financial position
and results of operations.

2-1-3 Risks related to the delays, cost overruns and quality of workmanship
iIssues in the construction of the Group’s Projects when such delays,
overruns and quality issues are not covered under its EPC contracts

During the construction phase, which is the period from Financial Close to the commercial operation date of a project, there is
an inherent risk of material delays in the construction of a project which could be due to a variety of reasons, including delays
in obtaining or renewing any necessary construction permits and licenses and delays in construction activity itself, for example,
due to unforeseen site issues or commissioning issues or due to failure to perform by the contractor, for example, when the
quality of construction is poor or the quality of installed equipment does not meet required legal or contractual standards,
which could be caused by failures of its subcontractors and sub-suppliers or bankruptcy of the contractor. In addition, because
most of the projects being developed by the Group are done under a single turnkey EPC contract for that project (with the
relevant contractor or contractor consortium assuming all responsibility for the applicable development, construction process
and work), the risk of significant delays, cost overruns and quality of workmanship issues with respect to the project in question
is concentrated if the applicable contractor or contractor consortium defaults on its obligations under the applicable EPC
contract. Such delays, cost overruns or quality issues may be potentially greater in instances where a contractor must be
replaced as a result of its default. On 22 February 2021G, Abengoa SA, the parent company of the EPC consortium partners
for Salalah IWP, Rabigh 3 and Taweelah, filed for bankruptcy in the Seville Court. However, to date, the Group are not aware of
any filings for bankruptcy by any of the Abengoa entities contracted with ACWA Power. The parent company bankruptcy does
not impact ACWA Power contracts directly. Additionally, in all impacted projects, Abengoa is working with investment-grade
partners with J&S liability. Therefore, the risk is passed on to EPC partners. The Project Company has bonds available from
Abengoa, to cover for any losses in worst case scenario. These bonds have been issued by non-Spanish banks and are callable
on demand. Salalah IWP has achieved the commercial operational date on 12 March 2021G, however, there could be harm to
reputation for the projects in the event if Abengoa entity had to be replaced with another entity by the EPC Contractor and
EPC not able to timely complete the construction activities of the project. The court has initiated the insolvency proceedings
of Abengoa SA on 26 February 2021G and an administrator has been appointed and creditors have filed claims. Moreover,
in 2017G one of the EPC consortium partners in Mafraq PV IPP declared bankruptcy and consequently the EPC Contractor
was replaced by another partner. This has resulted in a write off amount for the Group of SAR 9.6 million in the year ended 31
December 2017G.

Furthermore, towards the end of the construction phase, a project is exposed to performance specification risk, which is the
risk that the completed plant or certain other aspects of the project may not fall within the performance parameters stated
within the relevant Offtake Agreement including, for example, inability of the EPC Contractor to deliver the performance
specifications under the Offtake Agreement (given that the responsibility for delivery of performance specifications under
the Offtake Agreement are passed on to the EPC Contractor). For example, since May 2019G, the Ibri IPP and Sohar Il IPP have
experienced additional fuel consumption due to the heat rate performance achieved during the operational phase being
below the guaranteed performance levels under the relevant Offtake Agreement which have resulted in additional costs
for the additional fuel consumption of SAR 57.7 million (of which SAR 25.9 million is attributable to the Group based on its
effective ownership interests in the Projects) on the Company till 31 December 2020G.

In addition, problems relating to the quality of workmanship by the EPC contractor may result in defects in the Project which
may result in significant delays or cost overruns if identified prior to the commercial operation date, or unplanned outages
of the Project, equipment failure, unforeseen capital expenditures and health and safety hazards, all of which could have an
adverse impact on the completion or operations of the Project.

Moreover, the Project Companies that are constructing Projects are usually obliged to pay liquidated damages to the offtaker
should a project fail to achieve completion in due time (in accordance with the Offtake Agreement) for each phase of the Project.
Any non-payment by the Project Company of such delay-related liquidated damages would trigger the right for the offtaker
to call on the performance bond to recover such liquidated damages. Typically, the shareholders are solely responsible for
procuring each of the bonds as required under the finance documents. For instance, under the APO Il and APO lll shareholders’
agreements, the shareholders (save for Masen Capital) are solely responsible for procuring each of the bonds from financial
institutions as required under the finance documents, including, inter alia, the development bond, the construction bond and
performance bond (with the bonds being issued without recourse to Masen Capital). Furthermore, if the Project Company
does not reach COD by the long-stop date then the offtaker will typically have a right to terminate the Offtake Agreement and
is under no obligation to purchase the Project, although if the Offtake nevertheless elects to do so it is only required to pay
for the outstanding debt as part of termination payment. For example, the Noor Il CSP IPP and Mafraq PV IPP did not reach
FCOD by their respective long-stop dates. With respect to Mafraq PV IPP the Project Company and the Offtaker entered into
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an amendment to the PPA on 9 July 2018G whereas the long-stop date (scheduled on 1 August 2018G) was extended to 31
December 2018G. As for Noor Il CSP IPP, the Group is currently under negotiation with the Offtaker for an extension of the
FCOD. Any settlement with an EPC contractor resulting from the events described above may not be strictly in accordance with
the terms of the relevant EPC agreement due to commercial considerations.

As a result, the liquidated damages paid to the offtaker for delays in achieving completion in due time (in accordance with the
Offtake Agreement) is presented in the Group's profit or loss statement net of any liquidated damages that are received from
the EPC contractor.

In the event of cost-overruns in the construction of certain Projects, which is not compensated under the other project-related
agreements, the shareholders may be responsible for such costs. For instance, the reimbursement of such costs from the project
company pursuant to the APO Il and APO lll shareholders’agreements is subject to Masen Capital maintaining an equity return
as required for the term of the PPA. As another example, under the Hassyan shareholders’ agreement, ACWA Power Harbin is
responsible for any EPC cost overruns (unless Hassyan has received or is entitled to receive compensation under any project
agreement or relevant insurance policy) and for procuring and providing the development security to the offtaker on behalf
of Hassyan pursuant to the PPA.

As a result, to the extent the relevant delay in completion, cost overruns or quality issues are not attributable to risks borne by
the relevant EPC Contractor, and to the extent not covered by the insurance procured by the Project, the delays could have
material financial consequences for the Project Company and the Group (under the deed of guarantees it has provided to the
contractors). Examples of such delays, cost overruns or quality issues include the following:

e The Project Company in Oman entered into a settlement agreement on 3 July 2020G with the relevant EPC
Contractor pursuant to which the EPC Contractor has paid SAR 299.6 million as liquidated damages for delays of
early power delivery and project commercial operation date (“PCOD"), together with the issuance of the project
taking-over certificate (“PTOC").

e The Offtaker for the Sohar IIl IPP in Oman has collected liquidated damages amounting to SAR 155.6 million as
a result of delays (other than associated cost overrun due to such delays) due to a gas supply delay by MOEM, a
back-feed delay, a load restriction delay and EPC-related issues. The liquidated damages will be recovered from
the EPC Contractor pursuant to the back-to-back arrangements.

*  The Zarqa IPP in Jordan was delayed in achieving the commercial operation dates for both its Phase | and Phase
Il components by 212 days and 120 days respectively, as result of incident taking place with respect to the
Interconnection Facility of the offtaker, fuel nozzles issues and various delays by the EPC contractor. Off taker
charged Zarga IPP for full delay for both Phase | and Phase Il and withheld SAR 78.8 million as Delay liquidated
damages from Zarqa revenue invoices, which Zarqa did not accept. As far as the EPC contractor is concerned,
Zarqga has reached settlement with the contractor at SAR 87.4 million as the full and final amount of liquidated
damages and has executed a Settlement Agreement after obtaining the lenders consent.

e The Noor Il CSP IPP in Morocco was delayed in achieving its initial commercial operation date by 109 days as a
result of a suspension of the Heavy Transport Permits by local authorities in Morocco caused allegedly by floods
which prevented the delivery of the heavy equipment in question, delays in the submission of final detailed
design documents, acceptance of the plant by the offtaker and issues with respect to the construction quality.
The liquidated damages have been paid to the Offtaker. In case of any non-recovery of these liquidated damages
from the EPC Contractor, the Group will be exposed to the non-recovered amount of the liquidated damages.

*  The commissioning of the Salalah IWP in Oman initially failed due to faulty equipment causing significant delays.
The Project has encountered failures Variable Frequency Drive (MV VFD) in its Medium Voltage Pumps associated
with the Sea Water Intake in quick succession. Preliminary technical investigations into failed SWIP MV VFD units
have identified a common fault during normal operation, exhibiting catastrophic failure across all phases on the
secondary (output) side transformer windings. In October an additional SWI pump MV VFDs failed. The latest
sea water intake pump VFD transformer failure occurred on 26th November with the mode of failure of the
same nature as the previous transformer failures. The third-party assessment identifies the underlying cause of
transformer failure as thermal overload due to inadequate cooling. Replacement transformer components have
been redesigned to address this mode of failure. Due to the long lead time of the replacement components,
the Plant was operated with the existing sea water intake pump transformers with the known defects in order
to mitigate as far as practical, the delay to the commissioning works and the Programme. As a result of this
mitigation measure, it was anticipated that a sea water intake transformer would likely fail again when operated at
the higher loads/full capacity during testing. This is what occurred and the recent failure was not unexpected. The
replacement sea water intake transformers of modified design have completed manufacturing and have been air-
freighted to Oman on 30 December 2020G and 1 January 2021G. The Salalah IWP achieved COD on 12 March 2021
with a delay of 5 months. The delays resulted in a loss of 5 months revenue amounting to SAR 31.1 million, which
caused liquidity issues for the Project Company as there was lower cash for debt service and other fixed expense.
The Project Company had to use the working capital facility to ensure liquidity.

*  Unit-1 of the Hassyan IPP in the UAE achieved COD on 19 November 2020G with a delay of 263 days as a result of
the suspension of work due to a boiler foundation settlement issue, an onsite fatality in 2019G, the investigation of
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the manual shop weld quality for the Unit-1 boiler and delays in construction due to COVID-19 related impacts on
availability of equipment and labor. Delays in Unit-1 has resulted in cost overruns of SAR 465 million. Settlement
agreements have been signed with the Offtaker and with the EPC contractor. However, there remains an un-
recovered amount of SAR132 million comprised of liquidated damages and cost-overruns. Such amount shall be
borne by ACWA Power pursuant to the settlement agreements. As of May 2021G, construction delays for Unit-2
and Unit-3 are also expected by 146 days for Unit-2 and 114 days for Unit-3 and no delays expected for the Plant
COD.

e The Mourjan IPP and Hajr IPP in KSA are currently experiencing potential delays in the initiation of planned
commissioning activities for backup fuel operations readiness. Though the plants have been operating since the
first quarters of 2018G and 2015G, respectively, the commissioning for backup fuel has extended beyond the pre-
agreed number of days due to the failure or delay of back-up fuel verification processes in accordance with the
design and specifications. Such delays or failures may result in extended outages, lower availability, the claims for
liquidated damages (and for Mourjan IPP also the release of the security bond (amounting to SAR 100 million) over
the Project which is subject to back-to- back arrangement with the EPC Contractor) if the back-up fuel operations
are not available in a timely manner. With respect to Hajr IPP, the Group entered into an agreement with the
offtaker to complete back up fuel commissioning through five groups, pursuant to which the offtaker will pay
to the Group a fixed amount for commissioning each group and provide 100 days availability for commissioning
and testing for remaining five groups. The commissioning of first unit (GT-11) of the Mourjan IPP was started in
February 2020G and the unit was operated to base load with ASL, however due to issues in combustors during
gas start up, the ASL commissioning was stopped. The Project Company requested the EPC contractor to submit
a proper RCA that confirm the reliability of change over process to proceed with commissioning which was duly
submitted. A meeting was held between the Project Company, offtaker and EPC contractor as per settlement
agreement. Discussions are ongoing with the EPC contractor and offtaker on way forward for ASL testing.

In addition, in the event that the EPC Contractor is either unable to meet the performance specifications or it delays the Project
construction beyond the long stop date agreed under the relevant Offtake Agreement, the offtaker may exercise its right
to reject the plant, which could lead to a loss for the Group's equity invested and expected equity returns. Notwithstanding
that EPC contracts provide a right to the Project Company in such circumstances to reject the plant from the EPC Contractor
and claim liquidated damages suffered from the EPC Contractor, the Project Company, and the Group under any guarantees
it has provided to the contractors, may nevertheless suffer a residual loss. Damages that may be claimed from the EPC
Contractor are also subject to certain liability caps agreed in the EPC contracts, which could result in the Project Company
not being fully compensated for its losses. In addition, in the event of the insolvency, administration, winding-up of, or similar
actions undertaken with respect to the EPC Contractor, the Project Company may incur penalties under the relevant Offtake
Agreement in relation to any material delays in the completion of the Project, incur additional expenditure in procuring a
new EPC Contractor and/or suffer total loss of the Project and investment, should the offtaker be entitled to (and chooses to
exercise) termination of the relevant Offtake Agreement. In the case of the EPC Contractor’s insolvency, the Project Company
may not be able to recover the contract price already paid to the EPC Contractor. While the Project Company can enforce the
performance bond posted by the original EPC Contractor to recover its losses, performance bonds typically vary in value from
10% to 30% of the EPC contract’s value and may not therefore fully cover the EPC Contractor’s outstanding liabilities to the
Project Company, and there is also a risk that the Project Company is not able to collect on the bank guarantees issued on
behalf of EPC’s either due to the local regulations of certain countries or failure of the banks. Consequently, the occurrence of
such an event would impact the Group's reputation and would have a material adverse effect on its business, financial position
or results of operations. For further information, see 2-3-1“ Risks related to the repayment of the Group's debt, availability of
financing or equity funding or the requirement to make additional equity investments”and 2-4-1“3 Risks related to the Group
and its companies entering into transactions with Related Parties”.

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the above risks may be further exacerbated. The governments of various countries
imposed a nationwide lockdown, while gradually relaxing restrictions during the period. Due to this lockdown, construction
work on the Group's Projects slowed by a matter of weeks or months (depending on the individual Project). After the lockdown,
the Group cannot be certain of the speed of normalization for the construction and development of its Projects, or of the
availability of labour, components and materials, over a period of time. The Group may also lose key workers contributing to
such construction and development due to COVID-19 related illness and related issues. The Group has received force majeure
notice from certain of its suppliers due to COVID-19. In response to these notices, the Group has already issued force majeure
notices to certain of the Group's offtakers, including SEC, SWPC, DEWA, MASEN, NEPCO, Tawreed, etc. which are currently under
consideration by the offtakers. For a discussion of the risks to the Group’s business associated with the COVID-19 pandemic, see
2-4-1" Risks related to the COVID-19 pandemic”.

The Group, to some extent, faces for all of its under-construction projects and some of its projects in advanced development
a geographic concentration of EPC contractors given most of these contractors are Chinese companies. However the Group
diversifies its EPC contractors by a mix of Chinese government-owned and publicly listed entities whose guarantees are usually
supported by their parent company when required.

The occurrence of any of the above factors during the construction phase of a project (and which are not adequately addressed
through insurance or in the relevant EPC contract through liquidated damages or some other form of compensation) will
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significantly delay the completion of the project, require the payment of liquidated damages by the project company, and
deprive it of its forecasted revenues or materially impact the Group’s reputation, any of which would have a material adverse
effect on its business, financial position and results of operations.

2-1-4 Risks related to the Group’s growth strategies

The Group is exposed to risks relating to its various growth strategies, which include the development of greenfield project,
the development and operation of mega-projects, the acquisition of brownfield assets and a focus on renewable projects as
explained further below. For more information on the Group’s growth strategy, see Section (4-4) (“Company - Strategy”) As of
18 May 2021G, the Group has 13 Projects in advanced development (see Section (4-6-2-4) (“The Company - Projects”)). During
the advanced development phase of a project, which is a phase beginning from the awarding of preferred bidder status, the
Group may be exposed to additional risks relating to these developments and acquisitions.

The Group is exposed to risks relating to its growth strategy in greenfield projects

The development of greenfield projects forms an important aspect of the Group’s growth strategy and such development
projects in general place significant demands on the Group’s management, financial and other resources and requires it to
continuously develop and improve its operational, financial and internal controls, and to continue to empower its management,
recruitment and administrative capabilities. In particular, ongoing expansion within the Group’s current or target markets
increases the challenges involved in financial and technical management, recruitment, training and retaining sufficiently
skilled technical and management personnel and developing and improving internal administrative infrastructure (see also,
2-2-10 “ Risks related to senior management’s experience in managing a publicly listed company “ and 2-4-9 “ Risks
related to the Group not being in compliance with applicable labour laws and regulations and/or if not being able to
retain existing key senior management personnel or other key skilled employees or continue to attract and employ key
personnel with the suitable skills and experience”). Moreover, the Group is exposed to the risk that it may underestimate
the actual costs associated with the development of greenfield projects during the bidding process for such projects, as well as
associated risks accompanying the development and construction of such projects. The Group has booked a provision based
on Management judgement and estimation of the projects’ success rates and historical average success rates. Provisions for
development costs amounted to SAR 50.8 million in 2019G and increased to SAR 142.9 million in 2020G (see also 2-1-2 “ Risks
related to the Group'’s delays in the development of Projects and/or in achieving the financial close “ and 2-1-3 “ Risks
related to the delays, cost overruns and quality of workmanship issues in the construction of the Group’s Projects when such
delays, overruns and quality issues are not covered under its EPC contracts”). In addition, in cases where the Group expands
into new jurisdictions and/or geographic regions it may become subject to increased challenges and risks, including those
relating to novel regulatory regimes, unfamiliar commercial, labor and bureaucratic environments, bribery and corruption
and uncertainty regarding the legal framework under which the Group’s Offtake Agreements will be subject (See also 2-4-
11" Risks related to the Group conducting a significant amount of its business in countries, including developing countries,
which present significant risks that could adversely impact the Group’s business, results of operations, and financial condition
and reputation” and 2-4-12 “ Risks related to the Group not being able to detect money laundering, bribery and other illegal
or improper activities fully or on a timely basis, which could expose it to liability and harm its business or reputation”). In
certain markets, including both in those where the Group may currently have memoranda of understanding with the relevant
government or where the public power policy is less clearly defined, the Group will be exposed to a risk that the offtaker could
reverse its decision to award a Project to the Group arbitrarily or as a result of influence by competitors of the Group.

The Group’s growth is dependent upon its ability to meet the aforementioned challenges successfully and may require
significant expenditure and allocation of valuable management resources. The inability to manage such growth effectively
may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business prospects, financial position, results of operations and reputation.

The Group is exposed to risks relating to its growth strategy in developing and operating major new
projects such as the Jazan IGCC project and the Neom Green Hydrogen

The Group faces particular risks relating to its investments in strategic mega-projects, such as the Group’s investment of a
25% stake in the greenfield advanced development project Jazan Integrated Combined Cycle Complex (“Jazan IGCC") which
is expected to have a total project cost of approximately USD 11.7 billion as a joint venture partner with Saudi Aramco (20%)
and Air Products (55%), a producer of industrial and specialty gases, performance materials and chemical intermediates, and
for which the Group will also be an O&M operator for the 3800 MW power generation units located within the Jazan IGCC
complex. For further information about this project, see Section (4-6-3-1) (“The Company—Selected Significant Projects”).
Unique investments such as these, given their size and complexity, could pose additional risks, including:

e The Jazan IGCC is expected to have a power generating capacity of 3800 MW (of which approximately 1500 MW
will be used internally by the Jazan IGCC and by Aramco’s nearby Jazan refinery and the remaining approximately
2300 MW will be provided to the electrical grid). The Jazan IGCC is technically complex by its design as it involves a
conversion of the fuel (provided by the fuel supplier) to gas through a gasifier, air separation unit, acid gas removal
system and hydrogen purification units and then the gas is used to run the power block. This integrated system is
more complex than a typical gas fired power plant which results in a different operating complexity.
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*  TheJazanIGCC will operate on synthetic gas and such non-typical fuels may result in lower heating values, leading
to variability in combustion turbine performance, inaccuracy of projects, control degradation effects, increased
maintenance, lower availability and complications arising from resorting to back-up fuel such as diesel.

e The Group is required to maximize the level of “local content” for the Jazan IGCC after its third year of operation
(approximately 50%), which may potentially lead to increased costs if the Group is unable to procure its suppliers
and resources locally.

Furthermore, part of the Group'’s growth strategy includes diversifying its business through opportunities in “Green Hydrogen”
(i.e. the creation of hydrogen for use in hydrogen energy cells via the separation of hydrogen and oxygen from water via
electrolysis using electricity generated from renewable energy sources). In July 2020G, the Group announced its equal joint
venture participation through a joint development agreement with Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. (“Air Products”) and
NEOM (a planned smart city and economic zone in north-western Saudi Arabia) in a project to produce and deliver carbon-
free hydrogen to power buses and trucks around the world, notably using the renewable energy produced by the Group,
together with its joint venture partners, to generate the power used for producing green hydrogen (using green ammonia
as the transportation vector). The project is based on proven technologies and will include the innovative integration of a
combined capacity of approximately four gigawatts of renewable power and preliminary estimations indicate an expected
cost of project of over USD 5 billion but the actual costs will be ascertained as the project progresses further. Air Products is the
Offtaker of the project with a contract term that is consistent with the Group's typical average life of contracts seen in the UAE
and Morocco, and the project is expected to achieve COD in 2025G. For further information on this agreement, see Section
(12-8-5) (“Legal Information - Summary of Material Related Party Contracts and Transactions - Early Works Contract for
the NEOM Project”). Overall financing of the project is under discussion among the partners to identify the optimum financing
arrangements including project financing. The Group expects the project to be funded via a combination of debt and equity in
line with its business model. Investments in Green Hydrogen producing facilities, and in particular large-scale first-of-its-kind
investments, such as this may subject the Group to increased challenges and risks, including:

e Variability of renewable energy resources in relation to the proposed output levels, in line with any renewable
energy-based project.

*  EPC arrangements may not cover all possible construction related risks including risks of delay or performance
shortfall.

* Integration risks of the upstream renewable energy production with the downstream electrolysis and process
elements to produce green hydrogen and (to the extent required in a project) the associated transportation
vector.

*  Counterparty risks in relation to the non-sovereign offtake and various project agreements.

*  There can be no guarantee that the Group will be able to successfully meet such challenges or adequately manage
such risks in relation to any Green Hydrogen growth initiatives.

The Group is exposed to risks relating to its growth strategy relating to acquisitions of brownfield
assets

The Group has in the past, as in the case of the Barka 1 IWPP, the Salalah 2 IPP - Existing and the power generating assets of
CEGCO, acquired and expects in the future to pursue the acquisition of, brownfield operational projects. Because the acquisition
of such projects, which could include privatizations, entail extensive negotiations, due diligence procedures and material
equity contributions, taking a number of assumptions on demand, costs, optimization of people or tax regimes, significant
investment of the Group’s resources would be required. Moreover, pursuing and completing acquisitions involve a number of
risks, including but not limited to the following:

*  Theimpact of unforeseen risks, such as contingent or latent liabilities relating to the acquired business, that may
only become evident once the acquisition is completed. While the Group carries out due diligence on prospective
acquisitions, the Group may not discover all potential operational deficiencies in such projects.

e The failure to properly integrate and manage the acquired business or an inability of the Group to achieve any
anticipated benefits or cost savings from acquisitions in the time frame anticipated, or at all.

*  Unforeseen legal, regulatory, contractual, labour or other issues arising out of the acquisitions and risks associated
with operating acquired assets in developing countries. The Group will not have a history of owning and operating
acquired businesses, despite these business potentially having significant operating histories at the time the
Group acquires them, and possibly limited or no experience operating in the country or region where these
businesses are located. In particular, where the Group enters into new markets, it may be exposed to a variety of
economic, political, legal and operational risks with which it has little experience (see 2-4-2 “Risks related to the
Group being exposed to political risks in the countries and regions where it operates”).

e Significant unexpected liabilities or contingencies arising from the acquisitions, for which the Group is not fully
indemnified.
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* In addition, activities related to such acquisitions may consume a significant portion of Management'’s focus
and could increase its leverage. Future acquisitions may be large and complex, and the Group may not be able
to complete them as planned or at all. There can be no assurance that the Group will be able to negotiate the
required agreements, overcome any local or international political, social or commercial opposition, such as due to
protectionist or environmental concerns, and obtain the necessary licences, permits and financing. Any significant
opposition, along with adverse political developments, could hinder or prevent the Group’s development of any
acquisitions.

The Group is exposed to risks relating to its growth strategy in renewable projects

Moreover, a major component of the Group’s strategy is targeting both greenfield and brownfield renewable projects. The
Group expects its investments in renewable projects, and as a result the proportion of its operations and financial results
owed to such renewable projects will increase as a result of the Group executing the PIF renewables program in Saudi Arabia
pursuant to a strategic framework agreement entered into between the Company and PIF (consisting of approximately 70%
of renewable projects in Saudi Arabia being developed from 2020G to 2030G) for which ACWA Power has development rights,
for more information, please see Section (12-8-4) (“Legal Information - Summary of Material Related Party Contracts and
Transactions - Strategic Framework Agreement) of this Prospectus. As a result of this aspect of the Group’s strategy, the risks
to the Group relating to the development and operation of renewable energy projects may increase. See 2-2-2“ The generation
of electricity from renewable energy sources depends heavily on suitable meteorological conditions (including favourable
supply of wind or solar resources) over which the Group has no control”).

In addition, there is no guarantee that the Group’s business will grow to reflect its strategy and business plan or even match its
historical trajectory. Growth depends on several factors, including, amongst others, the Group's ability to manage its business
effectively, retain key employees, nurture collaborative relationships with the Group’s multiple partners (such as offtakers, EPC
Contractors, joint venture partners, lenders and suppliers), continuing to bid for and win project contracts and the existence
of favourable market conditions for the growth of the Group’s business. If market conditions become unfavourable or if the
Group fails to effectively manage the multiple factors that affect its growth or if the Group is unable to properly and profitably
manage or integrate future expansions or achieve its growth objectives in line with its strategy and business plan, this could
have a material adverse effect on its business, financial position and results of operations.

2-1-5 Risks related to competition and pricing

While most of the Group’s power, water desalination and steam generation projects conduct business under long-term
sales contracts (with offtakers usually contractually obligated to purchase electricity or desalinated water or steam for the
duration of, and at rates that are contractually determined at the outset of, such contracts), the power and water desalination
markets for new projects in which the Group operates are characterized by numerous competitors (including both domestic
and international), many of whom may have extensive and diversified developmental or operating experience and financial
resources similar to or greater than the Group. Furthermore, in recent years, the power and water desalination industry has been
characterised by strong and increasing competition with respect to both greenfield assets and acquiring existing generation
assets from both domestic and international competitors. Please see table (4-3) (“Bid Winning Ratios”) for more details on
the Group winning rations. In certain markets including the UAE with respect to the DEWA V PV and KSA with respect to the
Jubail 3A IWP (for which the Group has achieved lower tariffs bids), the competition has caused, and may cause in the future,
reductions in prices contained in new power and/or water desalination contracts and, in many cases, have caused higher
acquisition prices for existing assets through competitive bidding practices. The evolution of competitive electricity markets
and the development of highly efficient power and water plants have also caused, and are anticipated to continue to cause,
price pressure in certain power and water markets where the Group sells, or intends to sell, power and water. Moreover, some
competitors may enter into joint bids on specific projects with an equipment provider, which may limit the Group’s ability to
secure equipment from such provider for the project. In addition, competitors in certain jurisdictions may engage in collusion
and other unfair competitive business practices which may distort the fairness in competition during the tender process, while
the Group itself may become the target of antitrust laws which reduce its ability to compete for bids in jurisdictions where it
holds a more dominant market positions (see also 2-4-7 “ Risks related to the change, adverse interpretations or inconsistent
enforcement of the Zakat laws and regulations in countries in which the Group's projects operate ).

In addition, any sudden material increase in the demand for power or desalinated water in any of the regions in which the
Group's projects operate, including as a result of macroeconomic factors (see 2-1-11 “ Risks related to global and regional
macroeconomic factors “), could result in it being unable to meet such demand either through its existing or new projects
which may result in an increased number of competitors entering the markets.

Increased competition in the future resulting in competitive pressure on pricing and terms for acquisitions or power and water
purchase agreements or causing the Group to lose out on involvement in major projects as discussed above could have a
material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial position and results of operations.
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2-1-6 Risks related to financial difficulties that Offtakers under Offtake
Agreements or similar agreements with the Project Companies may
experience

As of the date of the Prospectus, all of the Projects operate on the basis of a single offtaker (except for the Kirikkale CCGT
IPP, which does not currently have any offtakers, Khalladi Wind IPP, which has multiple offtakers, that has pre-committed
to purchase the actual power, and/or desalinated water output and steam and the available capacity to generate power or
produce desalinated water of such Projects at the relevant tariffs. This is a common model in the independent power and
desalinated water sectors.

As of June 1, 2021G, out of the total Group’s portfolio of 64 Projects, the offtakers in 57 projects are either government or
government-related entities such as SEC, SWPC, and SPPC in KSA (9 projects in 2020G), Masen in Morocco (6 projects), NEPCO
in Jordan (7 projects (including 4 assets in CEGCO)), and OPWP in Oman (9 projects) and others, where government guarantees
or any other form of guarantees are provided in case offtakers experience financial difficulties and are unable to fulfil their
obligations under the agreement (except for SEC and Masen as explained below). For example, for the year ended 31 December
2020G, 46% of the Group’s revenue is attributable to the government-related offtakers in Saudi Arabia, 21% to NEPCO (5 projects
in 2020G), 17% to OPWP (3 projects) and 14% to Masen (6 projects). Although no direct government credit support is provided
in relation to the invoice of SEC and termination payment obligations under its PPAs for three of the Groups'major Saudi Projects
)Hajr IPP, Mourjan IPP and Rabigh IPP(, if the credit rating of SEC is downgraded below BBB/Baa2 from either one of Standard &
Poor’s, Moody’s, or Fitch for a period of 6 months and the Government has reduced its shareholding in SEC to below 51%, SEC is
contractually required to procure credit support prior to the end of six months from an acceptable financial institution having a
rating of at least A-/A3 from any of Standard & Poor’s, Fitch or Moody’s or from the Government. Even when the Group offtakers
do obtain government guarantees for their obligations under the relevant Offtake Agreements, the relevant government may
not always have a credit rating that is investment-grade. For instance, historically, Omani projects benefited from a guarantee
which fell away once OPWP attained a threshold credit rating (Baa2); however, as of June 2020G, OPWP has undergone a
credit downgrade to a non-investment grade of Baa3 according to Moody’s. Whilst the government of Oman guarantees to
Barka performance by OPWP of its payment obligation under the Barka 1 PWPA payable now or in the future to Barka, the
government of Oman does not provide an equivalent guarantee to Barka with respect to the Barka 1 expansion. Furthermore,
the government of Morocco, whose credit rating is Baa1 according to Moody’s, has also provided a support letter pursuant to
which it has an obligation to procure that Masen will honour its obligations to make termination payments for the transfer of
the plant to Masen upon termination of the PPA (including termination for (i) APO’s, APO II's and APO ll's default; and (ii) Masen’s
default (which includes Masen’s failure to make payment under the PPA for a period of 60 days or more)). There is no government
or other external credit support provided for Masen's payment obligations under the PPA. In relation to Dzhankeldy and Bash,
the purchasers’ obligations with respect to the guaranteed amounts in the PPA is secured by an irrevocable and unconditional
bank guarantee issued by an Uzbek bank, which long term credit rating shall be no less than the credit rating of Uzbekistan.

As at June 1, 2021G, 11 out of 13 governments providing such guarantees held non-investment grade credit ratings (for the
avoidance of doubt, the support letters provided by the government of Morocco covering Masen’s obligations under the APO,
APO Il and APO Ill PPAs are one level short of a guarantee). As a result, for a majority of Projects the credit risk with respect to
the Group’s offtakers depends on the creditworthiness of such offtakers or the governments which provide credit support to
such offtakers (or to the Projects directly), either directly or indirectly through other means, and there is therefore the risk that
the relevant offtaker is unable to make the relevant payments under the Offtake Agreement, which may result in a default
under the relevant Offtake Agreement. For example, as of 31 December 2020G, the off-takers for the Group's Projects were
in arrears on payments amounting to SAR 304.597 million for the CEGCO Assets (which such payments are the subject of a
back-to-back payment mechanism under the fuel supply agreement) dating from August 2017G to August 2018G, and, with
respect to payments relating to the Group’s assets in Oman (which such payments are not the subject of a back-to-back payment
mechanism under the fuel supply agreement), amounting to SAR 162 million in relation to the Salalah 2 IPP dating from Jan
2020G, SAR 148.3 million in relation to the Barka 1 IWPP dating from Jan 2020G, SAR 859.9 million in relation to the Ibri IPP dating
from May 2019G and SAR 847.2 million in relation to the Sohar Il IPP dating from May 2019G). In addition to the fuel payment
delays noted, as a result of the COVID-19 crisis, the National Electricity Power Company (“NEPCO”) in Jordan has delayed the
revenue payments partially in Zarga from February 2020G to December 2020G, in Mafraq PV IPP and Risha PV IPP from February
2020G to September 2020G. In addition, in CEGCO as well NEPCO has been delaying revenue payments with a two-month lag
since December 2019G. As of the date of this Prospectus, all delayed payments have been settled by NEPCO. These risks can
increase in times of a deteriorating and volatile global economy.

In addition, under most Offtake Agreements, if the agreement is terminated prior to the expiry of its term (other than where
the Project Company is in default (see 2-1-7 “Risks related to the Offtakers’ right to terminate the Project Companies’
Offtake Agreements for certain defaults by the Project Company” below)), the relevant Project Company is intended to
be compensated through the payment of a termination payment by the offtaker, which would cover the payment for the
outstanding debt but may be lower than the amount of capacity and output payments that would otherwise be made by
the offtakers pursuant to the relevant agreements. In such circumstances, there is a risk that an offtaker may either refuse to
pay such amount or is otherwise unable to make this payment, which could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
business, financial position and results of operations. Furthermore, while a majority of the Group’s compensation payments from
offtakers have the benefit of government credit support, there can be no assurance that the applicable government will honour
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or otherwise have the financial capability to honour its credit support or other obligations which could have a material adverse
effect on the Group’s business, financial position and results of operations. In addition, there can be no guarantee that certain
offtakers will not breach their purchase obligations or seek to renegotiate the terms of their respective Offtake Agreements,
for example if a wholesale power market is introduced in the relevant jurisdiction which could potentially create alternative
competitive power purchase opportunities for such offtakers. For example, following the expiry of the PPA and WPA periods for
the Group’s Projects in Oman in December 2021G, these Projects may become subject to a spot market which is likely to result in
a lower tariff than was previously the case. If any of the above risks were to materialise, this could materially and adversely affect
the Group's business, financial position and results of operations.

2-1-7 Risks related to the Offtakers’ right to terminate the Project Companies’ Offtake
Agreements for certain defaults by the Project Company

Under each Offtake Agreement, the relevant offtaker is entitled to terminate such agreement in case of an event of default by
the relevant Project Company, if it is not cured within agreed cure periods. The events of defaults include:

*  Afailure by the Project Company to achieve the Project’s commercial operation date before the long-stop date, which
can give a right to the offtaker to terminate the agreement (see 2-1-3 “ Risks related to the delays, cost overruns and
quality of workmanship issues in the construction of the Group’s Projects when such delays, overruns and quality
issues are not covered under its EPC contracts”).for example, Noor lll CSP IPP may experience delays in its commercial
operation date ahead of its respective long-stop date in the event if it does not meet minimum contractual generation
in order to achieve Full Commercial Operations Date scheduled in Q4 of 2021G, which could lead to Project Company
being in default and possibly to the eventual termination of its Offtake Agreements.

e Certain of the Group's Projects are required to list the respective Project Companies’ shares in the relevant stock
exchanges by an agreed timeframe. A failure to timely complete an IPO process of a Project Company or to obtain
waivers from offtakers or lenders (under financing agreements) for an extension of this process, as may be the case
for the lbri IPP, which was required to complete its IPO by January 2020G under the project founders’ agreement, the
Sohar 3 IPP which was also required to complete its IPO by January 2020G under the project founders’ agreement, and
the lbri 2 PV IPP;

e Awilful and unexcused failure by the Project Company to operate or make available the relevant plant for a specified
period of time (usually more than two consecutive days);

e Afailure by the Project Company to obtain and maintain approvals required under law or by its regulator in order to
perform its obligations under the Offtake Agreement.

e Afailure by the Project Company to pay any liquidated damages within specified time periods;
*  The Abandonment of the Project;

* A material breach (as determined and identified under the relevant agreement) by the Project Company of its
obligations under the Offtake Agreements that is not remedied within the specified time period;

*  The average availability of the plant being below the pre-agreed threshold during the time period specified in the
Offtake Agreement (see 2-1-1 “Risks related to the expected levels of available capacity to generate electricity and/or
produce desalinated water, or the expected levels of electricity actually generated or water actually produced, at the
Project Companies may not be achieved or maintained”);

*  Failure to execute and bring into effect certain ancillary agreements, such as the case for the non-completion of a water
connection agreement by Barka with the Public Authority for Electricity and Water in Oman which has resulted in the
Offtaker being able to terminate the PWPA for failure by Barka to enter into the water connection agreement; and

e Termination of certain agreements (such as the relevant land use agreements and connection agreements) as a result
of default by the Project Company and the Project Company’s insolvency or similar events.

In addition, certain of the Group’s Projects may also be subject to even more demanding operation-specific termination grounds
which may create an even more elevated risk of termination for such Projects. For further information, see “2.1. Risks related to
RAWEC not complying with stringent operational requirements and being subject to bespoke, operation-specific termination
grounds”.

In the case of such termination, the relevant Project Company will lose its sole source of revenue. Moreover, in most instances, if
the offtaker exercises its right to take over the Project following such termination of the Offtake Agreement, the purchase price
will not include the return of equity and the Project Company’s shareholders will suffer a loss of investment in that Project. In
some instances, the offtaker may also call in the construction and performance bonds and claim damages.

For example, APO (a Group Company) entered into a PPA with Masen (as the Offtaker) for Noor | CSP IPP which includes certain
risks related to the termination of the agreement, such as Masen’s right to claim damages from APO upon the termination of
the PPA for APO’s default, and Masen'’s assumption of physical control over the plant following the PPA termination not being
conditional on the termination payment having already been made, exposing APO to becoming Masen'’s unsecured creditor. For
further details, please see Section (12-7-1-8) (“Legal Information — Summary of Material Contracts - APO").

If a termination of an Offtake Agreement in the case of an event of default by any Project Company occurs, this could adversely
affect the Group's business, financial position and results of operations.
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2-1-8 Risks related to the extent to which profits of the Group and the oper-
ation and maintenance of the Group’s Projects depend on the costs
of operation and the performance by the operation and maintenance
contractors of their contractual obligations

Other than certain projects (namely, Risha PV IPP, Mafraq PV IPP, Zarqga IPP, NOOR Ill CSP IPP (in the case of NOOR Il CSP, the EPC
contractor is required to provide the O&M service until FCOD, at which point NOMAC will take over as the O&M contractor),
NEOM Green Hydrogen Project and Jazan IGCC which are either operated by third parties completely, the Project Companies
themselves or by NOMAC with a third-party as joint venture/ consortium), the Project Companies rely on various Group entities
for the operation and maintenance of certain plants and, in particular, NOMAC and, for the Group’s projects in Jordan, CEGCO.
Therefore, in such projects any decrease in available capacity due to the fault of the Project Company or the O&M contractor
would effectively result in loss of revenues for the Group.

With respect to the Projects in which NOMAC or CEGCO is the operation and maintenance contractor or subcontractor (or
where NOMAC is the investment partner (i.e. owns a stake in the relevant operation and maintenance contractor)), there is a risk
that the operation and maintenance costs incurred by the Group, which include costs related to labour, chemicals, operations,
maintenance and repair, spare parts, imported electricity and environmental compliance, may be significantly higher than
estimated, in particular because not all of the Group’s costs are fixed for the duration of the operation and maintenance contract,
including costs related to labour, operations, maintenance and repair. For instance, material deviations (20% of the revenues in
2020G) includes the additional costs that NOMAC may incur in relation to its O&M agreement with a Project Company in KSA as
a result of the increase in the price of fuel. Accordingly, NOMAC (in its capacity as operator) estimated its potential loss for the
remaining term of its O&M agreement with the Project Company to be approximately SAR 20,836,217. Additionally, NOMAC
has submitted recovery claims for the alleged additional services provided since commissioning the commissioning of the
project in relation to operation and maintenance services, amounting to approximately SAR 29,000,000. Such deviations may
vary from project to project depending on O&M activities allocated for a given year e.g. major plant outages or overhauling. For
example, the net service costs (O&M cost) of NOMAC in 2018G amounted to 19.9% and have decreased from 24.8% in 2019G
to 21.4% in 2020G as a percentage of O&M revenue as a result of the completion of construction contracts and decreasing
number of projects in the design phase. On the other hand, employee related cost increased from SAR 343.9 million in 2018G
to SAR 397.3 million in 2019G to SAR 441.1 million in 2020G due to increase in number of employee under direct cost as more
projects commenced operations. Furthermore, any increase in costs, to the extent not compensated by adjustments under the
contract for fixed and variable operation and maintenance revenues, could impact the profitability of the Group and, as a result,
could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial position and results of operations.

In addition, although in case of non-compliance with the obligations under the operation and maintenance agreements
by the operation and maintenance service providers, they will be liable to liquidated damages and certain penalties, such
amounts may not be sufficient to cover any decrease in revenue or additional expenses incurred. As a result, in instances where
NOMAC or CEGCO is the operation and maintenance service provider (or where NOMAC is the investment partner) any material
non-performance by such contractor or subcontractor under the respective operation and maintenance agreements or any
significant penalty for underperformance payable by operation and maintenance service providers could have a material
adverse effect on the Group's business, financial position and results of operations.

Moreover, there can be no assurance that the Project Companies will be able to replace any defaulting operation and
maintenance contractor or subcontractor, with a suitable replacement in time to avoid breaching related obligations under
the respective Offtake Agreements and/or the Project’s financing agreements. Furthermore, in case of non-compliance with
the obligations under the operation and maintenance agreements by NOMAC (or its subsidiaries) or CEGCO, such agreements
could be terminated or not renewed which could also have a material adverse effect on the business, financial position and
results of operations of NOMAC or CEGCO. In addition, because NOMAC in particular has specific knowhow and experience
operating and maintaining the Group’s Projects, there can be no assurance that any replacement service provider would be
able to adequately or timely meet the operational requirements of any given Project, if at all, or that the agreement with any
such replacement service provider would be on favourable terms. As a result, the business, financial position and results of
operations of such Project Company could be materially adversely affected.

Furthermore, the risk of non-compliance by operation and maintenance contractors or subcontractors may be enhanced as
a result of disruptions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. See 2-4-1“ Risks related to the COVID-19 pandemic” for further
information.

Should any of the above risks materialise, it could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial position and
results of operations.
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2-1-9 Risks related to RAWEC not complying with stringent operational re-
quirements and being subject to bespoke, operation-specific termi-
nation grounds

In captive plants, such as those owned by RAWEC (the Project Company and a Subsidiary of the Company) which are the
Petro-Rabigh IWSPP and Petro-Rabigh (Phase 2) IWSPP, which are plants built by, or at the request of, an industrial user for its
exclusive consumption, the offtaker’s main or sole source of power, desalinated water and steam is usually the captive plant,
thus exposing the offtaker to a significant power, desalinated water or steam supply risk. Consequently, the offtaker may
attempt to mitigate this risk by negotiating an Offtake Agreement that prescribes stringent operational requirements and
bespoke, operation specific termination grounds that (i) are generally more onerous on the plant owner than would ordinarily
be seen in non-captive plants (e.g. more limited allowances of unplanned shutdowns) and (i) if exercised, would result in
the project shareholders losing their equity investment and/or future equity returns (because the offtaker may be able to
terminate the underperforming Project, take control of the plant and remedy the issue in question). Such contractual terms
customary for captive projects are included in the amended and restated water and energy conversion agreement between
RAWEC and Petro-Rabigh entered into on 18/5/1436H (corresponding to 9 March 2015G), which was subsequently amended
on 28/6/1439H (corresponding to 14 February 2018G) (together, RAWEC WECA), covering the Petro-Rabigh IWSPP and Petro-
Rabigh (Phase 2) IWSPP. For more information on this agreement, see Section (12-7-1-5) (“Legal Information - Summary of
Material Contracts - Water and Energy Conversion Agreement”). For instance, contrary to other IWPPs, RAWEC has no right
to terminate the RAWEC WECA, and to receive any corresponding purchase price payment, in the following circumstances:
(i) expropriation or (ii) prolonged event of force majeure. This risk is compounded by the fact that RAWEC does not receive
revenue protection with respect to expropriation and other events such as acts of war, invasion, armed conflict etc. which may
(in comparable regional IWPPs) afford the project company revenue relief.

The Petro-Rabigh IWSPP experienced two unplanned shutdowns of the plant in December 2012G and in September 2013G
(at which time the Group did not have a controlling stake in RAWEC) over a rolling 365-day period, each of which caused a
complete shutdown of the plant, which resulted in the Project’s offtaker, the Rabigh Refining and Petrochemical Company
(“Petro-Rabigh”), issuing a notice of intention to terminate the RAWEC WECA. The Group, along with the other shareholders
in RAWEC at that time (who have now exited RAWEC), subsequently entered into an ownership restructuring agreement
with Petro-Rabigh, which also resulted in various adverse financial consequences for RAWEC and its shareholders (excluding
Petro-Rabigh) which led to a SAR 750 million penalty on the Project from Petro-Rabigh and the implementations of other
technical changes aimed at ensuring future performance and avoiding further shutdowns. While the termination of the
RAWEC WECA did not materialize in this particular case as a result of the restructuring agreement, given the strict operational
requirements and Petro-Rabigh-friendly termination grounds under the RAWEC WECA, there is a risk that there may be future
unplanned outages of the facility, which may again entitle Petro-Rabigh to terminate the RAWEC WECA (which may result in
the Group losing its equity investment and returns in the Petro-Rabigh IWSPP and Petro-Rabigh (Phase 2) IWSPP). As of 31
December 2020G, the contribution of RAWEC to the Group's total revenues is 24%. The occurrence of such an event would
negatively impact the Group's revenues and could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial position and results
of operations.

For further information on the Petro-Rabigh IWSPP, the Petro-Rabigh (Phase 2) IWSPP and RAWEC, see Section (4-6-3) (“The
Company - Project Descriptions”.

2-1-10 Risks related to the extension and non-extension of the Offtake
Agreements of the Group’s build, own, operate (“BOQO”) projects

Certain of the Group's Projects are built on a BOO basis (see Section (4-6-2-4) (“The Company - Projects”) for a further
discussion). Most of the Group’s BOO projects are built on leased land and, in the case of Projects being subject to such
leases, following the expiry of a Project’s Offtake Agreement the relevant Project Company will be required to dismantle the
plant and remove it from the project site with an obligation to return the land to its original condition at time of handover
in line with the relevant land lease agreement, unless the Offtake Agreement is extended by the mutual agreement of the
offtaker and the Project Company. Consequently, the relevant Project Company will only be able to generate revenue from
the operations of the plant for the initial term of the Offtake Agreement (unless the relevant market is liberalised so as to
permit power to be sold on a merchant basis or the Offtake Agreement is extended). Any extension to the term of the Project
will ultimately depend on the requirements of the offtaker at the relevant time and will require an extension of the fuel
supply agreement (where relevant) or a new fuel supply agreement, and an extension of the land lease agreement and
may be on terms different to those signed in the initial contract such as increased cost. Such extension may be dependent
on the relevant country’s policy with respect to the use of fossil fuels for generation of electricity and it is possible that a
significant change in such policy may result in no further extension of the relevant PPA or PWPA. For instance, KSA's recent
announcement around gradually transitioning to renewable energy would potentially have a negative impact on the future,
and likelihood of renewal, of the Offtake Agreements of fossil fuel conventional plants such as the Group’s plants (Petro-
Rabigh IWSPP, Rabigh IPP, Shuaibah IWPP, Shuqaiq IWPP). Accordingly, the Group is exposed to risk that it may be unable to
extend the PPAs of existing oil fired plants in KSA portfolio which may result in incurring additional depreciation expense.
This risk is higher for high carbon emission-based fossil fuels, such as oil and coal. In addition, where the governments of the
relevant projects have provided guarantees on the obligations of the offtaker for the initial term of the offtake agreement,
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there is no visibility on whether the governments would extend the government guarantee in the event of an extension
of the initial term. The relevant Project Company is exposed to a risk that it may be unable to seek compensation from the
government if the relevant Offtaker breaches its payments obligations under the Offtake Agreement.

In addition, the life of the Group’s assets may be shorter than what is previously assumed and resulting in a reassessment
of useful life and thus a higher depreciation or impairment. During 2020G, the Group performed a detailed exercise to re-
assess the useful life of the plants owned by its subsidiaries and joint ventures, pursuant to which it was determined that the
economic life of some of these plants was shorter than the useful life due to advancement in technology which has resulted in
the availability of more efficient new plants in the industry. The estimates for useful life for solar PV plants was reduced from 30
to 25 years, for the SWRO plants from 40 to 30 years, for the CSP plants from 35 to 30 years and for the natural gas plants from 40
to 35 years. As a result, the Group decided to align the plants existing useful life to its re-assessed economic life with effect from
1 January 2020G. This change in accounting estimates has resulted in higher depreciation expense than before amounting to
SAR 82.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2020G.

The Group’s business model does assume certain operations beyond the initial Offtake Agreement term for all BOO projects
and there is a risk that the value attributed to this (arising from demand, tariff or efficiency) may be lower than estimated, which
results in risk of impairment and reduction in the net income of the Group.

Furthermore, at the end of the life of the Project or the expiry of the Offtake Agreement, the plants will need to be
decommissioned, thereby reducing the relevant Project’s ability to make available and generate power or desalinated water
or steam, which would adversely affect the Project Company’s business and financial position, including its ability to fund
short-term financial demands or repay outstanding debt and may result in the recording of impairments in relation to the
affected Project. For example, the Bowarege IWP is a BOO project whose Offtake Agreements has expired. Although the Offtake
Agreement of the Bowarege IWP was renewed following its initial expiration, there has been no renewal since 2017G and the
plant is no longer operational. The Group recorded impairments of SAR 70.4 million in relation to the Bowarege IWP in 2018G
and SAR 87.7 million in 2019G. The Barka 1 IWPP, Barka 1 Expansion IWP and Barka 1 Phase Il Expansion IWP are all BOO projects
whose Offtake Agreements are due to expire on 31 December 2021G. As a result of these expirations, Barka is participating in
Power 2022 Procurement Process run by OPWP to secure a new PWPA for the Barka 1 IWPP.This procurement process has taken
longer than anticipated and the outcome is not yet known. Due to these uncertainties around contract renewals in relation
to the Barka Projects, the Group recorded impairments of SAR 309.7 million in 2018G, SAR 789.5 million in 2019G and SAR
130 million in 2020G in relation to these assets and, unless the situation regarding such renewals is clarified by the offtaker,
the Group expects to continue to record such impairments noting that the management has implemented the impairment
decision assuming that the Offtake Agreement will be renewed until 2038G and despite this, there are uncertainties on the
renewal of the agreement to that date, and due to such uncertainties in addition to the uncertainties around the cash flows that
may arise from the market, additional impairment may be required. The Group has also recorded a reduction in Barka's goodwill
of SAR 7.5 million in 2020G. Furthermore, if Barka is not successful in securing a new PPA under the Power 2022 Procurement
Process, it may operate its plant in the alternate spot market proposed to be implemented by OPWP from 2022G onwards.
However, due to the lower tariff proposed under Power 2022 Procurement Process and lack of clarity on scarcity payments in
the proposed spot market and in case of non-renewal of PPA, Barka may end up defaulting on its loan repayment obligations
(the outstanding amount as of April 2022G is SAR 236.2 million) unless it is able to reschedule its outstanding loans. The Group’s
CEGCO assets are also all BOO projects whose Offtake Agreements are due to expire between 2021G and 2025G, with the
associated generating units being decommissions through 2025G. The Group recorded an impairment loss of SAR 63.9 million
in 2018G in relation to the CEGCO assets and further impairments may be recorded if any of their Offtake Agreements are not
renewed or extended when they expire.

Moreover, if the Project Company enters into negotiations with the offtaker to extend the Offtake Agreement, it may incur
expenses in relation to refurbishing such plant, which will need to be recovered from the operations during the extension term
of the Offtake Agreement. In addition, there can be no assurance that the extension or renegotiation of the Offtake Agreement
will occur on favourable terms, including the potential for the renegotiation of the tariff, or at all. In particular, the decrease in
prices for new power and/or desalinated water generating technologies, including renewables, could impact the likelihood
that Offtake Agreements associated with older technologies such as conventional fuels are renewed and agreed between
offtakers and the Group, or if such Offtake Agreements are renewed and agreed, it may be at prices lower than the expiring
tariff. This would impact the initial assumption of valuation of the Group and may result in recording of impairments in relation
to the affected project.

If any of the above risks occur, this could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial position and results
of operations.

2-1-11  Risks related to global and regional macroeconomic factors

A significant component of the Group’s performance depends on the condition of Saudi Arabia’s economy, as 65% of its
operating income (before impairment loss and other expenses) in the year ended 31 December 2020G was generated by
its Projects in Saudi Arabia. The contribution of the oil sector to Saudi Arabia’s GDP continues to be substantial despite the
Government'’s diversification policies in recent years. Future volatility in the price of oil could adversely affect Saudi Arabia’s
economy and the Saudi Arabian government’s budget. Certain of the Group’s Projects Companies where the Offtaker of
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the relevant plant is SWPC are beneficiary of financial support from the Saudi Arabian government in the form of sovereign
guarantees to back the obligations of the offtakers. As such, any effect on the availability of financial support to SWPC from
the Saudi Arabian government as a result of volatility in oil prices could have a material adverse effect on the relevant Project
Companies’ business, financial position and results of operations.

In particular, starting from March 2020G, the price of, and demand for, petroleum products declined significantly in response
to the ongoing spread and economic effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, including significant government measures being
implemented to control the spread of COVID-19 such as lockdowns, quarantines, travel restrictions or bans, business shutdowns
and physical distancing requirements. In addition, crude oil prices continued to decline as a result of the effects of the COVID-19
pandemic and a disagreement in oil production cuts among OPEC+ members in March 2020G. Although crude oil prices have
since rebounded, the average prices remain below those of the third quarter of 2019G. The collapse in oil prices during the
COVID-19 pandemic resulted in a decline in oil revenues in Saudi Arabia from SAR 594.4 billion in 2019G to SAR 413.0 billion in
2020G. Principally as a result of this decrease in oil revenues, Saudi Arabia’s budget deficit reached SAR 293.9 billion in 2020G
(Source: Ministry of Finance of Saudi Arabia, Quarterly Budget Performance Report. Q4 of FY 2020G). Should oil prices remain
low, decrease further or there be additional volatility in oil prices for these or other reasons, it could affect the availability of the
aforementioned support from Saudi Arabian government in the form of sovereign guarantees to back the obligations of the
offtakers and have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial position and results of operations in Saudi Arabia.

In addition, the Group is exposed to power generation and water desalination markets for its future growth as well as following
the end of relevant Offtake Agreements. As such, the Group’s future business and financial performance is heavily dependent on
the level of demand for power and desalinated water, and therefore directly dependent on the general economic performance
and consumer demand in any given country where the Group operates or seeks to operate. The Group's forecasts of future
demand for power and desalinated water in the regions that it operates in are based on a number of assumptions including,
but not limited to, demographic analysis, consumption patterns, GDP growth, government subsidy availability and population
growth, and may be inaccurate.

In addition to its operations in Saudi Arabia, the Group operates in a number of countries in the Middle East and North Africa,
including the Arab Republic of Egypt (“Egypt”), Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan (“Jordan”), Kingdom of Bahrain (“Bahrain”),
the Kingdom of Morocco (“Morocco”), the Sultanate of Oman (“Oman”) and the United Arab Emirates (“"UAE"). The Group’s
operating income in 2018G and 2019G from the Projects in these countries was, in Jordan: 10% and 17% respectively;
in Morocco: 8% and 11% respectively; in Oman: 12% and 16% respectively; and the in United Arab Emirates: 2% and 18%
respectively. In 2020G, approximately 66% of the Group’s operating income was concentrated in its Projects in these countries
(Jordan: 11% of operating income; Morocco: 2% of operating income; Oman: 19% of operating income; and the United Arab
Emirates: 2% of operating income; the Group’s operations in Egypt and Bahrain came online at the end of 2019G and the
respective projects remain under construction as of 31 December 2020G). In addition, the Group has operations in Turkey
(accounting for -1%, 3% and 0% of operating income in 2018G, 2019G, and 2020G). It is developing operations in the Republic
of South Africa, the Socialist Republic of Vietnam, the Republic of Uzbekistan, Azerbaijan, Pakistan, Bangladesh and the Federal
Democratic Republic of Ethiopia. The Group’s performance is closely linked to the economies of the countries in which it
operates, and, in particular, the Middle East and North Africa. Any economic growth, and therefore growth in demand for the
Group's projects, is significantly affected by changes in global and regional economic, financial and political conditions that are
outside of the Group's control, including as a result of the imposition of trade barriers, sanctions, boycotts and other measures,
significant variations in the exchange rates applicable to currencies in the regions in which the Group operates, trade disputes
and work stoppages, particularly in the transportation services industry, and acts of war, hostilities, natural disasters, epidemics
or terrorism. See also, 2-4-2 “Risks related to the Group being exposed to political risks in the countries and regions where
it operates”), and in particular between Saudi Arabia and other jurisdictions, could impact the Group’s ability to effectively
operate or expand in such countries.

Furthermore, in December 2019G, the emergence of COVID-19 has resulted in significant disruption to the global economy.
The decline in the economic activity of the MENA region, Europe, the United States, China and other countries as a result
of the COVID-19 outbreak could result in a global economic downturn, which could have a negative impact on the Saudi
Arabian economy in general and the Group’s industry and business in particular (see 2-4-1 (“Risks related to the COVID-19
pandemic”). Should the COVID-19 pandemic adversely affect the Group’s business and financial results, it may also have the
effect of heightening or aggravating many of the other risks described in this “Risk Factors” section.

Following the COVID-19 pandemic, many countries have been discussing the implementation of certain protectionist measures
in order to aid their economies. For example, in May 2020G, several key political groups within the EU Parliament voiced their
support for new rules that would allow the EU to retaliate in certain trade areas, such as services and intellectual property,
without WTO ruling. Implementation of such protectionist measures could lead to a worsening of trade relationships between
countries and, as a result, have a negative adverse effect on the global economy.

Any such occurrence could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial position and results of operations.
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2-1-12  Risks related to co-investors and joint venture partners

The Group typically bids for projects through co-investment or joint venture structures with other partners who range from
local companies based in the jurisdiction of the project to multinational project corporations. Although the Group aims to
implement governance measures, such as veto rights for the Group on significant actions, in order to align interests, where the
Group does not control or manage a project, the project may not be operated effectively or in the Group’s best interests. The
partners of certain joint ventures are also offtakers, and in some cases debt financing for the joint venture is provided by the
offtaker as well, there can be no assurance that such partners will act in the best interests of the rest of the shareholding group.

In addition, co-investments and joint ventures expose the Group to risks customary in joint venture arrangements including,
but not limited to, the risk that the co- investor or co-joint venturer breaches local law (including anti-corruption/bribery, tax,
etc.) or defaults on its obligations to the detriment of the Group. The Group’s reputation may be adversely impacted if a partner
breaches local laws, and the Group may become liable under the arrangements if its affiliates breach local laws (see also 2-4-12
“ Risks related to the Group not being able to detect money laundering, bribery and other illegal or improper activities fully or
on a timely basis, which could expose it to liability and harm its business or reputation”) or the Group may have to make cash
contributions if their partners are unable to comply with their funding commitments. Many of the shareholders’ agreements
that the Group or its Subsidiaries (including, the intermediate holding companies that have ownership interests in the Project
Companies and in which the Group may have a minority or majority stake depending on the Project) have entered into, state
that in the event of a material breach by a shareholder of the terms of such agreement, the defaulting shareholder is required to
sell ata discount its stake in the Project Company to the non-defaulting shareholders (resulting in an increase in shareholding for
the non-defaulting shareholders). See Section (12-7) (“Legal Information — Summary of Material Contracts”). If the Group,
its subsidiaries or such intermediate holding companies commit such a material breach of such shareholders’ agreement, it
could result in the Group, its subsidiaries or such intermediate holding companies being forced to sell its stake in the relevant
Project Company at a discount, which could significantly reduce the Group’s direct or indirect stake in, or result in the Group
ceasing to be a direct or indirect shareholder in, that particular Project. For instance: (i) under the SAMAWEC shareholders’
agreement, if a shareholder defaults under the terms of the shareholders’ agreement, the other shareholders may, in some
circumstances, be able to purchase the shares from the defaulting shareholder at 75% of the fair market value; (i) under the
SGA shareholders’agreement, if a shareholder defaults under the terms of the shareholders’agreement, the other shareholders
may in some circumstances be able to purchase the shares from the defaulting shareholder at 80% of the fair market value
of the shares; (iii) under the SIWEC shareholders’ agreement, if a shareholder defaults under the terms of the shareholders’
agreement, the other shareholders may in some circumstances be able to require the defaulting shareholder to sell all its
shares to the non-defaulting shareholder at 50% of the fair market value; (iv) under the APBP shareholders’ agreement, if a
shareholder defaults under the terms of the shareholders’ agreement, the other shareholders may, in some circumstances, be
able to purchase the shares from the defaulting shareholder at 90% of the fair market value of the shares; (v) under the JWAP
shareholders’agreement, if a shareholder defaults, the other shareholders may in some circumstances be able to purchase the
shares from the defaulting shareholder at market value; (vi) under the Jazan shareholders’ agreement, if an event of default
has occurred any of the shareholders will be entitled to require the defaulting shareholder to sell to them the defaulting
shareholder’s interests and shareholder’s loans at 75% of the valuation of the defaulting interests; and (vii) under the Project
Founder’s Agreement Electricity Holding Company has an option to purchase 40% of the shares in Sohar from the shareholders
during any time between (a) the fourth anniversary of Sohar’s incorporation date and (b) the date ending after three years and
six months from (a).

In addition, in certain shareholders’ agreements that the Group has entered into, a defaulting shareholder could, as an
alternative to the above, be required to purchase the shares held by the non-defaulting shareholders at a premium to the fair
value of such shares (in most cases, the valuation is carried out by an independent third party specialized in this regard). If the
Group or another shareholder of a Project Company were to be such a defaulting shareholder, the Group could incur significant
expense in purchasing such shares at a premium and may become a sole shareholder in such Projects which could significantly
increase its contractual obligations to contribute equity into the Project. For instance: (i) under the SAMAWEC shareholders’
agreement, if a shareholder defaults under the terms of the shareholders’ agreement, the other shareholders may, in some
circumstances, require the defaulting shareholder to purchase the shares of the non-defaulting shareholders for fair value; (ii)
under the SIWEC shareholders’ agreement, if a shareholder defaults under the terms of the shareholders’ agreement, the other
shareholders may, in some circumstances, be able to require the defaulting shareholder to buy all of the non-defaulting shares
at 150% of fair market value.

In addition, under the shareholders’ agreements that the Group, its subsidiaries or the intermediate holding companies have
entered into, while the distribution policy is enshrined in the shareholder agreement and usually articulates the maximization
of distribution, the approval of the Board of the relevant Project Company is required for the Group to receive distributions
of funds from a project. see Section (12-6-1-5) (“Legal Information—Overview of the Group’s Contracts -Shareholders’
Agreements and Joint Development Agreements”).

If any of the above risks materialise, this could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial position and results of
operations of the Group.
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2-1-13  Risks related to potential impairment of the Group’s goodwill or long-
term assets

The Group has invested in its various projects through its direct or indirect subscription for shares in each of the Project
Companies. If any of the Project Companies are required to incur an impairment of any of the long-term assets that it owns
in relation to, amongst others, the plant and machinery of the project, the Project Company may incur losses due to such
impairment. Long-term assets are initially recorded at fair value and are amortised or depreciated over their Economic Lives.
Long-term assets are evaluated for impairment when impairment indicators are present. These indicators may include delays
in the outcome of the new PPA bids and introduction of spot market project in a country as the case in Oman. In assessing the
recoverability of long-lived assets, the Group makes estimates and assumptions about sales, operating margin growth rates,
commodity prices and discount rates based on the Group’s budgets, business plans, economic projections, anticipated future
cash flows and marketplace data. There are inherent uncertainties related to these factors and management’s judgement in
applying these factors. Generally, the fair value of a long-term asset or asset group is determined using an income approach
based on the present value of future cash flows of each asset group and as a result the Group could be required to evaluate
the recoverability of long-term assets if it experiences situations, including, but not limited to, disruptions to the business,
unexpected significant declines in operating results, divestiture of a significant component of the Group’s business or adverse
action or assessment by a regulator. These types of events and the resulting analyses could result in additional long-term
asset impairment charges in the future. For example, in the past, the Group has recorded net impairments in relation to the
decommissioning of certain Projects, including impairments of SAR 63.9 million in relation to Rehab IPP for the year ended
2018G, SAR 789.5 million and SAR 309.7 million in relation to Barka 1 IPP for the years ended 2019G and 2018G, respectively,
SAR 87.7 million and SAR 70.4 million in relation to Bowerage IWP in 2019G and 2018G, respectively Due to delays in the
renewal of the Barka PPA and introduction of the spot market in Oman, additional impairment might be required in Barka. See,
2-1-10"Risks related to the extension and non-extension of the Offtake Agreements of the Group’s build, own, operate
(“BO0”) projects” and Section (6-3-5-2) (“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Position and Results of
Operations of ACWA Power”) Impairment charges could materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, financial
position and results of operations.

The Group's goodwill as at 31 December 2020G is SAR 2.0 billion. In addition, the Group has recognised goodwill relating to
the acquisition of various companies. Goodwill is not amortised, but is evaluated for impairment at least annually, or more
frequently if impairment indicators are present. A potential impairment of goodwill outside of the required annual evaluation
may be required to be performed if there are situations such as deterioration in general economic conditions, change in
operating or regulatory environment, increased competitive environment, negative or declining cash flows or acquisitions
not performing as expected. The Group’s goodwill for as at 31 December 2018G and 2019G is SAR 2.01 billion and SAR 2.00
billion respectively. The decrease of the goodwill for the years 2018G and 2019G was due to the decrease in the goodwill of
APBS 1 and APBS 2. These types of events may result in goodwill impairment, which could have a material adverse effect on the
Group's business, financial position and results of operations.

2-1-14  Risks related to currency movements, including if currency pegs to
the U.S. dollar were to be removed or adjusted or if the euro appre-
ciates against the U.S. dollar and the Saudi riyal, and the changes in
existing and new exchange rate controls and/or restrictions on trans-
fer to foreign investors of proceeds from their investment

As of the date of this Prospectus, the Saudi Arabian riyal, the United Arab Emirates dirham, the Omani rial and the Jordanian
dinar are pegged to the U.S. dollar at a fixed rate of SAR 3.75, AED 3.67, OMR 2.60 and JOD 1.41, respectively, to USD 1. In
addition, the Moroccan Dirham is pegged against the dollar and euro. However, while most of the Group’s projects have
contractual protections for de-pegging, there can be no assurance that future unanticipated events, including an increase in
the rate of decline of the reserve assets of the governments of Saudi Arabia, the United Arab Emirates, Oman, Jordan, Bulgaria
or Morocco, will not lead these governments to reconsider their exchange rate policy and that their respective currencies will
not be de-pegged in the future or that the existing peg will not be adjusted in a manner that adversely affects the Group.
While foreign component related capacity and variable payments in the revenues are indexed to the exchange rate, other
than in Bokpoort CSP IPP and Redstone CSP IPP in South Africa (where the full tariffs are indexed to inflation) and Khalladi
Wind IPP in Morocco (where the tariffs are subject to ONEE tariff inflation), there is no certainty that such indexation covers all
equity returns that are reflected in the actual Capacity Payments received and USD-linked costs incurred. Given the contractual
protection, most of the Group's Project Companies and NOMAC have not hedged their foreign exchange exposures. Therefore,
to the extent not covered by contractual protection, any change in, or removal of, any of these currency pegs for any reason
(including, without limitation, changes in the monetary policies of the Saudi Arabian government, the U.S. Federal Reserve or
the European Central Bank) or other currency movements could expose the Group to foreign exchange risk (which may also be
further enhanced due to exchange rate volatility resulting from the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic), which could have a material
adverse effect on their business, financial position and results of operations.
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In addition, certain of the Group’s operations have a limited portion of expenses, principally related to spare parts, in euro. If the
euro appreciates against the currencies that the Group operates in, the costs of the Group’s operations that have euro exposure
could increase. Such increase could have an adverse effect on the business, financial position and results of operations of the
Group.

Furthermore, in certain markets where the Group operates the Group may not be able to secure appropriate hedging or
protection against the availability and repatriation of foreign exchange in relation to any distributions made by the Project
Company (which may be the currency of the local jurisdiction) to the Group or any monies to be received from or paid to
suppliers and vendors whose contracts may not be Saudi Riyal denomination. For as long as the Group's financial statements
are denominated in Saudi Riyal, any adverse change in the regulatory environment relating to the remittance of such foreign
exchange, in the relevant jurisdictions, could expose the Group to material variations in the foreign exchange rates which could
have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial position and results of operations.

Moreover, the Group may from time-to-time operate Projects in a merchant environment, where the plant sells electricity in
the competitive wholesale power market rather than to a contractual offtaker, in which case the Group may be vulnerable to
market forces and a significant decrease in the price or demand for power or desalinated water or availability of fuel (or an
increase in fuel price thereof) in such market (as a result of macroeconomic factors such as foreign exchange fluctuations). For
example, the Group’s operations in Turkey have been adversely impacted in 2018G by foreign exchange and merchant power
price fluctuations, particularly as a result of the rapid and severe devaluation of the Turkish lira in 2018G, from which it has yet
to recover and which has been further impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. As a result of the deconsolidation of the Kirikkale
CCGT IPP in Turkey the Group is currently no longer exposed to the same level of foreign exchange risk. However, there can be
no assurance that the Group may not become subject to such risks through any Projects operating in a merchant market in the
future. While the Group is not currently operating in any such market, in the future it may be exposed with respect to the Barka
1 IWPP following the expiration of its PPA on 31 December 2021G and the expected introduction of a spot market in Oman in
2022G. As a result of adverse impacts of merchant power price fluctuations, the Group may also be required to make additional
equity investments into an affected project in such market or write-down residual losses in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Additionally, the governments of several countries in which the Group operates, such as Morocco, Egypt and South Africa,
have periodically implemented policies imposing restrictions on the remittance to foreign investors of proceeds from their
investments or restricting the inflow of funds to such countries in order to control inflation, limit currency volatility and improve
local economic conditions. Furthermore, restrictions on transfers of funds abroad can also impair the ability of Group companies
to access capital markets, prevent them from servicing debt obligations that are denominated in non-local currencies and
prevent or delay them from paying dividends to the Group. If any of the Company’s subsidiaries or Project Companies were
unable to make distributions to the Group because of restrictions on the transfers of currencies, the Group would need to
obtain these funds from other sources in the form of loans or others, which funds may not be available on attractive terms. The
materialization of any of these risks could adversely affect the Group’s business, financial position and results of operations.

2-1-15 Risks related to the negative net assets of certain of the Group’s Mo-
roccan projects

The auditor’s general report for the year ended 31 December 2020G indicates that the amount of the net assets of the Noor |
CSP IPP, Noor Il CSP IPP and Noor lll CSP IPP have been negative for each financial year since 2015G. As at 31 December 2020G
the negative amounts for each of the Noor | CSP IPP, Noor Il CSP IPP and Noor Ill CSP IPP were MAD 588.3 million (SAR 246.0
million), MAD 948.2 million (SAR 396.5 million) and MAD 1,210 million (SAR 506.3 million), respectively.

Pursuant to article 357 of Law 17-95 on joint stock companies in Morocco (“article 357”), in the event that the Project’s net
assets were to fall below 1/4 of the Project Company’s share capital amount, the shareholders shall, within three months as
of the approval of the annual accounts that revealed such losses, take a decision as to whether there are grounds for early
dissolution of the Project Company. In the event that the Project Company is not wound-up, the Project Company must before
the closing of the financial year following the one during which the losses occurred, reduce its share capital by an amount at
least equal to the losses that could not be charged to the reserves if its net assets did not amount to at least 25% of the Project
Company’s share capital at such date. However, as of the date of this Prospectus, the Projects have not regularized the situation
within the aforementioned deadline and, consequently, any interested person can request from a competent court that the
Project Company be dissolved.If the Projects would become subject to dissolution, this would adversely and materially affect
the Group’s business, financial position and results of operations.

2-1-16  Risks related to the Group being subject to certain legal and contrac-
tual requirements to maintain certain levels of localization with re-
spect to personnel, supplies and materials

Many of the countries in which the Group operates, including Saudi Arabia, Oman, the UAE and South Africa, have laws and
regulations which impose requirements on companies to locally source a certain amount of their employees and personnel,
supplies, equipment and materials. MOHRSD of Saudi Arabia established the “Nitagat” Saudization program to provide
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establishments with incentives to hire Saudi nationals. The program assesses an establishment’s performance based on specific
ranges, which are platinum, green (which is further divided into low, average and high ranges) yellow and red. Establishments
that are classified within the platinum and green categories are deemed to be compliant with the Saudization requirements
and receive certain specified benefits, such as the ability to obtain and renew work visas for foreign employees or the ability to
change the profession of foreign employees (except for professions exempted by the Council of Ministers or by Royal Decrees
that are reserved exclusively for Saudi nationals). Establishments that are classified as yellow or red (depending on the extent of
non-compliance with Saudisation requirements) are deemed to be non-compliant with the Saudization requirements and are
subject to certain punitive measures, such as a limited ability to renew work visas for foreign employees or complete inability
to obtain work visas for foreign employees or to change the profession of foreign employees. As a result, if the Group were
to become non-compliant with the Nitagat program or any other laws or regulations aimed at maintaining minimum levels
of local content in its business, it may lose certain benefits to its operations or become subject to punitive measures by the
relevant authorities. For further information, see Section (4-8-2) (“The Company—Saudization”).

Furthermore, the Group’s Offtake Agreements may contain certain additional terms, the breach of which may not constitute an
event of default but may result in penalties or other adverse consequences. For example, the Offtake Agreements for the Group’s
Projects in Saudi Arabia, Oman, the UAE and South Africa require that the Project comply with applicable regulations regarding
the maintenance of minimum levels of localization with respect to employees and procurement of supplies. The failure to
comply with such regulations may give the right to the relevant offtaker to demand penalty payments. If such penalties are not
paid or if the noncompliance is not remedied, it could also result in an event of default under the Offtake Agreement.

If any of the above risks were to materialise, this could materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, financial position
and results of operations.

2-1-17  Risks relating to the Strategic Framework Agreement executed be-
tween the Company and the PIF

On 25 May 2021G the Company and the Public Investment Fund of KSA (“PIF”) entered into a strategic framework agreement
(“Strategic Framework Agreement”) to jointly develop the national renewable energy development projects allocated to PIF,
which comprise 70% of the total national renewable energy projects to be implemented as part of theVision 2030’ program of
the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (the “PIF RE Development Projects”). The Strategic Framework Agreement is expected to expand
the Group’s business and in the renewable energy projects sector and aims to govern the relationship of PIF and the Company
in respect of such projects. For further information regarding this agreement, please see Section (12-8-4) (Legal Information
- Summary of Material Related Party Contracts and Transactions - Strategic Framework Agreement) of this Prospectus.

Under this Strategic Framework Agreement, PIF agreed to allocate the PIF RE Development Projects to the Company. However,
such commitment by the PIF is subject to several conditions, including obtaining PIF’s internal approvals. The agreement is also
subject to any new orders or decisions that may be issued in the KSA that could impact the overall renewable energy program
in a manner that materially and adversely affects the Company’s right to participate in such projects as contemplated in the
Strategic Framework Agreement.

Further, the Company and PIF shall aim to negotiate and agree the path forward with respect to implementing any of the PIF
RE Development Projects. There is no guarantee that the parties will reach an agreement on the allocation of ownership and
the pursual of all the projects.

The Strategic Framework Agreement grants the PIF a unilateral right to terminate the agreement if the Company does not
reach Financial Close for three (3) PIF RE Development Projects by the specified and agreed period. This is not limited to any
specific period of time. As such, if the Company fails to reach Financial Close in any three of these projects during the term
of the Strategic Framework Agreement (which terminates on 31 December 2030G unless renewed by the parties), then PIF
may terminate the agreement. Please refer to Section (2-1-2) (“Risks related to the Group’s delays in the development of
Projects and/or in the achieving the financial close”) for more details on the potential delays in achieving financial close.

If any of the above risks were to materialise, this could materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, financial position
and results of operations.

2-1-18 Risks related to the Red Sea Project

In line with the Group’s growth strategy, the Group has submitted bids in 2020G for PPP packages including power generation
capacity, water desalination capacity, waste management and wastewater treatment facilities for large-scale integrated
community development projects by The Red Sea Development Company (“TRSDC"), for which one of the bids was awarded
in November of 2020G. The Red Sea Project, given its size and complexity, could pose additional risks to the Group, including:

e It may be difficult to find and develop competency amongst the EPC contractors and subcontractors and O&M
providers for the development and operation of fully integrated utility infrastructure of the project.

*  The fully integrated nature of the Red Sea Project (a project that uses several technologies (e.g. PV / BESS / ICE
/ SWRO / STP / DC) which all interact together to operate the project) is expected to present new challenges to
finding the right balance of targeted availability with low capital expenditure and operating costs.
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*  The Red Sea Project is spread over 30K sgkm and there is expected to be 34 different locations for the assets.
This would require adequate oversight and monitoring which may result in the potential for organizational
inefficiencies.

e Thetermination clauses contained in the Red Sea’s project documentation are standard for the industry and similar
to those typically seen with other of the Group’s Projects. However, there is greater performance risk associated
with the Project given that it will have multiple plants in separate sites, as compared to a single-site single-plant
operation at most of the Group’s other assets. The Red Sea Project also introduces the Group to new areas of
operation such as transmission and distribution, sewage treatment, district cooling and municipal solid waste
management that will add correspondingly to performance risk such as guaranteed level of MW and cubic meter.

e The risks of application of liquidated damages for the Red Sea Project are higher than is typical for projects in
Saudi Arabia.

It has been proposed that fuel for the Red Sea Project may have a variable cost linkage to utilization based on the
fact that a percentage of the baseline energy delivered to the offtaker by the Project Company will be generated
by the Project itself. However, there can be no guarantee that the Group will be able to successfully negotiate or
adequately manage such risks given that the price of fuel is a material cost component for the Project and such
fuel price is not a pass-through under the project agreement.

*  The Group is required to maximize the level of “local content” by employing and training Saudi nationals which
may lead to potentially increased costs if the Group if unable to procure its suppliers and resources locally.

If the Group is unable to properly and profitably manage the Red Sea Project in line with its strategy and business plan, this
could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial position and results of operations.

2-2 Risks related to the Group’s Operations

2-2-1 Risks related to critical equipment failure, unplanned power or
desalinated water outages beyond what is contractually permitted,
reduced output and unanticipated capital expenditures

The operation of the Group’s facilities involves risks that include the breakdown or failure of equipment or processes and
performance below expected levels of output or efficiency. Equipment failures and performance issues can stem from a
number of factors, including human errors, lack of maintenance and general wear and tear over time. As a result, many of the
Group's facilities require planned periodic major overhaul activities to avoid unplanned outages, which may also reduce the
expected level of output or efficiency as well as require significant investment costs and expenses by the Group.

The Group had average unplanned outage levels of 6.7%, 8.6% and 2.6% for power, and 3.2%, 4.0%,and 3.2% for water,
respectively of annual declared capacity for power/water in the three years ending 31 December 2018G, 2019G and 2020G.
Unplanned outages of generating units, including extensions of scheduled outages due to mechanical failures or other
problems relating to the Group’s power generation and/or desalinated water or steam facilities, occur from time to time and are
an inherent risk of the Group's business. In the past and as is typical in the power generation and water desalination industry,
all Projects have experienced unplanned outages from time to time due to various equipment failures, such as the total plant
shutdown at the Rabigh IPP in 2019G for approximately three months due to equipment failure which resulted in losses of
SAR 284.6 million. The only outage to have historically resulted in any contractual breaches triggering the offtaker’s right to
terminate the relevant Offtake Agreement was with respect to the Petro-Rabigh IWSPP in 2013G (see 2-1-9 “Risks related
to RAWEC not complying with stringent operational requirements and being subject to bespoke, operation-specific
termination grounds”). Unplanned outages of the Group’s power generation and/or desalinated water or steam producing
units typically increase the Group’s operation and maintenance expenses which may not be recoverable under the relevant
Offtake Agreement and may reduce the Group's revenue as a result of selling fewer MW hours of energy and/or lower cubic
meters of desalinated water or require the Group to incur significant costs (which the Group is unable to pass-through to
customers) as a result of running a higher cost unit. For more information on material unplanned outages, see 2-1-1 “Risks
related to the expected levels of available capacity to generate electricity and/or produce desalinated water, or the
expected levels of electricity actually generated or water actually produced, at the Project Companies may not be
achieved or maintained”).

If such critical equipment failure were to occur, the relevant Project Company and the operation and maintenance contractor
could suffer significant losses due to the costs of repair, the potential loss in revenue during the period when the Project
remains non-operational, the incurrence of liability for liquidated damages and/or other penalties and/or increased insurance
costs. There can be no assurance that losses would be covered adequately by property damage and business interruption
insurance that the Group and the Project Companies have in place. Any such failure will increase power and/or desalinated
water or steam Forced Outage rates, decrease commercial availability and result in additional expenses and a prolonged failure
could impact the reputation of the affected Project Company and the operation and maintenance services provider, each of
which could have a material adverse effect on their respective business, financial position and results of operations.
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In addition, the equipment at the plants, whether old or new, requires periodic upgrades, maintenance, improvement or
repair, and replacement equipment or parts may be difficult to obtain in circumstances when the Project Company relies on a
single supplier and/or a small number of suppliers of equipment or where suppliers become insolvent, including as a result of
disruptions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. The inability to obtain replacement equipment or parts may negatively impact
the ability of the relevant plant to perform and could, therefore, have a material impact on the relevant Project Company’s
business, financial position and results of operations.

Moreover, where certain critical equipment needs to be replaced due to its failure or malfunctioning, this could result in
significant capital expenditure for the relevant Project Company, which may need to be procured by the Project Company
if it is not covered under the supplier’s warranty period or latent defect period or any property damage insurance taken out
by such Project Company with respect to that Project. In the event the total amount of expenditure needed to rectify such
failure exceeds the amount of funds available to the Project Company, including insurance and warranty proceeds, it would
need to seek to raise additional debt or equity funding for the Project, which could have a material adverse effect on such
Project Company’s business, financial position and results of operations. Any unexpected failure, including failure associated
with breakdowns, Forced Outages or any unanticipated capital expenditures at the Group’s power and/or desalinated water
or steam plants, could result in reduced revenue and profitability and jeopardise the ability of the Group's projects to pay their
debt and other obligations and make distributions.

If any of these risks materialise, this would have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial position and results
of operations.

2-2-2 Risks related to the dependency of electricity generation from renew-
able energy sources on suitable meteorological conditions

The Group has invested in various renewable projects that utilise solar or wind resources to generate electricity and may further
invest in renewable energy. The Group has portfolios of concentrating solar power (“CSP”) plants, in operation, construction
or advanced development, in Morocco, South Africa and the United Arab Emirates, photovoltaic (“PV”) plants in operation,
construction oradvanced development in Azerbaijan, Bahrain, Egypt, Ethiopia, Jordan, Saudi Arabia, Morocco, Oman, the United
Arab Emirates and Vietnam and a wind farm in Morocco. See Section (4-6-2-4) (“The Company—Projects”). As of 31 December
2020G, the Group's renewable energy plants represented approximately 4.0% of its total gross capacity in operation, and
19.4% of its total gross capacity including projects under construction and in advanced development. Furthermore, the Group
expects its investment in renewable projects, and as a result the proportion of its operations and financial results owed to such
renewable projects and its exposure to the risks relating to renewable projects, will increase as a result of the Group executing
the PIF renewables program in Saudi Arabia pursuant to a strategic framework agreement entered into between the Company
and PIF (consisting of approximately 70% of renewable projects in Saudi Arabia being developed from 2020G to 2030G) for
which it has development rights. For more information, please see Section (12-8-4) (“Legal Information - Summary of Material
Related Party Contracts and Transactions - Strategic Framework Agreement”) of this Prospectus. See also, Section (2-1-4)
(“The Group is exposed to risks relating to its growth strategies”) and Section (4-5-8) (“The Company—Strong future outlook”).

Production levels for the Group’s solar and wind projects are dependent upon adequate sunlight and wind conditions,
respectively. The Group undertakes research during the developmental phase to assess such conditions. However, these
conditions are nevertheless beyond the Group’s control and can vary significantly from period to period, are subject to seasonal
variations and are difficult to predict. Such variability, as well as general weather conditions and unusually severe weather, may
result in volatility in production levels and profitability. For example, winds exceeding certain speeds may require the Group to
halt its wind turbines or stall its CSP or PV panels. In addition, windiness may be reduced by neighbouring wind farms or other
large structures. Similarly, solar energy projects are dependent on suitable solar conditions and associated weather conditions,
and excessive temperatures may reduce solar energy production. Each of Noor | CSP IPP, Bokpoort CSP IPP, Noor Il CSP IPP and
Noor Il CSP IPP have all been affected due to such conditions which resulted in losses compared to the assumptions of 2020G
annual budget of SAR 3.8 million for Noor | CSP IPP, SAR 9 million for Bokpoort CSP IPP and SAR 18 million for Noor Il CSP IPP
and no losses for Noor Il CSP IPP, which are not material to the Group.

The Group’s businesses forecast electricity production based on normal weather representing a long-term historical average.
Solar and wind resource estimates are based on historical experience when available and on resource studies conducted by
an independent consultant and are not expected to reflect actual solar or wind energy production in any given year. There can
be no assurance that planning by the Group for possible variations in normal weather patterns and potential impacts on the
Group's operations and the Group’s businesses can prevent these impacts or accurately predict future weather conditions or
climate changes.

Any decrease in wind or solar resources for any of the reasons discussed above could have a material adverse impact on the
expected results of operation of the Group’s wind and/or solar Projects.
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2-2-3 Risks related to the significant increase in the price or the interrup-
tion in the provision of fuel

The Group’s thermoelectric plants burn coal, oil and natural gas. While a number of Projects are structured on an energy
conversion basis (i.e. the offtaker is responsible for, or takes risk on, (i) the supply of an adequate amount of fuel to the Project
Company, and (i) the cost of such fuel (usually recovered by the Project Company as a variable cost under its tariff)), and others
are structured on a fuel pass through mechanism (the Offtaker is responsible for the supply of fuel to the Project Company
through suppliers), such arrangement is based on assumed and modelled performance criteria. Therefore, to the extent that
a plant burns more fuel than it technically should for reasons other than those for which it is expressly excused from under
the relevant Offtake Agreement, then the Project Company will have to absorb the additional cost of such fuel. In such a case
of extra fuel consumption (potentially exacerbated by any significant increase to the market price of the fuel, consumables or
energy on which the Group relies) the cost of fuel could have an adverse effect on the relevant Project Company’s business,
financial position and results of operations. Moreover, where the Group's Projects rely on fuel supplied by the offtaker on an
energy conversion basis or by the fuel supplier in a fuel pass through arrangement, the Group is dependent on the continued
ability of such suppliers to meet their obligations under the relevant fuel supply or other contract and may be subject to the
risk of significant disruption to its operations. Unless the disruption is caused by an offtaker or fuel supplier event, this could
have a material adverse impact on the Group's business, financial position and results of operations.

In addition, the Hassyan IPP which is located in the UAE is expected to rely on market supply (i.e. local suppliers) for fuel energy
for its operations. Supplies of fuel for this Project could be affected by a number of possible factors:

* Intheeventthat the local suppliers for Hassyan IPP become unwilling or unable to supply fuel to these businesses,
it may not have any remedies under its respective supply contracts, or available remedies may not be sufficient to
offset the potential incremental costs or reduction in revenues;

*  Prolonged service disruptions or stoppages of fuel transmitted by third parties to this type of project could cause
it to be unable to distribute power to the end users of electricity, in which case if the Group is unable to replace
with new suppliers, the Group may be subject to claims for damages from end users, fines from regulators or
Offtakers and the possible loss of the Group’s concessions;

*  Should a government in a neighbouring country to the UAE decide, for political reasons or otherwise, to curtail or
interrupt the transportation of fuel required by the Group’s businesses to operate; and

*  Where the Group has committed to cover the difference or take up the surplus between two agreed prices with
the current coal supplier during the 25-year period of operations, any difference between two agreed prices (i.e.
reference under the coal supply agreement of the Project as opposed to the coal supplier’s actual prices agreed on
sourcing of such coal) the Group may then be obliged to pay the difference when procured through such supplier.

The loss of significant fuel supply contracts and the inability to replace them on favourable terms (or at all), with respect to
the Hassyan IPP, or the failure by any of the parties to such contracts to fulfil its obligations thereunder, could have a material
adverse impact on the Group's business, financial position and results of operations.

2-2-4 Risks related to the Group’s reliance on its IT infrastructure, which
may fail or be adversely affected by cyber crimes

The Group is heavily reliant on an uninterrupted operation of its information technology (“IT") infrastructure that includes,
amongst others, complex and sophisticated computer, telecommunication, supervisory control, data processing, data
acquisition and data monitoring systems. If the Group’s IT infrastructure, including its back-up facilities and emergency recovery
procedures, used throughout its business including its highly automated plants, were to fail or become subject to disruptions
for any reason, such failure could lead to significant increased costs (to repair the plant), reductions in available capacity and
output and critical data at one or more Project Companies, which could result in losses for Project Companies. This risk could
be enhanced due to the Group's Projects in some cases making up a part of critical national infrastructure which could as a
result become the target of politically motivated actors, including by way of physical attacks on assets or cyberattacks which
could disrupt the Group’s IT infrastructure and which may not be completely covered by the force majeure clauses in its Offtake
Agreements or insurance policies (see also 2-2-6 “Risks related to the force majeure events such as health crises (including
the COVID-19 pandemic), fire, floods, earthquakes, tsunami, sandstorms, explosions, acts of terrorism or sabotage or
other events outside of the Group’s control”).

In addition, remote working during the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown in Saudi Arabia and elsewhere has and continues to
put additional strain on the reliability of the Group’s IT infrastructure. Moreover, there is a risk that the IT security systems
set up by the Group to help prevent cyber attacks or leaks of sensitive information could be affected by cyber crimes. In
addition to adversely impacting business operations, a failure in the Group’s operations monitoring systems (which focus on
plant availability, activity and efficiency, operational oversight, health and safety, and compliance with environmental laws
and regulations) could lead to non-compliance with permit requirements and the imposition of fines or penalties. If any of
these risks materialise, this would impact the Group’s revenues and would have a material adverse effect on its business,
financial position and results of operations. For more information on the Group’s IT infrastructure, see Section (4-6-4-2) (“The
Company—Information Technology”).
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2-2-5 Risk related to the Group’s inability to maintain the quality of opera-
tions and reputation

The Group's ability to operate its existing projects in an efficient manner in accordance with the relevant requirements,
successfully tender for new projects and maintain its good relationship with its various partners is dependent on its ability
to maintain high standards of operations, health, safety and environmental compliance, and efficiently manage its projects
and quality of management personnel. There is no certainty that such standards will be maintained in the future. There is
also a possibility that the Group's operations may be adversely affected if there is any environmental damage, or bodily
harm to employees of the Group, a Project Company or any other party, or to members of the public due to the activities of
the Group or the relevant Project Company. Any occurrence of environmental damage or loss of life or serious injury to the
Project Companies’employees as a result of any breach of applicable safety legislation may result in a disruption of the Project
Companies’ operations or cause reputational harm, and significant liability could be imposed on such Project Companies for
damages, clean-up costs, penalties and/or compensation as a result (see also 2-4-4 “ Risks related to violations by Project
Companies of health, safety and security standards”).

There is also a strong possibility that the Group’s reputation will suffer in the event of any adverse impact on the government
of a country or that country’s utility services as a result of the activities of the Group or the relevant Project Company in that
country. In addition, if the Group suffers such reputational damage either inside or outside the countries in which it operates,
it may be unable to win new customers. Any such occurrence would have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business,
financial position and results of operations.

2-2-6 Risks related to the force majeure events such as health crises (in-
cluding the COVID-19 pandemic), fire, floods, earthquakes, tsuna-
mi, sandstorms, explosions, acts of terrorism or sabotage or other
events outside of the Group’s control

The Group's facilities and business operations could be adversely affected or disrupted by force majeure events such as health
crises (including the COVID-19 pandemic (see also 2-4-1" Risks related to the COVID-19 pandemic”)), fire, floods, earthquakes,
tsunami, sandstorms, explosions, acts of terrorism or sabotage or other events outside of their control. Any catastrophic loss of
the use of all or a portion of one of the Group’s key power generation and/or water desalination or steam plants due to such
events, whether short- or long-term, could prevent the Group from carrying out its business activities at the affected location
or significantly impact operations. Furthermore, severe weather incidents could damage components of the Group’s facilities,
and replacement and spare parts for key components may be difficult or costly to acquire or may be unavailable. Some of the
Group’s most significant contributors to historical operating income include Marafiq IWPP, Rabigh IPP, Shuaibah IWPP, Petro-
Rabigh IWSPP, Shugaiq IWPP, Qurayyah IPP and the CEGCO Assets, and a catastrophic loss of any of these projects would have
material negative impact on the Group. In addition, this risk could be enhanced due to the Group's Projects in some cases making
up a part of critical national infrastructure which could as a result become the target of politically motivated actors, including
by way of physical attacks, acts of terrorism, sabotage, cyber-attacks or similar acts on the Group's Projects and which may not
be completely covered by the force majeure clauses in its Offtake Agreements or insurance policies. Insurance policies may not
be adequate to cover all losses arising in the event of a catastrophe at one of the Group’s plants, see also Section (2-2-8) (“Risks
related to obtaining sufficient insurance coverage for the risks associated with the Group’s respective operation”).

For example, the development of Zarga IPP was delayed for two months as a result of a cable and seal explosion caused by a
mistake in installation by the offtaker, the Mafraq IPP was delayed for 11 months as a result of windstorms that damaged the
trackers and solar panels, the generation of early power at the lbri IPP was delayed seven months as a result of delays in the
EPC related issues and delays in gas supply by MOG and the actual commercial operation date was delayed 39 days as a result
of grid system capacity restrictions during the final commissioning and testing and the Sohar IIl IPP was delayed four months
as a result of an acceptance test delay due to the inability of LTSO (OETC) to arrange for the export of electrical power. The
forgoing event has resulted in a total delay of 65 days. The above events have resulted in total loss in the project Company level
in account for the delays resulting in liquidated damages, increase in the project’s cost and loss of revenues of SAR 78.8 million
for Zarqa IPP, SAR 45.9 million for Mafraq IPP, SAR 444.7 million for lbri IPP and SAR 260 million for Sohar Il IPP.

The Group is currently seeking relief under the Offtake Agreements in this respect, but there is no guarantee that the Group
will be successful in doing so. For additional details on these delays, see Section (2-1-3) (“Risks related to the delays, cost
overruns and quality of workmanship issues in the construction of the Group’s Projects when such delays, overruns and
quality issues are not covered under its EPC contracts”). There can be no guarantee that the Project Companies’and/or the
operation and maintenance provider’s operations will not, in the future, be disrupted by such events.

The occurrence of any such events may materially disrupt or damage a key Project facility, which could adversely impact the
affected Project Company’s ability to operate the relevant plant and generate revenue to the extent the Project Company
is not otherwise protected by property damage and business interruption insurance, or pursuant to the cost and revenue
protection provisions of the relevant Offtake Agreement, or it cannot, for any reason, successfully recover the proceeds from
the relevant insurers, and ultimately could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial position and results
of operations.
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2-2-7 Risks related the Group’s power generation and/or water desalina-
tion or steam plants, fuel suppliers, contractors and certain of the
Group’s development Projects being subject to varying degrees of
unionisation, which may disrupt operations or delay completion of
construction projects

Certain of the Group'’s employees in South Africa and Jordan are represented by a labour union or are covered by collective
bargaining agreements. In the event that the Group’s union employees strike, participate in a work stoppage or slowdown
or engage in other forms of labour strike or disruption, the Group would be responsible for procuring replacement labour or
the Group could experience reduced power generation and/or water desalination or steam production, outages or impact on
construction activities. The Group's ability to procure such labour is uncertain. For example, there was an employee union strike
in April 2012G in the plants owned by CEGCO in Jordan. While CEGCO managed to operate the plants without interruption
during this period and a settlement agreement was signed subsequently, there is a risk that the employee union could go on
strike and make more demands. As of the date of this Prospectus, there have been no disruptions to operations in relation to
this strike.

In addition, as the Group expands into more jurisdictions where unionisation is prevalent, the likelihood of this risk materialising
could increase. Additionally, even in non-unionised jurisdictions, employees could withhold their services for a variety of
reasons including demands of higher pay or revised terms and conditions of employment. In addition, local labour unions in
the markets where the Group operates may increase the cost of, and/or lower the productivity of, the Group’s power generation
and/or water desalination or steam production Projects where employees’demands for higher salaries and favourable benefits
are not met and they become discouraged from working in the plants. The Group may also be subject to labour unavailability
and/or increased labour union requirements due to multiple simultaneous projects in a geographic region. Should any of these
risks materialise, this could materially and adversely impact the Group’s business, financial position and results of operations.

The Group can give no assurance that future labour union or collective bargaining action may not significantly disrupt the
Group's operations or delay construction of the Group’s development projects. Strikes, work stoppages or the inability to
negotiate future collective bargaining agreements on favourable terms could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
business, financial position and results of operations.

2-2-8 Risks related to obtaining sufficient insurance coverage for the risks
associated with the Group’s respective operations

There are inherent risks in operating a power generation and/or water desalination or steam production Project such as natural
disasters, fire, earthquakes, explosions, sabotage, acts of terrorism or similar events which, if they occur, can cause significant
personal injury or loss of life, severe damage to, and destruction of, property, plant and equipment or contamination of, or
damage to, the environment, which may result in the affected Project Company and/or operations and maintenance provider
being named as a defendant in lawsuits asserting claims for substantial damages, environmental clean-up costs, personal injury
and fines and/or penalties. There can be no assurance that the industry standard insurance cover that the Group, each Project
Company and operations and maintenance provider currently maintain will be sufficient or effective under all circumstances
and against all hazards or liabilities to which the Group, the Project Companies and/or operations and maintenance provider
may be subject. For more information on the nature of the insurance model of the Company, see Section (4-6-6-7) (“The
Company - Insurance”). The Company has six different insurance policies, which are all valid as of the date of this Prospectus,
and all Group companies have procured, and renew in a timely manner, the insurance coverage that is customary in similar
projects, for more information on the Company’s insurance policies, see Section (12-9) (“Legal Information - Insurances”).
A claim for which the Group, the Project Companies and/or operations and maintenance provider are not fully insured or
insured at all could have a material adverse effect on the Group, the affected Project Company’s and/or the operations and
maintenance provider’s business, financial position and results of operations.

The business interruption insurance held by the Group is meant to cover loss of revenues from such interruptions. Nevertheless
there is a residual exposure carried by the Project Companies in the form of deductible periods lasting around 45- 60 days and
a minimum deductible amount. Furthermore, the timing of the payment for the insurance claims is in the subsequent period
which may have an impact on the Project Company'’s cashflows in the current period. The Projects have working capital facilities
to cover this shortfall in the payments to mitigate its effect on the cash flows. There can be no assurance that the Group’s
insurance coverage will be sufficient to cover all losses arising from any or all risks to which the Projects may be exposed. The
Group also cannot guarantee that it, the Project Companies and/or the operations and maintenance services providers will be
able to renew existing insurance cover on commercially reasonable terms, if at all.

In addition, there can be no assurance that the Group's insurance will be sufficient or effective under all circumstances and
against all hazards or liabilities to which the Group may be subject to. Due to rising insurance costs and changes in the insurance
markets, the Group cannot provide assurance that insurance coverage, specifically insurance cyber insurance, will continue to
be available on terms similar to those presently available to the Group or at all. Any losses not covered by insurance could have
a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial position or results of operations.
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2-2-9 Risk related to the credit default exposure of ACWA Reinsurance

ACWA Reinsurance, which is the captive re-insurance arm of the Group, only reinsures risks relating to Project Companies in the
Group. The Project Companies typically seek insurance from local insurers in the jurisdictions of their operation/incorporation.
ACWA Reinsurance then offers such local insurers reinsurance packages, either directly or through other insurers/reinsurers. In
respect of all reinsurance which it writes, ACWA Reinsurance purchases its own reinsurance protection from other investment
grade international reinsurance companies on terms that pass on all the reinsurance risks to its reinsurers. If the Group changes
the strategy for the captive to become a risk retaining captive, then the risk profile of the captive will change and this could
result in the captive taking losses in the future. As a result of this change in strategy, this may have a material adverse impact
on the financials, profit and cash, of the company. The international reinsurance is spread between multiple investment grade
reinsurers to minimise the risk on ACWA Reinsurance. However, in the event an insurance claim is not paid by the international
reinsurance company, due to an insolvency event of the international reinsurance company, then ACWA Reinsurance
would need to pay the claim thereby resulting in ACWA Reinsurance carrying the credit default risk of the investment grade
international reinsurance company from which ACWA Reinsurance has purchased such reinsurance protection. In such an
event, if ACWA Reinsurance is required to pay the claim it could have a material adverse effect on ACWA Reinsurance and in
turn the Group’s business, financial position and results of operations.

2-2-10 Risks related to senior management’s experience in managing a pub-
licly listed company

Sinceits incorporation, the Company has been operated as a privately held company and, accordingly, the senior management
have limited experience in managing a publicly listed company complying with the specific laws and regulations pertaining
to public companies listed in Saudi Arabia. In particular, the regulatory oversight and reporting obligations imposed on public
companies will require substantial attention from the senior management and may divert their attention away from the day-
to-day management of the Group in order to rapidly invest in the appropriate governance and compliance infrastructure, and
attract, empower, motivate, and retain the professionals able to ensure governance and compliance in a manner meeting and
exceeding legal requirements. There can be no assurance that senior management will be successful in this transition, which
could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial position, results of operations and reputation. Non-compliance
in a timely manner with the regulations and disclosure requirements imposed on listed companies will expose the Company
to regulatory sanctions and fines. The imposition of fines on the Company could have a material adverse effect on the Group's
business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects.

2-2-11  Risks related to the Company’s reliance on the performance of, and
dividend distributions and other revenue flows from, its numerous
subsidiaries and equity accounted investees

The Company conducts its operations principally through, and derives most of its revenues from, its numerous Subsidiaries
and Equity Accounted Investees, as well as revenue-generating services that it provides to the subsidiaries, equity accounted
investees and contractors. As at 31 December 2020G, the Group comprises a complex chain of over 100 entities that are
effectively owned by the Company most of which are special purpose vehicles and corporate bodies incorporated for special
projects. Consequently, the Company’s cash flows and ability to meet its cash requirements, depend upon the profitability
and cash flows from its Subsidiaries and Equity Accounted Investees, including their ability to make dividend distributions
to the Company or their parent companies, repay interest on intercompany loans extended to them by the Company and its
affiliates, and pay fees to the Company and its affiliates for any services provided to Subsidiaries, Equity Accounted Investees
and contractors by the Company, its Subsidiaries and Equity Accounted Investees. In particular, the Company conducts certain
business operations through joint ventures that are not controlled by the Company, and therefore, may be subject to decisions
made not be solely in the interests of the Company and may reflect the interests of the other joint venture partners, including in
relation to dividend distributions. See also 2-1-12 ("Risks related to co-investors and joint venture partners"). Furthermore, if
there are any issues (including non-compliance with applicable laws, or any conditions of the relevant licenses and/or relevant
projects agreements, it could impact the revenues generated from the underlying Subsidiary or Equity Accounted Investee
which results in the Company not receiving any distributions, which would restrict the Company’s cash flows and ability to
meet its cash requirements.

Moreover, the Company indirectly owns shares in certain Project Companies and O&M companies through First National
Holding Company, Oasis Power One, Oasis Power Two, Projects Acquisition Company, Qurayyah Investment Company LLC,
Qurayyah Project Company, Rabigh Expansion Company Limited, Rabigh Investment Company, Rabigh Project Company
Limited, Shouaiba Expansion Il Water Desalination Holding Company LLC, Shuaibah National Company for Water and Power,
Shugaiq Arabian Water and Electricity Company, Shuqaiq International Water and Electricity Company and KAHROMAA. The
constitutional documents of these Intermediate Holding Companies are not limited to holding shares in other companies; the
activities of these Intermediate Holding Companies include: (i) constructing O&M activities (in relation to the First National
Holding Company); (i) water harvesting, water purification desalination of water and water transmission and distribution
activities (in relation to KAHROMAA); (iii) construction, establishment, acquisition, purchase power and electricity plants,
desalination of water and O&M activities (in relation to Oasis Power One); (iv) establishment, acquisition, purchase, O&M
activities and investment in industrial power and electricity plants and water desalination plants (in relation to Oasis Power Two);
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(v) development, creation, ownership, lease desalination and steam plants and ownership of real estate (in relation to Projects
Acquisition Company); (vi) O&M activities (in relation to Qurayyah Investment Company LLC); (vii) generation of electricity,
desalination of water, O&M activities and sales and purchase of real estate (in relation to Qurayyah Project Company); (viii)
O&M activities, investment in power generation plants and desalination of water (in relation to Rabigh Expansion Company);
(ix) water distribution, maintain and repair power plants and extension of electric wires (in relation to Rabigh Investment
Company); (x) development and establishment of electrical power plants, desalination and steam plants, generation of
electricity, desalinated water and steam, ownership of real estate, establishment of industrial projects (in relation to Rabigh
Project Company Limited); (xi) water harvesting, water purification, desalination, water transmission and distribution and
reduction of salinity in water (in relation to Shouaiba Expansion Il Water Desalination Holding Company LLC); (xii) desalination
of water, purification and sewage plants and O&M activities (in relation to Shuaibah National Company for Water and Power);
(xiii) acquisition of electricity generation, saline water conversion and sewage transmission and distribution plants, electricity
generation and transmission works and O&M activities (in relation to Shuqgaiq Arabian Water and Electricity Company); (xiv)
establishment, operation, investment in projects of electricity generation and desalination (in relation to Shugaiq International
Water and Electricity Company). To the extent that these Intermediate Holding Companies derive their profits from the Project
Companies through the distribution of dividends up the chain of ownership, there is a risk that the Company’s profits from the
Project Companies may be impacted by any potential liabilities imposed on these Intermediate Holding Companies as a result
of their operations such as the liquidated damages imposed on these Intermediate Holding Companies which may have a
negative impact on the distribution of dividends from these Intermediate Holding Companies.

Any decline in the Company’s services income, or the Subsidiaries’ or Equity Accounted Investees’ profitability that could affect
their ability to pay dividends, interest and/or make other payments to the Company, its Subsidiaries and Equity Accounted
Investees, could in turn have a material and adverse effect on the Group's business, financial position and results of operations.

2-2-12  Riskrelated to the limitation on the Group’s ability to exit investments
pursuant to the terms of its agreements

Certain of the Group’s agreements provide for limitations on the circumstances in which the Group may divest its interests in
Project Companies or O&M contractors. For further information, see Section (12-6-5) (“Legal Information—Overview of the
Group’s Contracts—Shareholders’ Agreements and Joint Development Agreements”). The Company indirectly owns 20%
of JWAP, the Project Company for the Marafiq IPP, through Aqua Marafiq Water and Electricity Co. (“JWAP SPV") which owns
33.33% of SGA (which in turn owns 60% of JWAP). For further information on such ownership, see Section (4-6-3-1-8) (Company
- Project Descriptions - Marafiq IWPP (JWAP)). Under the terms of the shareholding agreement, JWAP SPV may not divest
its interest in SGA without the prior written consent of Power and Water Utility Company for Jubail and Yanbu (“Marafiq”), save
in limited circumstances. JWAP SPV may transfer its interest if it continues to hold 51% of its original ownership interest and,
among other things, the transferee is of comparable financial strength. Furthermore, an affiliate of JWAP SPV may not divest
its interest in the O&M contractor without the prior written consent of Marafiq (which consent should not be unreasonably
withheld or delayed in the case of a transfer to an entity that has comparable experience in the O&M of plants similar to the
project); the term “unreasonably”is undefined in the agreement and is to be interpreted by the relevant tribunals by reference
to the facts surrounding the withholding or delaying of such consent).

Under the terms of the SGA shareholders agreement, shareholders in SGA are subject to the transfer restrictions set out in
the SGA shareholders’ agreement, including only transferring the shares to a reputable person, reasonably complying with its
obligations under the SGA SHA. However, a shareholder may at any time transfer its shares to either an affiliate of reputation
and financial standing reasonably acceptable to the other parties to the SGA SHA or a wholly-owned affiliate.

Under the terms of the JWAP shareholders’ agreement, shareholders in JWAP are subject to transfer restrictions set out in the
JWAP shareholders’ agreement. SGA may only transfer its shares as required by law, by the operation of law or by order of a
governmental entity with competent jurisdiction, or subject to the restricted period, in respect of a transfer resulting from
the permitted creation or enforcement of a lien over the relevant shares to secure indebtedness pursuant to the financing
documents. The JWAP SHA also provides restrictions on the transfer of interests in SGA.

Under the terms of the RABEC shareholders’ agreement, at any time after the fifth anniversary of the commercial operation
date (the commercial operation date being 29/5/1434H (corresponding to 10/4/2013G)) and up until the tenth anniversary, the
Company must continue to hold, directly or indirectly, at least 10% of the shares in Rabigh Project Company Limited.

Under the terms of a syndicate agreement for RABEC, Rabigh Project Company Limited takes turns with KEPCO Netherlands
B.V. filling the role of the managing developer shareholder. On and from the ninth anniversary of the commercial operation
date (the commercial operation date being 29/5/1434H (corresponding to 10/4/2013G), the shareholder with the greatest
shareholding interest shall be the managing developer shareholder. To the extent that Rabigh Project Company Limited and
KEPCO Netherlands B.V. continue to hold equal interests in RABEC, the position of managing developer will alternate between
the two shareholders every three years.
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Under the terms of the RAWEC shareholders’ agreement, ACWA Power Projects is required to maintain its shareholding in
RAWEC for up to the sixth anniversary of the commercial operation date (the commercial operation date being 29/5/1439H
(corresponding to 15/2/2018G)) of the RAWEC expansion project and any subsequent sale or transfer of ACWA Power Projects’
shares in RAWEC requires Rabigh Refining & Petrochemical Company’s consent.

Under the SQWEC shareholders’ agreement, ACWA Power Projects may not sell its shares in Shuqaiq International Water and
Electricity Company without consent. ACWA Power Projects must hold at least 36% of the shares in Shugaiq International Water
and Electricity Company until the fifth anniversary of the commercial operation date being May 2011G (i.e. until May 2016G) (or
30 days from the repayment of the equity bridge loan facilities in place, whichever is later) and up until the tenth anniversary
(i.e. May 2021G), ACWA Power Projects must continue to hold at least 10% of the shares in Shuqaiq International Water and
Electricity Company. After May 2021G, ACWA Power Projects can sell 100% of its interests in Shuqaiq International Water and
Electricity Company without any consent.

Under the HEPCO shareholders’ agreement, the Company must hold at least 20% of the shares in Qurayyah Investment
Company LLC until the fifth anniversary of the commercial operation date being May 2016G (i.e. until May 2021G). At any time
after the fifth anniversary of the commercial operation date and up until the tenth anniversary (i.e. up until May 2026G), the
Company must continue to hold at least 10% of the shares in Qurayyah Investment Company.

Under the MEPCO shareholders’agreement, the Company must hold at least 20% of the shares in Rabigh Investment Company
Ltd until the fifth anniversary of the commercial operation date, being 7/6/1439H (corresponding to 23/2/2018G). At any time
up to the third anniversary of 7/6/1439H (corresponding to 23/2/2018G) (i.e. the commercial operation date), the Company
may transfer some of its interest in Rabigh Investment Company Ltd to a third party that is approved by SEC provided that
it continues to hold, jointly with Samsung C&T, 20% of the shares in Rabigh Investment Company Ltd. At any time after the
third and up until the fifth anniversary of 7/6/1439H (corresponding to 23/2/2018G) (i.e. the commercial operation date), the
Company may transfer any or all of its interest to any person without SEC approval as long as it continues to hold 20% of the
shares in Rabigh Investment Company Ltd. At any time after the fifth anniversary of 7/6/1439H (corresponding to 23/2/2018G)
and up until the tenth anniversary, the Company must continue to hold at least 10% of the shares in Rabigh Investment
Company Ltd.

Under the Hassyan shareholders’ agreement, until the 10th anniversary of the commercial operation date, the Company may
not transfer its shares in ACWA Power Harbin without the prior written consent of DEWA save in certain limited circumstances
(e.g. to an affiliate). After the 10th anniversary of the commercial operation date, the Company may transfer its shares
in ACWA Power Harbin with the prior written consent of DEWA (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, if the
proposed transferee is of comparable financial strength and operation and management ability). For further information, see
Section (2-3-10) (“Risks related to the Group’s agreements containing change of control provisions, which could have
adverse consequences for the Group”) and Section (12-6-5) (“Legal Information—Overview of the Group’s Contracts—
Shareholders’ Agreements and Joint Development Agreements”). However, there is nevertheless a risk that the Group
may not be able to receive consent to divest such assets when it determines that it would be economically advantageous or
necessary to do so, which could have a material and adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial position and results of
operations.

2-2-13  Risks related to the seasonality of revenue and profitability levels of
conventional projects

Conventional Projects Companies are exposed to seasonality of revenue and profitability levels based on availability, which is
the key driver of capacity revenue as defined in the P(W)PAs. Available capacity requirements vary between the winter (low
season) and summer (high season) as the demand for power and water is usually higher in the summer months. These are
typically defined in the Offtake Agreement, whereby the Offtaker restricts any outages during summer. Any Planned Outage is
scheduled during winter period. In cases where outages occur during the summer, these are considered unplanned and result
in penalties. Accordingly, revenues and gross profits during the summer season tend to be higher and typically extends over Q
2 and Q 3 as compared to winter mainly from higher available capacity.

Should any of the above risks materialize, it could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial position and results
of operations of the Group.
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2-3 Risks related to the Group’s Financing

2-3-1 Risks related to the repayment of the Group’s debt, availability of fi-
nancing or equity funding or the requirement to make additional eg-
uity investments

The Group operates in a capital-intensive business sector. In order to finance, or assist in the financing of its existing advanced
development projects or future projects and acquisitions, or expansions to existing Projects, or any refinancing(s) in relation to
existing Projects, which require substantial capital investment, the Group primarily relies on its ability to procure commercial
financing on competitive market terms or raise additional equity. The Group’s ability to obtain external financing and the cost
of such financing or the ability to raise additional equity are dependent on numerous factors including general economic
and market conditions, international and domestic interest rates, credit availability from banks and other financiers (such as
local and international financial institutions and sovereign funds), investor confidence in the Group and the success of its
business. In addition, all of the aforementioned factors may be negatively affected by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and
its consequences (see 2-4-1 (“Risks related to the COVID-19 pandemic”). Should the Group be unable to raise additional
financing or equity in the future on terms which are not onerous to the Group, the financial performance of the Group and its
ability to expand will be impacted, which could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial position and results of
operations of the Group.

In addition, the Group operates in a sector that requires significant equity investment into Projects that will not generate
revenue during the period when they are under construction. For example, in the case of solar PV plants or wind plants (both
depending on size) the construction could be around 18 months, whereas for solar CSP or thermal plants the construction could
be between 30 to 48 months (depending on various factors such as the size of the plant, the need to have interconnection
facilities and the technological complexity of the project). As of 31 December 2020G, the Group’s total borrowings amounted
to SAR 19.6 billion and the non-recourse debt amounted to SAR 18.7 billion (SAR 17.9 billion as at 31 December 2019G and
SAR 15.5 billion as at 31 December 2018G), non-current portion of recourse debt (financing facilities in relation to Projects
and corporate facilities) amounted to SAR 866.9 million (SAR 624.2 million as at 31 December 2019G and SAR 2,772.8 million
as at 31 December 2018G); the current portion of recourse debt (financing facilities in relation to Projects and corporate
facilities) amounted to SAR Nil (SAR 1,202.7 million as at 31 December 2019G and SAR 424.5 million as at 31 December 2018G);
the Group's current liabilities under short-term financing facilities amounted to SAR 364.8 million (SAR 444 million as at 31
December 2019G and SAR 618.9 million as at 31 December 2018G) and its total contingent liabilities (principally in the form of
letters of credit and guarantees for equity contribution and other current and non-current contingent liabilities relating to bid
bonds, performance guarantees and guarantees for liquidated damages), which could be converted into funded exposure and
increase the Group’s overall indebtedness if the contingent event attached to such liabilities arises, amounted to SAR 11.3 billion
(SAR 10.6 billion as at 31 December 2019G and SAR 9.0 billion as at 31 December 2018G). For further information on the Group's
financing arrangements, see Section (6-3-18) (“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources”), Section (12-6-4) (“Legal Information - Financing Arrangements”)
and Section (12-7) (“Legal Information—Summary of Material Contracts”).

The Group’s principal sources of liquidity include dividends from the Group Companies, fees, repayment of interest and principal
on loans provided to shareholders, repayment of capital, proceeds from new debt raised, refinancing the loans in Project
Companies and proceeds from partial asset sales. If these liquidity sources are insufficient to repay the debt commitments as
they mature or to fund the Group's other liquidity needs in the longer term and the Group is not able to find alternative sources
of funding, the Group may need to enter into negotiations with its creditors to restructure some of its borrowing arrangements.
There can be no assurance that any restructuring negotiations entered into would be successful and any failure to successfully
restructure its debt could result in generally weakening the credit profile of the Group or ultimately the Group’s insolvency.
The Group has entered into equity support or funding agreements of approximately SAR 4.4 billion as of 31 December 2020G
(which, in many cases, are limited by time and/or amount) with third party financiers in respect of the contractual equity
obligations of certain of the Project Companies.

Furthermore, under the relevant shareholders’ agreements, the Group could be required to contribute funds to the relevant
Project Company in the event of unexpected cost overruns, and certain other circumstances, such as delays in receipt or
lower amounts of pre-completion revenues vis-a-vis the base case forecast, which may necessitate the funding gap (if any)
to be funded by the Group. For further information, see Section (12-6-5) (“Legal Information—Overview of the Group’s
Contracts—Shareholders’ Agreements and Joint Development Agreements”). In addition, the Group may choose to
contribute further funds to a Project Company where the Board of the Company determines that this is in the best interests
of the Group’s business. Such additional funding obligations could materially affect the financial position of the Group,
particularly in the event of an unplanned contribution to service such funding obligation (for which the Project Company is not
otherwise compensated under the relevant Offtake Agreement), and this could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
business, financial position and results of operations. Unplanned contributions occur when the Group injects cash or arrange a
bank facility for a Project backed by the Group’s credit support to help bridge any temporary liquidity shortfalls, which would
increase the group’s exposure in respect of the relevant Group Company and reduce the overall returns. Recent examples
include contributions to Rabigh IPP (The Company’share of contribution is in the form of guarantee for a recourse debt is SAR
80 million). The Project Company has partially repaid the loan amount from the insurance proceeds as per the repayment plan.
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Furthermore, the Group invested an additional amount of SAR 145 million in Noor Il and expects that it be required to invest a
further amount of SAR 150 million of which SAR 54 million has been requisitioned by the Project Company to settle statutory
payments and debt service and has been approved by the Group.

The occurrence of any of the above-mentioned risks could result in a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial
position and results of operations.

2-3-2 Risks related to existing and future leverage

Typical to project finance transactions, the Project Companies are highly leveraged and have project-level indebtedness
outstanding on a non-recourse basis, meaning that the debt is repayable solely from the relevant Project’s revenues and the
repayment of the loans (and interest thereon) is secured solely by the capital stock, physical assets, contracts, insurance policies
and cash flow of that Project Company. See Section (4-1) (“Overview”) for a description of the Group’s business including the
types of financing arrangements the Group enters into. All Project Companies enter into financing arrangements effective
from the Financial Close of each Project (see also Section (6-3-7-4) (“Non Current Liabilities - Long Term Financing and Funding
Facilities”) for further details on the total consolidated debt). In addition, the Project Companies may raise additional debt in
the future to the limited extent permitted under their financing and project arrangements. For more information on the facility
agreements of the Company, see Section (12-7-5) (“Legal Information— The Company’s Facility Agreements”). Subject to
any restrictions contained in its existing financing agreements or the new financing agreement, the increased leverage and
indebtedness of the Group or a particular Project Company could, amongst other things:

* Impose restrictions pursuant to financing arrangements on the ability of such Project Company to make dividends
to the Group (see 2-3-5 “Risks related to the restrictions under financing arrangements on the ability of
most Project Companies to pay dividends (or equivalent distributions”)) is restricted under their financing
arrangements”);

* In case of additional indebtedness, increase the amount of finance charges incurred and interests payable by the
Project Companies and in turn reduce the amount of net cash flow;

*  Particularly in the case of the financing for (i) the Group’s Projects located in Oman, which are subject to a reset in
the interest rate every five years under the relevant agreements, (i) for Hassyan IPP, Noor Energy 1 IPP, Rabigh 3 IWP,
Taweelah IWP, DEWAV PV and Sakaka IPP which are structured as soft mini-perm financings (i.e. financings which
while having a long-dated contractual maturity have built in incentives to refinance with permanent financing
shortly—typically three to five years—after the Project is operational, the failure of which results in the margin
on the financing to increase and most, if not all, of the Project’s available cash flow being used to pay down the
principal amount of the financing) and (ii) for Qurayyah IPP, Mourjan IPP, Ibri IPP, Sohar Ill IPP, Shuaibah Expansion
I WP and Umme-al-Qwain IWP, Shuaa Energy 1 IPP and Salalah IWP structured with a repayment balloon at the
end of the PPA contract term (which may also be the case for future financings). For these Projects and others,
there can be no assurance that the existing financing arrangements, and any future similar arrangements, will be
able to be refinanced on similar terms or at all. Should the Project Company be unable to obtain financing in the
future (on similar terms which are not more onerous to than the current arrangements), the financial performance
of the Group will be impacted by requiring an increased portion of cash flow from operations to be dedicated to
the payment of principal and commission on its indebtedness, thereby further reducing their ability to use cash
flow to fund operations and capital expenditures and to make distributions of dividends, which could have a
material adverse effect on the business, financial position and results of operations of the Group. It may be noted
that while the Group may choose to dis-apply the cash sweep through posting an Letter of Credit (LC) back-
stopping the cash sweep amount, there can be no assurance that the Group will be able to raise suchanLCon a
non-recourse project finance basis ;

e Limit their ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures, project development,
debt service requirements and general corporate or other purposes; and

* Increase the likelihood of failure to meet their respective financial and other obligations.

The existing leverage and any potential increase in the leverage of a Project Company could reduce the cash flows to the Group
and have a material adverse effect on the Group's revenues and business, financial position and results of operations.

2-3-3 Risk related to events of default under the financing arrangements

Provisions governing events of default are typical in project finance structures and are prescribed in the financing
documentation entered into between the Group (and/or a Project Company) and its lender(s). The occurrence of an event of
default could restrict a Project Company or Group subsidiary’s ability to make distributions or pay dividends to its shareholders
(including to the Group) (for further information on the restrictions of the Project Companies ability to pay dividends see 2-3-
5" (“Risks related to the restrictions under financing arrangements on the ability of most Project Companies to pay
dividends (or equivalent distributions”) In addition, a material quantum of the Group’s assets (including its ownership in
various project companies) are secured in favour of the lender(s) who could enforce such security upon the occurrence of a
significant and continuing event of default. (please see Section (2-3-1) (“Risks related to the repayment of the Group’s debt,
availability of financing or equity funding or the requirement to make additional equity investments”) for further details
on such security. See also Section (6-3-7-1) (“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
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of Operations—Current liabilities”) and Section (6-3-9) (‘Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations— Capitalisation and indebtedness - APMI One’s Bond and other funding instruments of the
Company - The Bonds™). This could lead to shareholders losing all or part of their investment in the project which would have
a material adverse effect on the business, financial position and results of operations of the Group and any affected Project
Companies. In relation to Hassyan: (i) there exist a commercial mortgage in favour of Union National Bank PJSC as is apparent
on Hassyan’s industrial licence and (ii) the shares held by ACWA Power Harbin are pledged to Union National Bank PJSC as
is apparent on Hassyan's register of shares. In relation to Noor Energy 1, the share register notes a share pledge agreement
between ACWA Power Solar as pledgor and Abu Dhabi Commercial Bank PJSC as onshore security agent, attestation date 29
May 2019G. In relation to APO, pursuant to the share transfer ledger, the following security interests were granted on 26 March
2013 to certain beneficiaries: (a) a pledge over 258,572 shares of APO by ACWA Power Bahrain Holdings W.L.L,; (b) a pledge over
88,402 shares of APO by Masen Capital; and (c) a pledge over 6,630 shares of APO by ASRA. In relation to APO I, pursuant to the
share transfer ledger and the up-to-date extract of the commercial register dated 21/6/1442H (corresponding to 3 February
2021G), APO Il has granted the following security interests: (a) a pledge over shares granted on 21/7/1436H (corresponding to
10/5/2015G) by ACWA Power Bahrain Holdings W.L.L. to Masen over 2,096 shares of APO Il (the 642,985,740 shares issued in the
frame of the capital increase of 2016 have also been pledged); (b) a pledge over shares granted on 21/7/1436H (corresponding
to 10/5/2015G) by Sener Grupo de Ingeniera SA to Masen over 150 shares of APO Il (the 45,927 shares issued in the frame of
the capital increase of 2016 have also been pledged); and (c) multiple pledges over machinery and equipment in favour of
Masen for an aggregate amount of approximately SAR 435,658,107.98. In relation to APO Ill, pursuant to the extract of the
share ledger and the up-to-date extract of the commercial register dated 20/6/1442H (corresponding to 2 February 2021G),
APO Ill has granted: (a) a pledge over shares granted on 21/7/1436H (corresponding to 10/5/2015G) by ACWA Power Bahrain
Holdings W.L.L. to Masen over 2,246 shares of APO Il (the 536,572,752 shares issued in the frame of the capital increase of 2016
have also been pledged); (b) multiple pledges over machinery and equipment in favour of Masen for an aggregate amount of
approximately SAR 428,444,025.79; and (c) a pledge over machinery and equipment granted on 13/7/1438H (corresponding
to 10/4/2017G) for an amount of approximately SAR 593,613.09. In relation to Kirikkale, as per the annotations under the share
ledger of Kirikkale: (a) first-degree share pledge has been established over 2,304,000 shares of Kirikkale Holdings Ltd (Bahrain)
W.L.L., and 4,608,001 shares of ACWA Power Enerji and 767,999 shares of Samsung C&T in favour of T. Garanti Bankasi A.S.
on 10/2/1436H (corresponding to 3/12/2014G); (b) a second-degree share pledge has been granted over 2,304,000 shares of
Kirikkale Holdings Ltd (Bahrain) W.L.L.,and 4,608,001 shares of ACWA Power Enerjiand 767,999 shares of Samsung C&T in favour
of T. Garanti Bankasi A.S. on 28/1/1437H (corresponding to 11/11/2015G); (c) a first-degree share pledge has been established
over the newly issued shares following the capital increase made on 19 December 2018G and, accordingly, 11,600,226 shares
of Kirikkale Holdings Ltd (Bahrain) W.L.L., and 27,067,174 shares of ACWA Power Enerji have been pledged in favour of T. Garanti
Bankasi A.S. pursuant to the Share Pledge Supplement dated 19 December 2018; and (d) a first-degree share pledge has been
established over the newly issued shares following the capital increase made on 16 September 2020G and 13,107,678 shares
of Kirikkale Holdings Ltd (Bahrain) W.L.L. and 30,794,603 shares of ACWA Power Enerji have been pledged in favour of T. Garanti
Bankasi A.S. pursuant to the Share Pledge Supplement dated 11 September 2020. In relation to lbri, a share pledge certificate
issued by the Muscat Clearing and Depository dated August 2016G confirms that: (i) Dhofar International Energy Services LLC
pledged 24,999 shares in favour of Bank Muscat SAOG; (ii) MAPIH pledged 475,000 shares in favour of Bank Muscat SAOG; and
(iii) Dhofar Investment & Real Estate Services LLC pledged 1 share in favour of Bank Muscat SAOG. From time to time, certain of
the Group's Projects may be in technical breach of their respective financing agreements regarding which the Group engages
in discussions with its lenders. This is currently the case for lbri IPP and Sohar Il IPP with respect to ratings downgrades and
delays in timely completing respective IPOs of the Projects (requirements to list the Project Companies’ shares in the relevant
stock exchanges) for which waivers have been obtained. In addition, with respect to the Shuaibah IWPP and the Shuaibah
Expansion | & Il IWPs, the Projects obtained waivers from lenders on reduction in ownership at the Company level in 2018G,
while new waivers have been sought for change in ownership structure following the PIF transaction, and have been approved
by certain lenders.

A number of events of default have occurred under the SWEC, SEPCO, Zarqa, Risha, Mafraq Kirikkale, Sohar, Redstone and
Sakaka projects and the Company has obtained waivers of such event of default from the relevant financiers in respect of
each event of default. In addition, a Group Company in Jordan issued a notice of dispute to the offtaker dated 29 April 2021G
under the PPA for delay liquidated damages withheld by offtaker and non-payment of deemed energy invoices issued to the
Offtaker by the Group Company. Lenders are of the view that issuance of dispute notice has breached certain covenants under
the financing documents. The obligations of the project companies under the various financing are secured against, amongst
other things, certain project accounts, plant and equipment, intellectual property, insurance proceeds and (in some cases)
shares. Upon an event of default, the financiers are entitled to enforce their security. This may lead to the shareholders losing
all or part of their investment in the project.

In addition, a material event of default occurring at the Project Company or other Group Company level could result in a
reclassification of the long-term liability to a current liability, which could have an adverse impact on balance sheet and
financial condition at the Group level. For a description of the events of default under the financing arrangements see Section
(12-7) (“Legal Information—Summary of Material Contracts”).

Furthermore, as is customary for project finance structures, most of the project finance arrangements entered into by the Group
contain financial indebtedness cross-default provisions. Notwithstanding any arrangements to the contrary, these provisions
allow lenders to invoke an event of default under the financing arrangements as soon as the Group, a relevant Project Company
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and/or another party that is material to the Project (such as the shareholders, offtakers and contractors) triggers an event of
default (often in excess of an agreed monetary threshold) under other financing agreements. This gives the lender an indirect
protection over the events of default in the Group’s other financing documentation and the lender may enforce its respective
rights under the financing agreements and could accelerate the loan repayment, which would materially and adversely affect
the Group’s business, financial position and results of operations.

In some instances, default provisions in the finance documentation, could apply if insolvency proceeding occur in relation to a
counterparties of a Project Company, such as the EPC Contractor for the Project or the operation and maintenance contractor. If
such counterparties sufferinsolvency proceedings, including unrelated to the Project, an event of default could occur under the
finance documentation for the Projects, even in the absence of any default by the Project Companies. If any of the above risks
were to materialise, this could materially and adversely affect the Group's business, financial position and results of operations.

2-3-4 Risks related to the Group’s bonds

Under the USD 814 million aggregate principal amount of 5.95% Senior Secured Bonds (the “Bonds” or “ACWA39") issued in
2017G by ACWA Power Management and Investments One Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, and maturing
in 2039G, the obligation to make payments of principal and interest to bondholders is secured for the benefit of bondholders
by a security package that includes (i) rights of certain subsidiaries of ACWA Power to dividends from certain intermediate
holding companies or Project Companies holding ownership interests in the following projects: the Shuaibah Expansion IWP,
Shuaibah IWPP, Marafiq IWPP, Shugaiq IWPP, Rabigh IPP, Qurayyah IPP, Bowarege IWP, Petro-Rabigh (Phase 1) IWSPP and Petro-
Rabigh (Phase 2) IWSPP (the “ACWA Power Eight Assets Portfolio” (counting Petro-Rabigh IWSPP and Petro-Rabigh (phase 2)
IWSPP as one asset)); (ii) rights of First National Holding Company to dividends from NOMAC and rights of NOMAC to dividends
from Jubail O&M Company Limited, Rabigh Operation and Maintenance Company and Rabigh Power Company Limited, which
currently provide operation and maintenance services to almost all projects in the ACWA Power Eight Assets Portfolio (other
than the Shuaibah IWPP); (iii) pledges over all shares held by ACWA Power directly in ACWA Power Management and Investment
One Ltd,, First National Holding Co and ACWA Power Projects (through which ACWA Power holds all of its ownership interests
in the ACWA Power Eight Assets Portfolio) and (iv) rights of ACWA Power and two of its subsidiaries, APP and NOMAG, to certain
other cash flows (principally certain management fees and the operator’s fees under technical services agreements). See Section
(6-3-9-2) (“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—- “Capitalisation
and indebtedness - APMI One’s Bond and other funding instruments of the Company - The Bonds”) for further details on
the Group’s bonds and the shares pledged as a result. In the event of a default on the bond, which is non-recourse with respect
to the rest of the Group, bondholders may be able to enforce their security over the ACWA Power Eight Assets Portfolio and this
would adversely affect the Group's business, financial position and results of operations.

2-3-5 Risks related to the restrictions under financing arrangements on the
ability of most Project Companies to pay dividends (or equivalent dis-
tributions)

The Project Companies make payments through a cash waterfall mechanism in their financing documents, pursuant to which
the costs of the Project Company such as operation and maintenance fees, taxes, debt payments, salaries and similar payments
are paid before its shareholders receive distribution of cash flows such as dividends, payments on shareholder loans and
other subordinated payments to the shareholders. In some instances, for example under the Barka financing arrangements,
dividends (and all other amounts) payable to ACWA Power International (@ wholly-owned Group company) from APBS 1,
APBS 2 and ACWA Power Barka Project TSA Company are assigned in favour of Bank Muscat. Additionally, most of the Project
Companies are required to set aside an annual percentage of net profits to statutory reserves up to a set threshold. In particular,
companies incorporated in Saudi Arabia, including all Project Companies and NOMAC companies incorporated in Saudi Arabia,
are required to set aside annually 10% of their net profit to statutory reserves until the statutory reserve reaches 30% of their
respective share capital. Such statutory reserves are also mandatory in jurisdictions such as Morocco, Oman, United Arab
Emirates, Bahrain, Egypt, Jordan and Turkey, which comprise the majority of the Group's projects.

The ability of the Project Companies to distribute cash flows to the shareholders of the Project Companies (shareholders loans
repayments, shareholders interest payments, or dividends) depends on satisfying certain covenant tests and conditions under
their financing arrangements, which could typically include:

e completion of the Project;

*  the occurrence of the first repayment date and the payment of all amounts due and payable on such date with
respect to the facilities utilised to finance the project;

* noactual or potential event of default has occurred under the finance documents and is then continuing or would
result from the payment of such dividends;

* areserve (or credit support) equal to not less than six or twelve months of debt service (i.e. loan repayment plus
interest) is in place; and

e thedebt service coverage ratio being in excess of the debt service cover ratio test level for dividend payments for
the relevant calculation period.
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Individual Project Companies must also satisfy certain other conditions to be able to pay dividends and should any of the
Project Companies be unable to pay dividends as a result of restrictions under their financing agreements it could have a
material adverse effect on the business, financial position and results of operations of the Group. See Section (2-5-5) (“Risks
related to the Company’s ability to distribute dividends”) for further details on such risks, and Section (12-7) (“Summary of
Material Contracts”) for a summary of the material financing arrangements entered into by the Group.

Should any of the above risks materialize it could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial position and results
of operations of the Group.

2-3-6 Risks related to the Group’s interest rate volatility and volatile securities

Under the terms of their financing arrangements, the Project Companies pay interest based on inter-bank offered rates, such as
LIBOR, SAIBOR (Saudi Arabian Interbank Offered Rate) or JIBAR (Johannesburg Interbank Average Rates), plus a margin. Under
most of the Group’s project financing arrangements, the Group or the Project Companies are required to hedge all or a portion
of their exposure to interest rate volatility during the construction and operation period. The Group and Project Companies are
also exposed to interest rate volatility with respect to their financing arrangements once their hedging arrangements expire, or
to the extent that they otherwise have any unhedged exposure to such volatility, or if the Group or the Project Companies fail
to otherwise successfully implement their strategies to mitigate the interest rate risk. Out of the total loan amounts, the Group’s
unhedged exposure of the Group’s Projects in respect of interest rate fluctuations varies from 5% to 40% over the term of the
Project’s debt in line with the respective CTA requirements. See Section (6-3-10-3) (“"Management Discussion & Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Interest Rate Risk”) for a discussion of the Group's interest rate sensitivity.
In addition, if a hedge is not entered into at the appropriate time, it may subsequently become more expensive than initially
estimated. In addition, certain types of economic hedging activities may not qualify for hedge accounting under IFRS, resulting
in increased volatility in the Group’s net income. For a description of the requirements and hedges, please refer to Section
(6-3-10) ("Management Discussion & Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Financial and Market
Risks").

Currently, the interest rate swaps were consistently out of the money as a result of a drop in market interest rates. The economy
across most countries is experiencing a slowdown as a result of the COVID-19, and as such interest rates are expected to stay
low, and thus leading to further unfavourable outcome from the interest rate swaps. However, the interest rate hedges are
accounted for as a cash flow hedge resulting in the mark to market changes occurring in the balance sheet. Furthermore, the
drop in interest rates has resulted in interest expense savings on the loans with floating interest rates.

In addition, the Group is also exposed to interest rate volatility with respect to changes in value of certain hedges and other
securities, including related derivative instruments. The fair value of the derivatives decreased from -SR338.3 million at 31
December 2019G to -SR710.4 million at 31 December 2020G mainly due to the following: 1) The fair value of Rabigh 3 IRS
decreased from -SR130.8 million at 31 December 2019G to —-SR333.0 million at 31 December 2020G mainly due to the increase
in the notional amount in relation to the increase in the loan utilization coupled with the drop in LIBOR; and 2) the drop
in LIBOR resulted in the decrease in the IRS fair value of Sakaka of SAR 178,276,895, Zarqa SAR 122,681,708 and STPC SAR
73,118,273 at 31 December 2020G. The Group also effectively owns 41.91% of Barka and 27% of DGC whose shares are listed on
the Muscat Securities Market in Oman, which are subject to price fluctuations that could materially and adversely impact the
Group’s financial position. The potential exposure to interest rate volatility and volatile securities could have a material adverse
effect on the Group’s (and/or any affected Project Company’s) business, financial position and results of operations.

As mentioned above, the Group’s borrowings are to a significant extent linked to LIBOR and in addition under project financings
put in place, the Group has hedged a bulk of its LIBOR linked exposure to protect against interest rate volatility. In this context,
it is pertinent to note that among the changes introduced by financial regulators to create a more resilient financial system is
a market transition away from the Interbank Offered Rates (“IBORs”), including LIBOR and, after 2021, the Financial Conduct
Authority (“FCA”), the LIBOR regulator in the UK, will no longer require banks to submit rates that are used to construct LIBOR.
Accordingly, LIBOR will cease as a reference rate for loans and swaps and, in this regard, the ICE Benchmark Administration
(“IBA"), which is an independent subsidiary of Intercontinental Exchange and is responsible for the end-to-end administration
of benchmarks such as LIBOR, in December 2020G started consultations with stakeholders (such as banks, regulators and
financial institutions) on intent to cease publication of LIBOR for all tenors after 30 June 2023 and have provided guidance that
banks and borrowers should stop new LIBOR transactions by end 2021. As an update, the transition from LIBOR to alternative
reference rates (such as Secured Overnight Funding Rates (“SOFR") for USD loans) is currently underway with the frameworks
being developed and late 2020, ISDA (the International Swaps and Derivatives Association) launched protocols to transition
to alternative reference rates for derivatives. However, financial markets (both on the loan side and the derivatives side) have
not settled on an agreed transition protocol and also terms for post-LIBOR products. As a Group, given its exposure to LIBOR
linked financings and hedges, the transition uncertainty creates challenges (such as being able to adjust both the swaps and
the loans to the new benchmark without any economic impact on the borrowers) and the Group is monitoring developments
in the transition on a real time basis with the objective of working with all its lenders (including lenders at the Project Company
level) and ensuring a seamless transaction to the replacement benchmark (whether SOFR or otherwise) across the portfolio by
end 2021. The carrying value of the liabilities exposed to the amendments as at 31 December 2020G (excluding the liabilities
that will expire before transition) is SAR 4,95 million for the financial liabilities exposed to LIBOR and SAR 3,87 million for the
notional of hedges linked to LIBOR. Moreover, the carrying value of the liabilities exposed to the amendments for the Equity
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Accounted Investees as at 31 December 2020G amounted to SAR 17. 5 billion.

Should any of the above risks materialize it could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial position and results
of operations of the Group.

2-3-7 Risks related to the Group becoming an unsecured creditor of an
offtaker in the event of the early termination of certain Offtake Agree-
ments

With respect to the Saudi Arabia based IWPPs (the Shuaibah IWPP and the Shuquaiq IWPP), IPPs (the Rabigh IPP, the Rabigh
2 IPP and the Qurayyah IPP) and IWPs (the Shuaibah Expansion IWP and the Shuaibah Expansion Il IWP) for which SEC is the
offtaker, if the Offtake Agreement is terminated and the offtaker is to acquire the plant by paying the termination payment, the
Project Company is required to transfer the plant to the offtaker upon receiving the first of four instalments of the payment due
(with the remaining three instalments to be paid every six months after the first payment). This exposes the Project Company to
the risk of becoming an unsecured creditor of the offtaker with respect to the remaining 75% of the payment while no longer
being the owner of the Projects listed above. To date, none of these clauses in the Offtake Agreements of the Saudi Arabian
projects listed above have been triggered. However, no assurance can be given that they will not be triggered in the future,
which could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial position and results of operations.

2-3-8 Risks related to the Group’s working capital

The Company has working capital management strategies that focus on maintaining an effective balance of both current
assets (maturing within one year or less) and current liabilities (maturing within one year or less) in accordance with the current
ratio, which limit the risk related to working capital. These strategies aim to maintain an adequate cash flow to meet short-term
debt and pay for its operating costs.

The Company’s reliance on loans to finance working capital involves risks in finding easier credit terms. If the economic climate
becomes less favorable, the Company may face stricter credit conditions or be excluded from access to much-needed loans.
Moreover, the impairment of loan guarantees provided by the shareholders of the relevant Project Company, which could
damage its credit status and thus worsen its difficulties in obtaining financing, would have an adverse effect on the Company’s
business, financial position and results of operations.

2-3-9 Risk related to APREH convertible loan

In the year ended 31 December 2018G, the Group entered into a convertible loan agreement for SAR 1.4 billion with SRF,
through APREH. This loan provides an option to convert all or part of the loan’s principal into shares of APREH at an agreed
conversion price. In 2019G, the lender partially exercised the option and acquired the 49% stake in APREH at an agreed value
of SAR 580.6 million. Due to this conversion, the Group lost control over APREH and reclassified the subsidiary as an equity
investment as at 31 December 2019G.

The Outstanding balance of the convertible loan was SAR 773 million as at 31 December 2020G. It is expected that the
remaining convertible loan will be converted into shares of APREH. However, the Group and the Lender has not yet decided
which assets will be included and what will be the agreed valuation. This creates a risk that such conversion may result in gain/
loss on the asset valuation and also further lowering of the shareholding.

If any of these risks materialise, this would have a material adverse effect on the business, financial position and results of
operations of the Group.

2-3-10 Risks related to the Group’s agreements containing change of control
provisions, which could have adverse consequences for the Group

Under certain of the Group’s project-level financing, shareholder and operating agreements, including for Shuaibah IWPP,
Shuaibah Expansion | IWP, Noor | CSP IPP, Noor Il CSP IPP Shuqaiq IWPP and Rabigh IPP, there may be a breach or default if the
current shareholders reduce their shareholding in the Project that was committed under the relevant agreements.

Furthermore, under the Groups’ financing arrangement and certain of its project level-financing, shareholder and operating
agreements there may also be a breach, default or a repayment, repurchase or call right in favour of a counterparty if a third
party or group of persons acquires control of 50% or more of the Group's shares, which may serve as a deterrent to any takeover
offer for the Group and could therefore have an adverse effect on the market price of the Group’s shares which could accordingly
have a material adverse effect on the business, financial position and results of operations of the Group.

2-3-11  Risks related to the Company’s Sukuk

ACWA Power has (as the issuer) launched Sukuk program with an amount up to SAR 5 billion for a period of 7 years (under
Shariah compliant Mudaraba-Murabaha structure) in KSA issued as private offering which is unlisted and unclassified. The
size of the first tranche that has been issued under this program is 2.8 billion SAR. The final pricing and book-building was
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completed in the early of June 2021G. The sukuk was issued in KSA as a private and unlisted offering in accordance with OSCOs
issued by CMA.

The Payment obligations under the issued sukuk will constitute direct, unconditional, unaffiliated, and unsecured obligations
of the issuer and will be classified equally with all outstanding unsecured and unaffiliated obligations of the issuer. The issuer
is obligated to fulfil the payments due to the sukuk holders on their due dates. In the event the issuer breaches its obligations
under the sukuk, this breach may result in (i) any indebtedness of the issuer will become due and payable before its original due
date; (ii) Any guarantee granted by the issuer of the indebtedness will become enforceable. Should any of the events occur, this
would have a material adverse effect on the business, financial position and results of operations of the Group.

2-4 Risks Relating to the Market, Industry and Legal and Regulatory
Environment

2-4-1 Risks related to the COVID-19 pandemic

COVID-19 was first reported in December 2019G and has subsequently spread throughout the world to countries and
jurisdictions in which the Group operates. On 30 January 2020G, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a public
health emergency of international concern and on 11 March 2020G, the WHO declared the outbreak a pandemic. The COVID-19
pandemic has had and continues to have adverse repercussions across regional and global economies and financial markets,
which adversely affect the jurisdictions in which the Group’s operate, including Saudi Arabia. Governments, businesses, and the
public are taking unprecedented measures to contain the spread of COVID-19 and to mitigate its effects, including quarantines,
travel bans, shelter-in-place orders, closures of businesses and schools, fiscal stimulus, and other regulatory changes. A number
of governments and organizations have revised Gross Domestic Product (“GDP”) growth forecasts for 2020G and subsequent
years downward in response to the economic slowdown caused by the spread of COVID-19, and it is possible that the COVID-19
outbreak could resultin a prolonged global economic crisis or recession. For example, the real GDP growth forecasts by the World
Bank for Saudi Arabia, the UAE, Oman and Morocco for 2020G were -5.4%, -6.3%, -9.4% and -6.3%, respectively (Source: World
Bank, Global Economic Prospects - January 2021). In 2020G, there was no significant direct impact on the Group’s operational
performance as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, including with respect to the power generation and water desalination
availability of its Projects, however construction works for projects under construction were impacted such as Hassyan IPP
and DEWA Independent Water and Power Project. For further details see Section (6-3-2-5) (“Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Position and Results of Operations, One-off Event Affecting Overall Results of Operations”) and
there can be no guarantee that the Group will not be affected by the crisis in the future. While the scope, duration and full
effects of COVID-19 are rapidly evolving and not fully known, the pandemic and related efforts to contain it have disrupted
global economic activity, adversely affected the functioning of financial markets, impacted interest rates, increased economic
and business uncertainty, and disrupted trade and supply chains. If these effects persist for a prolonged period or result in
sustained economic stress or recession, many of the risk factors identified in this Prospectus may be exacerbated and such
effects may have a material adverse impact on the Group in a variety of ways related to liquidity, operations, customer demand,
interest rate risk, and human capital, as described in more detail below.

*  Operational risk. Current or future restrictions on the Group’s workforce’s, access to the Group’s facilities and the
health and availability of the Group’s workforce in constructing its Projects could limit its ability to meet customer
expectations and have a material adverse effect on its operations. The Group may experience increased difficulties
in receiving payments from its Offtakers which could impact the Group’s liquidity (see “Liquidity Risks” below).
These Offtakers may have inadequate liquidity or may have greater difficulties in settling their bills. Changes in
demand for power and water resulting from the COVID-19 crisis do not generally contractually impact the Group's
rights to Capacity Payments owed under the Group'’s Offtake Agreements. Nevertheless, the National Electricity
Power Company (“NEPCO”) in Jordan has delayed the revenue payments partially in Zarqa from February 2020G to
December 2020G, and in Mafraq PV IPP and Risha PV IPP from February 2020G to September 2020G. In addition, in
CEGCO as well NEPCO has been delaying the revenue payments with a two-month lag since December 2019G citing
financial difficulties. The Group on 28 April 2021G has entered into settlement agreement with NEPCO for the delayed
payment of revenues and the full amount of the delayed revenue payments has been paid by NEPCO as of the date
of this Prospectus.Additionally, although offtakers cannot unilaterally change the prices of the Offtake Agreement
while it is in force, the ongoing crisis may prompt offtakers to attempt to negotiate relief, which if successful would
impact the Capacity Payments received by the Group. As a result of the financial strains caused by the crisis, certain
governments of the countries in which the Group operates, including Oman, Jordan and Egypt, have already
expressed a desire to reform their public spending, which may include the renegotiation of the Offtake Agreements
of the Group's Projects in these countries.

In addition, all of the Group's Projects which are currently under construction have experienced delays as a result of
supply chain disruptions relating to the COVID-19 pandemic. Several EPC contractors have served force majeure notices
while all of the Projects themselves have activated force majeure provisions in their Offtake Agreements. Offtakers may
provide relief of obligations relating to time, costs or both, however no assurance can be provided that such relief will
be sufficient or given at all, nor that it can be effectively passed on to the applicable EPC contractor. Unless relief is
granted by the relevant offtaker providing additional time to meet obligations, this could result in liquidated damages
becoming payable to the offtaker. Similarly, the delays may result in increases to the overall costs of completing the
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Project despite the fact that many of these costs are contractually available to be passed to the offtaker, and in the
event that such relief pertaining to these additional costs is not granted, the Project may not have sufficient funding
to complete its construction activities. As a result, the non-granting relief of obligations relating to time or costs can
adversely impact the project completion and can result in disputes with contractors and offtaker. As of the date of this
Prospectus, no Projects have been refused relief by their respective offtaker as a result of the aforementioned delays.
See also, 2-1-3 “Risks related to the delays, cost overruns and quality of workmanship issues in the construction
of the Group’s Projects when such delays, overruns and quality issues are not covered under its EPC contracts”.

Moreover, the Group and the Project Companies rely on many suppliers and contractors in its business operations
(in particular, NOMAC and CEGCO for operation and maintenance activities of the Projects (see 2-1-8 “ Risks related
to the extent to which profits of the Group and the operation and maintenance of the Group’s Projects depend on
the costs of operation and the performance by the operation and maintenance contractors of their contractual
obligations”)), some of which have issued or may issue in future, force majeure notices requesting an extension of
time for their performance resulting in disruption of the Group’s supply chain. In response to the force majeure notice
from the Group's suppliers, force majeure notices have already been issued to certain of the Group’s offtakers including
Electricity and Water Authority (“EWA”) in UAE, Oman Power and Water Procurement Company SAOC (“OPWP”) in
Oman and Saudi Electricity Company (“SEC”), Saudi Power Procurement Company (“SPPC"), Saudi Water Partnership
Co. (“SWPC") in Saudi Arabia which are currently under consideration by the offtakers, however the likelihood of
being accepted is unknown/unprecedented. The Group also relies on local and government agencies, offices, and
other third parties in obtaining permits, conducting construction of its Projects. In light of the developing measures
responding to the pandemic, many of these entities may limit the availability and access of their services. For example,
for all its Projects, the Group relies on frequent facility upkeep and improvement through operation and maintenance
("O&M") activities to maintain an efficient operation of its facilities. The COVID-19 pandemic could potentially
restrict the Group’s O&M activities due to any labor shortage and limited availability of third-party service providers,
resulting in an adverse impact on the Group’s revenues that are not covered through insurance due to the fact that
the COVID-19 related risks are not covered under the Group’s existing insurance policies. Please refer to Section (6-
3-2-5) ("Management Discussion & Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Covid-19") for
further details. If the suppliers and the third-party service providers continue to have limited capacities for a prolonged
period or if additional limitations or potential disruptions in these services materialize, it may negatively affect the
Group's operations. Moreover, the Group may have disputes with suppliers, contractors or customers that could lead
to litigation or arbitration due to contractual force majeure notices.

Furthermore, in response to COVID-19, the Group has modified and may continue to modify its business practices
with respect to the physical presence of employees and remote working policies, all of which may increase the risk of
inefficiencies due to reliance on less robust information technology, of increased cybersecurity and incidences of IT
failures and of data security breaches.

Liquidity risk. The Group's success may be influenced by a variety of external factors which may affect the price or
marketability of the Group’s goods and services, including disruptions in the capital markets, changes in interest rates
that may increase the Group’s funding costs and, with respect to a limited number of the Group's operations, reduced
demand for the power or water produced by the Group due to economic conditions and the various response of
governmental and nongovernmental authorities. The COVID-19 pandemic has significantly increased economic
and demand uncertainty and has led to disruption and volatility in the global capital markets during 2020G, which
increases the cost of capital and adversely impacts access to capital. Although the global markets have begun to
show some signs of recovery, a prolonged period of volatile and unstable market conditions may increase the Group’s
funding costs and negatively affect market risk mitigation strategies. Furthermore, significant disruptions in the
business of the Group or significant declines in operating results as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic could result
in additional impairment charges in the future of the Group’s goodwill or long-term assets. For more information
regarding the impairment of the Group'’s assets, see also 2-1-13 “Risks related to potential impairment of the
Group’s goodwill or long-term assets”

Strategicrisk. Reduced demand from the slowdown in the global economy may impact the development and success
of the Group’s greenfield projects. Due to the potential prolonged global economic crisis or recession, the reduced
customer demand for electricity may not increase rapidly to or from pre-COVID-19 level. The economic downturns
may alter the priorities of governments to subsidize and/or incentivize participation in the Group's primary markets
in which it operates as well as on its greenfield developments, which could have an adverse impact on the Group's
financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows. For more information regarding this change in government
priorities, see for example, the delays in payments relating to the Group's assets in Jordan as discussed further in
“Operational risk” above.

Because there have been no comparable recent global pandemics that resulted in a similar global impact, there is still significant
uncertainty relating to the severity of the near- and long-term adverse impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the global economy;,
global financial markets, the Saudi Arabian economy and the economies of the jurisdictions in which the Group operates. As a
result, the Group may not be able to accurately predict the near- or long-term impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Group’s
business, financial condition and results of operations. It is possible that the current COVID-19 pandemic will cause a prolonged
global economic crisis or recession, which could have a negative impact on the Saudi Arabian economy in general and the
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Group's industry and business in particular. The extent to which the COVID-19 outbreak impacts the Group's business, results of
operations and financial condition will depend on future developments, including the timeliness and effectiveness of measures
taken or not taken to contain and mitigate the effects of COVID-19 both in Saudi Arabia and internationally by governments,
central banks, healthcare providers, health system participants, other businesses and individuals, which are highly uncertain and
cannot be predicted.

Should any of the above risks materialize, this could materially and adversely affect the Group's business, operations, operating
results, financial condition, liquidity, capital levels and future prospects.

2-4-2 Risks related to the Group being exposed to political risks in the coun-
tries and regions where it operates

The Group is exposed to the geopolitical risks in the countries in which the Group operates as well as the countries into which
the Group intends to expand, which could have an adverse effect on the economy of these countries and thereby the Group’s
customers and its operations in such regions. Such risks could adversely impact the value of any investment in the Group.

The offtakers of the power and/or desalinated water produced by the plants developed by the relevant Project Companies are
typically government or semi-government entities. Notwithstanding any contractual cost and revenue protections available
under the relevant Offtake Agreements (including any local or foreign political force majeure) any unexpected major change
in the political condition in any of the countries in which the Group has invested or plans to invest (particularly in emerging
economies where such risks are greater), including a change in government, political instability, nationalization, major policy
shifts or revolution or any negative developments in the existing relationship between the Group or Project Company and such
government entities could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial position and results of operations.
For example, in the case of a natural or foreign political force majeure event affecting CEGCO in Jordan, unless CEGCO terminates
the relevant Offtake Agreements pursuant to such force majeure event, NEPCO is not obliged to buy back the shareholders’
shares. In addition, Kirikkale and Khalladi IPP do not benefit form change of law protection and Kirikkale, Khalladi IPP and the
Group's assets in Oman do not benefit from termination protection.

2-4-3 Risks related to the environmental regulations in the jurisdictions
where the Group operates

The risks of environmental damage, such as pollution and leakage, are inherent in the power generation and water desalination
industries. The Group is subject to numerous international, national and local environmental laws and regulations, as well as
the requirements of the independent government agencies and development banks that provide financing for many of the
Group’s projects. These laws, regulations and requirements govern, among other things, the generation, storage, handling, use,
disposal and transportation of hazardous materials; the emission and discharge of hazardous materials into the ground, air or
water; and treatment of migratory birds and endangered and threatened animal and plant species.

These environmental laws, regulations and requirements are expected to become more stringent in the future and, to the
extent that change in law protection is not otherwise provided under the relevant Offtake Agreement or ancillary document,
asis the case in the Khalladi IPP and Vinh Hao 6 PV IPP, any changes in environmental law and regulation may result in increased
liabilities, compliance costs, capital expenditures, difficulty in the Group’s ability to comply with applicable requirements or
obtain financing for the Group’s Projects. In connection with these environmental laws, regulations and requirements, the
Group may need to obtain new or revised permits, purchase offsets or allowances, or install costly emission control technologies
and such changes could have a material adverse impact on the Group's business, financial position and results of operations.

From time to time, the Group may not be in compliance with applicable environmental laws, regulations or requirements
or environmental permits. The business of generating power involves certain risks, including fuel spillage or seepage or
the release of hazardous materials, which could result from, or lead to, the Group not being in compliance with applicable
environmental laws. Government environmental agencies, and in some jurisdictions, environmental advocacy groups and/
or other private parties, could take enforcement actions against the Group for any failure to comply with applicable laws,
regulations or requirements or environmental permits. Such enforcement actions could lead to, among other things, the
imposition of fines, liabilities or capital improvements, revocation of licences, suspension of operations, imposition of criminal
liability or reputational harm to the Group.

For example, since 2015G, the emissions of sulphur oxides at the Rabigh IPP have exceeded the applicable limits in Saudi
Arabia, as a result of which the Group entered into discussions on how to resolve this issue with the General Authority for
Meteorology and Environment Protection (“GAMEP”) in relation to its environmental operating permit. The Group obtained
a permit renewal from GAMEP and, in parallel, commenced work on flue gas desulphurization (“FGD") modification at the
Rabigh IPP at a cost of approximately SAR 40 million. Upon completion of the Rabigh IPP and demonstration that the FGD
modification would keep sulphur oxides emissions within limits, Rabigh IPP received the environment permit from GAMEP
in March 2020G for a period of 2 years. Rabigh IPP continues to face difficulties in continuous run capabilities of the FGD
modification and is working on appropriate measures towards ensuring its reliable operation, expected to be complete in
Q1 2022G. While it is expected that the Rabigh IPP will fully comply with the applicable emissions standards and regulations
after the completion of these measures, there can be no assurance that this Project may not continue to exceed the applicable
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emissions limits, in which case it could become subject to fines, the suspension or revocation of its operating licences or to
an event of default under its financing arrangements (see also 2-3-3“ Risk related to events of default under the financing
arrangements”). Environmental laws, regulations and requirements can also impose joint, several and strict liability for the
environmental remediation of releases and discharges of hazardous materials and wastes at the Group’s and its predecessors’
currently and formerly owned, leased and operated sites and at third-party sites to which the Group or its predecessors have sent
waste, and could require the Group to incur significant costs for natural resource damages, investigate or remediate resulting
contamination or indemnify or reimburse third parties for the same. Locations at which the Project Companies operate may be,
or have been in the past, contaminated with hazardous materials, resulting in a potential liability to investigate or remediate
them, as well as for claims of alleged harm to persons, property or natural resources.

If any of these risks materialise, this could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial position and results of
operations of the Group.

2-4-4 Risks related to violations by Project Companies of health, safety and
security standards

The Project Companies and its contractors are subject to applicable health and safety and security regulations in force in the
countries in which the Group operates that set various standards for regulating certain aspects of health, safety and security
quality and impose civil and criminal penalties and other liabilities for any violations. The use of machinery and high-voltage
equipment inherent in the Group’s business may involve significant health and safety risks.

Potential health, safety and security events that may materially impact the Project Companies’ operations include fires,
flooding, explosions, light vehicle incidents, falls from height, personal injuries and fatalities, electrocutions, incidents involving
equipment and emissions of harmful gases or chemicals. Fatalities, or serious injury, to employees or site contractors may occur
due to these or other factors. Such events have occurred in the past and may occur in the future. In 2018G, one fatality occurred
at Hassyan IPP as a result of a fall and two fatalities occurred at Sohar IIl IPP, one as a result of a fall and the other as a result a
fire. In 2019G, one fatality occurred at Hassyan IPP as a result of a drowning and one fatality occurred at Rabigh 3 IWP due to a
heavy-machinery accident. To date, the Company has not experienced a material impact resulting from any liability in relation
to such incidents. However, there can be no guarantee that the Project Companies will be in compliance with all applicable
health, safety and security regulations in force in the countries in which the Group operates in the future. Should any Project
Company fail to comply with any such regulations, it may be liable for penalties and/or the consequences of default under
any contractual obligations requiring it to comply with applicable regulations. Such accidents could also result in a material
reputational impact on the Group that will materially and adversely affect the price of the Offer Shares in the market and the
Group’s business, financial position and results of operations.

In addition, relevant authorities in the countries in which the Group operates may enforce existing regulations, including
health, safety and security laws and regulations, more strictly than they have done in the past and may in the future impose
stricter standards, or higher levels of fines and penalties for violations, than those which are in effect at present. Accordingly,
the Group is unable to estimate the future financial impact of compliance with, or the cost of a violation of, any applicable
regulations by the Project Companies.

Furthermore, the Project Companies operate in the countries where environmental, health and safety laws, regulations and
their enforcement are still developing. Increasingly, the Project Companies’ stakeholders expect them to apply stringent,
internationally recognized health, safety and security benchmarks to their operations, which could result in significant new
obligations and costs for them. For example, in 2017G the High Commission for Industrial Security (the “HCIS") in Saudi Arabia
issued a new set of industrial security directives (the “2017 HCIS Directives”). As a result, two Group Companies have become
subject to potential upgrades in order to comply with the 2017 HCIS Directives, the cost of which is estimated to be up to a total
of SAR 91 million (excluding VAT). As of May 2021G, one of these Group Companies has engaged a contractor to undertake the
works necessary for the plant to comply with the new directives.

Failure to manage relationships with governments and non-governmental organisations may harm the Project Companies’
reputation and operations, which could in turn adversely affect the Project Companies’revenues, results of operations and cash
flows, potentially in a material manner.

In addition, the Project Companies’ costs and management time required to comply with internationally recognized standards
of social responsibility and sustainability are expected to increase over time.

Any occurrence of loss of life or serious injury to the Project Companies’ (PC) employees as a result of any breach of applicable
safety legislation may result in a disruption to the PC operations or cause reputational harm, and significant liability could be
imposed on such Project Companies for damages, penalties and/or compensation as a result. Disruption to a Project Company'’s
operations could come in the form of “Stop Work” orders (or the legal equivalent), and if the PCis in the middle of construction,
a Stop Work order would expose the PC to delay related liquidated damages. If in the Project is operational, to the disruption
could cause a loss of revenue. Major incidents could also be picked up and reported by the media thus adversely affecting the
Group’s reputation.




A'(:WA POWERE\ 63

jolu |

If any of the above risks were to materialise, this could materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, financial position
and results of operations.

2-4-5 Risks related to the Group’s licensing and permits and corporate reg-
istration requirements

The Group and the Project Companies are required to obtain and maintain appropriate licences, permits and regulatory
consents in respect of their activities, including corporate registration requirements, environmental permits and licences and
approvals for the operation of its facilities, construction of new, or modification of existing, facilities or the installation and
operation of new equipment required for the Group’s businesses. Permits, licences and approvals are generally subject to
periodic renewal and challenge from third parties. In addition, most of the licences provide that the relevant company may be
subject to financial penalties, or the relevant licence may be suspended or terminated (following a warning), if it fails to comply
with the requirements of the relevant licence. Furthermore, the Group operates in heavily regulated industries requiring multiple
licenses in low transparency jurisdictions, as a result of which the Group may become exposed to bribery and corruption risks
in relation to those licensing processes (see also 2-4-11 “Risks related to the Group conducting a significant amount of its
business in countries, including developing countries, which present significant risks that could adversely impact the
Group’s business, results of operations, and financial condition and reputation” and 2-4-12 “Risks related to the Group
not being able to detect money laundering, bribery and other illegal or improper activities fully or on a timely basis,
which could expose it to liability and harm its business or reputation”).

When a licence is sought to be renewed or amended there can be no guarantee that the relevant authority would be prepared
to renew the relevant licence or otherwise permit the same scope of work when granting such licence. Furthermore, the
relevant authority may choose to impose onerous conditions on the Project Company in the course of such renewal (for
example, due to a difference in interpretation by the Group and a regulator of the relevant legal requirements and standards
or other related matters). Whilst the Group believes that the relevant Project Companies have obtained the licences required
by law for their activities (subject to the below), there can be no guarantee that additional licences may not be required in the
future. If a Project Company is unable to procure the relevant licence or is unable to renew an existing licence on similar terms,
it could (to the extent that adequate protection is not otherwise provided under the relevant Offtake Agreement or ancillary
document) materially impact the operation of the projects and in some limited circumstances, may also lead to a cancellation
of the project or closure of the plant.

NOMAC Oman’s constitutional documents are not compliant with the relevant regulations in Oman. Although, the commercial
companies law does not specifically address the consequences of failing to update the constitutional documents, the Ministry
of Commerce and Industry in the Sultanate of Oman has broad enforcement powers which includes the suspension of a
company’s commercial registration. In addition, on 11 May 2021G, the Authority for Public Services Regulation (APSR) notified
SGC, lbri, DGC, DDC, Barka and Shams Ad-Dhahira Generating Company (SAGS), of a breach of the provisions of their licenses
arising from a change in control which had not been notified to APSR. This change in control arose from a change in the
shareholding of the ultimate parent company that owns these companies due to PIF’s recent investment into ACWA Power.
These companies have provided APSR with a notification, which is being considered by APSR. In the event that it is not accepted
by APSR, there is a risk that APSR will revoke the licenses of such companies.

Furthermore, pursuant to the terms of ACWA Power Redstone’s generation licence, amendments, variations and / or ratification
of power purchases and connection agreements must not be made without the prior written approval of NERSA. Any
amendment to the PPA without the prior written approval from NERSA is a breach of the generation licence. In terms of section
18 of the Electricity Regulation Act 4 of 2006 of South Africa, contravention of a licence condition may carry a penalty of 10% of
the annual turnover of the licensee or R2,000,000.00 (approximately SAR 500,000) per day commencing from receipt of notice
from NERSA to comply with a condition in the event of failure and until compliance with such a notice. In the event the project
company did not comply with these conditions, fines will be imposed on the project company which would have a material
adverse impact on the Group's business, financial position and results of operations.

There are seven Key Group Companies and a number of Intermediate Holding Companies in KSA which have not updated their
constitutional documents to be in line with the latest amendments to the Saudi Companies Law and also to implement the
new International Standard Industrial Classification of All Economic Activities (ISIC4) coded activities system, which could result
in certain issues in processing applications with the Ministry of Commerce and the Ministry of Investment, which could result
in a material adverse impact on the Group’s operations.

In addition, STPC has been granted a temporary license from the Electricity & Co-Generation Regulatory Authority (‘ECRA”)
dated 09/11/1441H (corresponding to 29 June 2020G) in order to carry out seawater desalination activities through
07/11/1442H (corresponding to 17 June 2021G) pending issuance of a permanent ECRA licence. ECRA will continue to issue
temporary licenses until certain regulatory changes are implemented. Until such time, there is a risk that ECRA may not renew
the relevant licence which could cause STPC to suffer substantial losses.

If any of the above risks were to materialise, this could materially and adversely affect the Group's business, financial position
and results of operations.
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2-4-6 Risks related to the change, adverse interpretations or inconsistent
enforcement of the tax laws and regulations in countries in which the
Group’s projects operate

The Group has Projects that operate in jurisdictions where taxes are payable which can be substantial and include, amongst
others, corporate income tax, value-added tax, custom duties, profit taxes, payroll-related taxes, withholding taxes, property
taxes and other taxes. Furthermore, tax laws and regulations in some of these countries, including transfer pricing policies
with respect to cross-border intragroup transactions in which the Group engages, may be subject to the introduction of new
tax laws and regulations, frequent change, varying interpretation and inconsistent enforcement. While all the Projects of the
Group other than Marafiq IWPP, Kirikkale CCGT IPP and Bokpoort CSP IPP have change in tax law protection in the Offtake
Agreements whereby the introduction of new taxes or change in current tax rates are passed through the tariff to the offtakers
(the Bokpoort CSP IPP has a more limited protection for discriminatory changes applied only to the Project), there remains
a possibility of the imposition of taxes and penalties, either by imposing incorrect tax assessments not in line with the tax
rules and law or by introduction of new taxes, which could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial
position and results of operations. Furthermore, because the Group operates in certain low transparency jurisdictions with
respect to tax application and enforcement, the Group may become exposed to bribery and corruption risks in relation to tax
proceedings (see also 2-4-11 “Risks related to the Group conducting a significant amount of its business in countries,
including developing countries, which present significant risks that could adversely impact the Group’s business,
results of operations, and financial condition and reputation” and 2-4-12 “Risks related to the Group not being able
to detect money laundering, bribery and other illegal or improper activities fully or on a timely basis, which could
expose it to liability and harm its business or reputation”). In addition to the usual tax burden imposed on taxpayers, these
conditions could create uncertainty as to the tax implications of various business decisions. This uncertainty could expose the
relevant Project Company to significant fines and penalties and to enforcement measures despite its best efforts at compliance,
and could result in a greater than expected tax burden which would impact the Group’s revenues and could have a material
adverse effect on its business, financial position and results of operations.

As at 10 June 2021G, the Group (i.e. Key Group Companies and all other Group Companies that are both consolidated and
nonconsolidated) has received assessments under appeal for a number of Projects, for which the total potential tax exposure is
SAR 124,472,842 (excluding Zakat, delay fines and time-barred claims) and of which ACWA Power’s share of this isamount is SAR
56,326,848 (excluding delay fines and time-barred claims). This amount includes tax assessments for both Saudi and non-Saudi
Group Companies. Where Saudi entities have been subject to both Zakat and tax assessments, only the tax assessment value
has been included in this section, and the Zakat portion has been included in Section (2-4-7) below. For further information,
see (2-4-7 " Risks related to the change, adverse interpretations or inconsistent enforcement of the Zakat laws and
regulations in countries in which the Group’s projects operate”) below. A total provision against the tax exposure of SAR
45,487,423 has been made. While the Group believes it has grounds to prevail in these appeals, there can be no assurance that
it will not be required to pay part or all of these amounts. Please refer to Section (12-13) (“The Zakat Status of the Company
and its Subsidiaries”) for further details on the Group's tax positions.

In addition, the relevant Project Company may be exposed to an increase in the amount of the taxes payable, if tax rates
increase or the tax laws or regulations in the jurisdictions in which it operates, or treaties between those jurisdictions, are
modified or interpreted in an adverse manner particularly in relation to withholding tax treaties (unless, as stated above, the
increase, modification or change in interpretation is covered under the change of law protections). This will impact the Project
Company’s ability to make distributions to its sponsors (including the Company) which could have a material adverse effect
on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations. For example, as at the date of this Prospectus, RABEC
has made an appeal to ZATCA in relation to certain withholding tax implications on certain payments made by RABEC to
shareholders outside Saudi Arabia. The ZATCA has not accepted the interpretation of RABEC with respect to benefits of not
applying withholding taxes under the Saudi Arabia-Korean tax treaty on payments made to Korean shareholders in relation to
project development fees. RABEC has filed an appeal with Tax Appeal Committee (GSTC) and is waiting for the final decision
on the matter. The total withholding tax and zakat demand on each of RABEC is SAR 25 million, HEPCO is SAR 19 million
(excluding delay fines of SAR 7 million) and SQWEC is SAR 16.9 million (excluding time-barred claims of SAR 22.3 million).

As at 10 June 2021G, the Group (i.e. Key Group Companies and all other Group Companies that are both consolidated and
nonconsolidated) had a total potential tax and zakat exposure related to current open claims amounting to SAR 247,879,833
(including share of other partners where applicable in the Project Companies) relating to assessments under appeal (excluding
delay fines and time-barred claims subject to the statute of limitations of approximately SAR 68 million) of which ACWA Power’s
share of this amount is SAR 129,287,389 (SAR 56,326,848 for tax payments and SAR 72,960,541 for zakat payments)) (excluding
delay fines and time-barred claims), and a provision against this exposure of a total value of SAR 85,243,518 (ACWA Power’s
share of the provision amount due to its effective ownership is SAR 53.6 million approximately). The amounts of these disputes
include the total amount disputed by the Key Group Companies (SAR 195,347,148) and by the rest of the Group Companies
(i.e., companies other than the Key Group Companies) (SAR 52,532,685).
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Additionally, as at 10 June 2021G, the Group had a total potential tax and zakat exposure on draft assessments issued by the
ZATCA for all the previous periods amounting to 172,736,269 (including share of other partners where applicable in the Project
Companies), of which ACWA Power’s share of this amount is SAR 41,256,401. As the assessments are in draft, they are subject
to change from the ZATCA until the final assessment is issued. The Group is currently appealing against the draft assessments
and to have these removed. The 2018G draft assessment of JWAP of SAR 160,656,642 million makes up the most of the draft
assessment total, with smaller immaterial draft assessments on other KSA Group entities making up the remaining amount.

Furthermore, the Group has invested in the relevant Project Companies through complex investment structures which
involve special purpose vehicles incorporated across multiple jurisdictions. There is a risk that a material adverse change in
the regulatory or tax environment in any of these jurisdictions will impact any distributions to be received by the Group from
the relevant Project Company which will impact the Group’s revenues and could have a material adverse effect on its business,
financial position and results of operations.

2-4-7 Risks related to the change, adverse interpretations or inconsistent
enforcement of the Zakat laws and regulations in countries in which
the Group’s projects operate

Since incorporation and up to 2014, the Company and its wholly owned Subsidiaries filed consolidated Zakat declarations as
required under the Zakat guidance issued by the ZATCA (as 100% Saudi shareholders owned companies were only subject to
Zakat in KSA), and for the non-wholly owned Subsidiaries (which are subject to both Zakat and tax as they were considered as
mixed companies) they were required to file Zakat and tax returns (non-consolidated) separately based on their standalone
financial statements.

Following the investment of the International Finance Corporation (“IFC") in 2014G, the Company and its Subsidiaries were
deconsolidated for Zakat purposes given IFC’s shares in the Company’s profits should not be subject to Zakat (as a non-GCC
entity) and is exempt from Tax in KSA. From 2014G to the end of 2020G, the Saudi Group Companies were considered as mixed
companies and were required to file Zakat and tax returns (non-consolidated) separately based on their standalone financial
statements. Following IFC's exit in 2020G, the Company has the option to consolidate its Zakat returns which include the
Company and its wholly owned Subsidiaries for Zakat purposes going forward (on the basis it will be subject to Zakat only in
KSA).

The Group and the Project Companies operating in Saudi Arabia are required to file Zakat returns with the ZATCA in Saudi
Arabia on an annual basis and can deduct its investments to the extent of Saudi shareholders ownership in partly-owned
foreign and KSA projects from its Zakat base subject to satisfying certain conditions. The ZATCA's application of this approach is
based on the understood practice as at the date of this Prospectus. There is a risk that if there is a material shift in ZATCA's policy
in this regard, the Group could become subject to additional Zakat payments which could have a material adverse effect on the
Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Company has closed all Zakat/Tax assessments from incorporation to and including 2018G. The periods of 2019G
and 2020G remain open. Given that the Company and number of its Subsidiaries have not yet not completed their Zakat
assessments for some previous years, the ZATCA may impose additional Zakat payments related to the years in which the
assessment and payment of the dues imposed on the Company and its related Subsidiaries have not been completed, which
may result in higher Zakat payments compared to the expected payments, which may have an adverse impact on the Group’s
business, financial position and results of operations. For more information about the years in which the assessment was not
completed and the final Zakat and Tax assessments were paid for the Key Group Companies (inside and outside KSA), as well as
the disputed amounts and the provisions for each of them as of 13 May 2021G, see Section (12-13) (“The Zakat Status of the
Company and its Subsidiaries”).

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Group has received Zakat assessments currently under appeal for a number of Projects, for
which the total potential Zakat exposure is SAR 123,406,992 (excluding time-barred claims) and of which ACWA Power’s share
of this is amount is SAR 72,960,541 (excluding time-barred claims), a provision against the Zakat exposure of SAR 39,756,095
has been made. There can be no assurance that it will not be required to pay part or all of these amounts.

These include the Zakat demand on each of RABEC is SAR 18,572,434 (excluding time-barred claims of SAR 7 million
approximately), and HEPCO is SAR 43,607,715.The Group has filed an appeal against the demand raised by the ZATCA, RABEC in
2018G and HEPCO in 2018G and 2021G. The Group received its Zakat assessment of SAR 41,005,408 for the periods 2015-2017G
and for 2018G wherein ZATCA has raised a demand on a Group’s wholly owned company (APP). APP has made a provision
against these demands of SAR 12,500,000. In the event that these companies are not successful in appealing and reducing
these claims, they will bear these amounts, which would have a material adverse impact on their financial position and the
results of their operations.

Please refer to Section (12-13) (“The Zakat Status of the Company and its Subsidiaries”) for further details on the Group’s
Zakat positions.
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2-4-8 Risks related to antitrust laws, including the Competition Law in Saudi
Arabia, and similar legislation and legislation relating to unfair com-
petitive practices and similar behaviour in the jurisdictions where the
Group operates

The Group is subject to a variety of antitrust, unfair competitive practices and similar laws and regulations in the jurisdictions
where it operates. In some of the markets in which the Group operates, it has market positions that may make future significant
greenfield projects or acquisitions more difficult and may limit its ability to expand. In addition, the Group may be subject
to allegations of, or further regulatory investigations or proceedings into, unfair competitive practices or similar behaviour.
Such allegations, investigations or proceedings may require the devotion of significant management effort, time and financial
resources to defending the Group. In the event that such allegations are proven, there may be significant fines, damages awards
and other expenses, and the Group's reputation may be harmed, which could have a material adverse effect on its businesses.

In Saudi Arabia, if the Group has or is deemed or classified by the General Authority for Competition (the “GAC”) as having a
dominant position in the market, the Group’s operational activities shall be subject to the terms and conditions set out in the
Competition Law issued by Royal Decree No. (M/75) dated 29/6/1440H (corresponding to 6 March 2019G) and Implementing
Regulations thereof issued by the General Authority for Competition under Resolution No. (337) dated 25/1/1441H
(corresponding to 24 September 2019G). The Competition Law seeks to protect fair competition in the Saudi markets and
promote and establish market rules and free/transparent prices. In the event that the Group violates the provisions of the
Competition Law and a judgment is issued against the Group with respect to such violation, the Group may be subject to
significant fines at the discretion of the GAC. In addition, the GAC is entitled to request (partial or full) suspension of the Group’s
activities temporarily or permanently in case of repeated violations. Moreover, defending against such proceedings may be
lengthy and costly to the Group. The occurrence of any of these risks could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
revenues, financial position, results of operations and future prospects.

Furthermore, Pursuant to Article 7 of the Competition Law, entities participating in an economic concentration are required to
notify the GAC for approval of such concentration at least 90 days prior to completing the relevant transaction. The law defines
“economic concentration” widely to capture, amongst other things, any partial transfer of ownership over shares and states
that its implementing regulations will set out the application process to be followed. The implementing regulations of the
Competition Law set a new threshold with respect to transactions that require the approval of the GAC. If the total revenues of
the entities involved in a sale and purchase transaction exceed SAR 100 million, then the relevant parties should apply to the
GAC at least 90 days prior to completion. The GAC issued some guidance on which entities should be taken into account when
determining whether the aforementioned threshold has been exceeded. Effectively, the parties to the relevant transaction
(along with any other entity controlled within their respective groups) should be considered. Given the size of the Group, and
its considerable involvement in the Saudi market, any corporate transaction undertaken by a Group member may trigger the
SAR 100 million threshold and, as a result, such transaction may need to be filed with the GAC for approval. This is the case even
if such transaction occurs outside the Kingdom and regardless of the size of the transaction.

GACshould be notified of all merger and acquisitions that are affected by the Group which are deemed economic concentrations.
Under the Competition Law, the GAC has a right to reject any such transaction if it deems it to be prejudicial to competition
in the Kingdom. The GAC would have a period of 90 days to provide a response. If it is found that a filing was required and the
parties move forward with the proposed transaction without seeking the GAC's approval, the GAC may impose a fine of (i) up
to 10% of the annual sales in connection with the violation, or (ii) up to three times the amounts profited by the violator(s) as a
result. Additionally, the GAC may require the violator(s) to take all necessary steps to rectify the violation, including unwinding
the whole transaction, and a daily penalty fee of up to SAR 10,000 may be imposed until such rectification is completed.

Given that the merger and acquisition activities form an integral part of the Group’s business model, there is a risk that the GAC
may withhold its approval, issue conditional approvals that the Group may not be able to satisfy, reject certain transactions or
delay their completion until it issues its decision GAC may also impose the above-mentioned penalties/sanctions if it finds that
any Group Company has not complied with the provisions of the Competition Law and its implementing regulations.

If any of the above risks were to materialise, this could materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, financial position
and results of operations.

2-4-9 Risks related to the Group not being in compliance with applicable
labour laws and regulations and/or if not being able to retain existing
key senior management personnel or other key skilled employees or
continue to attract and employ key personnel with the suitable skills
and experience

The Group's operating success and its ability to carry out its growth initiatives are dependent on the abilities, skills and experience
of its senior management and other personnel, in administrative, listed company governance and operational areas. The Group
may not be able to retain existing key employees or continue to attract and employ key people who have specific technical or
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industry expertise, including people in the many international locations where the Group has operations. This might result in
a shortage of trained and qualified personnel. Such shortage of personnel may be a constraint on the Group’s ability to retain
the resources required to run its operations effectively and, therefore, could have a material adverse effect on their business,
financial position and results of operations of the Group.

Additionally, the Group is required to abide by applicable labor and employment law requirements, including Saudization
requirements, the failure of which could lead to the imposition of fines and potential termination by the employees. For
example, the Company and six of the Key Group Companies operating in KSA have not updated their employment contracts
or HR manuals/policies to include the mandatory provisions required by the Saudi Labor Law, which could lead to fines of up
to SAR 100,000, temporary closure for up to 30 days or permanent closure of the establishment and even termination of the
employment contract by the relevant employees.

The Group is also routinely required to assess the business, financial, legal and tax impacts of complicated business transactions
the Group enters into on a worldwide basis, whether in connection with operating projects or new projects the Group is
developing or evaluating. The success of these projects is dependent on hiring and retaining personnel globally with sufficient
expertise to allow the Group to accurately and timely complete its analysis and reporting requirements. The inability to attract
and retain qualified personnel or the difficulty of promptly finding qualified replacements could have a material adverse effect
on the Group’s business.

Furthermore, from time to time, executives and other employees with technical or industry expertise may depart or be removed
from the Group. If the Group fails to appoint qualified and effective successors in the event of such departures or removals, this
could have a material adverse effect on its business operations and growth strategy.

2-4-10 Risks related to the enforcement of foreign court judgments and arbi-
tral awards in the countries in which the Group operates

All countries in which the Group operates are parties to the New York Convention. However, there is no certainty that the Group
would be able to successfully enforce foreign court judgments or arbitral awards in all of the countries where it operates as
enforcement depends on the relevant enforcement law in those jurisdictions and the relevant court’s interpretation of the same.
For example, most of the Group's projects agreements for Projects located in KSA are governed by foreign laws such as laws of
England and Wales and disputes arising out from these agreements are subject to arbitration pursuant to the UNCITRAL Rules
for International Arbitration or the Rules of Arbitration of the International Chamber of Commerce. Accordingly, judgments
issued in this respect will constitute foreign judgments for the Saudi court and for a foreign judgment to be enforceable in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, it must comply with the Saudi Enforcement Law, and the principle of reciprocity must exist between
the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and the relevant country. The inability of the Group to enforce a foreign court judgement or
arbitral award could impact its revenues and could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial position
and results of operations.

2-4-11  Risks related to the Group conducting a significant amount of its
business in countries, including developing countries, which present
significant risks that could adversely impact the Group’s business, re-
sults of operations, and financial condition and reputation

Most of the Group's business is conducted in countries that are classified by the United Nations as developing countries. The
Group has operations and/or development activities in a variety of developing countries. Part of the Group’s growth strategy
is to selectively expand its business in countries in which the Group already has a presence and other countries, including
developing countries, based on an assessment of various factors, including the political, economic and investment stability of
the country. Operations in any country, and particularly the operation, financing and development of projects in developing
countries and other jurisdictions which the Group operates in or targets, may entail significant risks and uncertainties, including:

*  Economic, social and political instability, including threats of terrorism, in any particular country or regional;

*  Nascent legal regimes in the countries in which the Group operates or conducts development activities;

e Unwillingness or inability of governments, government agencies, similar organisations or other counterparties to
honour their contracts;

*  Difficulties in hiring, training and retaining qualified personnel;
* Aninability to obtain access to fair and equitable political, regulatory, administrative and legal systems;

*  Corruption, bribery and compliance risk and the risk of fraudulent activity by the Group’s employees, subsidiaries,
joint ventures or associates (see also, Section (2-4-12) (“Risks related to the Group not being able to detect
money laundering, bribery and other illegal or improper activities fully or on a timely basis, which could
expose it to liability and harm its business or reputation”);
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e Local social unrest or protests against the operation of power generation and/or water desalination or steam
production projects by protesters such as environmentalist or anti-nuclear protesters; and

*  Potentially adverse tax consequences of operating in multiple jurisdictions.

Any of these factors, by itself or in combination with others, could materially and adversely affect the Group's business, results
of operations, financial condition and reputation.

2-4-12  Risks related to the Group not being able to detect money launder-
ing, bribery and otherillegal or improper activities fully or on a timely
basis, which could expose it to liability and harm its business or rep-
utation

The Group is required to comply with applicable anti-money laundering, anti-bribery and anti-terrorism laws and other
regulations in the jurisdictions where it has operations. These laws and regulations require the Group, among other things, to
adopt and enforce“know your customer” (“KYC") policies and procedures and to report suspicious and large transactions to the
applicable regulatory authorities in different jurisdictions.

The Company has in place internal controls, systems and procedures in conformity with the relevant sanctions, anti-bribery,
anti-money laundering and anti-terrorism laws, although the compliance of such controls and procedures is limited with
respect to non-controlled entities and associates. However, there is no certainty that such internal controls and procedures will
be maintained in the future. For example, to the extent the Group, its employees, subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates, fail
to fully comply with applicable laws and regulations, the relevant government or international agencies and regulators have
the power to impose monetary fines and other penalties, including imprisonment of the responsible persons, which could
harm its business or reputation and have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial position and results of
operation.

2-4-13  Risks related to the Group and its companies entering into transac-
tions with Related Parties

The Group and its companies have entered into transactions with certain of their Related Parties or affiliates that are operation
and maintenance contractors or subcontractors, offtakers, shareholders, Project Companies, EPC Contractors or providers of
intercompany loans, such as O&M contracts, services arrangements, shareholder agreements and loans from shareholders.
See Section (12-8) (“Legal Information—Summary of Material Related Party Contracts and Transactions”). Related party
transactions are determined and recorded in the Financial Statements in accordance with IFRS and applicable Saudi Arabian
rules and regulation. The total amount of the related parties transactions during the financial year 2020G is SAR 2,287 million.
For more information on transactions with related parties, including the relationship of the parties to the Company as well as
the concerned amounts for the last three years together with their various analyses, see Section (6-3-6-14) (“"Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Position and Results of Operations - Transactions with related parties”).

As at the date of this Prospectus, all current Related Party transactions of the Company are on an arm’s length basis. However,
there can be no assurance that the terms and scope of agreements with Related Parties in the future are as favourable to the
Group, the Project Companies and/or NOMAC as those that may have been obtained from unaffiliated third parties. Particularly
in circumstances in which the interests of the Group, the Project Companies and/or NOMAC differ from the interests of their
respective affiliates. To the extent that the Company enters into contracts with any Related Parties which are not on arm’s-length
terms and/or in the event such transactions transfer undue benefits to Related Parties of the Group, this could negatively affect
the Company’s costs and revenues which would, in turn, adversely and materially affect the Company’s business, results of
operations, financial condition and prospects.

The Group's future success is also dependent on the continuation of the relationships with the Group’s Related Parties (see
also Section (12-6) (Legal Information — Overview of the Group’s Contracts) for an overview of the Group’s contractual
framework, including the arrangements between the Group Companies), and the expiry or termination of any material related
party contract or relationship would adversely and materially affect the Group’s business, results of operations, financial
condition and prospects.

Additionally, if the Project Companies have to contract with third parties because such related parties are unable to meet
their obligations under these contracts, no assurance can be given that the Group, the Project Companies and/or NOMAC
could replicate the terms of these contracts, which could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial position
and results of operations of the Group, the Project Companies and/or NOMAC. See also, 2-1-8 “ Risks related to the extent to
which profits of the Group and the operation and maintenance of the Group’s Projects depend on the costs of operation and
the performance by the operation and maintenance contractors of their contractual obligations”, 2-1-10 “Risks related to the
extension and non-extension of the Offtake Agreements of the Group's build, own, operate (“BOO”) projects“ and 2-2-3 “Risks
related to the significant increase in the price or the interruption in the provision of fuel"
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Under Article 71 of the Companies Law, transactions in which any Director is deemed to have an interest will need to be
disclosed to the General Assembly for approval. Directors are also required to obtain the approval of the General Assembly if
they are engaged in any activities that compete with the Group in accordance with Article 72 of the Companies Law and Article
46 of the Corporate Governance Regulations. Given that the Directors and the Company’s Substantial Shareholders, who may
have representatives on the Board, are generally involved in the Group's sector, this could give rise to conflicts of interest from
time to time that require the approval of the General Assembly pursuant to Article 71 or Article 72 of the Companies Law. For
further details, please see Section (5-5-4) (“Corporate Governance Compliance”) and Section (5-9) (“Interests of Directors,
Senior Executives and Relatives in contracts entered into with the Company and its Subsidiaries”) of this Prospectus.

There is a risk that the Company’s Board or the General Assembly of the Company or any of its group companies may not agree
on the approval of these contracts in which case the Director who is deemed to be interested in the transaction must resign,
or take steps to ensure that he/she is no longer deemed to be interested (for example by terminating the relevant contract or
disposing of the rights creating the interest). While the Group has a framework in place governing Related Party transactions
and conflicts of interest, including policies and procedures for disclosure and obtaining the approvals of the Company’s
committees, Board of Directors and the General Assembly (as the case may be), there can be no assurance that no conflicts
of interest cases will arise from time to time from entering into agreements by the Group by virtue of such parties’ relation to
the Group. Termination of these agreements or the resignation of a Director could have a negative and material impact on the
profitability of the Group and consequently on its business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

It should be noted that the Company’s General Assembly has issued an authorization for five (5) Board members (Mohammad
Abdullah Rashid Abunayyan, Sulaiman A.K. Abdulmohseen Al-Muhaidib, Rasheed Abdulrahman Nasser Al-Rasheed, Omar
MohammedNabil Mohammed Almidani and Esmail Mohammed Saleh Alsallom) to compete with the Group’s ancillary
activities, such as water treatment, district cooling, green hydrogen and other activities that are ancillary to the core activities
of the Group (i.e. those activities specified in the Company’s Bylaws). Such authorization is subject to the rules applicable
to Board members competing with the business of the Company or a branch of the activities it conducts as set out in the
related party transactions and conflict of interest policy adopted by the Company (see Section (5-7) (“Conflict of Interest and
Competing Interests”)). However, there is no guarantee that a Board member engaged in such activities would not result in a
detrimental impact on the interests of the Company and its shareholders. It is therefore possible for a Board member to engage
in businesses that compete with the Company which could impact its market share, or such Board member may not comply
with the rules for competing with the Company as set out in the related party transactions and conflict of interest policy which
could result in a negative and material impact on the profitability of the Group and consequently on its business, results of
operations, financial condition and prospects.

2-4-14  Risk related to the Group not owning all of the lands on which the
Group’s assets are located

Other than with respect to the CEGCO Assets in Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan and Bokpoort CSP IPP in South Africa which
lands are owned by the Group, the Group does not own most of the land on which its assets are located. Therefore, the Group
has obtained rights to operate these assets pursuant to related long-term leases or other arrangements (including easements).
These arrangements include key terms such as, among others, (i) grant of right to use and benefit, (ii) rights of way and
easements, (i) warranties and covenants, (iv) rent, (v) terms ranging from 15 years to 35 years. Upon an extension to any
of the existing offtake agreements, while the land leases are expected to be extended accordingly, there is the possibility
that the renewal will be on less desirable terms resulting in increased costs which may have a material adverse effect on the
Group's financial position and results of operations. Please refer to Section (6-1-3) (“(“Management Discussion & Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Significant Accounting Policies - Leases”)") and Section (12-12) (“Legal
Information- Real Estate”) for further information on the Group’s leases.

2-4-15 Risks related to material disputes and possible litigation

The Company and the Project Companies have contracted with a number of counterparties, including offtakers and, for Projects
under construction, EPC Contractors. There is generally a risk of disputes arising in relation to any of those agreements such
as from delays in achieving commercial operation, liquidated damages, achievement of performance metrics, force majeure
claims and additional works undertaken by the EPC.

As at the date of this Prospectus, the total amount of the material ongoing litigation / arbitration proceedings made against the
Group Companies is approximately SAR 180 million which represents two (2) material ongoing litigation/arbitration proceedings.
The total amount of the material ongoing litigation/arbitration proceedings made by the Group Companies (including counter-
claims) is approximately SAR 1,126 million. Please refer to Table (12-15) ("Summary of the total estimated values of the claims
by and against the Group") for the details of these material ongoing litigation/arbitration proceedings.

In addition, there are other approximately eight potential Material claims and potential material legal proceedings made or
that may be made against the Group Companies of SAR 240 million . The total amount of the material claims and potential
material legal proceedings made or that may be made by the Group Companies is approximately SAR 2,50 billion. Some of
the material claims are summarized below and for further information on the material claims to which the Group is currently
subject, see Section (12-11) (“Legal Information—Litigation”).
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The Group currently has delays in the following projects Noor Energy 1, Al Dur Phase Il IWPP, Taweelah IWP, Ibri 2 PV IPP and
Hassyan IPP. These could give rise to potential disputes with the offtakers and the Project lenders. For further information, see
also Section (2-1-3) (“Risks related to the delays, cost overruns and quality of workmanship issues in the construction
of the Group’s Projects when such delays, overruns and quality issues are not covered under its EPC contracts”) and
Section (4-6-2-4) (“The Company - Projects”).

Due to confidentiality reasons, and in order to avoid any breach of confidentiality obligations, the Company has decided not
to disclose: (i) the names of the other relevant parties to the following disputes; and (ii) certain details that could jeopardize its
position in these dispute. The Group’s material disputes include the following:

* A Group Company is claiming that a member of the European Union breached treaty law, causing material losses
to a project and approximately SAR 356 million in damages payable by the member of the European Union.
Arbitration commenced in 2018, and evidentiary hearings are scheduled for June 2021.

e Three Group Companies in KSA are subject to an ongoing dispute with their offtaker with respect to the
interpretation of the indexation provisions based on the consumer price index under the relevant project
agreements. The dispute is currently subject to an arbitration proceeding with a total potential liability or award,
depending on the outcome, of approximately SAR 87 million.

e With respect to a Group Company in South Africa, an EPC contractor consortium claims approximately SAR 75
million as alleged performance uplift payments and payments alleged to be due for additional or unpaid works.
Arbitration was commenced by the EPC contractor consortium against the Subsidiary and its shareholders, and
evidentiary hearings are scheduled for August / September 2021. The Group Company has made a counterclaim
of approximately SAR 238 million for performance related liquidated damages and defects.

e Thereis currently a dispute between the EPC contractor and a Group Company in Morocco. The Group Company
has rejected certain claims raised by the EPC contractor, and the dispute has been subject to arbitration. The
Group Company has submitted several counter-claims. The EPC contractor is claiming approximately SAR 105
million and the Group Company is claiming approximately SAR 480 million as the respondent.

For further details about material ongoing disputes in which the Group or the Project Companies are involved, see Section
(12-11) (“Legal Information—Litigation”).

In addition, the Group, the intermediate holding companies that have ownership interests in the Project Companies, the
Project Companies and NOMAC and the subsidiaries and joint ventures that provide operation and maintenance services to
the Projects could also become subject to litigation. The Group (including MEPCO and RAWEC) may also face claims in relation
to unregistered trademarks or other intellectual property.

In 2014, ACWA Power entered into a joint development agreement (the JDA) with a development partner (the Development
Partner) for the development of a coal-fired power plant (the Project). The Project currently remains in development without
construction having commenced and none of the key project agreements have been entered into with the host Government
counterparties (i.e., the BOT Contract, power purchase agreement, coal supply agreement, etc.). However, even though the
EPC contract and certain financing agreements have been signed during the period between 2018G to 2021G, as they can
only become effective upon the key project agreements being signed and becoming effective, none of these are effective.
Recently ACWA Power reviewed its corporate environmental stewardship commitment within the framework of establishing a
clear targeted environmental stewardship, social responsibility and good governance (ESG) strategy and, taking into account
the carbon emission reduction objectives that the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia has set and the wider energy transition underway
across the world, ACWA Power decided that by year 2030 the carbon emission intensity of its portfolio of assets needs to be
reduced by 50% with the aim of achieving Net Zero by the year 2050. Having regard to this, ACWA Power has decided to refrain
from proceeding with the development of any new coal-fired power plant projects and thus has informed the Development
Partner and the host Government that it is withdrawing from the Project. While there are sufficient provisions within the JDA
that permits the withdrawal of ACWA Power, there is the risk that the Development Partner initiates a claim for breach of
contract and damages against ACWA Power and any such claim could include financial compensation , and could also result
in reputational damages on the Group, which may have a material adverse effect on its business, financial position and results
of operations.

If a claim is for a significant amount of money, and the judgments/awards are issued in favour of the counterparties, or a large
number of claims are brought against the Group Companies and such companies were to be found liable to pay significant
amounts in respect of such claims, this would have a material adverse effect on its business, financial position and results of
operations.
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2-4-16  Risks related to the future changes in IFRS

The Group has prepared the consolidated financial information of the Group in accordance with IFRS and IFRS as endorsed
in KSA. Changes in these accounting standards and accompanying accounting pronouncements, implementation guidelines
and interpretations could significantly impact the Group's reported results and financial position, and may retroactively affect
previously reported financial information. New standards and interpretations that have affected the Group's reported results
include: IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, , which have come into effect as of
1 January 2018G and IFRS 16 Leases has come into effect as of 1 January 2019G, respectively. Those standards have been
applied, as applicable, in the consolidated financial information for the year ended 31 December 2018G, 2019G and 2020G.
For a discussion of the impact of these new standards on its reported results of operations and financial position of the Group,
see 6-11 - Significant accounting policies and Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December
2019—Note 3. Significant Accounting Policies—New standards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the Group, —
Amendments to IFRS and —Annual Improvements 2015-2017 Cycle.

2-4-17 Risks related to certain provisions in shareholder agreements en-
tered into by the Group

Although common in practice, any provisions in shareholder agreements pertaining to the Saudi Subsidiaries that could
impose restrictions on the shareholders from disposing or dealing with their shares, or that could force shareholders to take
specific actions in relation to their ownership in such shares, may not be enforceable under Saudi law. This includes put options,
call options, drag/tag rights, etc. which may be seen by Saudi courts as unenforceable pursuant to applicable Sharia principles.
For further information, see Section (12-6-5) (“Overview of the Group’s Contracts—Shareholders’ Agreements and Joint
Development Agreements”).

Additionally, the shareholder agreements of the Group’s Subsidiaries HEPCO, MEPCO and RABEC (in which the Group effectively
owns 22.49%, 50% and 40%, respectively) include certain provisions such as reserved matters which require the approval of all
shareholders and/or board members for certain resolutions to be passed. These reserved matters have not been reflected in
the bylaws of these Project Companies. As such, the other shareholders in these Project Companies may be able to pass certain
resolutions without the Group’s involvement through the relevant Intermediate Holding Company. If such reserved matters
are not reflected in the bylaws of the Project Companies, the Group may not be able to implement or enforce these provisions.

Given that the Group has entered into several shareholder agreements in relation to the Project Companies as well as its
intermediate holding companies which are not wholly owned by the Group, and given that such agreements include such
rights, there is a risk that the relevant courts in Saudi Arabia may not enforce these rights (even if the governing law of the
agreement is a foreign law which typically permits the enforcement of such rights). This could impact its revenues and could
have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial position and results of operations.

2-4-18 Risks related to the Group’s Environmental, Social and Corporate
Governance (ESQG) targets not being fully, partially or timely met

Forms of sustainable finance have grown rapidly in recent years, as growing number of institutional investors and lenders
incorporate various Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) values and metrics in their investment decisions. The Group
routinely considers the climate change and corporate social and governance responsibilities in its business and investment
decisions and, accordingly, has set and disclosed certain time-bound Environmental, Social and Corporate Governance (ESG)
targets in accordance with its ambition to transition to low-carbon economy.

In the event that the Group may not meet these targets fully, partially or in a timely manner, it may affect the ease with which
it can raise new capital in the form of debt or equity from the increasing number of investors or lenders, or both, who consider
it important to incorporate disclosure of and performance against ESG-related metrics into their selection of investments.
Additionally, in the event of repeated unfulfillment of these targets, the Group may face the risk of higher cost of capital by
such investors or lenders—based on their own institutional expectations from their investees related to the scope and pace of
progress against ESG targets—potentially insofar as reconsidering their existing investment in the Group, which may lead to
adverse impact on the Company’s market valuation and reputation.

2-4-19  Risks related to the Group’s compliance with the CMA’s Corporate
Governance requirements

The Board approved an internal Corporate Governance Code on 25/08/1442H (corresponding to 07/04/2021G). The code
includes rules and procedures related to corporate governance derived from the Corporate Governance Regulations issued
by the CMA. The Company’s success in proper implementation of the corporate governance rules and procedures will depend
on the extent of comprehension and understanding of these rules and proper execution of such rules and procedures by the
Board, its Committees and Senior Executives, especially with regards to formation related to the Board and its Committees
thereof, independence requirements, rules related to conflict of interests and Related Party Transactions.
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The Corporate Governance Regulations impose various mandatory requirements on the Company, including the adoption of
certain corporate governance policies and procedures. Failure to comply with the governance rules, especially the mandatory
rules that have derived from the Corporate Governance Regulations, would subject the Company to regulatory penalties and
would adversely and materially affect the Company’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

The Ordinary General Assembly of the Company formed the Audit Committee on 01/12/1429H (corresponding to
29/11/2008G). The Board of Directors formed the Nomination and Remuneration Committee on 17/04/1433H (corresponding
to 10/03/2012G), and the Executive Committee on 02/06/1431H (corresponding to 15/05/2010G) (See Section (5-6) (“Internal
Committees”)). Failure by members of these Committees to perform their duties and adopt a work approach that ensures
protection of the interest of the Company and its Shareholders may affect corporate governance compliance, the continuous
disclosure requirements and the Board’s ability to monitor the Company’s business through these Committees. In addition, the
responsibilities of the Conflict of Interest & Related Party Transaction Committee have been transferred to the Audit Committee,
and accordingly, the Audit Committee may not be experienced in cases of conflict of interest and related party transactions, or
it may need time to be so, which would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results
of operations and prospects.

Such committees and the Company’s internal governance system do not have sufficient experience in applying the corporate
governance requirements imposed by the CMA. Any future inability of such committee members to carry out the tasks assigned
to them and follow a work methodology that ensures the protection of the interests of the Company and its Shareholders, may
affect the implementation of Governance regulations and the efficiency of the Company’s Board of Directors control over
the management of its business through such committees. This may expose the Company to potential non-compliance with
continuous disclosures after listing requirements on the one hand, and to operational, administrative and financial risks on the
other hand.

The Board and the Audit committee will not have a sufficient number of independent members in the period starting from
Listing until the election of a new Board is complete, for more information on the commitment by the Company and the
Shareholders in this respect, see Section (5-5-4) (“Corporate Governance Compliance”) and Section (17) (“The Company’s
Undertakings after being Listed”). Accordingly, during that period, there will be insufficient number of independent directors
to exercise the roles assigned to the independent directors, so that the required level of independence is achieved to ensure
that the interests of the minority shareholders of the Company, including the Public are protected. Moreover, failure by the
Company to comply with the requirements of the Corporate Governance Regulations could subject the Company to fines by
the CMA have a negative and material impact on the Group's business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

2-5 Risks related to the Offer Shares
2-5-1 Risks related to the control by Substantial Shareholders

Following the completion of Offering, pursuant to which 11.1% of new shares are being issued to public, the Substantial
Shareholders will collectively own 78.63% of the Shares. The Substantial Shareholders will, therefore, be able to influence all
matters and decisions requiring shareholder approval including significant corporate transactions, capital adjustments and the
election of Directors. In addition, the Substantial Shareholders may prevent the Group from making certain decisions or taking
certain actions that would protect the interests of the Group other shareholders. As a result, the Substantial Shareholders
could exercise their rights in a manner that may not be in the best interests of other Shareholders or that could have a material
adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial position and results of operations.

2-5-2 Risks related to absence of a prior market for the Shares

Prior to the Offering, there has been no public market for the Shares. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that an active and
liquid trading market for the Shares will develop or be no sustained market for the Shares after the Offering. If no active trading
market for the Shares develops, or is maintained, the liquidity of the Shares will be adversely affected, or result in the loss of
all or a portion of the Subscribers’investment in the Company, which would adversely and materially affect their anticipated
returns.

2-5-3 Risks related to fluctuation in the market price of the Shares

The Offer Price has been determined based upon several factors, including the past performance of the Group, the Group's
prospects, the industry in which it operates, the markets in which it competes and an assessment of the Company’s
management, operations and financial results. The Offer Price may not be equal to the price at which the Shares will be traded
following completion of the Offering and Subscribers may not be able to resell the Offer Shares at the Offer Price or above, or
may not be able to sell them at all.

The stock market in general experiences from time to time extreme price and volume fluctuations. Market fluctuations could
result in extreme volatility in the price of the Shares, which could cause a decline in the value of the Shares, with price volatility
being worse if the trading volume of the Shares is low. The price of Shares may be negatively affected by various factors,
including the Group’s performance and results of anticipated operations, departures of key personnel, changes in earnings
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estimates or forecasts, changes in the business strategy, market conditions in its industry, the general situation of the Saudi
Arabian economy, changes in laws and regulations, terrorist acts, acts of war or periods of widespread civil unrest, natural
disasters and other calamities and stock market price fluctuations. The realization of any of these risks or other factors would
have a material adverse effect on Subscribers’ anticipated returns, or result in the loss of all or a portion of their investment in
the Company.

2-5-4 Risks related to futuresales of substantial number of Shares

Sales of substantial amounts of the Shares in Tadawul following the completion of the Offering, or the perception that these
sales will occur, could adversely affect the market price of the Shares.

The Substantial Shareholders are subject to six months lock-up period from the date of Listing. Additionally, the Substantial
shareholders may from time to time pledge their shares as security for obtaining funding for the ordinary day to day business.
If any of these shareholders chooses to dispose a significant proportion of its Shares after the end of the six months lock-
up period, or should it default under any facility/financing agreements, the relevant lenders could enforce against the share
pledges as which would result in the relevant shareholder exiting the Company. This could have an adverse effect on the
market of the Shares, and may result in a lower price of the Shares.

2-5-5 Risks related to the Company’s ability to distribute dividends

The distribution of dividends by the Company will be dependent upon a number of factors, including the future profit, financial
position, capital requirements, statutory reserve requirements, the amount of distributable reserves, available credit of the
Company and general economic conditions and other factors that the Directors deem significant from time to time. Also, the
Company'’s ability to declare and pay cash dividends on the Shares may be restricted by, among other things, covenants in any
credit facilities that the Company may enter into in the future, the recovery of any incurred losses in the future and provisions
of Saudi Arabian law. Therefore, there can be no assurance that any dividend will ever be paid, nor can there be an assurance as
to the amount, if any, which will be paid in any given year.

Furthermore, as the Group's business is undertaken though the Project Companies, the Company is reliant on distributions
from these companies in gathering cash flows from which to pay a dividend. A material decline in revenues generated by
one or more of the Project Companies or the occurrence of a material investment by the Company in relation to any Project
Company could prevent the Company from making distributions to its shareholders. In addition, in the event of the insolvency,
bankruptcy, liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of a Project Company, secured and unsecured creditors of the Project
Company will have the right to be paid before any distributions are made to the Company.. These factors could have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s ability to distribute dividends to the Shareholders.

2-5-6 Risks related to issuance of new shares in the market after the Offer-
ing

If the Company decides to raise additional capital through the issuance of new shares, it may adversely affect the share price in
Tadawul and may reduce the percentage holding of the Shareholders in the Company if such Shareholders do not subscribe to
the new shares at that time which will have a material adverse effect on the expected revenues of Subscribers.
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3- Overview of the Industry and the Market

3-1 General Power and Water Markets overview

The source of information set out in section (3) (“Overview of the Industry and the Market") is the report developed by the
Market Consultant, Compass Lexecon, trading as FTI-CL Energy (“Market Consultant”), which acts as an independent provider
for the strategic market researches. For more information, please visit the Market Consultant’s website. (www.fticonsulting.com
and www.compasslexecon.com)

The Market Consultant is one of the world’s leading economic and financial consultancies. The Market Consultant’s energy
team consists of economists, engineers, accountants and industry professionals with extensive experience in energy and
environmental policies, competition economics, regulatory economics, market and network models, accounting and finance,
econometrics and statistics, valuation, arbitration and damages. Acting as an independent Market Consultant, it provides an
independent high-level qualitative and quantitative analysis of Middle-East, Asia and Africa’s electricity and water markets as
well as an approach to capture the P(W)PA market environment, resulting in a report suitable for ACWA Power’s IPO prospectus.

The Market Consultant has submitted its written consent to use its name, logo, market information and data provided by it to
the Company in the form contained in this Prospectus. This consent has not been withdrawn as at the date of this Prospectus.
Estimates and projections set out in this section are prepared based on the analysis performed by the Market Consultant. They
include research estimates founded in published official sources such as IEA, IRENA, World Bank, etc.

The analysis is based on information available to the Market Consultant at the time of writing of the report and does not
take into account any new information which becomes known after the date of the report. The Market Consultant accepts
no responsibility for updating the report or informing any recipient of the report of any such new information. The Market
Consultant does not accept any responsibility for verifying or establishing the reliability of those sources or verifying the
information so provided.

Nothing in the analysis of the Market Consultant constitutes investment, legal, accounting or tax advice, or a representation
that any investment or strategy is suitable or appropriate to the recipient’s individual circumstances, or otherwise constitutes
a personal recommendation. No representation or warranty of any kind (whether express or implied) is given by the Market
Consultant to any person as to the accuracy or completeness of the note.

The members of the Board of Directors consider that the information and data contained in this Prospectus from other sources,
including those provided by the Market Consultant, are credible data and information. However, neither the Company nor any
of the Board members, any of its senior management members, shareholders, or other consultants have verified or ensured
the accuracy or completeness of the information in this section, and none of them shall bear any responsibility with respect to
such information.

ACWA Power operates across 13 countries, including its domestic market—the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia,—wider Gulf
Cooperation Council (GCC) countries, as well as several high-growth economies. The company also considers numerous
international markets for expansion. Its main activity includes wholesale electricity generation from conventional and
renewable plants, operation of water desalination plants and provision of operations and maintenance (O&M) services through
its fully owned-subsidiary NOMAC. After announcing the agreement to construct the hydrogen plant in NEOM, ACWA is set
to become a seminal player on the market of green hydrogen. All ACWA Power’s target geographies are undergoing a historic
energy transition, driven by increasing electricity demand and accelerated deployment of renewable energy.

This section provides an overview of general trends in water and power sector development, costs and investments across the
target geography of ACWA Power, revealing the following key factors:

*  Markets across the wider GCC and high-growth economies of Southeast Asia and Africa are at the forefront of
electricity consumption rise with increasing needs to meet power demand.

e The regions are abundant with renewables energy potential and are increasingly considering solar and wind
technologies to ensure sustainable, secure and accessible electricity supply.

e SolarPVand onshore wind technologies have become competitive against conventional technologies on the global
scale and especially in the GCC states that witnessed multiple records of the lowest costs for solar PV technologies
over the last years.

*  Global energy investments have shifted towards emerging economies and power segment, mostly large-scale grid-
connected market, as ESG (“Environmental, Social, Governance”) strategies are becoming mainstream.

e Electricity generation markets where ACWA Power operates or plans expansion provide opportunities of investments
with contracted revenues and visibility of the cash flows thanks to the regulated contractual business models.

*  With newerwind and solar technologies replacing maturing projects, O&M services are set to experience accelerating
growth led by affiliated service providers.

e Demand for water desalination (mostly, in the GCC states) is to be largely met with cost-efficient renewables-
powered procurement through secure build-own-operate-transfer schemes.



A'(:WA POWERE\ 75

jolu |

Electricity demand and renewable power capacity are set to grow in target markets

The leading drivers of global electricity demand growth are industrial activity, space cooling, water heating, appliances and
non-petroleum cars, but these vary substantially by geography (source: IEAWEO 2019, p.253). In addition, due to demographic
and economic factors over the last two decades, the countries of wider GCC and high-growth economies of Southeast Asia and
Africa have been among the global leaders in terms of electricity generation growth, exceeding OECD and South American
economies (see the table below). According to IEA, while in advanced economies the growth in digitalisation and electrification
is offset by improvements in energy efficiencies, in developing economies electricity generation will continue to grow thanks
to higher population growth rates, rising incomes, expanding industrial output, increased electrification in previously under-
served markets:

*  The economies of GCC have been witnessing substantial increase in electricity consumption per capita and
electricity intensity of GDP driven by housing and commercial projects that will be boosted further by growing
adoption of electric vehicles and penetration of smart and driverless transport (source: IRENA 20193, p.45, 119, 124).

* In South-eastern Asia, where less than 20% households are equipped with air conditioning and 45mn people still
do not have access to electricity, rising incomes and high temperature control needs are propelling the ownership
of appliances and cooling demand which is becoming the fastest-growing use of electricity (source: IEA 2019b,
p.14-15).

e Sub-Saharan Africais home to the largest unelectrified population in the world, with about 600mn people still lacking
connection, so demand is to be added by achieving universal access to electricity. Another driver is urbanisation: the
share of the population living in cities is now 40%, up from 32% in 2000 (sources: IRENA 2015, p.56; IEA 2019¢, p.83).

Table (3-1): Global electricity generation and growth by geography, TWh, 1999-2019

Electricity generation teser ol AnE
v CAGR CAGR

North America 4,704 4,860 4,782 0.3% -0.2%
Central and South America 772 1,083 1,329 3.4% 2.1%
Western and Central Europe 3,509 3,895 3,993 1.0% 0.65%
China 1,239 3,715 7,503 11.6% 7.3%
India 547 880 1,559 4.9% 5.9%
Japan 1,079 1,114 1,036 0.3% -0.7%
cIs 1,034 1,226 1,431 1.7% 1.6%
Asia (excl. China, India and Japan) 1,173 1,829 2,592 4.5% 3.5%
Middle East 440 808 1,265 6.3% 4.6%
Africa 418 627 870 4.1% 3.3%
Global 14,916 20,037 26,360 3.0% 2.8%

Source: BP Handbook (2020), “Statistical Review of World Energy - All Data, 1965-2019.

The target geographies of ACWA Power have high potential for renewable generation

Renewable power technologies are dominating the global market for new power generation capacity. According to IEA, these
will provide globally over half of additional power generation by 2040, underpinned by policy support in nearly 170 countries
and the improving competitiveness of the technologies. The transformation of electricity supply is underway around the world,
but the extent of change varies widely. Regional outlooks depend critically on four factors: policy environment, technology
preferences, available resources and the relative economics of different power generation technologies (source: [EAWEO 2019,
p.264, 268).
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Table (3-2): Renewable energy capacity across ACWA Power’s target geographies, MW, 1999-2019
1999-2009 2009-2019 | 2019-2040

Installed capacity 1999 2009 2019 CAGR CAGR CAGR

Solar

Asia (excl. China, India, Japan) 27 980 44,048 43% 46% 12%
Middle East - 42 5,583 - 63% 17%
Africa 8 65 7,236 23% 60% 18%
Global 424 22,639 586,421 49% 38% 9%
Wind

Asia (excl. China, India, Japan) 58 3,036 14,284 49% 17% 12%
Middle East 9 101 723 27% 22% 19%
Africa 64 724 5,748 27% 23% 12%
Global 13,427 150,165 622,704 27% 15% 6%

Source: bp workbook, [EA WEO 2020, p. 344, 372, 380, 408.

Globally, IEA estimates additional installed capacity of 3,000 GW by the end of 2030, and almost 2,900 GW for the following
decade. Over 80% of additional capacity will be ensured by renewable generation, which will achieve half of the power
mix in 10 years’ time (source: [EW WEO, p.680). In the countries where ACWA Power currently operates or to where it is
expanding - in the wider GCC and ASEAN regions (as well as Pakistan and South Africa), governments have announced
plans to deploy approximately 385 GW of power capacity, including more than 230 GW of renewables (see Part 1B).

GCC and ASEAN countries have considerable renewable energy potential, making them suitable for solar photovoltaic
(PV) and wind generation (to a lesser extent). All countries in wider GCC, South-eastern Asia and Africa signed the Paris
Agreement and, through their Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs), they committed to contribute to the global
effort to mitigate greenhouse emissions. To limit the global temperature rise to well below 2 °C and towards 1.5 °C as per
the Paris Agreement targets, annual energy-related CO2 emissions would need to fall more than 70% from now until 2050.
A large-scale shift to renewable energy and electrification measures could deliver three-quarters of the needed reductions.
(sources: IMF WEO, p.341; IRENA 2020c, p.64). There are also region-specific trends supporting the need for additional
renewable capacity.

First, these region-specific trends depend on social and economic level of development and the resulting specific
power sector challenges as well as policy priorities. In GCC, the surge in domestic energy consumption, including in the
power sector, has challenged policy makers to meet demand economically, without compromising current and future
hydrocarbon export revenues, while also managing their countries’ carbon footprint. Several governments have set
targets for the deployment of renewable energy, as part of broader initiatives aimed at achieving greater economic and
energy sustainability to gain benefits that include fossil-fuel savings, carbon emissions reductions and new jobs. Synergies
between renewable energy integration and energy efficiency also exist in the water sector, for instance with production of
chilled water via renewable energy — see the end of Part 1A for more details (source: IRENA 20193, p.38, 51, 101, 130, 136).

Second, these region-specific trends are shaped by local power and water system specificities, such as for instance synergies
with water desalination technologies in the GCC region, increasing interconnection across ASEAN and integration with
agricultural needs in Sub-Saharan Africa. In South-eastern Asia, one of the key challenges is how to supply the growing
demand for energy while at the same time enhancing energy security. Increasing flexibility of power systems is necessary
to accommodate variable renewable sources of generation. In this context, further regional power system integration can
support the growth of renewable sources of generation, in particular from wind and solar PV, as it provides such flexibility.
In recent years, ASEAN members have reinvigorated their push to implement the power grid concept in full, including the
establishment of multilateral power trading (sources: IRENA 2016, p.31, 35, 40; IRENA 20193, p.139, 143).

Africa’s solar power generation potential exceeds future demand by orders of magnitude. Unreliable power supply has
been one of the obstacles in accelerating the economic growth for most African countries. The countries in the continent
face the challenge of timely investment to meet the growing demand and support economic growth. In the longer term,
the aim is also to ensure modern energy access to the entire population. Large-scale deployment of renewable energy now
offers Africa a cost-effective path to sustainable and equitable growth. The vast majority of rural households in Africa rely
on agriculture, and integrating agricultural energy needs such as irrigation, agroprocessing and storage into the design of
electricity access business models and technologies can have a positive impact (source: IRENA 2015, p.14, 36, 38).
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Global energy investments shift towards emerging economies

For the fourth year in a row, on the global level, the power sector exceeded oil and gas sectors as the largest investment
segment and the focus is shifting towards emerging & developing economies. The power sector represents 50% of total
energy supply investment worldwide and includes spending on new power plants, transmission and distribution lines, as
well as refurbishments and upgrades. Renewables account for about USD 360bn per year, most of it for solar PV and wind
power. Globally, the increasing cost-competitiveness of renewable energy technologies has been most apparent in the
large-scale grid-connected market (source: IEA WEO, p.272).

Table (3-3): Global investment in the power sector by technology, 2019, SAR billion?

Fossil fuel Power B s ALl Nuclear Power Battery Total
Power Networks Storage

487.5 1,166.3 1,023.8 146.3 15.0 2,838.9

Source: IEA WEI 2020, p.68.

Spending on renewables is shaped by the ESG (“Environmental, Social, Governance”) strategies which are becoming
mainstream by seeking positive, long-term returns from sustainable, ethical and socially responsible investments. Countries
stand to gain significantly from renewable energy installations through fossil-fuel savings, emission reductions and job
creation (IRENA 2019a, p.17).

During 2015 - 2018 the wider GCC region and Southeast Asia were among the main areas where the investment in the
renewables has been growing: in total, by almost USD 3bn in the former and USD 0.5bn in the latter. The growth rates differ
starkly — in the years 2015 to 2019, power sector investment across Arab Gulf countries has risen by nearly 40%, while
in Southeast Asia it has remained around the same level, in part due to risks related to grid development and financial
performance of incumbent utilities (sources: IEA WEI 2019, p.57, 60).

A considerable share of investment in the GCC region is driven by large stand-alone projects. In addition to the projects
themselves, the GCC countries are also investing in the value chain including project developers, manufacturing
companies, and research and development initiatives. Since 2015, auctions have been used to award more than 3,500
MW of renewable energy projects in the region. Other helpful factors include investor confidence, the strategic benefits of
entering a promising market, low taxes, and minimal land and grid-connection costs (source: IRENA 2019a, p.15).

In Sub-Saharan Africa, power investment grew 8% in 2018, though has grown over 80% since 2010. This growth has all
come from generation, over 65% of which was in renewables (sources: IEA WEI 2019, p.60).

Power sector reforms have kicked off in a number of countries in Central Asian and the Caucasus including a move to PPP
schemes. An old and inefficient power generation portfolio is rapidly being replaced and expanded, both with conventional
and renewable power plants, in some countries that are opening up to foreign investments and are liberalising their
markets.

Business models underpinned by contracted revenues support investment

Investment in the power sector typically relies on a range of mechanisms, with contracted or state-backed mechanisms
securing the revenues representing the majority of projects. There is a wide range of market and regulatory arrangements
across the different countries, which result in different degrees of risk exposure for investors.

Table (3-4): Global power sector investment by main remuneration model, 2018

Remuneration model USD billion

Wholesale market pricing 15
Distributed generation (retail/regulated tariff) 86
Regulated networks 302
Regulated/contracted utility-scale generation 372
Total 775

Source: [EAWEI 2019, p.134.

In countries which have introduced liberalised electricity markets, a merchant plant is one that is not owned by a utility or
end-use customer and does not have a long-term bilateral contract for the power sale, but earns its revenues entirely from
the wholesale electricity markets. To date, the most popular transaction type for dealing with long-term merchant risk has
been the corporate power purchase agreements (PPAs) (see the table above).

Many countries still feature either regulated monopolies or have introduced some degree of liberalisation with third

2 Unless otherwise stated, the monetary values across the report are expressed on the nominal basis.
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party Independent Power Producers (IPPs). In such countries investment in power production is typically either regulated
or supported by long term power purchase agreements which provide long term guaranteed revenues. ACWA Power’s
projects prioritise long-term PPAs with largely Government-backed offtakers (source: ACWA Power).

Cash flow certainty is critical for generation projects to manage risks and facilitate financing. Nearly all utility-scale
investments to date benefit from long-term pricing under supportive policy schemes - e.g. auctions for contracts and feed-
in tariffs (FiTs) — and physical power purchase agreements with utilities subject to purchase obligations. Looking ahead,
most renewable investments benefit from such policies (source: [EA WEO 2019, p.137).

Table (3-5): Utility-scale renewable capacity growth by remuneration and region, GW, 2019-2024
A A A
Pacific America America East
Competitively set 196 135
Administratively set 139 75 24 47 7 18 4 9

Source: EU Joint Fuel Cell and Hydrogen Project (2019), “Europe’s Hydrogen Roadmap: A Sustainable Path to European Energy Transmission’,
Luxembourg: EU Publications Office, 2019.

According to IEA, most of renewables investment is carried out on the balance sheets of developers: but project finance
transactions have grown, especially for utility-scale solar PV and wind, to over USD 50bn in 2019. Renewables investment
largely depends on policies and contracts that help manage price risks and there continues to be a global movement
towards long-term contracts awarded via competitive auctions, but developers and financiers are increasingly required
to have strategies for solar PV and wind projects to manage revenue risks. Corporate PPAs were the largest commercial
arrangement for renewables with associated investments over USD 18bn in 2019, mainly in the US and Europe: over 10% of
utility-scale solar PV and wind investment is now based on corporate PPAs (IEA WEI 2020, p.152-153).

Renewable technologies become competitive against conventional technologies

Reliance on renewables technologies has been increasingly offering power producers greater abilities to compete on price as
the renewables-based electricity production costs have become competitive vis-a-vis conventional sources in recent years.

Levelised Cost of Energy (LCOE) Analysis is a cost metric methodology allowing to compare different electricity production
technologies. The calculation of LCOE values is based on project-specific total installed costs and capacity factors, as well
as the O&M costs.? The LCOE of renewable energy technologies varies by technology, country and project, based on the
renewable energy resource, capital and operating costs, and the efficiency/performance of the technology (source: IRENA
20203, p.136).

Fuel prices materially affect the LCOE of conventional generation, but direct alternatives to “competing” renewable energy
generation technologies must take into account issues such as dispatch characteristics (e.g., baseload and/or dispatchable
intermediate capacity vs. those of peaking or intermittent technologies) and most of all the differential of wind and solar
resources available in the different locations and countries.

Renewable technologies (PV and wind) are approaching the LCOE of conventional generation, and trends are expected to
continue in the future, as shown in table below.

Table (3-6): Global LCOE by technology, USD per MWh, 2010-2050 (IRENA)

Technolo
4 5-95% Range Average 5-95% Range Average Average

Solar PV 188-514 378 52-190 68 38
Solar CSP 276-390 346 144-431 182 60
Offshore wind 114-204 161 88-157 115 59
Onshore wind 58-117 86 38-107 53 40
Geothermal 37-74 79 48-138 73 60
Biomass 40-138 76 55-239 66 80
Hydropower 20-83 37 30-113 47 54
Fossil Fuels - - 50-177 140 -

Sources: IRENA 20203, p.13; IRENA 2019b, p. 66. Note: costs expressed in real terms as of 2019.

3 LCOE is determined from a financial model as a USD per MWh (=0.1 cents per kWh) value that would provide an after-tax IRR to equity
holders equal to an assumed cost of equity capital. The computation of LCOE could differ depending on inputs (debt and equity returns,
capital structure, investment costs, capacity factors, operating costs, fuel costs etc) and is therefore may not be comparable across
different outlets. The analysis excludes the impact of government incentives or subsidies, system balancing costs associated with variable
renewables, CO2 pricing and any system-wide cost-savings from the merit order effect.
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Cost trends in the GCC have been consistent with international trends.* Solar PV is emerging as the cheapest source of
electricity generation for new projects in the GCC, beating natural gas, liquefied natural gas, oil, coal and nuclear. Meanwhile,
CSP costs less than what some utilities such as the Dubai Electricity and Water Authority pay for gas-based options. Well-
designed auctions have been essential for lowering costs. Since 2015, they have been used to award more than 3,500 MW of
renewable energy projects in the region.

e Large-scale solar PV projects in Dubai have featured record-low bids in 2015 (USD 59.8 per MWh for a 200 MW
project) and again a few years later (USD 29.9 per MWh for an 800 MW venture). And yet, these bids now look
high compared to the winning USD 23.4 per MWh bid by ACWA Power for the 300 MW Sakaka project in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, and USD 24 per MWh for another, 250 MW, solar park in Dubai in late 2018. Earlier this
year, the 900 MW fifth phase of 5 GW Mohammed bin Rashid Al Maktoum Solar park was awarded a 25-year power
purchase agreement with a bid of USD 16.953 per MWh. In Dubai, Abu Dhabi got the world’s record low solar
power price offer of USD 13.5 per MWh on a LCOE basis by a consortium which offered to build a 2 GW PV plant.

e CSP with storage can provide a dispatchable source of renewable generation that may be considered firm
capacity by utilities. Blended solar technology features the low price of PV and the storage of CSP to provide a
comprehensive alternative to gas-based generation. This is shown by the record low of USD 73 per MWh for the
700 MW Phase IV of Dubai’s solar park.

*  Governments are also capitalising on the availability of strong wind resources, thus increasing the competitiveness
of onshore wind in the region. Thanks to performance improvements, the LCOE estimate reached USD 60 per
MWh in 2018. In the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, among the schemes that have already been tendered are the
400-MW Dumat Al Jandal onshore wind project and the 300-MW Sakaka solar photovoltaic (PV) project. In July,
Dumat Al Jandal marked a new global record low levelised cost of energy (LCOE) by closing at USD 19.9 per MWh
(sources: IRENA 2019a, p.15-16, 87, 99; IRENA 2020b, p.52, PV 2020b, PV 2020c).

The low cost of Solar in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia in particular is evidenced by the bids shortlisted for the Solar PV capacity
as part of the National Renewable Energy Programme (NREP). In 2018, as part of the 1st round of procurement programme
organised by REPDO the contract for Sakaka (capacity of 300 MW) was awarded to ACWA Power at SR 8.79 per kWh (or USD
23.6 per MWh).> The second round initially drew 250 bidders, as it includes four solar PV plants totalling 1.4 GW. Shortlisted
prospective developers offered the bids in the range of USD 15.9 - 17.8 per MWh.® Same trend of tariffs reduction has been
observed for land-based wind technology, when under NREP the above-mentioned 400 MW Dumat Al Jandal onshore
wind project was tendered and marked a new global record low LCOE by closing at USD 19.9 per MWh. (sources: PV 2020a,
Renewables Now).

The need for O&M services will support the development of the value chain

With increasing demand for capacity and aging of the existing technologies, there is a large and growing market for servicing
of the power plants, including those that use conventional technologies as well as those relying on renewables.

Gas-fired power generation is known for having relatively low operation and maintenance (O&M) costs, but with their ability
to quickly ramp output up or down as needed, the growing requirement of intermittent renewable supply will likely drive gas-
fired O&M costs. A major driver for O&M costs at coal-fired plants is monitoring and servicing the many moving parts involved
in the generation process, including turbines and generating sets, coal yard conveyors and handling systems. As coal power
stations are often baseload plants, these components are expected to operate continuously while being subjected to heavy
loads and high temperatures, as well as varying levels of dust, dirt and moisture (source: Power Technology).

When expressed on a USD per MWh basis, O&M spending for the fossil-fuel plants tends to increase with age. This is primarily a
result of declines in plant capacity factors over time. The decline in capacity factor, in turn, could be a result of less efficient heat
rates, increased component failures, and increased outage rates over time. A major contributor to this decline in performance
is often a result of increased cycling operation which leads to higher O&M spending over time (source: EIA 2019).

According to Wood and Mackenzie, the annual spend on non-residential solar PV O&M will grow to USD 9bn by 2025. The main
driver behind the demand for O&M services for the solar power systems is that the growing number of them will be nearing
their end of life (source: Wood Mackenzie 2020). The global offshore wind O&M market is expected to grow by 17% annually.
Turbine O&M costs constitute the biggest portion of offshore wind OPEX spend. Uncertainty caused by key component failures
is further pushing the costs upwards (source: Wood Mackenzie 2019).

The O&M opportunity is attractive for market players as renewable sources generation plays a key role in the energy

4 In fact, EU tariffs are relatively higher, if normalised for solar irradiation. This is because in Europe, the average solar resource is around
1,200 kWh/m2/year, while in the Arab Gulf it typically varies between 1,800 and 2,300 kWh/m/year. The higher the level of solar resource,
the lower the LCOE will be. Siting solar PV systems in areas with high solar resources, will therefore minimise the cost of electricity from
solar PV (source: IRENA 2012, p.8-9).

5 Please, note that PPA generation costs may differ from a modelled LCOE. Though PPA tariffs are an actual locked-in price, unlike the LCOE,
and should account for profit, thus being higher than the breakeven point, in practice the companies may bid with a low PPA, as it would
not reflect the sunk costs or a planned yearly indexation.

6 SR 5.96 - 6.69 per kWh
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transition. For all ageing renewable technologies, project owners must assess the economics of repowering, refurbishing or
decommissioning. The uptake of renewable energy could lead to the establishment of a regional market of equipment and
services, offering promising opportunities to countries with well-developed relevant industries and service sectors. Countries
with relatively nascent industries can also contribute to this market by adopting industrial policies to help build or strengthen
their domestic capabilities (IRENA 20193, p.112).

Desalination capacity is growing globally whilst costs of technologies are declining

As water scarcity grows and with advances in desalination technology and reductions in cost, policy makers around the world
are rightly asking whether desalination should play a part in closing the gap between supply and demand in future years. In
2018, 18,426 desalination plants were reported to be in operation in over 150 countries, producing 87mn cubic meters of clean
water each day and supplying over 300mn people (including non-utility-scale production). 44% of this capacity is concentrated
in the countries of the Arabian Gulf (source: Wold Bank, p.8). Certain countries bordering the Caspian Sea in Central Asia and the
Caucasus as well as a selection of African counties start to look into water desalination options as a solution as their shrinking
availability of drinking water (see Part 1B).

There are two main desalination methods, thermal and membrane, and both can be combined as a hybrid:

e Thermal desalination: condensing the vapor resulting from evaporating salt water. MED (“multiple effect
distillation”) uses nozzle spray, MSF (“multistage flash distillation”) evaporates water with a flashing mechanism.

*  Membrane methods adapt the natural process of osmosis (i.e., equalising solute pressure of two liquids under
pressure). Seawater reverse osmosis (SWRO) plants usually build in pre-treatment facilities not used in thermal
systems to pre-treat the source seawater.

In 2014, SWRO technology represented about 63% of the global desalination capacity, followed by MSF (23%), MED (8%) and
hybrid technologies (6%). Thermal is, however, still a leading technology in the GCC countries, where, as of 2015, 53% plants
used thermal technology and 47% SWRO (source: World Bank, p.17).

The cost of desalination has decreased over the years, and it is becoming an increasingly feasible option. Until now, MSF has
been the more competitive thermal technology for larger projects and MED for smaller ones, but MED is becoming more
competitive at all scales. In terms of average cost, SWRO records the lowest, but production costs of hybrid projects have
often proved lower than the costs of single-technology production. Despite considerable cost reductions in recent years for
all technologies energy remains by far the largest single item of recurrent cost. Thermal plants need mainly thermal energy,
whereas SWRO uses more electricity (source: World Bank, p.43).

Table (3-7): The global costs of desalination, 2019

Capital costs (USD/ O&M costs Cost of water
Desalination method litres per day) (USD/m3) production (USD/m3)

MSF 1.7-3.1 2.1 0.22-0.30 0.26 1.02-1.74 1.44
MED-TVC 1.2-23 14 0.11-0.25 0.14 1.12-1.50 1.39
SWRO Mediterranean Sea 0.8-2.2 1.2 0.25-0.74 0.35 0.64-1.62 0.98
SWRO Arabian Gulf 1.2-1.8 1.5 0.36-1.01 0.64 0.96-1.92 1.35
SWRO Red Sea 1.2-2.3 1.5 0.41-0.96 0.51 1.14-1.70 1.38
SWRO Atlantic & Pacific oceans 13-7.6 4.1 0.17-0.41 0.21 0.88-2.86 1.82
Hybrid (MSF/MED) 1.5-2.2 1.8 0.14-0.25 0.23 0.95-1.37 1.15
Hybrid (SWRO) 1.5-2.4 1.3 0.29-0.44 0.35 0.85-1.12 1.03

Source: World Bank, p.43, 87-88. Note: 1 litre/day = 0.001 m3/day. Water production costs include capital costs (construction, engineering,
and project financing) and O&M costs (energy, labour, maintenance etc.).

One area for future focus will be a shift away from fossil-based energy supply for desalination to renewable energy (RE). Large-
scale RE-based desalination projects are largely confined to wind, although the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia is pioneering solar
PV-based desalination. Costs of solar powered desalination are currently high, but technological advances will make CSP and
other RE technologies cost competitive. Currently, PV-based SWRO solar desalination is the leading solar energy choice and is
the main focus of further research: the regions of the world with freshwater scarcity are also the ones with good solar power
potential. They also typically have large desert or waste lands that can be used for solar farms. The key challenges of RE (solar
and wind in particular) are the intermittence of supply, storage requirements, and space for installation of the RE equipment.
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To reach maturity and cost-effectiveness, desalination generation using RE will continue to need strategic support: elimination
of fossil-fuel subsidies, creation of an enabling environment for long-term power-purchase agreements and feed-in tariffs, and
support for initial investments and research and development related to RE (source: World Bank, p.56-59).

The use of BOOT (“build-own-operate-transfer”) schemes for procuring desalination infrastructure and services is gaining
popularity, as they allow the project to be financed off the balance sheet of the awarding authority. 47% percent of desalination
capital investments made in 2016 (USD 2.9bn) were financed using BOOT schemes. This share is expected to increase to 50
percent by 2020 (source: World Bank, p.66).

Green Hydrogen will have an important role in decarbonisation

The Company is developing a number of green hydrogen strategic opportunities in its core markets. With these initiatives,
ACWA Power wants to position itself as one of the key suppliers of state-of-the-art renewable solutions strongly integrated
with green hydrogen production supporting decarbonization and energy transition. Among those the most remarkable and
advanced is the NEOM Green Hydrogen world-scale project in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

According to IEA, hydrogen can play a critical role to tackle various critical energy challenges in transition to a decarbonized
economy molecule (source: [EA 2020). Combusting one kilogram of hydrogen releases three times more energy than a kilogram
of gasoline and produces only water. Moreover, hydrogen can be produced entirely by the use of green energy and as such
being a fuel or a chemical able to provide a fully decarbonized solution utilized for many key sector of our societies (source:
WEC 2019a).

Even though hydrogen is currently mainly used in the refining and chemical sectors, it could evolve to be utilized also in arange
of other sectors, including long-haul transport, iron and steel, where it has proven difficult to reduce emissions with other
means (source: [EA 2019).

According to the Hydrogen Council, hydrogen can offer economically viable and socially beneficial solutions for the energy
transformation required to limit global warming within two degrees Celsius. In their vision, by 2050 hydrogen will support
the rational utilization of renewables by converting and storing more than 500 terawatt hours (TWh) of excess renewable
generation that otherwise would have to be reduced despite the availability of sun or wind due to lack of demand or lack of
grid capacity. Costs associated with such renewable energy curtailment have already amounted to USD 1.2 billion in Germany
in 2017 and USD 1.1 billion in the United Kingdom in 2018 (source: Bundesnetzagentur, 2018; National Grid, 2019). In Germany
this has already led to plans for usage of curtailed electricity for hydrogen production: in 2018 three German grid operators
announced plans for a 100 MW electrolyser in Lower Saxony where there is regularly too much offshore wind energy for the
existing grid, with refuelling stations cited as providing potential hydrogen demand (source: Tennet, 2018).

In this context, in July 2020 ACWA Power, in conjunction with Air Products and NEOM, has signed an agreement to develop a
USD 5bn world-scale green hydrogen-based ammonia production facility in Saudi Arabia powered only by renewable energy.
This project is one of the most advanced and concrete initiatives for producing green hydrogen and most probably the largest
project in the world with commercial offtake fully committed. The green hydrogen is exported as ammonia and then cracked
back into green hydrogen and commercialized by Air Products to decarbonize heavy transportation in certain countries.

Production and import of hydrogen is set to much increase in the coming decades

Hydrogen can be produced with various means and technologies, a common terminology is the following (source: WEC 2019a,
p.9):

1. Grey hydrogen: produced from fossil fuels like natural gas, oil or coal, which emit CO2 into the air during
Hydrogen production (no decarbonized hydrogen; classical production process);

2. Blue hydrogen: produced from natural gas, but with CO2 emissions during Hydrogen production sequestered
via carbon capture technologies allowing CO2 to be safely stored or utilised in industrial processes (partially
decarbonized hydrogen in connection with Capture and Sequestration of the CO2 emitted; relatively new
approach and mainly utilized in process industry);

3. Green hydrogen: produced from renewable energy (electricity) sources (fully and only decarbonized hydrogen.
Can be used as a means of storage, transport and then use of clean energy where it is required and not only close
to where the renewable resource is present).

Currently, 96% of hydrogen is produced from fossil fuels via the carbon-intensive processes steam methane reforming or coal
gasification (1) (source: WEC 2019a, p.8).
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The two main low-carbon production routes for hydrogen involve: coupling conventional technologies with CCUS (2) and
generating hydrogen through water electrolysis (3).

The two main technologies to produce hydrogen via electrolysis using (renewable) electricity are proton-exchange membrane
electrolysis (PEM) and alkaline electrolysis. Alkaline electrolysis is currently a mature technology, using a saline solution to
separate Hydrogen from water molecules by applying electricity. PEM is slightly less mature and uses a solid membrane to
separate the hydrogen from water molecules via an electric charge (source: Hydrogen Council, 2020).

Table (3-8): Low-carbon hydrogen production, historical and announced volumes, Mt/y, 2018-2023

—mmmmmm cAGR

Production 0.36 0.46 0.55 0.86 1.45

y-0-y Growth -2.7% 27.8% 19.6% 56.4% 68.6% 31.4%

Source: IEA 2020 “Hydrogen’, IEA, Paris...

Current demand for pure Hydrogen is around 70 Mt per year (of which refining accounts for 38.2 Mt and the ammonia sector
consumes 31.5 Mt). Almost all of it is produced from fossil fuels. In the future, however, there will be significant growth for
green Hydrogen for the uses previously mentioned, primarily driven by demand in East Asia, Europe and certain areas of North
America which will become the main potential export market for the main producers (source: I[EA 2019, p.18; FuelCellWorks,
2021).

Demand for low-carbon could significantly increase as a result of the global trends for injecting hydrogen into the gas grid
and replacing “grey” hydrogen with “green” in industrial applications as well as using hydrogen for heavy transportation, steel
production and eventually in perspective for shipping and aviation (source: IEA, 2020).

In Europe alone, there is potential for approximately 2,250 TWh of hydrogen demand in 2050, representing roughly a quarter
of the EU’s total energy demand. In the “water-electrolysis-dominant scenario’, new hydrogen demand is met to a large degree
from electrolysis. Import of hydrogen also plays a significant role in the EU’'s 2020 hydrogen strategy planning for 40 GW of
electrolyser capacities outside of Europe by 2030 to meet European hydrogen demand - together with additional 40 GW
located within the EU (source: EU COM 2020).

Production cost of low-carbon Hydrogen is expected to decline significantly driven by increased de-
mand, economies of scale and reduced electricity prices

Natural gas is currently the primary source of hydrogen production, accounting for around three quarters of the annual global
dedicated hydrogen production of around 70 million tonnes. This accounts for about 6% of global natural gas use. Gas is
followed by coal, due to its dominant role in China, and a small fraction is produced from the use of oil and electricity. The
production cost of hydrogen from natural gas is influenced by a range of technical and economic factors, with gas prices and
capital expenditures being the two most important.

Table (3-9): Hydrogen production costs by resource, USD/kg H2, 2018

0.9-3.2 1.5-29 1.2-2.2 3.0-7.5
Source: IEA, 2019.

In traditional Hydrogen production, fuel costs are the largest cost component, accounting for between 45% and 75% of
production costs. Low gas prices in the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) states, as well as Russia and North America give rise to
some of the lowest hydrogen production costs. Gas importers like Japan, Korea, China and India have to contend with higher
gas import prices, and that makes for higher hydrogen production costs (source: [EA 2019, p.42).

The costs of producing hydrogen by water electrolysis are influenced by various technical and economic factors, with CAPEX
requirements, conversion efficiency, electricity costs, variability and intermittency of the renewable resource and annual
operating hours being the most important. In the mid-term (until 2030), the cost advantage of fossil fuels is likely to remain
in most places, with the cost of hydrogen from natural gas without CCUS in the range of USD 1-2/kgH2, depending on local
gas prices (IEA, 2019). In a prospective approach, for countries with good renewable resources, producing hydrogen from
renewables may become cheaper than producing it from natural gas. Low-carbon Hydrogen production from natural gas with
CCUS may be the cheaper option in regions with cheap domestic gas resources and CO2 storage availability (source: IEA, 2019).

Overall, low-carbon hydrogen production costs are expected to decline by up to 60% by 2030, with the optimal production
option highly dependent on the region.

7 Carbon Capture, Utilisation, and Storage.
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Table (3-10): Hydrogen production costs from renewables-based electrolysis (USD/kg H2) - Green hydrogen

Based on Based on
Category Based on FSR, 2021 FSR, 2021
IEA, 2019 using using
Utility scale PV Offshore Wind

Average hydrogen total costs - 29 1.8 2.6
CAPEX - 0.8 (28%) - -
OPEX - 0.1 (4%) - -
Fuel Costs - 1.9 (67%) - -
Global price ranges 3.0-7.5 1.8-3.9 1.1-2.5 2.0-3.1

Source: CL Energy based on IEA, 2019 “future of hydrogen: gaining today’s opportunities’, I[EA, Paris, and FSR, 2021.

The breakdown provided by the Hydrogen Council illustrates the expectations of cost reductions for renewable hydrogen.
Most of costs reduction lies in CAPEX and energy costs, representing together more than 85% of the expected cost reduction.

This makes the green hydrogen already competitive in certain sectors and conditions, and has enabled the NEOM Green
Hydrogen and other projects that ACWA Power is establishing and developing.

Table (3-11): Hydrogen electrolysis from offshore wind breakdown of costs reduction by 2030

Hydrogen Council - 2030

Category Leverage for costs reduction
USD/kg H2
Cost in 2020 6.0
Capex reduction 1.6
Efficiency improvement 0.4
Energy costs reduction 0.2
Other 13
Costin 2030 2.6

Source: CL Energy based on Hydrogen Council, 2020,"The Path to Hydrogen Competitiveness: A Cost Perspective’, Hydrogen Council.

To achieve significant cost reduction, three drivers will be important:

1. Stimulation of demand for green hydrogen. With costs of green hydrogen production and distribution falling,
many new applications should become competitive against low-carbon alternatives. Examples include most road
transport applications except short-range use cases (e.g. compact cars which are likely to be electrified), simple-
cycle hydrogen turbines for peak power, hydrogen boilers, and industry heating (source: Hydrogen Council, 2021).

2. The exploitation of economies of scale in electrolyser production. Currently, hydrogen technologies have a
niche status not for the technology that is utilized in many other sectors (chloride industry for example), but for
the scale installed in the H2 production. Good news is that the electrolyser systems are scalable, moreover, there
is significant potential for achieving economies of scale in the manufacturing process. Electrolyser learning rates
are about 9% and 13%? for alkaline and PEM technology, respectively. Key reason for continued cost reduction
is the shift from a largely manual production process to greater use of automation and ‘roll-to-roll’ streamlined
production processes (“the industrialisation of electrolyser manufacturing”) where a 60 to 80% reduction from
larger-scale manufacturing is expected by 2030 (source: Hydrogen Council, 2020).

3. The access to low electricity prices. Electricity prices represent the biggest cost share for producing hydrogen.
In 2030, the IEA estimates that 67% of green hydrogen costs will be fuel costs. The steep decrease in the cost of
electricity from renewables that has taken place recently, makes the case for remote production and intercontinental
hydrogen logistics infrastructure potentially viable in the future under certain circumstances (source: IRENA 2018,
p.47), such as low renewable costs of production, as found in the wider GCC states, North Africa, Mexico, Chile,
Australia, South Africa, the North Sea, etc.

Utilization of carbon tax in certain sectors is likely to be an accelerator mean for the utilization of green hydrogen (source:
Hydrogen Council, 2021).

8 Cost reduction over logarithmic cumulative production numbers
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Hydrogen projects required to achieve announced strategic targets open up a global multi-billion
USD investment market - provided required subsidies become available

Hydrogen is a crucial element in most strategies to achieve net zero emissions and ever more countries are developing
hydrogen plans. There are more than 90 policies in the European region that explicitly support investment (whether directly
or indirectly) in expanding the use of hydrogen for energy and climate purposes (often via hydrogen fuel cells) as well as 11
hydrogen roadmaps and more than 200 pilot and demonstration projects for low-carbon hydrogen production (source: WEC
2019b, p.38; WEC 20194, p.35). Over 30 countries have created national hydrogen strategies and six are drafting them.

In February 2021 the government of Morocco has signed a declaration of cooperation with Portugal to establish the necessary
bases to develop a partnership in the green hydrogen sector. Morocco is thereby banking on international cooperation for the
exploitation of this renewable energy source (source: Afrik21, 2021). Moreover and at the same time, the establishment of the
Abu Dhabi Hydrogen Alliance was acted. The Alliance partners will collaborate to establish Abu Dhabi as a trusted leader of
low-carbon green and blue hydrogen in emerging international markets. They will also work together to build a substantial
green hydrogen economy in the UAE. Under the terms of the agreement, the Alliance will develop a roadmap to accelerate the
UAE's adoption and use of hydrogen in major sectors such as utilities, mobility and industry, through their respective operating
companies and with international partners (source: FuelCellWorks, 2021).

Table (3-12): New hydrogen projects

Expected year of completion
2021 | 2022 | 2023 | 2026 | 2025 | 2026 | 2027 | 2028 | 2029 | 2030
22 16 16 6 10 0 3 2 0 7

104 165 451 26 378 0 3,401 4,200 0 3,010

Number of projects

Sum of production capacity (where
available) (tsd. m3N H2/h)

Source: CL Energy based on IEA hydrogen projects database in IEA (2020),"Hydrogen” [EA, Paris.

Globally, there are currently (early 2021) 228 low-carbon hydrogen projects announced across the value chain. Of these, 17
are already giga-scale production projects (i.e. more than 1 GW electrolyser capacity ore more than 200 thousand tons annual
production in case of low-carbon hydrogen). The biggest projects were announced in Middle-east (i.e. NEOM Green Hydrogen),
Europe, Australia and Chile. Europe leads globally in the number of announced hydrogen projects (55%), with Australia, Japan,
Korea, China and the USA following as additional hubs. While Europe is home to 105 production projects, the announced
projects cover the entire hydrogen value chain including midstream and downstream. In expected major demand centers like
Korea, Japan and Europe, the focus is on industrial usage and transport application projects (source: Hydrogen Council, 2021).

Table (3-13): Overview of biggest hydrogen projects, 2020

Expected
Electroly- prod.uFtlon Expect-
. . (million
Location Developers ser capaci- ed com-
ty (GW) T pletion
y of H2 per
year)
. Green
. 16 GW-  InterConti-
Asian Re- . hydrogen
newable Pilbara, Onshore  nental Energy, and green
Ener Western  wind CWP Energy ammonia 14 $36bn 2027
9y Australia  10GW-  Asia, Vestas,
Hub . for export to
Solar Macquarie .
Asia
Eern- . Help power ) 2924
Shell, Equinor, heavy (First
shaven, . . . (another
Offshore  RWE, Gasunie,  industryin stage)
NortH2 northern . . 10 source
wind Groningen the Nether- 2030
Nether- says
Seaports lands and (Second
lands $11bn)
Germany stage)
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Location
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Developers

A consortium
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of H2 per
year)

Expect-
ed com-
pletion

Invest-
ment
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Given the industry’s early stage, the vast majority (75%) of projects comprise announcements but not committed funding.
As of 2021, the Hydrogen Council estimates USD 80 billion of mature investments until 2030. These include USD 45 billion in
the planning phase, which means companies are spending sizable budgets on project development. Another USD 38 billion
involves either committed projects or those under construction, commissioned or already operational. However, investments
required to reach government production targets and spending projections across the value chain add up to more than USD
300 billion until 2030 (source: Hydrogen Council, 2021).

Hydrogen Europe estimates total hydrogen investments up to 2030 to reach 430 billion Euro, with approximately 220 billion
Euro for hydrogen production with an estimated total necessary support of 145 billion Euro. The main share of this investment
(160 billion Euro) will be required for the production of renewable electricity (source: Hydrogen Europe, 2020).

To achieve the global policies and to respond to the sustainable development objectives, more projects will have to be
developed in the coming years. According to the European Hydrogen Strategy, at least 40 GW electrolyser capacity shall
produce up to 173 TWh (equal to 4,4 million tonnes) green hydrogen in the EU by 2030. Additional at least 40 GW electrolyser
capacity in North Africa (30 GW) and Ukraine (10GW) shall produce up to 118 TWh (3 million tonnes) green hydrogen in 2030.°
Producing 4 million tonnes of green hydrogen in North Africa and Ukraine requires the realization of about 77 GW of additional
renewable electricity production, wind onshore, solar PV and solar CSP™. The total investments for renewable energy and
electrolyser plants are about 92 billion Euro for the 40 GW in Ukraine and North Africa (source: Hydrogen Europe, 2020).

Table (3-14): Hydrogen production quantity forecasts

Hydrogen Production - 2030
Mt/year

Hydrogen Europe - Blue print paper 16.9 (EU only)
IEA Sustainable Development Scenario for Low-carbon Hydrogen - 2019 7.9
Hydrogen Council Forecast for Clean Hydrogen - 2019 23
Hydrogen Council Forecast for Clean Hydrogen- 2020, including : 6.7
* RES - Mature 1.8
* RES - Announced 24
* Low carbon - Mature 1.6
* Low carbon — Announced 0.9

Source: CL Energy based on IEA, Hydrogen Europe and Hydrogen Council.

Cheap renewable electricity in the Middle East opens up export opportunity of green Hydrogen from
the NEOM Green Hydrogen project

The realization of hydrogen production plants far away from demand, e.g in North Africa and Ukraine to serve EU demand,
requires hydrogen transport and storage infrastructure.

Hydrogen can be transported globally using three forms of transportation — trucks, pipelines or ships —using a range of different
carriers.The three major hydrogen carriers are liquid hydrogen (LH2), ammonia (NH3), and a set of different technologies based
on liquid organic hydrogen carriers (LOHCs). LH2 shipping delivers hydrogen in pure form at the location of import. Today LH2
shipping costs are high (e.g. for the route from Saudi Arabia to Japan about USD 15 per kg in 2020), but with enough scale, they
could fall to USD 1.7 per kg in 2030 (source: Hydrogen Council, 2020).

The emergence of international trade of hydrogen is driven by cost differences of hydrogen production stemming from
renewables endowment, the availability of natural gas and carbon storage sites, existing infrastructure, etc. Many expect
hydrogen demand centers, including Europe, Korea, Japan, and parts of China to experience production constraints requiring
to import hydrogen rather than producing it locally (source: Hydrogen Council, 2021). Furthermore, in many countries there is
an extensive existing natural gas pipeline network that could be used to transport and distribute hydrogen. New infrastructure
could also be developed, with dedicated pipeline and shipping networks potentially allowing large-scale overseas hydrogen
transport (source: IEA, 2019).

9 Note: the stated minimum electrolyser capacities are generally assumed not to be sufficient to produce the annual target hydrogen
volumes due to typically lower full-load hours / capacity factors
10 CSP: Concentrated Solar Power plant
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Dedicated electricity generation from renewables or nuclear power offers an alternative to the use of grid electricity for hydrogen
production. With declining costs for solar PV and wind generation, building electrolysers at locations with excellent renewable
resource conditions could become a low-cost supply option for hydrogen, even after taking into account the transmission and
distribution costs of transporting hydrogen from (often remote) renewables locations to the end users. Promising areas exist,
for example, in Patagonia, New Zealand, Northern Africa, the Middle East, Mongolia, most of Australia, and parts of China and
the United States (source: [EA, 2019).

The GCC countries are projected to be among the lowest-cost regions in the world for green hydrogen production - particularly
in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and south-eastern Oman, due to their very high direct normal irradiance and wind speed
(source: Qamar Energy, 2020). Countries in the region have already established ambitious renewable energy programs,
enabling project developers to build large scale renewable power plants that deliver the world’s lowest LCOEs of under 2 cents/
kWh (source: Strategy&, 2020).

GCC countries can export hydrogen to Europe in a relatively low-cost way in the form of ammonia, as pipelines to transport
compressed gaseous hydrogen between the two regions are currently non-existent and liquefied hydrogen transport is costly,
while liquid organic hydrogen carriers’gravimetric density is low. Due to the low solar electricity cost in the GCC, green ammonia
could be produced in a cost-competitive way and shipped at competitive cost to even Japan (source: Qamar Energy, 2020).

Beside the full commercial NEOM Green Hydrogen project, GCC countries have engaged in a number of R&D projects, including
feasibility studies and pilot projects for blue and green hydrogen for different uses. There was a pick-up in activity around 2010,
which then went quiet until 2019-20 when there has been renewed interest. More R&D investment needs to be allocated
to strengthen technology expertise, drive cost reductions in electrolysis, create an infrastructure network and refine export
business models (source: Qamar Energy, 2020).

3-2 Part 1B. Country Reports™’
3-2-1 Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (Country of Operation)

The Kingdom of Saudi Arabia has significant plans to increase and diversify its installed power generation capacity. It initially
announced a target in 2017 of 58.7 GW of renewable capacity by 2030 in its National Renewable Energy Program, in line with
the Vision 2030 development plan. Power generation has been ensured by private investments, and growth in the number
of I(W)PPs is projected to continue with the liberalisation of transmission and distribution activities. Water production has
experienced rapid growth, supported by new desalination capacity, with almost a dozen more projects to be delivered in the
coming years through long-term contracts after industry privatisation.

Table (3-15): Announced changes to the installed capacity

Renewables 58.7 58.3 57%
Other GW 85.2 33.0 -52.2 -8%

Source: ECRA, IRENA, InvestSaudi.
3-2-1-1  Overview and background
Table (3-16): Macroeconomic performance

CAGR Future
2012/19 est.

Indicator

Nominal GDP (cur-  USD o0 Jace 7564 6543 6449 6886 7865 7930  1.1% -

rent USD) billion
GDP usD
. 252 248 245 206 199 208 233 231  -12% -
per capita 000s
(o)
Real GDP (local %YoY 54% 27% 37% 41% 17% -07% 24% 03% - 26%
currency) growth (2021)
Population million 292 301 309 317 324 331 337 343  23% (;’3530)
1 0,
Inflation %  29% 35% 22% 12% 2.1% -08% 25% -2.1% - 2.0%
rate (2021)
Public debt / GDP %  30% 21% 16% 58% 13.1% 17.2% 19.0% 22.8%  33.6% -

Source: ECRA, IMF, UN, World Bank. CAGR is computed for the time period 2012-2019 except for the public debt/GDP ratio which is
computed for the time period 2012-2018 and may differ slightly due to rounding.

11 Note to Draft: Numbering for all of Market section should conform to the overall prospectus numbering format. This is the start of the
Country Reports, and should be section 3.3. Kingdom of Saudi Arabia should be section 3-3-1 and so on....
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Growth stalled in 2019, primarily driven by the deliberate oil production cuts above those required under the OPEC+ agreement,
and lower oil prices. Overall, the economy grew by 0.3% in 2019 and the IMF forecasts a 2.6% increase in 2021. The stronger
non-oil sector offset the headwinds from oil, with December 2019 headline inflation recording a positive reading for the first
time in a year, the strong growth in non-oil revenues was increased from reducing VAT registration threshold and expansion of
excise taxes and fees. The outlook remains weak in the wake of Covid-19 and oil supply shocks, with a decrease of 6.8% real GDP
in 2020. Vision 2030 related reforms are critical for diversification, and progress was made on business environment reforms.
The completion of Saudi Aramco’s initial public offering (IPO) in December 2019 reflects the government’s drive to leverage oil
wealth to finance diversification (source: World Bank).

The credit rating for The Kingdom of Saudi Arabia was last reported at A- with stable outlook (S&P), A1 with negative outlook
(Moody’s), A with negative outlook (Fitch).

In response to the Covid-19 pandemic, the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia announced a USD 18.7bn support package targeting the
private sector with additional liquidity by reducing fiscal payments and an increase in available financing from the National
Development Fund. On June 16, the Saudi Industrial Development Fund announced initiatives totalling SAR 3.7bn to support
536 private sector industrial enterprises impacted by the coronavirus pandemic. On November 2, the Saudi Central Bank
announced it was extending its loan payment deferral program for customers until end-March 2021 (source: IMF).

3-2-1-2  Overview of the power sector

Nearly all of the existing generating capacity is powered by conventional fossil fuels, oil or gas; 41% of generation capacity
came from gas turbines, 41% from steam and 18% from Combined Cycle Units in 2018. Total renewable resources accounted
for 0.1% of the total mix in 2018. The Kingdom of Saudi Arabia plans to diversify fuels used for the generation of electricity, in
part, to free up oil for export. Power generators can access fuel subsidies, however, the Kingdom of Saudi have been gradually
implementing energy subsidy cuts over the past few years, increasing the prices of electricity, gasoline and other fuels sold in
the domestic market, but the government extended the timeline for subsidy cuts to 2025 (source: KAPSA, World Oil).

As part of Vision 2030, the National Renewable Energy Programme was launched in 2016 and aimed for 3.45 GW of installed
renewable capacity by 2020 and 9.5 GW by 2023. Following strong expansion, the current targets are set at 27.3 GW of
renewable capacity by 2024, and a total of 58.7 GW by 2030. The country is also planning on increasing its nuclear capacity.
In July 2017, the Council of Ministers approved proposals to establish the National Project for Atomic Energy, which includes
large-scale and small-scale reactors by 2030; the current target sits at 2-3 GW (source: GCCIA, Invest in Saudi, IRENA).

The NEOM project launched recently, which will be the world’s most advanced energy hub and the first at-scale fully renewable
energy system.The project will include towns and cities, ports and enterprise zones, research centres, sports and entertainment
venues, and tourist destinations. It will be the home and workplace for more than a million citizens from around the world. It
launched its first infrastructure works in July 2020. ACWA Power, with two partners, has signed an agreement for a $5 billion
world-scale green hydrogen-based ammonia production facility powered by renewable energy that will be situated in NEOM
(source: ACWA Power, NEOM).

Table (3-17): Evolution of power market

Electricity consumption TWh  246.6 262.7 281.2 2946 296.7 2984 2992 2886 23%

Electricity generation TWh 2717 2840 311.8 3383 3454 355.1 3589 - 4.7% -

Peak electricity de-

GW 51.9 524 56.5 62.3 60.8 62.1 61.7 62.1 2.6% -
mand

Peak demand growth

rate % YoY - 08% 80% 10.1% -23% 21% -06% 0.5% - -

Source: ECRA. CAGR is computed for the time period 2012-2019 except for electricity generation which is computed for the time period
2012-2018 and may differ slightly due to rounding.
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Table (3-18): Breakdown of power capacity by technology

Source

Conventional

. MW - 69739 76815 81,603 87,754 88685 85556 85185  34% 31,000
fossil fuels

Nuclear MW 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 00% 23,000
Renewables MW 14 22 24 24 24 37 8 397  613% 58700
Total installed MW - 69761 76839 81627 87,778 88722 85643 85582  35% o 00
capacity 92,700
Capacity growth

o %Yoy - - 100%  62%  75%  11%  -35% -0.1% - .

Source: ECRA, IRENA, InvestSaudi. Note: Renewables include mostly solar technologies. As of 2018, oil accounted for 49% of conventional
fuel generation and natural gas for 43%. There is currently no installed nuclear energy capacity in The Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, but there
are plans between 2 and 3 GW to be built by 2030. CAGR is computed for the time period where data is available.

Operators:

*  Transmission grid: National Grid SA.
*  Distribution grid: Saudi Electricity Company.
Table (3-19): Power capacity of major generators

Energy producers Unit 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
SEC (Saudi Electricity Company) MW 51,525 54,717 57,138 59,599 58,224 55,465 55,332
Saline Water Conversion Corporation MwW 5,018 4,762 6,222 7,812 7,812 7,458 6,465
ACWA Power MW 2,230 2,230 2,230 2,230 2,230 2,230 2,480
ENGIE MW 5,536 5,536 5,893 6,072 6,072 6,072 7,579

Source: ACWA Power, ECRA, ENGIE. Note: The capacity is presented on a contracted basis for the total power, without adjustments for
effective ownership.

Electricity market type: contractual.

Market positioning of IPP/IWPP within the electricity supply value chain:

The Electricity Industry Restructuring Plan (EIRP) was drafted by the Electricity and Cogeneration Regulation Authority (ECRA)
and started in 2007. It proposed a transformation of the electricity sector to a more competitive structure in an 8-year plan,
envisaging unbundling transmission, distribution and generation activities to introduce competition and private sector
ownership, as well as investment. In 2012, the transmission system operator National Grid SA was created, and, in 2017, the
Saudi Power Procurement Company (SPPC) was named the principal buyer. Both of these entities are subsidiaries of the state-
owned Saudi Electricity Company (SEC), which is in charge of distribution operations and also has generation assets alongside
private entities. All markets are regulated by ECRA (source: ECRA).

In 2002, the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia began allowing private participation in the electric power sector, approving the first
independent water and power producer. The Electricity Law of 2005 provided for further privatization, allowing private business
to invest in electricity and water production. Despite power generation being highly concentrated by the state-owned SEC
(which had more than 64% of generation capacity in 2018), power capacity from private entities including the SWCC, ARAMCO,
ACWA Power and other IPPs/IWPPs has continuously increased, from a share of 26% in 2013 to nearly 35% in 2018. This trend is
likely to continue due to the liberalization of transmission and distribution activities (source: ECRA).

A competitive tender process selects private projects. Once selected, through the SEC, the government offers long-term PPAs
and ensures fuel price stability by organising an agreement with Saudi Aramco, which is the only fuel power producer allowed
to sell to the IPPs (source: National Grid SA, Saudi Electricity Company, Saudi Power Procurement Company).
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3-2-1-3  Overview of the water sector

The main operator in the water sector is the Saudi Water Partnership Company (SWPC). In 2019, the total installed capacity for
water desalinisation was 7.8mn m3 per day, of which more than 50% was produced using multi-stage flash distillation. Total
capacity increased by 26% from 2013 to 2019. The Ministry of Environment, Water and Agriculture also recently set a target of
reaching an urban water production mix of 90% desalinated water by 2030 and, in 2025, existing and committed desalination
supply are expected to provide 9.3mn m3 per day (source: ECRA, SWPC).

Table (3-20): Evolution of water market and breakdown of desalination capacity by process

Water production m;‘e:"f/ 1,764 1,812 1,912 2,049 2242 2457 2,540 2,558  5.5% -
Installed capacity: mg:’;’y - 62 62 74 77 76 76 78  39% 93
SWRO - - 14 14 21 21 21 25  123% -
MSF - - 39 46 45 45 45 42 15% -
MED - - 0 12 11 1111 11 19% -

Source: ECRA, SWPC. Note: SWRO stands for Sea Water Reverse Osmosis, MSF for Multi-Stage Flash Distillation and MED for Multiple-Effect
Distillation. CAGR is computed for the time period where data is available and may differ slightly due to rounding.

Table (3-21): Desalination capacity of major producers

e T E e EN e EO T

Saline Water Conversion Corporation 003:;3/ 3,668 3,581 4,606 4,606 4,606 4,606 4,340
ACWA Power 003;;13/ 2,230 2,230 2230 2230 2,230 2230 2480

Source: ACWA Power, ECRA. Note: The capacity is presented on a contracted basis for the total power, without adjustments for effective
ownership.

As in the power sector, the role of water market players and the water market structure is set to change. The Saline Water
Conversion Corporation (SWCC) generation assets are planned to be privatized and converted to several production companies
and will possess WPAs and PWPAs with the Water and Electricity Company (WEC). They will be under a fuel supply agreement
with Saudi Aramco. The WEC became the Saudi Water Partnership Company (SWPC) in 2019, and, according to the SWPC, 12
IWP projects are planned with a project commercial operation date between 2022 and 2025. These include, for example, Jubail
6, Ras Al-Khair 2 and 3, and Ras Mohsan (source: SWPC 7 Year Statement).

3-2-1-4  Energy and water regulatory and market framework

Relevant institutions:

* International organisations: Gulf Cooperation Council Interconnection Authority (GCCIA); Arab Union o